
Merton Council 

Cabinet  Agenda 
 
Membership 

Councillors:  

Stephen Alambritis (Chair) 
Mark Allison 
Nick Draper 
Andrew Judge 
Linda Kirby 
Edith Macauley 
Maxi Martin 
Martin Whelton 
Judy Saunders 
 
Date: Monday 9 December 2013  

Time:   7.15 pm 

Venue:   Committee rooms B, C & D - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, 
Morden SM4 5DX 

This is a public meeting and attendance by the public is encouraged and welcomed.  
For more information about the agenda please contact  
democratic.services@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3361. 
 
All Press contacts: press@merton.gov.uk, 020 8545 3181 

Public Document Pack



Cabinet  Agenda 

9 December 2013  

1  Apologies for absence   

2  Declarations of pecuniary interest   

3  Minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 
2013  

1 - 4 

4  Dundonald Recreation Ground and Primary 
School - appropriation of land  

5 - 70 

5  Dundonald Primary School expansion - approval 
to expansion under Education Law  

71 - 136 

6  Allocation of S.106 monies to Mitcham Town 
Centre  

137 - 
144 

7  Reference from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission - pre decision scrutiny of the 
Business Plan 2014-2018  

145 - 
156 

It is anticipated that the following reports will also be considered at this meeting – 

• Financial Monitoring – October 2013 

• Business Plan 2014-18 

 

Note on declarations of interest 

Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at 
the meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during 
the whole of the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  If  
members consider they should not participate because of a non-pecuniary interest which may give 
rise to a perception of bias, they should declare this, .withdraw and not participate in consideration of 
the item.  For further advice please speak with the Assistant Director of Corporate Governance. 



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

 

1 

CABINET 
11 NOVEMBER 2013 

(19.15 - 19.55) 

PRESENT Councillors Stephen Alambritis (in the Chair), Mark Allison, 
Nick Draper, Andrew Judge, Linda Kirby, Edith Macauley, 
Maxi Martin, Judy Saunders and Martin Whelton 
 
Ged Curran (Chief Executive), Caroline Holland (Director of 
Corporate Services), Simon Williams (Director of Community 
and Housin), Chris Lee (Director of Environment and 
Regeneration), Yvette Stanley (Director of Children, Schools and 
Families), Tom Procter (Service Manager - Contracts & School 
Organisation), David Keppler (Head of Revenues and Benefits), 
Fiona Thomsen (Head of shared legal services) and Colin Millar 
(Democracy Services) 
 

ALSO PRESENT Councillors Iain Dysart, James Holmes, Oonagh Moulton, Peter 
Southgate and Peter Walker. 

 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1) 

 
None 
 
2  DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST (Agenda Item 2) 

 
None 
 
3  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 21 OCTOBER 2013 (Agenda Item 3) 

 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2013 are 
agreed as a correct record. 

 
4  PROVISION OF SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES TASK GROUP - FINAL 

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS (Agenda Item 4) 
 

RESOLVED: 

A. That Cabinet endorses the report arising from the scrutiny review of 
the provision of secondary school places, attached as Appendix 1 to 
the report.  

B. That Cabinet agrees to submit an Executive Response and Action 
Plan to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel at their 
January 2014 meeting outlining their response to the report and 
decision taken regarding the recommendations made, including 
actions to be taken to implement the agreed recommendations.   

 
5  SCHOOL PLACES STRATEGY (Agenda Item 5) 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



2 

RESOLVED 

1. Cabinet notes the current position on demand and supply of school places 
and agrees the contents of this report as the council’s current school 
places strategy, and specifically: 

2. That the council reviews the position on specific supply and demand of 
primary school places over the next 18 months and beyond before 
committing to any further expansion in permanent accommodation beyond 
the 21 forms of entry increase already being progressed 

3. That officers progress the direction of travel for secondary and special school 
expansion outlined in paragraphs 2.26 and 2.30 of the report. 

 
6  HOMELESSNESS CHANGE PROGRAMME - BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS 

TO 8 WILTON ROAD HOSTEL (Agenda Item 6) 
 

RESOLVED: 
4. That Cabinet notes the proposed improvement options for the council-owned 

homeless hostel at 8 Wilton Road presented in section 2.3 of this report, and 
agrees to build a new Annexe as part of the hostel improvement project. 

5. Cabinet notes the funding options as set out in 2.7 of the report, and agrees to 
fund the entire improvement project cost of £530,000 from the Section 106 
Housing funding pot, but that delegated authority be granted to the Director of 
Corporate Services, in consultation with the Director of Community and 
Housing and the Cabinet Member, to approve any amended option using GLA 
funding should the GLA agree to more reasonable funding conditions. 

 
7  CHANGE TO COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME (Agenda Item 7) 

 
RESOLVED 

That Cabinet agrees to the uprating changes for the 2014/15 council tax support 
scheme detailed in the report in order to maintain low council tax charges for those 
on lower incomes and other vulnerable residents 

 
8  ADOPTION OF MERTON'S COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 

CHARGING SCHEDULE (Agenda Item 8) 
 

RESOLVED: 

That Cabinet recommends that the Council adopts Merton’s Community 
Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule and that Merton’s CIL is applied to the 
relevant new developments from 01 April 2014. 

 
9  REFERENCE FROM SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY PANEL - 

CALL IN OF DECISION TAKEN ON MERTON PRIORY HOMES 
REGENERATION PROPOSALS (Agenda Item 9) 

 
RESOLVED: 

Page 2



3 

That the Cabinet thanks the Scrutiny panel for their comments and will take this 
matter forward in accordance with item 10 of this agenda. 

 
10  MERTON PRIORY HOMES ESTATE REGENERATION PROJECT (Agenda 

Item 10) 
 

The Cabinet noted that a report requiring substantive decisions was expected to be 
brought in June/July 2014. 
 
11  FINANCIAL MONITORING - SEPTEMBER 2013 (Agenda Item 11) 

 
RESOLVED:  

A. That Cabinet notes the financial reporting data relating to revenue 
budgetary control, showing a forecast underspend at year end of £954k (which 
is 0.58% of the gross Council Budget) after allowing for a £418k transfer to the 
Capital Programme  

B. That Cabinet notes the four schemes being re-profiled detailed in Appendix 
5b and the Current Capital Programme as detailed in Appendix 5a. 

C. That Cabinet notes current progress to date on savings. 

D. That Cabinet notes the update to the use of reserves 

E. That Cabinet notes the update to Customer and Client Receipts 

F. That Cabinet notes the Cash Flow Statement 

G. That Cabinet notes the Key Strategic Risk Register as at September 2013 
and approves the removal of the following four items: 

• KSR 51 – Supply Chain Failure - One of Merton's key delivery partners 
or sponsor goes in to administration – Risk Ranked as 2 

• KSR 52 - Data quality of management information - Failure to provide 
accurate performance data – Risk Ranked as 2 

• KSR 57 - Agency staff - Use of agency staff following changes to 
employment rights – Risk Ranked as 2 

• KSR 59 - Business rates - Localism agenda - review of business rates 
Inc. discretionary reliefs – Risk Ranked as 2 

 
12  BUSINESS PLAN 2014-18 (Agenda Item 12) 

 
RESOLVED 

That Cabinet agrees the proposed amendments to savings and incorporates 
the financial implications into the draft MTFS 2014-18 

 
13  ALLOCATION OF S.106 CONTRIBUTION TO 19TH WIMBLEDON SCOUTS 

HUT PROJECT (Agenda Item 13) 
 

Page 3



4 

RESOLVED: 

That Cabinet  authorises  the allocation of a £60,000 S106 contribution to the 19th 
Wimbledon Scouts Hut project in keeping with the S106 agreement associated with 
the redevelopment of the Atkinson Morley Hospital site as detailed in the body of this 
report. 

 
14  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC (Agenda Item 14) 

 
The exempt information was not discussed and the public were not excluded. 
 
(a)   ALLOCATION OF S.106 CONTRIBUTION TO 19TH WIMBLEDON SCOUTS 

HUT PROJECT - EXEMPT APPENDIX (Agenda Item 14a) 
 

The exempt information was not discussed. 
 

Page 4



Committee: Cabinet  

Date: 9 December 2013 

Agenda item:  

Wards: The recreation ground is located in Dundonald ward 

Subject:  Dundonald Recreation Ground – Appropriation of land to enable 
expansion of Dundonald Primary School 

Lead officers: Yvette Stanley, Director of Children Schools and Families 

    Chris Lee, Director of Environment and Regeneration 

Lead members: Councillor Martin Whelton, Cabinet Member for Education 

             Councillor Andrew Judge, Cabinet Member for Environment and Sustainability 

Contact officers: Tom Procter, Service Manager, Contracts and School Organisation 

        Doug Napier, Greenspaces Manager 

Recommendations:  

A. For Cabinet to decide, for the purposes of section 122 of the Local Government Act 
1972, that the open space shown in appendix 1 forming approximately 2,578 
square metres of Dundonald Recreation Ground is no longer required for the 
purposes for which it is currently held and may be used instead for the following 
purposes to allow the enlargement of the Dundonald Primary School: 

B. Approximately 579 square metres (coloured green and blue) for building and 
outside space to transfer to become permanently part of Dundonald Primary 
School.  

C. Approximately 147 square metres (coloured amber) to provide a replacement two 
storey recreation ground pavilion which will remain under the control of the 
Greenspaces team for the primary purpose of changing facilities, toilets and a 
social space for the recreation ground but may at certain times have a more flexible 
use. 

D. Approximately 1,852 square metres (coloured yellow) for tennis courts and/or a 
multi-use sports area which will remain under the control of the Greenspaces team 
but the school will have exclusive use at set times as set out in a Community Use 
Agreement that is underpinned by a Unilateral Undertaking. 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. The expansion of Dundonald Primary School is not feasible on its existing 
site and the council has for some time proposed a scheme that it considers 
will provide improved recreation ground facilities as well as the much-
needed additional school places. 

1.2. The main basis of the council’s proposal is to provide a two storey building 
on the recreation ground for a school extension and replacement pavilion 
facilities, ensuring no more building footprint than is the current position. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



1.3. Due to the building of a non-leisure facility on the recreation ground, the 
transfer of 296 square metres of external space to Dundonald Primary 
School, and the need to clarify for the long-term the arrangements for 
enlarged tennis courts/multi sports area and the pavilion, it is necessary to 
follow a legal procedure set out in section 122 of the Local Government Act 
1972 known as ‘appropriation’. 

1.4.  The report sets out the specific proposal in the council’s notice, the 
representation received, the council’s legal comments in relation to this, and 
its conclusion when taking into account these representations. 

1.5. Following this procedure it is recommended that appropriation proceeds but 
there is a need to clearly distinguish between an area of land permanently 
transferring to Dundonald Primary School, and the area where there is a 
formalising of use by the school under the overall management of the 
council’s Greenspaces team. 

1.6. In particular, only 579 square metres (approximately 1% of the recreation 
ground) is actually being transferred to the school, and when the efficiencies 
of a two-storey pavilion building is taken into account the only permanent 
loss of external space to the recreation ground is the 296 square metres 
(0.66% of the recreation ground) transferred to Dundonald Primary School 

1.7. Appendix 1 and 2 of the report shows the changes in space proposed in the 
area of the recreation ground immediately adjacent to Dundonald School. 

 

2 DETAILS 

2.1. The expansion of Dundonald Primary School was first proposed in autumn 
2010 when the council undertook a consultation on its primary school 
expansion strategy with proposed schools named. 

2.2. Dundonald School had been proposed as it meets all the key criteria for 
expansion.  It is a popular and successful school.  In its most recent Ofsted 
inspection (2009), it was rated outstanding and performance data since then 
shows it has maintained this level.  The school has been heavily over-
subscribed for its 30 places such that the maximum distance for a non-
sibling place has decreased to barely 200 metres in recent years. Even with 
other recent school expansions in the local area such as Wimbledon Chase 
and Pelham Primary School, there are issues relating to the availability of a 
local school place for residents in the area around Dundonald Primary 
School. 

2.3. The expansion of the school has been delayed by legal processes, but now 
that the restrictive covenant has been modified to enable the expansion to 
proceed, and the planning permission decision notice was issued on 28 
November 2013, Cabinet can decide on the two remaining legal matters. 
The school’s expansion under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 is a 
separate report to this Cabinet. This report relates to the Land Appropriation 
under section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

2.4. A summary of the scheme and its impact on land on Dundonald Recreation 
Ground is as follows:  

Page 6



• Provide a two storey new facility largely on the recreation ground, 
providing new pavilion facilities for the recreation ground and the extra 
facilities to allow Dundonald Primary School to expand from 210 to 420 
statutory school places. 

• Use the same amount of building footprint as existing buildings on the 
recreation ground as both the single storey pavilion building and a 
storage shed would be removed and returned to open space. 

• Change the external spaces in the recreation ground, replacing the 
bowling green and an adjacent fenced off area which is also poorly 
utilised and instead provide alternative spaces that could be enjoyed by 
residents more widely. The bowling green was previously only used by a 
single bowls club with a small membership where there was capacity to 
accommodate them elsewhere locally.  The alternative spaces include a 
larger children’s public playground, an outside green gym, larger hard 
courts (three tennis courts instead of two) which will be formally used by 
the school during set hours only) and other fully accessible newly 
landscaped external space in the recreation ground.  An external area of 
296 square metres will be passed to the school for playground and 
access to the building. 

2.5. Notice published by the council 

2.6. To enable this the council published a notice in the Wimbledon Guardian on 
3 and 10 October under section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 with 
a closing date for any objections to be made in writing to the council’s 
solicitor  before 24 October 2013. The notice was also placed on 
noticeboards in the recreation ground. The notice and plans were advertised 
on the council’s website and this is provided in appendix 3 to this report. 

2.7. The notice stated the council’s intention to appropriate approximately 2,578 
square metres of “land laying south-east of, and adjacent to Dundonald 
Primary School, Dundonald Road, London SW19” on Dundonald recreation 
Ground for the purposes of the enlargement of Dundonald Primary School. 
The details of this were stipulated that “approximately 579 square metres 
thereof is to be appropriated for the exclusive use of the school to provide 
additional building and facilities. Of the remaining 1,999 square metres, 147 
square metres thereof will be appropriated to provide a replacement 
recreation ground pavilion, and 1,852 square metres for tennis courts and/or 
a multi-use sports area of which the school will have exclusive use at set 
times”. 

2.8. Consultation responses. 

2.9. 329 objections and 44 representations in support were received in response 
to the council’s notice. 

2.10. A summary of all 373 responses is provided in appendix 5 and the actual 
consultation responses are available to the decision makers. There were 
levels of misunderstanding with regard to the council’s proposal in some of 
the responses which are addressed in the officers’ response. The most 
extreme was one person who stated “It will be a real shame to lose this 
beautiful space.  I really don't want to see it turned into a block of flats.” 

Page 7



Generally, though, the responses indicate that consultees understood the 
nature of the council’s proposals.  

2.11. The following objections were made regarding the perceived specific impact 
on the council’s appropriation with regard to loss of facilities at the recreation 
ground: 

Comments on Specific loss of facilities: 
 
Tennis courts 

• The tennis courts are used on a casual basis each week by many hundreds of 
people, as well as the 227 members of the Dundonald Rec Tennis Club. 

• The tennis courts are packed and everyone has noticed the incredible success 
of the new Dundonald Tennis Club. Apart from the darkest of winter days, the 
courts are in almost constant use  

• To take away the tennis courts on the back of the Olympics is ridiculous 

• This is a significant restriction on what is now available in the area of the courts, 
playground and bowling green 

• The planned replacement courts would be out of bounds for most of the daylight 
hours during term time so stopping this important activity 

• Where will the Dundonald Tennis Club go? 
 
Dundonald Tennis Club provided a detailed response which included a report dated 
7 January 2013 “Dundonald Recreation Ground Tennis Courts: How the reduction 
in public access will affect local demand for tennis”. Their response stated that 247 
members use the tennis courts during week days and week ends all year round 
and that more than 1000 children are benefiting from their ‘Olympic Legacy’ 
programme and without full access to the courts the programme will have to stop. 
Their response stated that the courts are used by the club  for 53 hours per week, 
with a breakdown as follows: Monday to Friday (8am to 6pm), coached sessions  
(18 hours per week), competitive matches (4 hours per week), informal games 10 
hours (average). On Saturdays and Sundays they stated it was coached sessions  
(7 hours per week), competitive matches (6 hours per week), informal games 8 
hours (average). They reported a survey of their members stating that 42% play 
during weekday mornings and 25% play weekday afternoons. 

 
Playground activities 

• This is a significant restriction on what is now available for the playground  

• The public playground is newly renovated and used by a large number families 
as it is the only public playground in the immediate area.  Any changes to this 
area will have an enormous impact on the health and well-being of the local 
community, especially families with young children 
 

Impact on football and cricket matches  
 

• Football and cricket would no longer be possible in the recreation ground 
 
Other impact on general activities in the recreation ground  

• cycling including children learning to cycle,  

• keep fit including for people who cannot afford gym membership 

Page 8



• picnics and birthday parties 

• walking including dog walking, nature walks, walking the baby and toddlers 
exercise 

• Other sports facilities fill up this park e.g. rugby, volleyball, ultimate Frisbee 

• personal training sessions and  joggers,  

• families enjoying the outdoors. 

• enjoyment of the peace of the rose garden will be shattered if the playground is 
moved.  
 
Bowling green 
 

• The bowling green is a facility which has been available for over 100 years and 
will be a big loss to the community - an important facility for older members of 
the community will be removed. 

• The bowling green has been increasingly used by the new bowling club despite 
the council no longer maintaining it. 

 
Loss of pavilion facilities 
 

• Loss of the pavilion and replacement with a much smaller facility with inferior 
facilities and community space on an upper floor requiring lifts and divorced 
from the playing areas. The pavilion is used for mum and toddler sessions and 
on Wednesday evenings by an orchestra 
 

General comments 
 

• There is not a blade of grass that is unused, so I cannot see how any part of the 
park can be appropriated. It is important for the local community to have as 
much open/green spaces as possible. 

• There is no need for the school expansion- the demand for extra places is 
elsewhere 

• Object as it would increase the built up feel of the Rec., impacting on the vista 
and tranquillity the park offers 

• A recent Merton Open Spaces Assessment found that the land 'is not surplus' to 
requirements in the borough  

• What alternative sites are in mind for when the scheme is ruled out? Why not 
incrementally expand on a smaller scale all the other 15 schools within a 2 mile 
radius of Dundonald? 

• Noise nuisance 

• Loss of mature trees  

• Impact on conservation areas; 

• likelihood of increased parking and traffic congestion will affect many locals 

• Concerned that this initial land grab will be followed by further appropriations. 

• The Rec is a public amenity that gives pleasure to thousands of people. 

• It is used by considerably more people in the local community than the number 
who may benefit from any proposed school expansion. 

• The area is deficient in public open space, some parts being more than 800m 
from a public park or garden.  Many local dwellings are flats or houses with 

Page 9



small gardens. Consequently it should be the last open space to be reduced in 
size. 

• The construction period will be extremely disruptive.   

• Currently just enjoy sitting on a bench and contemplating nature/in the summer 
resting on the grass 

• Object as it is a public space and it is not appropriate for the Council to take this 
land. 
 

The ‘Protect the Rec’ group stated that there is no evidence that the land is surplus to 
requirements as all the evidence suggests that the public currently uses the land 
extensively for recreation. Their response listed evidence from LB Merton’s documents 
including the council’s planning committee report, its Open Spaces Strategy and its 
Sports Pitch strategy, and other sources. They stated that Merton can have no 
awareness of the level of use of the general use of the park or the courts as there is no 
mechanism for booking the courts, and suggested they had some evidence that the 
tennis courts were used extensively. They provided some legal advice which is 
contained in the legal section of the report. 

44 letters of support were provided for the council’s notice. Some of these responses 
questioned some of the claims that had been made in distribution material they had 
received in opposition to the council’s proposal, including claiming that Dundonald 
Tennis Club  had only formed following the council’s proposal to expand Dundonald 
Primary School “as a front to stop the expansion”. Specific reasons given for 
supporting the school expansion were as follows: 

• It is needed to expand the school to be able to obtain a local school place 

• We would like an extra tennis court that could be free from any club access to 
allow children in the community to play 

• The community will benefit from new facilities such as a new pavilion and a new 
playground 

 

Officers’ comments on the consultation responses 

2.12. Offices’ comments under the relevant headings are as follows: 

Tennis courts 

2.13. As a result of the scheme there will be an increase in the number of tennis 
courts from two to three courts. The courts will remain under the 
management of the Greenspaces team but, as part of the planning 
application agreement, a Community Use Agreement underpinned by a 
Unilateral Undertaking sets out reserved use by the school for the majority of 
the school day. There has been some disagreement over how this compares 
with the current use with some members of the community claiming that 
Dundonald Primary School only use the courts for 1-2 hours per day despite 
signs  having been in the recreation ground for some yearsstating the courts 
are only available for the public outside school hours.  The split in use in the 
Community Use Agreement is as follows: 

School use shall be term-time on Monday to Friday between the hours of 08:00 and 17:00 
hours except for the following times during these hours when it will be available for general 
public use: 

Page 10



Autumn term (September to December) and Spring term (January to late March/early April):  
Monday to Friday 09:00-10:00 ; Mondays, Wednesdays & Fridays 15:45-17:00 

Summer term (April to July):  Mondays, Wednesdays & Fridays 09:00-10:45 and 15:45-
17:00;  Tuesdays and Thursdays 09:00-10:00 and 13:45-15:15 

2.14. The scheme offers an additional court for the majority of the hours that the 
recreation ground is open once daylight hours, evenings in the spring and 
summer months, school holidays and weekends are taken into account. 
School days are only 190 of the 365 days in the year and non-school hours 
are the times when there is most demand 

2.15. The view of the Greenspaces team is that the demand for tennis courts is far 
greater at the weekends and in summer evenings, and there is spare 
capacity for tennis courts during weekdays including at John Innes Park, 
which is approximately 600 metres from Dundonald Recreation Ground. 
During the peak times of spring and summer evenings and weekends, the 
extra court will provide beneficial additional capacity. Some public use hours 
during the school day have been agreed in the Community Use Agreement 
to ensure that there can be some clearly advertised public use during the 
school day, so there can be no doubt when the general public will be able to 
use the courts. 

Bowling green 

2.16. The bowling green ceased to be maintained in autumn 2012 with the only 
incumbent club, Wandgas Bowling club, only having 13 members and it was 
not economic to continue its maintenance. The club members were offered 
the use of the neighbouring John Innes Park where there is spare capacity.  
There has been some claim that there has recently been a resurgence of 
interest in bowling with the establishment of a new ‘Dundonald Bowling 
Club’. However, there is no evidence that there is any interest that is 
sustainable and the bowling green is no longer needed by the council to 
provide a viable leisure facility. Any enquiries received by the council for 
bowling facilities could be directed to other bowling greens in the local area 
where there is sufficient capacity.  

Playground activities 

2.17. There were some misunderstandings here. For example one person stated 
“If you remove public access, children won't have a playground.” As a result 
of the scheme the playground is being moved but it will be larger so will 
provide an improved facility. There were representations that moving it 
closer to residents’ gardens would create more noise but this is a planning 
consideration, not one for the appropriation procedure.  

Impact on football and cricket matches  

2.18. Some representations claimed that the appropriation would impact adversely 
on football and cricket matches. For example one person said “I use the Rec 
to play football on Sundays.  If public access were removed we would have 
to fold the team and stop playing.”  However, this is a misunderstanding as 
none of the grass sports field is being removed or changed.  

Other impact on general activities in the recreation ground  

Page 11



2.19. Some representations implied that a variety of activities would be impacted 
due to the appropriation. This included cycling, keep fit, picnics, walking 
including dog walking, general informal sports, and generally enjoying the 
outdoors including the peace of the rose garden.  

2.20. The only loss of facility as a result of the proposed change is the loss of the 
bowling green which has already fallen into disuse and alternative facilities 
are in any event available close by. The tennis court changes are described 
in paragraphs 2.13 to 2.15.  None of the above activities will be adversely 
impacted, with the one possible exception that the perimeter of the 
recreation ground will change with one path closed off, but another will be 
put into place which will open up a direct route from the rose garden to the 
rest of the recreation ground rather than be hidden by the existing pavilion. 
Consequently, there will be some loss of amenity but also some gain. 

Loss of pavilion facilities 

2.21. Some residents stated that the replacement pavilion will be a much smaller 
facility with inferior facilities and community space on an upper floor 
requiring lifts and divorced from the playing areas. However, others 
welcomed a new modern facility that would be more fit-for-purpose.  

2.22. Although there will be a reduction from six to four changing rooms, plus 
officials changing area, only four are needed to be economic and the four 
will be a larger size to accommodate football squads whereas the six current 
changing rooms cannot. The council has agreed with Sport England that it 
will provide appropriate lockers/storage to ensure that the three football 
pitches will continue to have the same quantity of utilisation as now with 
enlarged changing facilities designed to fit a full football squad available 
before and after matches. 

2.23. A social facility will be provided. While it will be on the first floor it will have a 
fully accessible lift and will have views directly onto the playing field so that 
the sports activities can be viewed. This will be especially beneficial during 
inclement weather. 

2.24. Fully accessible public toilets will be provided in the pavilion facility and they 
would be specified to be of a robust design, thus reducing the times when 
they are closed compared to now. 

2.25. On balance, the proposed replacement pavilion is therefore considered to be 
an enhancement compared to the current facility. 

General comments from residents 

2.26. The general comments made were development control matters rather than 
land appropriation. Some respondents recognised the extra facilities as a 
result of the reconfiguration with a specific picnic area and an outside green 
fitness gym. The need for the school expansion is covered in another report 
for this Cabinet meeting 

2.27. With regard to council documents stated as evidence in the representation 
from the ‘Protect the Rec’ group, documents quoted also support the 
council’s proposal : 

• the Playing Pitch Strategy states:  “There is little latent demand for 
bowls in the borough.. ..“there is little competitive use of the 

Page 12



Dundonald green, and the retention of this green may be difficult to 
justify in terms of value for money.” (p.113). 

• the Playing Pitch Strategy states that the changing rooms at 
Dundonald are acknowledged by teams to be poor 

-      The Playing Pitch Strategy states that gym is the overall favourite 
sport in the borough, thus supporting the changes to provide a free 
‘green gym’ for people of all ages to provide a benefit for healthy 
living. 

2.28. Prior to completion of this report, the council received a Petition from 
Dundonald Rec Sport Committee with over 400 signatures to “Save 
Dundonald Rec Pavilion and Tennis Courts”. The Petition states “As players 
of football/cricket /tennis/bowls and/or a user of the pavilion in Dundonald 
Recreation Ground, we call on Merton Council to abandon its plans to 
appropriate the sports pavilion, tennis courts and bowling green land. Merton 
Council is planning to remove 2,578 square metres of land in Dundonald 
Rec from public use, including the sports pavilion (the changing rooms and 
toilets) land, the tennis courts and bowing green. The entire area will be 
transferred to the nearby school, therefore no longer part of the public 
Recreation Ground. This appropriation would have a detrimental effect on 
the sporting activities of thousands of sport players. It would particularly 
endanger the Olympic Legacy programme run by Dundonald Rec tennis club 
(registered tennis charity) for the benefit of children and young players. 
Dundonald Rec Sport Committee (DSC) has been formed to represent and 
protect the interests of all the teams and other users of Dundonald Rec's 
sporting facilities. DSC aims to ensure that Merton Council delivers a good 
standard of public sports facilities, fully accessible to all users”.   

2.29. Officers’ view is that the statement accompanying the petition does not 
accurately reflect the proposal from the council including the wording in the 
published notice. This is because the only area of land that will permanently 
become part of Dundonald Primary School is approximately 579 square 
metres as shown coloured green and blue on the plan appended to 
Appendix 1 of this report, which can be compared with the existing detailed 
in Appendix 2. It is also considered that some of the details provided in this 
report will clarify some of the misunderstandings that appear in the wording 
of the petition.  

 

Legal considerations. 

  Judicial review 

2.30. A judicial review has been brought by the chair of the group Protect 
Dundonald Rec challenging the council’s decisions “to lock the entrances to 
the bowling green area and to erect two signs on Dundonald Recreation 
Ground, on the perimeter of the bowling green area and on the perimeter of 
the tennis court area”. The council has lodged summary grounds of 
opposition to the claim and a decision of the Administrative Court is awaited 
as to whether permission should be granted for the claim to proceed 

Legal matters raised in representations 

Page 13



2.31. In their response to the council’s notice the ‘Protect the Rec’ campaign 
group claimed that there is no provision in the Local Government Act for a 
countervailing factor to allow the Council to consider whether the land is 
required more for something else. If it is required for its current use then it 
would be unreasonable to appropriate and such a decision would be 
challenged in court or through the LGO. They claim that the legal test for 
appropriation is whether the land is not needed, in the public interest of the 
locality, as public open space. In other words, it has to be in the community 
interest for the public open space to be lost: there is no provision for the 
appropriating authority to consider whether an alternative use is more in the 
public interest than the proven existing use. Such a consideration would 
therefore be irrelevant to the decision. They suggested that appropriation 
cannot be used to over-ride the public rights where the public objects and 
that Cabinet should therefore be advised that appropriation is not legally 
permissible.  

2.32. A procedural complaint from another representation stated that the (land 
appropriation) consultation started on 3 October, the last day for responses 
to the previous (education law) consultation on the principle of expanding 
Dundonald School.  This means that the Council had no intention of 
assessing or publishing the responses to the September consultation. In 
fact, the council decided that they were separate legal processes that could 
overlap but to avoid confusion on how to treat representations, the land 
appropriation consultation started immediately after the education 
consultation. 

2.33. A further procedural complaint was that the council notice wasn’t sufficiently 
clear on what was the exact last day for responses. However, all responses 
were included to ensure there was no doubt. 

Legal officers’ advice 

2.34. The advice of the Head of Legal Services is as follows: Section 122 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 provides that “the Council may appropriate for 
any purpose which the Council is authorised by statute to acquire land by 
agreement any land which belongs to it and is no longer required for the 
purpose for which it is held immediately before the appropriation”.  

2.35. The key procedural points are; 

1. The land must already belong to the Council; 

2. The land must be no longer required for the purpose for which it is 
currently appropriated; and 

3. The purpose for which the Council is appropriating must be authorised by 
statute.  

2.36. The case of Dowty Boulton Paul v Wolverhampton Corporation (1973) 
established that the local authority is the sole judge of whether or not the 
land in question is not required for the purpose for which it is held 
immediately before the appropriation and its decision cannot be challenged 
in the absence of bad faith.  

2.37. As with most administrative decisions made by public authorities, the 
decision to appropriate land is subject to challenge by judicial review. If 

Page 14



private rights or alleged town and village green rights are to be overridden 
the Council must be especially careful. The council must be able to 
demonstrate the purpose for the appropriation and that it has taken all the 
relevant considerations into account and not taken any irrelevant 
considerations into account. In particular, the Council must consider, having 
regard to the proposed new facilities for park users, and in the light of the 
representations made following the consultation exercise, whether that part 
of Dundonald Recreation Ground to which the proposed appropriation 
relates, is no longer required for the purposes for which it is presently held.    

2.38. The Council’s decision must be based on the available evidence and be 
rational in the sense that it cannot be said that no reasonable local authority 
could, on the evidence before it, have arrived at that decision: Associated 
Provincial Picture Houses Ltd v Wednesbury Corporation (1948) 1 KB 223). 

2.39. The proposal to appropriate must be the subject of a comprehensive report 
and decision record or minute. The minutes should show that the land is not 
currently appropriated for planning purposes and the Council intends to 
formally appropriate the land under s.122 of the Local Government Act 1972 
or that the land is currently held for planning purposes and the Council 
intends to appropriate the land for alternative planning purposes. 

2.40. As s.122 is being utilised the minutes must record any resolution that the 
land is no longer required for the purpose for which it is currently 
appropriated. In addition, the advertisements in accordance with s.122 (A) in 
respect of open space must give clear information and refer to the intended 
appropriation, and the Council’s minutes must then record that any 
objections received have been duly considered. 

 

Concluding officers’ comments 

2.41. The representation period demonstrated strong feelings from members of 
the community against the land appropriation proposal, but also there were, 
unusually for such a process, a strong minority of people who made 
representations that the council should pursue its proposal. 

2.42. The view of the Greenspaces manager was that retaining the bowling green 
was no longer a reasonable or sustainable use of council funding, hence the 
decision to cease to maintain the facility from autumn 2012.  It is now a 
poorly used isolated space compared to the recreation ground, and the 
proposal provides spaces that can be enjoyed by residents more widely. 
This includes a larger children’s public playground, an outside green gym, 
three instead of two tennis courts (to be used by the school during the 
majority of school hours only) and other outside external space to enjoy. 

2.43. As well as the above, the original purpose for the proposal is that the council 
will be able to offer residents an additional 210 local school places in an area 
of significant demand at one of its most popular and successful primary 
schools, rated as ‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted. 

2.44. The legal considerations above demonstrate that it is for the council to 
decide when it is appropriate to decide an area should change its use from 
open space to other purposes under the appropriation procedure, and 

Page 15



attempts by some members of the local community to demonstrate that the 
general park is well used is not the sole consideration. 

2.45. The proportion of space in relation to the recreation ground also needs to be 
considered. The headline is that this is approximately 2,578 square metres 
of Dundonald Recreation Ground (the total recreation ground is 
approximately 45,000 square metres so this is just under 5%. However, the 
detail of this 2,578 square metres is as follows: 

a) Approximately 579 square metres of footprint for building and outside 
space to transfer to become permanently part of Dundonald Primary School.  

b) Approximately 147 square metres of footprint  to provide a replacement 
two storey recreation ground pavilion which will remain under the control of 
the Greenspaces team for the primary purpose of changing facilities, toilets 
and a social space for the recreation ground but may at certain times have a 
more flexible use. 

c) Approximately 1,852 square metres of footprint for tennis courts and/or a 
multi-use sports area which will remain under the control of the Greenspaces 
team but the school will have exclusive use at set times. 

2.46. Therefore the only area permanently transferring from the management of 
Greenspaces is 579 square metres (approximately 1%), and it is open to 
debate regarding whether the remainder is simply formalising current 
practices.  The consultation demonstrated differences of opinion regarding 
current use of the tennis courts, and whether recent more intensive use by 
Dundonald Tennis Club in the months leading to the appropriation notice 
would be sustained. 

2.47. When the area of the tennis courts is not included, the actual loss of open 
space is even less than 1% since, because the new pavilion is two storey 
and more compact, the building footprint on the recreation ground will be no 
more than it is currently so the only loss is the 296 square metres of external 
space that is being transferred to the school. This represents just 0.66% of 
the recreation ground. The improved layout leads officers to conclude that 
the new position is an enhancement. 

2.48. There is a need for the council to demonstrate to the local community that 
the loss is not the entire 2,578 square metres, and to ensure that public use 
of the tennis courts is protected. For this reason, as part of the planning 
permission the council is providing a Unilateral Undertaking to ensure 
sufficient public use of the tennis courts/multi-use sports area and the 
pavilion is enshrined in a legal agreement.   

 

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

3.1. There is a statutory requirement to provide sufficient school places and the 
area has been identified as having a shortfall in the provision of places. The 
alternative is then to expand alternative schools or provide a new school 
site. Dundonald School was chosen as part of the council’s school 
expansion strategy on the basis of the following criteria:  Educational 
standards, parental preference, smaller schools expand where feasible, 

Page 16



location, physical constraints of existing school sites, value for money and 
affordability and diversity including balance of faith and non-faith provision 

3.2. All alternative schools that could be expanded in the local area have already 
been expanded yet there are still significant issues for residents around 
Dundonald Primary School to obtain a local school place. Attempts to find a 
viable site for a new primary school in the local area have not proved 
possible by either the council or a Free School provider. 

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

4.1. The consultation process is set out in the main body of this report 

5 TIMETABLE 

5.1. The proposal is for Dundonald School to provide 60 reception year places 
from September 2015, and to commence construction to enable this 
timetable. 

5.2. There is a requirement to spend the DfE grant allocated to the project in the 
2013/14 ad 2014/15 financial years . 

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. The capital cost of the schemes and funding was agreed by council as part 
of the capital programme in March 2013 and has been facilitated by a DfE 
grant of £2.01 million under the Targeted Basic Need Fund. 

6.2. The revenue impact to operate the larger schools will be funded through the 
Dedicated Schools Grant, which increases on the basis of additional pupils, 
although there is a delay in receiving the funding for the additional pupils 
and it is not retrospective.  This is the position whichever school is 
expanded 

6.3. The proposal has property management implications that are covered in the 
main body of the report. 

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that the Council 
may appropriate for any purpose which the Council is authorised by statute 
to acquire land by agreement any land which belongs to it and is no longer 
required for the purpose for which it is held immediately before the 
appropriation.  

7.2. Full legal and statutory implications of the appropriation of part of Dundonald 
Recreation Ground and the procedures involved are set out in paragraphs 
2.39 – 2.40 of this report.  

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. The  Equality Act 2010 introduced a new Public Sector Equality Duty ,which 
came into effect in April 2011.This covers eight ‘protected 
characteristics’(age, disability ,gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief and sexual orientation). It establishes a 
general duty on public bodies to have ‘due regard’ in carrying out its 
functions to the need to: 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation: 

Page 17



• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it ;and 

• foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

8.2.  In making any decision the decision maker should have due regard to the 
above duty. 

8.3. An equalities impact assessment is included as appendix 4 to this report 

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. No specific implications 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. Some of the legal issues in relation to this scheme are highlighted in the 
main body of the report. 

10.2. Health and safety would be considered carefully in the development of the 
project to ensure there will be a clear separation between pupils, teachers,  
parents, recreational ground users and construction work, while ensuring the 
school and recreation ground can continue to function appropriately during 
the works 

11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

• Appendix 1 – Plan of areas showing the proposed appropriation areas 

• Appendix  2 – Plan of existing areas 

• Appendix 3 – Appropriation notice and accompanying plans published 
on council’s website 

• Appendix 4 – Equalities Impact Assessment 

• Appendix 5 -  Summary of all 374 responses to the appropriation 
notice 

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

12.1. The full 374 responses are available to the decision makers 

12.2. Cabinet paper 19 September 2011 on Dundonald School expansion 

12.3. Cabinet paper 11 November 2013 on School Places Strategy  

 

Page 18



Appendix 1

Proposed area of appropriation overleaf

Please refer to recommendations to Cabinet report for status of

areas

Page 19



Page 20



Appendix 2

Existing use of areas

Page 21



Page 22



LONDON BOROUGH OFMERTON

PUBLIC NOTICE

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972, SECTION 122 APPROPRIATION OF LAND BY PRINCIPAL

COUNCILS

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the London Borough of Merton intends to appropriate for the

purposes of the enlargement of the Dundonald Primary School, Dundonald Road, London

SW19 3QH, and for additional facilities for the sole or shared benefit of that school, an area

of land forming part of the Dundonald Recreation Ground, Dundonald Road, London SW19,

which includes land used as open space. The area to be appropriated is described in the

Schedule to this notice.

A plan identifying the land may be inspected by contacting Contracts and Schools

Organisation, Children Schools and Families Department, London Borough of Merton,

Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden, Surrey SM4 5DX, e-mail

schconsult@merton.gov.uk, or by telephoning Marina Bowyer on 020 8545 3289 during

office working hours. A copying charge may be payable if copies are required. Alternatively it

can be viewed on the council’s website http://www.merton.gov.uk/schoolsconsultations.htm

Any objections to the proposed appropriation should be made in writing to Susan Sime

Merton Richmond Legal Services Gifford House 67c St Helier Avenue Morden SM4 6HY email

susan.sime@merton.gov.uk before 24 October 2013

SCHEDULE

Approximately 2,578 square metres of land laying south-east of, and adjacent to the

Dundonald Primary School, Dundonald Road, London SW19. Approximately 579 square

metres thereof is to be appropriated for the exclusive use of the school to provide additional

building and facilities. Of the remaining 1,999 square metres, 147 metres thereof will be

appropriated to provide a replacement recreation ground pavilion, and 1,852 square metres

for tennis courts and/or a multi-use sports area of which the school will have exclusive use at

set times.

The land had previously been subject to a restrictive covenant, contained in an Indenture

dated 16
th
December 1893. By Order of the Upper Tribunal (Lands Chamber) dated 25

th
June

2013, the covenant was modified to permit the land to be used additionally for educational

purposes (including the erection of buildings for such purposes) for use in connection with

the Dundonald Primary School.

A plan of the land is available for inspection through the contact details and website address

advertised above.

DATED: 3 OCTOBER 2013

Paul Evans, Assistant Director of Corporate Governance, London Borough of Merton, of

Civic Centre, Morden, Surrey SM4 5DX

Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



1

E
Q
U
A
L
IT
IE
S
T
E
S
T
O
F
R
E
L
E
V
A
N
C
E
A
N
D
IN
IT
IA
L
S
C
R
E
E
N
IN
G

T
h
is

fo
rm

s
h
o
u
ld

b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

in
lin

e
w

it
h

th
e

E
q
u
a
lit

y
A

n
a
ly

s
is

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

a
v
a
ila

b
le

o
n

th
e

In
tr

a
n
e
t

E
A
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
b
y
:

(G
iv

e
n

a
m

e
a

n
d

jo
b

ti
tl
e

)
T
o
m
P
ro
c
te
r;
S
e
rv
ic
e
M
a
n
a
g
e
r
S
c
h
o
o
l
O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
n
d
C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts

E
A
to
b
e
s
ig
n
e
d
o
ff
b
y
:

(G
iv

e
n

a
m

e
a

n
d

jo
b

ti
tl
e

)

P
a
u
l
B
a
lla
tt
;
H
e
a
d
o
f
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
,
S
tr
a
te
g
y
a
n
d
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t/
D
iv
is
io
n
:

C
h
ild
re
n
,
S
c
h
o
o
ls
a
n
d
F
a
m
ili
e
s
D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t

T
e
a
m
:

S
c
h
o
o
l
O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

E
A
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
o
n
:

2
9

/1
1

/2
0

1
3

A
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
,
P
o
li
c
ie
s
,
P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
P
o
li
c
ie
s
a
n
d
P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
fo
r
th
e
ir
R
e
le
v
a
n
c
e
(d
u
e
re
g
a
rd
)
to
th
e
G
e
n
e
ra
l
D
u
ti
e
s
o
f
th
e
E
q
u
a
li
ty

A
c
t
2
0
1
0
.

R
e
le
v
a
n
c
e
S
ta
te
m
e
n
ts

–
th

e
fo

llo
w

in
g

s
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

m
a

y
h

e
lp

y
o

u
to

d
e

te
rm

in
e

w
h

e
th

e
r

th
e

fu
n

c
ti
o

n
/s

e
rv

ic
e

is
re

le
v
a

n
t

to
th

e
a

im
s

o
f

th
e

P
u

b
lic

S
e

c
to

r
E

q
u
a

lit
y

D
u

ty
:

T
h
e

o
u

tc
o
m

e
(s

)
o
f

th
e

a
c
ti
v
it
y

d
ir
e

c
tl
y

a
n

d
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

tl
y

im
p

a
c
t

o
n

p
e
o

p
le

T
h
e

a
c
ti
v
it
y

a
ff

e
c
ts

s
o
m

e
g
ro

u
p

s
o
f

p
e
o

p
le

o
r

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
a
n

d
n

o
t
o

th
e

rs

P
a

rt
ic

u
la

r
g
ro

u
p

s
o
f

p
e
o

p
le

o
r

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
c
o

u
ld

b
e

d
is

a
d

v
a

n
ta

g
e
d

b
y

th
e

fu
n

c
ti
o
n

/
s
e

rv
ic

e

T
h
e

y
a

c
ti
v
it
y

a
ff

e
c
ts

h
o
w

th
e

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

a
re

d
e

liv
e

re
d

T
h
e

a
c
ti
v
it
y

p
re

s
e

n
ts

a
h

ig
h

ri
s
k

to
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il’

s
p

u
b

lic
re

p
u

ta
ti
o
n

T
h
e

a
c
ti
v
it
y

re
la

te
s

to
a

n
a

re
a

w
h

e
re

th
e

re
a

re
k
n

o
w

n
in

e
q
u

a
lit

ie
s

Page 26



2

P
ro
te
c
te
d
C
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
-
K
e
y
:

A
g
e

A
R
a
c
e

R

D
is
a
b
il
it
y

D
R
e
li
g
io
n
o
r
B
e
li
e
f

R
B

G
e
n
d
e
r
R
e
a
s
s
ig
n
m
e
n
t

G
R

S
e
x

S

M
a
rr
ia
g
e
a
n
d
C
iv
il
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

M
C
P

S
e
x
u
a
l
O
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n

S
O

P
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
a
n
d
M
a
te
rn
it
y

P
M

N
a
m
e
o
f
F
u
n
c
ti
o
n

/
S
e
rv
ic
e

W
h
ic
h
P
ro
te
c
te
d
C
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
(s
)
is
y
o
u
r
fu
n
c
ti
o
n
/

s
e
rv
ic
e
re
le
v
a
n
t
to
?
T
ic
k
(
)
a
ll
th
a
t
a
p
p
ly
.

W
h
ic
h
a
im
s
o
f
th
e
P
u
b
li
c
S
e
c
to
r
E
q
u
a
li
ty
D
u
ty
(P
S
E
D
)
a
re

re
le
v
a
n
t
to
y
o
u
r
fu
n
c
ti
o
n
/s
e
rv
ic
e
?
C
a
n
y
o
u
r

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
/s
e
rv
ic
e
:

T
ic
k
(
)
a
ll
th
a
t
a
p
p
ly
.

A
D

G
R

M
C

P
P

M
R

R
B

S
S

O

E
lim

in
a

te
u
n

la
w

fu
l

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a

ti
o
n

,
h

a
ra

s
s
m

e
n

t
a

n
d

v
ic

ti
m

is
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

o
th

e
r

c
o

n
d
u

c
t

p
ro

h
ib

it
e
d

b
y

th
e

E
q
u

a
lit

y
A

c
t

2
0

1
0

?

A
d

v
a

n
c
e

e
q
u
a

lit
y

o
f

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
y

b
e

tw
e

e
n

p
e

o
p

le
w

h
o

s
h

a
re

a
p

ro
te

c
te

d
c
h

a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c

a
n

d
th

o
s
e

w
h

o
d

o
n

o
t?

F
o

s
te

r
g
o

o
d

re
la

ti
o

n
s

b
e

tw
e

e
n

p
e

o
p

le
w

h
o

s
h

a
re

a
p

ro
te

c
te

d
c
h

a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c

a
n

d
th

o
s
e

w
h

o
d

o
n

o
t?

S
c
h

o
o

l
O

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
x

x
x

x
x

x
x

If
re
le
v
a
n
c
e
to
th
e
P
u
b
li
c
S
e
c
to
r
E
q
u
a
li
ty
D
u
ty
is
e
s
ta
b
li
s
h
e
d
y
o
u
a
re
re
q
u
ir
e
d
to
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
a
n
E
q
u
a
li
ty
A
n
a
ly
s
is
.

Page 27



3

In
it
ia
l
S
c
re
e
n
in
g

1
.
W

h
a

t
a

re
th

e
a

im
s
,
o

b
je

c
ti
v
e

s
,

a
n

d
d

e
s
ir
e

d
o

u
tc

o
m

e
s

o
f

y
o

u
r

p
ro

p
o

s
a

ls
?

(A
ls

o
e

x
p

la
in

p
ro

p
o

s
a

ls
e

.g
.

re
d
u

c
ti
o
n

/r
e

m
o

v
a

l
o
f

s
e

rv
ic

e
,

d
e

le
ti
o

n
o
f

p
o

s
ts

,
c
h

a
n

g
in

g
c
ri
te

ri
a

fo
r

e
lig

ib
ili

ty
o

f
s
e

rv
ic

e
e

tc
).

T
o

e
x
p

a
n

d
s
c
h

o
o

l
p

la
c
e

s
p

ro
v
id

e
d

a
t

D
u
n

d
o
n
a

ld
P

ri
m

a
ry

S
c
h

o
o

l.
T

h
is

re
q
u

ir
e

s
e

n
la

rg
e

m
e
n
t

o
f

a
c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a

ti
o
n

o
f

a
s
m

a
ll

a
re

a
o
f

la
n
d

u
s
e
d

fo
r

p
u

b
lic

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
a

n
d

le
is

u
re

to
e
n

a
b

le
s
u
ff

ic
ie

n
t
e

d
u

c
a

ti
o
n

a
c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
to

b
e

p
ro

v
id

e
d

.
T

h
e

re
m

a
in

in
g

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
g
ro

u
n

d
a
n

d
fa

c
ili

ti
e

s
w

ill
b

e
e

n
h
a

n
c
e
d

a
s

p
a

rt
o
f

th
e

p
ro

p
o

s
a

l.

2
.
W

h
o

a
re

th
e

m
a

in
p

e
o
p

le
/g

ro
u

p
s

a
ff

e
c
te

d
b

y
y
o

u
r

p
ro

p
o

s
a

ls
?

(C
o

n
s
id

e
r

w
h

o
a

re
th

e
in

te
rn

a
l
a

n
d

e
x
te

rn
a

l
c
u

s
to

m
e

rs
)

C
h

ild
re

n
a
n

d
th

e
ir

p
a

re
n

ts
/c

a
re

rs
U

s
e

rs
o
f

D
u

n
d

o
n

a
ld

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
n

d
L

o
c
a

l
R

e
s
id

e
n

ts

3
.
W

h
a

t
d

a
ta

,
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
,

e
v
id

e
n

c
e

,
re

s
e

a
rc

h
,

s
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s
,

s
u

rv
e

y
s
,

a
n

d
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
(s

)
h

a
v
e

y
o

u
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
to

u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

th
is

s
c
re

e
n

in
g
?

S
c
h

o
o

l
p

la
c
e

p
la

n
n

in
g

d
a

ta
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

a
n

d
d

a
ta

d
e

ri
v
e

d
fr

o
m

s
ta

tu
to

ry
c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
p

ro
c
e

s
s
e

s

4
.

Is
th

e
re

e
v
id

e
n

c
e

to
s
u

g
g
e

s
t

th
a

t
y
o

u
r

p
ro

p
o

s
a

l(
s
)

c
o

u
ld

a
ff

e
c
t
s
o
m

e
g
ro

u
p

s
o
f
p

e
o
p

le
in

d
if
fe

re
n
t

w
a

y
s
?

Y
e

s
x

E
x
p

la
in

th
e

re
a

s
o

n
fo

r
y
o

u
r

d
e

c
is

io
n

P
ro

p
o

s
a

l
w

ill
p

ro
v
id

e
a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
s
c
h

o
o

l
p

la
c
e

s
fo

r
c
h

ild
re

n
w

h
o

n
e

e
d

th
e
m

.
T

h
e

a
p
p

ro
p

ri
a

ti
o

n
o
f

la
n

d
fo

r
e

d
u

c
a
ti
o

n
a

l
p

u
rp

o
s
e

s
w

ill
a

ff
e

c
t

u
s
e

rs
o
f

th
e

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
g
ro

u
n

d
in

c
lu

d
in

g
th

o
s
e

fr
o
m

o
n
e

o
r

m
o

re
p

ro
te

c
te

d
g
ro

u
p

s
.

N
o

Page 28



4

A
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
Im
p
a
c
t

P
le

a
s
e

in
d

ic
a

te
h
o

w
th

e
p

ro
p
o

s
a

ls
a
ff

e
c
t

th
e

P
ro

te
c
te

d
C

h
a

ra
c
te

ri
s
ti
c
s

lis
te

d
b
e

lo
w

:
If
y
o
u
h
a
v
e
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
im
p
a
c
t(
s
)
a
b
o
v
e
,
th
e
n
it
is
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
to
c
o
m
p
le
te
a
n
E
q
u
a
li
ty
A
n
a
ly
s
is
.
If
th
e
re
is
n
o
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e

im
p
a
c
t
y
o
u
d
o
n
o
t
n
e
e
d
to
c
o
m
p
le
te
a
n
E
q
u
a
li
ty
A
n
a
ly
s
is
.

O
u
tc
o
m
e
o
f
s
c
re
e
n
in
g

E
q
u

a
lit

y
A

n
a

ly
s
is

is
re

q
u

ir
e

d

L
e
a
d
O
ff
ic
e
r

T
o
m

P
ro

c
te

r

D
ir
e
c
to
r/
H
e
a
d
o
f

S
e
rv
ic
e

P
a

u
l
B

a
lla

tt

P
o
s
it
iv
e

Im
p
a
c
t

N
e
g
a
ti
v
e

Im
p
a
c
t

N
e
it
h
e
r

R
e
a
s
o
n
/
C
o
m
m
e
n
t
/
E
v
id
e
n
c
e

A
g
e

x
x

M
o

re
s
c
h

o
o

l
a

g
e

c
h

ild
re

n
w

ill
b

e
a

b
le

to
a

c
c
e
s
s

a
lo

c
a

l
s
c
h

o
o

l
p

la
c
e
.

O
ld

e
r

u
s
e

rs
o
f

th
e

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n

g
ro

u
n

d
w

ill
h

a
v
e

s
lig

h
tl
y

re
d

u
c
e

d
a

c
c
e
s
s

to
re

c
re

a
ti
o

n
/l
e

is
u

re
fa

c
ili

ti
e

s
o

n
th

e
s
it
e

b
u

t
w

ill
h

a
v
e

a
c
c
e

s
s

to
s
im

ila
r

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s
lo

c
a

lly
a

n
d

th
e

re
m

a
in

in
g

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
,

le
is

u
re

a
n

d
la

v
a

to
ry

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s
a
t

D
u

n
d

o
n

a
ld

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
n

d
w

ill
b

e
e

n
h

a
n

c
e

d
.

D
is
a
b
il
it
y

x
x

D
is

a
b

le
d

u
s
e

rs
o
f

th
e

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n

g
ro

u
n

d
w

ill
h

a
v
e

s
lig

h
tl
y

re
d

u
c
e

d
a

c
c
e

s
s

to
re

c
re

a
ti
o

n
/l
e

is
u

re
fa

c
ili

ti
e

s
o

n
th

e
s
it
e

b
u

t
o

v
e

ra
ll

e
n

h
a

n
c
e
m

e
n

ts
p

la
n
n

e
d

,
in

c
lu

d
in

g
b

e
tt
e

r
a

c
c
e

s
s
ib

le
la

v
a

to
ry

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s
,

s
h

o
u

ld
o

u
tw

e
ig

h
th

is
im

p
a

c
t.

G
e
n
d
e
r
R
e
a
s
s
ig
n
m
e
n
t

M
a
rr
ia
g
e
a
n
d
C
iv
ic

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

P
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
a
n
d
M
a
te
rn
it
y

x
P

a
re

n
ts

w
ill

h
a

v
e

m
o

re
a

c
c
e

s
s

to
lo

c
a

l
s
c
h

o
o

l
p

la
c
e

s
fo

r
th

e
ir

c
h

ild
re

n
.

T
h
e

e
n

la
rg

e
d

c
h

ild
re

n
’s

p
la

y
a

re
a

p
la

n
n

e
d

w
ill

a
d

d
to

th
is

p
o

s
it
iv

e
im

p
a

c
t.

R
a
c
e

R
e
li
g
io
n
o
r
B
e
li
e
f

S
e
x

S
e
x
u
a
l
O
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n

Page 29



5

S
ig
n
e
d

D
a
te
d

2
9

/1
1

/2
0

1
3

Page 30



1

E
q
u
a
li
ty
A
n
a
ly
s
is

P
le

a
s
e

re
fe

r
to

th
e

g
u
id

a
n

c
e

fo
r

c
a
rr

yi
n
g

o
u

t
a

n
E

q
u

a
lit

y
A

n
a
ly

s
is

.
T

e
x
t
in

b
lu

e
is

in
te

n
d
e

d
to

p
ro

v
id

e
g

u
id

a
n

c
e

–
yo

u
c
a
n

d
e
le

te
th

is
fr

o
m

y
o

u
r

fi
n

a
l
v
e

rs
io

n
.

W
h
a
t
a

re
th

e
p

ro
p

o
s
a
ls

b
e

in
g

a
s
s
e

s
s
e

d
?

E
x
p
a

n
s
io

n
o
f

D
u

n
d

o
n
a
ld

P
ri
m

a
ry

S
c
h

o
o
l

W
h
ic

h
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e
n
t/

D
iv

is
io

n
h
a

s
th

e
re

s
p
o

n
s
ib

ili
ty

fo
r

th
is

?
C

h
ild

re
n
,
S

c
h

o
o
ls

a
n

d
F

a
m

ili
e

s
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

t

S
ta
g
e
1
:
O
v
e
rv
ie
w

N
a
m

e
a

n
d

jo
b

ti
tl
e

o
f

le
a
d

o
ff

ic
e
r

T
o
m

P
ro

c
te

r;
S

e
rv

ic
e

M
a
n
a

g
e

r,
S

c
h

o
o

l
O

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n

a
n
d

C
o
n

tr
a

c
ts

1
.

W
h
a
t

a
re

th
e

a
im

s
,

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s

a
n

d
d
e

s
ir

e
d

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s

o
f

y
o

u
r

p
ro

p
o
s
a

l?
(A

ls
o

e
x
p

la
in

p
ro

p
o
s
a

ls
e
.g

.
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
/r

e
m

o
v
a
l
o
f

s
e
rv

ic
e
,

d
e

le
ti
o
n

o
f

p
o

s
ts

,
c
h

a
n

g
in

g
c
ri
te

ri
a

e
tc

)

T
o

e
x
p

a
n
d

s
c
h

o
o

l
p
la

c
e

s
p

ro
v
id

e
d

a
t

D
u

n
d
o

n
a
ld

P
ri
m

a
ry

S
c
h
o

o
l.

T
h

is
re

q
u
ir

e
s

e
n

la
rg

e
m

e
n

t
o
f

a
c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a
ti
o

n
a
n

d
a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
ti
o

n
o
f

a
s
m

a
ll

a
re

a
o
f

la
n
d

u
s
e
d

fo
r

p
u

b
lic

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
a

n
d

le
is

u
re

to
e
n

a
b
le

s
u
ff

ic
ie

n
t
e

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d

a
ti
o
n

to
b

e
p

ro
v
id

e
d

.
T

h
e

re
m

a
in

in
g

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n

g
ro

u
n

d
a

n
d

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s
w

ill
b
e

e
n

h
a
n

c
e
d

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f
th

e
p

ro
p
o

s
a
l.

2
.

H
o

w
d
o

e
s

th
is

c
o

n
tr

ib
u
te

to
th

e
c
o

u
n
c
il’

s
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
p
ri

o
ri

ti
e

s
?

T
h
is

p
ro

p
o

s
a
l
is

p
a

rt
o
f

a
m

a
jo

r
p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
o
f

p
ri
m

a
ry

s
c
h

o
o

l
e
x
p

a
n
s
io

n
re

q
u
ir

e
d

to
fu

lf
il

s
ta

tu
to

ry
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
.
E

n
h

a
n

c
e
m

e
n

ts
to

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
a

n
d

le
is

u
re

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s
s
u
p

p
o
rt

th
e

c
o
u

n
c
il’

s
c
o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t

to
p
ro

m
o
ti
n

g
th

e
w

e
llb

e
in

g
o
f

it
s

re
s
id

e
n
ts

.

3
.

W
h
o

w
ill

b
e

a
ff
e

c
te

d
b

y
th

is
p
ro

p
o
s
a

l?
F

o
r

e
x
a
m

p
le

w
h

o
a
re

th
e

e
x
te

rn
a
l/
in

te
rn

a
l
c
u

s
to

m
e
rs

,
c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
,

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

,
s
ta

k
e

h
o
ld

e
rs

,
th

e
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
e

tc
.

C
h
ild

re
n

a
n

d
th

e
ir

p
a

re
n
ts

/c
a
re

rs
.

U
s
e
rs

o
f

D
u

n
d

o
n
a
ld

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o

n
G

ro
u
n

d
.

L
o

c
a
l
re

s
id

e
n

ts
.

4
.

Is
th

e
re

s
p
o

n
s
ib

ili
ty

s
h

a
re

d
w

it
h

a
n

o
th

e
r

d
e

p
a
rt

m
e
n
t,

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

o
r

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o

n
?

If
s
o

,
w

h
o

a
re

th
e

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

a
n
d

w
h

o
h

a
s

o
v
e
ra

ll
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

?

T
h
is

p
ro

p
o

s
a
l
is

le
d

b
y

C
h
ild

re
n
,
S

c
h

o
o
ls

a
n

d
F

a
m

ili
e

s
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

t
b
u

t
h
a
s

re
q
u
ir

e
d

fu
ll

e
n

g
a

g
e
m

e
n

t
o
f

o
ff

ic
e

rs
in

th
e

c
o
u
n

c
il’

s
E

n
v
ir

o
n
m

e
n
t

a
n
d

R
e

g
e
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
D

e
p
a

rt
m

e
n
t.

Page 31



2

S
ta
g
e
2
:
C
o
ll
e
c
ti
n
g
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
/
d
a
ta

5
.
W
h
a
t
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
h
a
v
e
y
o
u
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
a
s
p
a
rt
o
f
th
is
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t?

P
ro

v
id

e
d
e

ta
ils

o
f
th

e
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

y
o

u
h
a

v
e

re
v
ie

w
e
d

to
d
e

te
rm

in
e

th
e

im
p

a
c
t

y
o
u

r
p
ro

p
o
s
a
l
w

o
u

ld
h

a
v
e

o
n

th
e

p
ro

te
c
te

d
c
h

a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c
s

(e
q

u
a
lit

y
g
ro

u
p
s
).

P
u

p
il

p
la

c
e

p
la

n
n

in
g

d
a
ta

s
u

p
p
o

rt
s

th
e

n
e

e
d

to
p
ro

v
id

e
a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l
s
c
h

o
o
l
p
la

c
e
s

a
t

D
u
n

d
o
n

a
ld

S
c
h

o
o
l

D
a
ta

o
n

u
s
e

o
f

e
x
is

ti
n

g
re

c
re

a
ti
o

n
fa

c
ili

ti
e

s
a

t
D

u
n

d
o
n

a
ld

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o
n

G
ro

u
n

d
–

s
p

e
c
if
ic

a
lly

re
la

ti
n
g

to
u
s
e

o
f

a
b

o
w

lin
g

g
re

e
n

w
h
ic

h
w

o
u

ld
b

e
re

m
o

v
e
d

if
th

e
p

ro
p

o
s
a
l
is

a
g
re

e
d

a
n

d
te

n
n
is

c
o

u
rt

s
w

h
ic

h
w

o
u

ld
im

p
ro

v
e

in
q

u
a
lit

y
a
n

d
in

c
re

a
s
e

in
n

u
m

b
e

r
if

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l
is

a
g
re

e
d
.

S
ta
g
e
3
:
A
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
im
p
a
c
t
a
n
d
a
n
a
ly
s
is

6
.
F
ro
m
th
e
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
y
o
u
h
a
v
e
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
,
w
h
a
t
a
re
a
s
o
f
c
o
n
c
e
rn
h
a
v
e
y
o
u
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
re
g
a
rd
in
g
th
e
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
a
n
d

p
o
s
it
iv
e
im
p
a
c
t
o
n
o
n
e
o
r
m
o
re
p
ro
te
c
te
d
c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
(e
q
u
a
li
ty
g
ro
u
p
s
)?

P
ro
te
c
te
d
c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c

(e
q
u
a
li
ty
g
ro
u
p
)

T
ic
k
w
h
ic
h
a
p
p
li
e
s

T
ic
k
w
h
ic
h
a
p
p
li
e
s

R
e
a
s
o
n

B
ri

e
fl
y

e
x
p
la

in
w

h
a
t

p
o

s
it
iv

e
o
r

n
e
g

a
ti
v
e

im
p
a

c
t
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

id
e
n

ti
fi
e

d
P
o
s
it
iv
e
im
p
a
c
t

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l

n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
im
p
a
c
t

Y
e
s

N
o

Y
e
s

N
o

A
g
e

x
x

E
n

d
in

g
o
f

a
c
c
e
s
s

to
s
p

e
c
if
ic

b
o

w
lin

g
fa

c
ili

ty
b

u
t
im

p
ro

v
in

g
a

c
c
e

s
s

to
o
v
e

ra
ll

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n

a
n
d

le
is

u
re

a
n

d
la

v
a
to

ry
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s

D
is
a
b
il
it
y

x
x

E
n

d
in

g
o
f

a
c
c
e
s
s

to
s
p

e
c
if
ic

b
o

w
lin

g
fa

c
ili

ty
b

u
t
im

p
ro

v
in

g
a

c
c
e

s
s

to
o
v
e

ra
ll

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n

a
n
d

le
is

u
re

a
n

d
la

v
a
to

ry
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s

G
e
n
d
e
r
R
e
a
s
s
ig
n
m
e
n
t

M
a
rr
ia
g
e
a
n
d
C
iv
il

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

P
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
a
n
d
M
a
te
rn
it
y

x
In

c
re

a
s
in

g
a
c
c
e
s
s

to
lo

c
a
l
s
c
h

o
o
l
p

la
c
e
s

a
n

d
e
n

h
a
n

c
e
m

e
n

ts
o
f
lo

c
a
l

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
a

n
d

le
is

u
re

o
ff

e
r

R
a
c
e

R
e
li
g
io
n
/
b
e
li
e
f

S
e
x
(G
e
n
d
e
r)

S
e
x
u
a
l
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n

S
o
c
io
-e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
s
ta
tu
s

Page 32



3

7
.
If
y
o
u
h
a
v
e
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
a
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
im
p
a
c
t,
h
o
w
d
o
y
o
u
p
la
n
to
m
it
ig
a
te
it
?

T
h

e
p
re

v
io

u
s

u
s
e

rs
o
f
th

e
b

o
w

lin
g

g
re

e
n

a
t

D
u

n
d
o

n
a

ld
R

e
c
re

a
ti
o

n
G

ro
u
n
d

h
a
v
e

b
e
e

n
o
ff

e
re

d
g

u
a
ra

n
te

e
d

a
c
c
e
s
s

to
s
im

ila
r

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s

a
t

J
o

h
n

In
n
e

s
P

a
rk

,
w

h
ic

h
is

a
m

a
tt

e
r

o
f

5
m

in
u
te

s
’
w

a
lk

a
w

a
y
.

O
ld

e
r

a
n

d
d
is

a
b

le
d

u
s
e
rs

o
f

te
n
n
is

fa
c
ili

ti
e

s
w

ill
h

a
v
e

a
c
c
e

s
s

(a
lb

e
it

a
t

s
lig

h
tl
y

re
d

u
c
e

d
ti
m

e
s
)

to
im

p
ro

v
e

d
q
u

a
lit

y
p

ro
v
is

io
n

a
n

d
m

o
re

te
n
n

is
c
o

u
rt

s
.
In

a
d

d
it
io

n
to

g
e

n
e
ra

l
e
n

h
a
n

c
e
m

e
n

t
o
f

la
n
d

s
c
a
p

e
a
n

d
h

o
rt

ic
u
lt
u
re

,
a
ll

u
s
e
rs

o
f

th
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o

n
G

ro
u

n
d

in
c
lu

d
in

g
th

o
s
e

fr
o
m

p
ro

te
c
te

d
g
ro

u
p
s

w
ill

h
a

v
e

a
c
c
e
s
s

to
a

n
e

w
‘g

re
e

n
g
y
m

’,
im

p
ro

v
e

d
c
h

a
n
g
in

g
ro

o
m

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
,

a
n
d

a
n

im
p
ro

v
e

d
,
fu

lly
a

c
c
e

s
s
ib

le
,
la

v
a

to
ry

w
ill

a
ls

o
b

e
p

ro
v
id

e
d

.

S
ta
g
e
4
:
C
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
o
f
th
e
E
q
u
a
li
ty
A
n
a
ly
s
is

8
.
W
h
ic
h
o
f
th
e
fo
ll
o
w
in
g
s
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
b
e
s
t
d
e
s
c
ri
b
e
th
e
o
u
tc
o
m
e
o
f
th
e
E
A
(T
ic
k
o
n
e
b
o
x
o
n
ly
)

P
le

a
s
e

re
fe

r
to

th
e

g
u
id

a
n

c
e

fo
r

c
a
rr

yi
n
g

o
u

t
E

q
u
a

lit
y

Im
p

a
c
t
A

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
ts

is
a

v
a
ila

b
le

o
n

th
e

in
tr

a
n
e

t
fo

r
fu

rt
h
e
r

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
a
b

o
u
t

th
e
s
e

o
u

tc
o
m

e
s

a
n

d
w

h
a

t
th

e
y

m
e

a
n

fo
r

y
o

u
r

p
ro

p
o
s
a

l

O
u
tc
o
m
e
1

–
T

h
e

E
A

h
a
s

n
o

t
id

e
n
ti
fi
e

d
a

n
y

p
o

te
n
ti
a
l
fo

r
d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n

o
r

n
e

g
a

ti
v
e

im
p

a
c
t

a
n

d
a
ll

o
p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
to

p
ro

m
o
te

e
q
u

a
lit

y
a
re

b
e

in
g

a
d

d
re

s
s
e

d
.

N
o

c
h

a
n

g
e

s
a

re
re

q
u
ir

e
d
.

x
O
u
tc
o
m
e
2

–
T

h
e

E
A

h
a
s

id
e
n
ti
fi
e

d
a

d
ju

s
tm

e
n
ts

to
re

m
o

v
e

n
e

g
a
ti
v
e

im
p

a
c
t

o
r

to
b

e
tt

e
r

p
ro

m
o
te

e
q

u
a
lit

y.
A

c
ti
o

n
s

y
o

u
p
ro

p
o
s
e

to
ta

k
e

to
d

o
th

is
s
h
o

u
ld

b
e

in
c
lu

d
e

d
in

th
e

A
c
ti
o

n
P

la
n

.

O
u
tc
o
m
e
3

–
T

h
e

E
A

h
a
s

id
e
n
ti
fi
e

d
s
o
m

e
p

o
te

n
ti
a

l
fo

r
n

e
g

a
ti
v
e

im
p

a
c
t

o
r

s
o
m

e
m

is
s
e
d

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
to

p
ro

m
o

te
e

q
u

a
lit

y
a

n
d

it
m

a
y

n
o
t

b
e

p
o

s
s
ib

le
to

m
it
ig

a
te

th
is

fu
lly

.
If

y
o

u
p

ro
p

o
s
e

to
c
o
n

ti
n

u
e

w
it
h

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

y
o

u
m

u
s
t

in
c
lu

d
e

th
e

ju
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
fo

r
th

is
in

S
e
c
ti
o

n
1

0
b
e

lo
w

,
a

n
d

in
c
lu

d
e

a
c
ti
o

n
s

y
o

u
p

ro
p

o
s
e

to
ta

k
e

to
re

m
o

v
e

n
e
g

a
ti
v
e

im
p

a
c
t

o
r

to
b

e
tt
e

r
p

ro
m

o
te

e
q

u
a
lit

y
in

th
e

A
c
ti
o

n
P

la
n
.

Y
o
u

m
u
s
t
e
n

s
u

re
th

a
t
y
o

u
r

p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

a
c
ti
o
n

is
in

lin
e

w
it
h

th
e

P
S

E
D

to
h
a

v
e

‘d
u
e

re
g

a
rd

’
a

n
d

y
o

u
a
re

a
d

v
is

e
d

to
s
e

e
k

L
e

g
a
l
A

d
v
ic

e
.

O
u
tc
o
m
e
4

–
T

h
e

E
A

s
h
o
w

s
a
c
tu

a
l
o
r

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l
u
n

la
w

fu
l
d
is

c
ri
m

in
a

ti
o
n

.
S

to
p

a
n
d

re
th

in
k

y
o

u
r

p
ro

p
o
s
a

ls
.

Page 33



4

S
ta
g
e
5
:
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t
A
c
ti
o
n
P
a
n

9
.
E
q
u
a
li
ty
A
n
a
ly
s
is
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t
A
c
ti
o
n
P
la
n
te
m
p
la
te
–
M
a
k
in
g
a
d
ju
s
tm
e
n
ts
fo
r
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
im
p
a
c
t

T
h
is

a
c
ti
o

n
p
la

n
s
h
o

u
ld

b
e

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

a
ft

e
r

th
e

a
n
a

ly
s
is

a
n

d
s
h

o
u
ld

o
u
tl
in

e
a
c
ti
o

n
(s

)
to

b
e

ta
k
e

n
to

m
it
ig

a
te

th
e

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l
n

e
g

a
ti
v
e

im
p
a

c
t

id
e
n

ti
fi
e
d

(e
x
p
a

n
d
in

g
o
n

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o
n

p
ro

v
id

e
d

in
S

e
c
ti
o

n
7

a
b

o
v
e

).

N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
im
p
a
c
t/
g
a
p
in

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
in

th
e
E
q
u
a
li
ty
A
n
a
ly
s
is

A
c
ti
o
n
re
q
u
ir
e
d
to
m
it
ig
a
te

H
o
w
w
il
l
y
o
u
k
n
o
w
th
is
is

a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
?

e
.g

.
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

m
e
a

s
u
re

/
ta

rg
e
t)

B
y
w
h
e
n

E
x
is
ti
n
g

o
r
a
d
d
it
io
n
a

l re
s
o
u
rc
e

s
?

L
e
a
d

O
ff
ic
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
a
d
d
e
d

to
d
iv
is
io
n
a
l/

te
a
m
p
la
n
?

L
o
s
s

o
f

b
o
w

lin
g

g
re

e
n

P
ro

v
id

e
a
c
c
e
s
s

to
s
im

ila
r

lo
c
a
l
fa

c
ili

ty
A

lr
e
a
d
y

o
ff

e
re

d
to

s
m

a
ll

g
ro

u
p

o
f

m
e
m

b
e
rs

o
f

e
x
is

ti
n
g

c
lu

b

Im
m

e
d
ia

t
e

E
x
is

ti
n
g

D
o
u
g

N
a
p
ie

r
n
o

L
o
s
s

o
f

s
m

a
ll

a
re

a
o
f

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n

la
n
d
,
re

d
u
c
ti
o
n

in
c
h
a
n
g
in

g
ro

o
m

s
iz

e
a
n

d
c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

e
d

ti
m

e
fo

r
a
c
c
e
s
s

to
te

n
n
is

/m
u
g
a

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t/

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
te

n
n
is

c
o
u
rt

s
a

n
d

M
U

G
A

;
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

u
s
e

a
g
re

e
m

e
n
t

(C
U

A
)

to
b

e
p

u
t

in
p
la

c
e
;

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

in
c
h
a

n
g
in

g
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s
;
c
re

a
ti
o
n

o
f

n
e
w

‘g
re

e
n

g
y
m

’;
im

p
ro

v
e
d

a
n
d

fu
lly

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
la

v
a
to

ry
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s

S
p
e
c
if
ie

d
in

c
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

a
n
d

C
U

A
p
u

b
lis

h
e
d

T
b
c

o
n
c
e

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t
is

le
t

A
lr

e
a
d
y

b
u
ilt

in
to

c
a
p
it
a
l

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

T
o
m

P
ro

c
te

r
y
e

s

N
o
te
th
a
t
th
e
fu
ll
im
p
a
c
t
o
f
th
e
d
e
c
is
io
n
m
a
y
o
n
ly
b
e
k
n
o
w
n
a
ft
e
r
th
e
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
;
th
e
re
fo
re
it
is

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t
th
e
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
is
in
p
la
c
e
to
a
s
s
e
s
s
th
e
im
p
a
c
t.

S
ta
g
e
6
:
R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s

1
0
.S
u
m
m
a
ry
o
f
th
e
e
q
u
a
li
ty
a
n
a
ly
s
is

T
h
is

s
e

c
ti
o

n
c
a
n

a
ls

o
b

e
u
s
e

d
in

y
o

u
r

d
e

c
is

io
n

m
a
k
in

g
re

p
o

rt
s

(C
M

T
/C

a
b

in
e

t/
e
tc

)
b

u
t
y
o

u
m

u
s
t

a
ls

o
a
tt

a
c
h

th
e

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t
to

th
e

re
p
o

rt
,

o
r

p
ro

v
id

e
a

h
y
p

e
rl

in
k

Page 34



5

T
h
is

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t
c
o

n
c
lu

d
e

s
th

a
t

th
e

p
ro

p
o

s
a
l
h

a
s

p
o

te
n
ti
a
l
n

e
g
a

ti
v
e

im
p

a
c
t

o
n

o
n

e
o
r

m
o
re

p
ro

te
c
te

d
g
ro

u
p
s

b
u
t
m

it
ig

a
ti
o
n
s

e
it
h

e
r

a
lr

e
a

d
y

m
a

d
e

(r
e
lo

c
a

ti
o

n
o
f

b
o

w
lin

g
c
lu

b
)

o
r

to
b

e
p
u

t
in

p
la

c
e

if
th

e
p
ro

p
o
s
a

l
is

d
e
liv

e
re

d
a
re

lik
e
ly

,
in

o
ff

ic
e
rs

’
v
ie

w
,

to
o

u
tw

e
ig

h
n

e
g
a

ti
v
e

im
p

a
c
t

a
n

d
,
in

fa
c
t,

p
ro

v
id

e
e
le

m
e
n
ts

o
f

p
o

s
it
iv

e
im

p
a
c
t.

O
ff

ic
e

rs
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d

th
e

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l
p

ro
c
e

e
d
s

o
n

th
a
t

b
a

s
is

.

S
ta
g
e
7
:
S
ig
n
o
ff
b
y
D
ir
e
c
to
r/
H
e
a
d
o
f
S
e
rv
ic
e

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
b
y

T
o
m

P
ro

c
te

r
S
ig
n
a
tu
re
:

D
a
te
:
2
9
/1
1
/2
0
1
3

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t
a
c
ti
o
n
p
la
n
s
ig
n
e
d

o
ff
b
y
D
ir
e
c
to
r/
H
e
a
d
o
f
S
e
rv
ic
e

P
a
u
l
B

a
lla

tt
S
ig
n
a
tu
re
:

D
a
te
:2
9
/1
1
/2
0
1
3

Page 35



D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
La
n
d
A
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
R
e
sp
o
n
se
s

O
b
je
ct
io
n
s
re
ce
iv
e
d
b
y
e
-m

a
il

1
C
o
n
ce
rn
e
d
p
re
ci
o
u
s
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

is
to

b
e
b
u
il
t
o
n
.
H
a
v
e
ch
ro
n
ic
fa
ti
g
u
e
so

a
cc
e
ss
to

th
e
p
a
rk

h
a
s
b
e
e
n
m
y
li
fe
-l
in
e
.
It
is
in
cr
e
d
ib
ly

w
e
ll
-u
se
d
b
y
sp
o
rt
s
g
ro
u
p
s,
fa
m
il
ie
s,
ch
il
d
re
n
,
d
o
g
o
w
n
e
rs
a
n
d
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
.

2
M
e
th
o
d
s
u
se
d
b
y
co
u
n
ci
l
a
re

co
n
te
m
p
tu
o
u
s,
u
n
fa
ir
a
n
d
u
n
ju
st
if
ia
b
le
.
Lo
n
d
o
n
a
re
a
s
a
lr
e
a
d
y
la
ck

le
is
u
re

a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l

g
ro
u
n
d
s.
T
h
e
co
u
n
ci
l
a
re

d
e
st
ro
y
in
g
th
is
fo
r
th
e
m
a
n
y
fr
e
q
u
e
n
t
u
se
rs
.

3
A
p
p
a
ll
e
d
th
a
t
p
a
rt
o
f
p
a
rk

w
il
l
b
e
so
ld
o
ff
a
s
it
is
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
It
is
v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
fo
r
a
ra
n
g
e
o
f

a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
w
e
e
k
.

4
O
ft
e
n
w
a
lk
in
th
e
re
c
w
h
ic
h
is
u
se
d
b
y
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
.
It
is
a
ra
re

a
n
d
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
o
p
e
n
p
u
b
li
c
sp
a
ce

in
th
is
p
a
rt
o
f
M
e
rt
o
n
a
n
d

it
s
sp
o
rt
in
g
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
re

o
f
b
e
n
e
fi
t
to

m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
.
N
o
t
co
n
v
in
ce
d
b
y
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l'
s
ca
se

th
a
t
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
is
n
e
e
d
e
d
.

C
o
n
ce
rn
e
d
th
is
la
n
d
g
ra
b
w
il
l
b
e
d
e
b
a
se
d
b
y
m
u
lt
ip
le
b
u
il
d
in
g
p
ro
je
ct
s.

5
N
o
w
li
v
e
in
M
e
rt
o
n
P
a
rk

a
n
d
n
o
t
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
W
a
rd

b
u
t
st
il
l
in
cl
u
d
e
th
e
p
a
rk

in
m
y
d
a
il
y
'c
o
n
st
it
u
ti
o
n
a
l'
a
s
it
is
a
w
o
n
d
e
rf
u
l
sp
a
ce
.

O
b
je
ct
fo
r
a
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
re
a
so
n
s:
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
is
ig
n
o
ri
n
g
p
la
n
n
in
g
p
o
li
ci
e
s;
vi
su
a
l
im

p
a
ct
a
n
d
lo
ss
o
f
m
a
tu
re

tr
e
e
s
w
il
l
b
e

d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l;
p
ro
v
id
e
s
w
e
ll
u
se
d
sp
o
rt
in
g
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s;
a
n
d
th
e
in
d
o
o
r
g
y
m

is
n
o
su
b
st
it
u
te

fo
r
th
e
cl
o
su
re

o
f
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
.
T
h
e

g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
lo
ca
l
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
il
l
b
e
d
e
st
ro
y
e
d
a
d
v
e
rs
e
ly
a
ff
e
ct
in
g
a
co
n
se
rv
a
ti
o
n
a
re
a
w
it
h
a
m
o
d
e
rn

b
u
il
d
in
g
a
n
d
in
cr
e
a
se
d

tr
a
ff
ic
.

6
P
ro
p
o
sa
l
is
in
b
re
a
ch

o
f
S
e
ct
io
n
1
2
2
(1
)
o
f
th
e
Lo
ca
l
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t
A
ct
1
9
7
2
a
s
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
h
a
v
e
a
lr
e
a
d
y
st
a
te
d
th
a
t
th
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t

su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
o
n
a
ca
su
a
l
b
a
si
s
e
a
ch

w
e
e
k
b
y
m
a
n
y
h
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
,
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
th
e
2
2
7

m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
.

7
Jo
g
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
in
th
e
R
e
c
re
g
u
la
rl
y
.
It
w
o
u
ld
b
e
h
o
rr
ib
le
to

lo
se

th
e
la
n
d
.

8
H
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
s
fo
r
1
0
y
e
a
rs
.
E
xe
rc
is
e
th
e
re

e
v
e
ry

m
o
rn
in
g
a
n
d
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s
w
e
h
a
v
e
so
ci
a
l
e
v
e
n
ts
fr
o
m

ch
u
rc
h

a
n
d
m
e
e
t
in
th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
s.

U
se

th
e
p
a
rk

d
a
il
y
fo
r
w
a
lk
s,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
S
u
p
p
o
rt
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
a
ch
in
g
o
n

S
a
tu
rd
a
y
s
w
h
e
n
w
e
h
a
v
e
th
e
ch
a
n
ce
.
T
h
e
re
c
is
a
ls
o
u
se
d
b
y
M
u
m
's
a
n
d
T
o
d
d
's
g
ro
u
p
s,
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
C
h
a
se

P
ri
m
a
ry

S
ch
o
o
l
a
n
d

lo
ca
l
n
u
rs
e
ri
e
s.

M
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
p
la
y
s
cr
ic
k
e
t
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
,
w
e
o
ft
e
n
cy
cl
e
h
e
re

a
s
a
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
p
le
n
ty

o
f
p
ic
n
ic
s
a
n
d

q
u
a
li
ty

fa
m
il
y
ti
m
e
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
m
o
n
th
s.

M
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
r
a
n
d
I
a
ls
o
e
n
jo
y
d
o
g
tr
a
in
in
g
o
n
th
e
fi
e
ld
in
th
e
m
o
rn
in
g
s.

9
C
o
u
n
ci
l'
s
o
w
n
re
p
o
rt
st
a
te
s
th
is
sp
a
ce

is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
w
a
s
le
ft
fo
r
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
u
se
.
I
w
a
lk
th
ro
u
g
h
it

e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
a
n
d
ca
n
se
e
h
o
w
w
e
ll
it
is
u
se
d
b
y
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
,
sp
o
rt
s
te
a
m
s,
jo
g
g
e
rs
,
e
xe
rc
is
e
rs
,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
,
su
n
b
a
th
e
rs
a
n
d
a
s
a

ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
a
re
a
.

Page 36



1
0

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
I
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se

ro
u
te
s
th
a
t
ta
k
e
u
s
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
R
e
c
a
s
it
is
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
v
e
ry

fe
w
g
re
e
n
a
re
a
s
in
th
is
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
B
o
ro
u
g
h
.
V
e
ry

sa
d
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
cl
o
se
d
w
il
l
b
e
cl
o
se
d
a
s
I
w
a
s
p
la
n
n
in
g
to

jo
in
n
e
xt

se
a
so
n
.

1
1

T
h
e
p
u
b
li
c
w
il
l
b
e
d
e
p
ri
ve
d
o
f
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
h
ic
h
a
re

w
e
ll
-u
se
d
a
n
d
v
a
lu
e
d
lo
ca
l
a
m
e
n
it
ie
s
u
se
d

b
y
th
e
w
id
e
r
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

1
2

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
a
n
d
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
a
n
d
w
e
ll
u
se
d
fo
r
cr
ic
k
e
t,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
ru
g
b
y
,
te
n
n
is
,
ru
n
n
in
g
,
k
e
e
p
fi
t,

cy
cl
in
g
,
p
la
y
,
w
a
lk
in
g
,
p
ic
n
ic
s,
e
tc
.
It
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
in
cl
u
d
in
g
a
ll
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
m
y
fa
m
il
y
o
n
a
re
g
u
la
r
b
a
si
s.

1
3

It
is
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
th
a
t
is
e
n
jo
y
e
d
b
y
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
,
b
y
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
a
n
d
a
sp
a
ce

th
a
t
m
a
k
e
s
th
is
a
re
a
a
g
re
a
t
p
la
ce

to
li
v
e
.
It

is
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
re
a
so
n
s
w
e
m
o
v
e
d
h
e
re

a
n
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
in
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
o
f
h
u
g
e
e
n
jo
ym

e
n
t
a
n
d
a
g
re
a
t
p
la
ce

to
m
e
e
t

p
e
o
p
le
.
It
is
a
k
e
y
p
la
ce

fo
r
m
e
to

u
n
w
in
d
a
n
d
I
jo
g
a
ro
u
n
d
it
m
o
st
d
a
y
s.
I
e
n
jo
y
w
a
tc
h
in
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
h
e
lp
in
g
to

k
e
e
p

e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
fi
t
a
n
d
a
ct
iv
e
a
n
d
p
a
re
n
ts
te
a
ch
in
g
th
e
ir
k
id
s
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
a
ls
o
w
o
u
ld
n
't
b
e
th
e
sa
m
e
w
it
h
o
u
t
th
e
g
re
e
n

sp
a
ce

o
f
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
.

1
4

It
is
a
n
im

m
o
ra
l
se
q
u
e
st
ra
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
u
se
d
fo
r
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

I
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

w
it
h
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
fo
r

y
e
a
rs
.
W
e
e
n
jo
y
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
th
e
re

a
s
d
o
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
co
u
ld
b
e
a
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
ss
e
t
th
a
t

sh
o
u
ld
p
a
y
fo
r
it
se
lf
m
a
n
y
ti
m
e
s
o
v
e
r.

1
5

It
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
.
It
w
il
l
re
su
lt
in
th
e
lo
ss
o
f
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fa
ci
li
ty
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
h
ic
h
I

h
a
v
e
u
se
d
m
y
se
lf
.
S
p
o
rt
E
n
g
la
n
d
's
co
n
ti
n
u
e
d
o
b
je
ct
io
n
is
a
m
p
le
e
v
id
e
n
ce

o
f
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l'
s
u
n
w
il
li
n
g
n
e
ss
to

e
n
su
re

a
d
e
q
u
a
te

su
b
st
it
u
te

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

1
6

It
is
v
e
ry

p
o
p
u
la
r
a
n
d
in
co
n
st
a
n
t
u
se

b
y
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
fo
r
w
a
lk
in
g
,
e
xe
rc
is
e
,
te
n
n
is
,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
cr
ic
k
e
t,

ru
n
n
in
g
,
p
la
y
in
g
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
S
ch
o
o
ls
a
n
d
n
u
rs
e
ri
e
s
a
ls
o
u
se

it
fo
r
sp
o
rt
s
a
n
d
sp
o
rt
s
d
a
y
s.

It
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
It
w
il
l
b
e
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
to

th
e
h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
o
f
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
.

1
7

A
ll
th
e
p
a
rk
's
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
re

in
te
n
se
ly
u
se
d
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
v
a
ri
o
u
s
sp
o
rt
s
te
a
m
s
a
n
d
th
e
re

is
n
o
su
rp
lu
s
a
re
a
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
fo
r

n
e
w
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
.
I
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
fo
r
w
a
lk
s
a
n
d
o
ft
e
n
fo
r
a
g
a
m
e
o
f
te
n
n
is
.
I
a
ls
o
ta
k
e
m
y
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
re
g
u
la
rl
y
to

th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
o
r
fo
r
a
g
a
m
e
in
th
e
p
a
rk
.

1
7
a

N
o
e
v
id
e
n
ce

th
a
t
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
is
n
e
ce
ss
a
ry

a
n
d
th
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
I
m
a
k
e
fu
ll
u
se

o
f
th
e

te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
y
e
a
r;
n
o
t
ju
st
in
su
m
m
e
r.

Li
k
e
m
a
n
y
in
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
w
a
rd

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
,
I
h
a
v
e
a
h
o
m
e
o
ff
ic
e
a
n
d

so
ca
n
m
a
k
e
e
xc
e
ll
e
n
t
u
se

o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
y
ti
m
e
:
w
e
a
th
e
r
p
e
rm

it
ti
n
g
.

1
8

H
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
fo
r
y
e
a
rs
,
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
th
e
su
rr
o
u
n
d
in
g
g
ro
u
n
d
s
to

p
la
y
in
.
F
a
m
il
ie
s
p
la
y
in
th
e
p
a
rk

o
n
a
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s.

Page 37



1
9

It
is
a
v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d
p
ie
ce

o
f
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
.
M
y
se
lf
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
m
a
n
y
ti
m
e
s
o
f

th
e
y
e
a
rs
.
I
u
se
d
to

ta
k
e
m
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
r
re
g
u
la
rl
y
,
a
n
d
n
o
w
o
ft
e
n
ta
k
e
m
y
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
.
In
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r,
I
h
a
v
e
p
ra
ct
ic
e
d
te
n
n
is
w
it
h

m
y
g
ra
n
d
so
n
w
h
ic
h
h
a
s
h
e
lp
e
d
h
im

im
p
ro
v
e
.
T
h
is
is
a
fr
e
e
fa
ci
li
ty

a
n
d
fa
m
il
ie
s
sh
o
u
ld
n
o
t
b
e
p
u
sh
e
d
to

o
th
e
r
p
u
b
li
c
te
n
n
is

co
u
rt
s
w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
in
e
v
it
a
b
ly
b
e
co
m
e
m
o
re

o
ve
rc
ro
w
d
e
d
if
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
co
u
rt
s
cl
o
se
.
T
h
e
lo
v
e
ly
o
p
e
n
a
n
d
sa
fe

a
tm

o
sp
h
e
re

fo
r

ch
il
d
re
n
w
il
l
b
e
re
d
u
ce
d
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
.

2
0

It
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.
I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
o
n
a
v
e
ry

re
g
u
la
r
(a
lm

o
st
d
a
il
y
)
b
a
si
s
a
n
d
se
e
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r

m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
h
o
d
o
th
e
sa
m
e
.
T
h
e
e
ff
o
rt
s
o
f
th
e
n
e
w
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
h
a
v
e
in
cr
e
a
se
d
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
w
h
o
u
se

th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
th
e
y
a
re

o
ft
e
n
in
fu
ll
u
se

w
h
e
n
e
v
e
r
I
p
a
ss
th
e
m
.

2
1

I
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
in
th
e
a
re
a
fo
r
1
0
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
e
d
th
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
fr
e
e
co
u
rt
s
(e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
is
y
e
a
r)
.

2
2

T
h
e
a
re
a
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
a
ll
a
g
e
g
ro
u
p
s
a
n
d
if
tu
rn
e
d
o
v
e
r
to

so
le
ly
p
ri
v
a
te

u
se

w
o
u
ld
a
ff
e
ct
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
it
s
e
n
ti
re

sp
ir
it
.

2
3

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
d
a
y
b
y
sp
o
rt
s
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d
fa
m
il
ie
s
w
a
lk
in
g
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g
.
W
h
e
n
I
w
o
rk
e
d
a
t
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
th
e
re

w
a
s
n
o

n
e
e
d
to

p
re
v
e
n
t
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
to

a
n
y
a
re
a
.
T
h
e
sc
h
o
o
l
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
th
e
n
a
s
it
d
o
e
s
n
o
t
to

u
se

th
e
R
e
c
a
s
it
w
a
s
in
te
n
d
e
d
-
fo
r

re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
fo
r
a
s
m
a
n
y
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
a
s
p
o
ss
ib
le
.

2
3
a

I
a
m

a
n
a
ct
iv
e
d
a
il
y
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
o
n
m
a
n
y
le
v
e
ls
-
I
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
s
a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
cl
u
b
,
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
(u
n
ti
l
it

cl
o
se
d
)
a
n
d
fo
r
w
a
lk
in
g
.
It
is
u
se
d
b
y
a
la
rg
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
,
b
o
th

lo
ca
l
a
n
d
fa
r
fo
r
cr
ic
k
e
t,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
ru
g
b
y
,
v
o
ll
e
y
b
a
ll
,
u
lt
im

a
te

F
ri
sb
e
e
,
sc
h
o
o
l
sp
o
rt
s,
te
n
n
is
,
la
w
n
b
o
w
ls
,
p
e
rs
o
n
a
l
tr
a
in
in
g
se
ss
io
n
s,
jo
g
g
e
rs
,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
,
ch
il
d
re
n
le
a
rn
in
g
to

cy
cl
e
,
w
a
lk
e
rs
,

fa
m
il
ie
s
e
n
jo
y
in
g
th
e
o
u
td
o
o
rs
.
T
h
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
is
u
se
d
fo
r
a
p
la
y
g
ro
u
p
a
n
d
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
g
ro
u
p
s,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
a
b
a
n
d
.

2
4

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
v
it
a
l
to

m
e
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
.
Y
o
u
a
re

d
e
p
ri
v
in
g
h
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
th
e
ri
g
h
t
to

h
a
v
e
fu
n
a
t
th
e
ir
lo
ca
l

p
a
rk
.

2
5

I
w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
a
n
d
p
la
y
b
o
w
ls
o
n
a
S
a
tu
rd
a
y
a
ft
e
rn
o
o
n
.
S
p
o
rt
E
n
g
la
n
d
d
o
e
s
n
o
t
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l.
T
h
e
n
o
ti
ce
s
th
e
co
u
n
ci
lh
a
v
e

p
u
t
u
p
re
st
ri
ct
in
g
th
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
(2
2
7
m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
a
v
e
jo
in
e
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
)
a
re

il
le
g
a
l.

2
6

I
li
v
e
lo
ca
ll
y
a
n
d
st
ro
n
g
ly
b
e
li
e
v
e
in
fu
ll
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
e
a
t
ri
sk

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

2
7

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
te
n
n
is
,
re
la
xa
ti
o
n
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
d
o
to
o
.

2
8

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
to

w
a
lk
,
to

ru
n
a
n
d
p
la
y
cr
ic
k
e
t.

I
a
ls
o
se
e
h
o
w
p
o
p
u
la
r
th
e
p
a
rk

is
fo
r
o
th
e
r
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
su
ch

a
s
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
F
ri
sb
e
e
,

to
u
ch

ru
g
b
y
,
a
n
d
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
te
n
n
is
.
T
h
e
o
rc
h
e
st
ra

a
ls
o
p
ra
ct
is
e
in
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
.

Page 38



2
9

I
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
lo
ca
ll
y
a
ll
m
y
li
fe

a
n
d
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

co
n
ti
n
u
a
ll
y
.
A
s
a
fa
m
il
y
w
e
st
il
l
u
se

it
re
g
u
la
rl
y
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
in
cl
u
d
in
g

ru
n
n
in
g
a
n
d
te
n
n
is
,
a
n
d
m
y
v
is
it
in
g
n
ie
ce
s
a
n
d
n
e
p
h
e
w
s
lo
v
e
g
o
in
g
th
e
re
.
M
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
a
n
d
I
w
a
lk
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
p
a
rk

e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k

a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
w
a
tc
h
in
g
g
a
m
e
s
o
f
cr
ic
k
e
t
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
.
In
su
m
m
e
r
it
ca
n
se
e
m

th
a
t
e
v
e
ry

sq
u
a
re

m
e
te
r
is
b
e
in
g
u
se
d
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is

co
u
rt
s
a
re

m
u
ch

lo
v
e
d
b
y
lo
ca
ls
,
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
n
e
ss
e
n
ti
a
l
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
s
to
o
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
fo
r

sp
o
rt
s
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d
b
a
n
d
s.

T
h
e
lo
ss
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
w
e
e
k
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
n
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
h
a
rd

b
lo
w
fo
r
m
y
fa
m
il
y
a
s

w
o
rk
in
g
sh
if
ts
a
n
d
in
re
ta
il
m
e
a
n
s
th
a
t
th
e
y
a
re

n
o
t
a
lw
a
y
s
fr
e
e
to

e
xe
rc
is
e
o
n
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
o
r
e
v
e
n
in
g
s.

3
0

M
y
fa
m
il
y
u
se

th
e
la
n
d
re
g
u
la
rl
y
fo
r
re
la
xa
ti
o
n
,
to

m
e
e
t
fr
ie
n
d
s,
fo
r
p
ic
n
ic
s,
g
a
m
e
s
a
n
d
to

g
e
t
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

th
e
st
re
e
ts
a
s
a
p
la
ce

to

w
a
lk
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
th
e
fr
e
sh

a
ir
,
th
e
lu
sh

tr
e
e
s
a
n
d
th
e
ch
a
n
g
in
g
se
a
so
n
s.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
re
g
u
la
rl
y
b
y
lo
ca
l
cr
ic
k
e
t,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d

ru
g
b
y
te
a
m
s;
a
n
d
d
ra
w
s
in
a
w
a
y
te
a
m
s
fr
o
m

a
ll
o
ve
r
th
e
co
u
n
tr
y
.
E
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
e
n
d
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
th
e
re

se
e
m
s
to

b
e
o
n
e
o
r
m
o
re

sp
o
rt
s
te
a
m

p
la
y
in
g
.
G
ro
u
p
s
o
f
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d
fa
m
il
ie
s
a
re

a
ct
iv
e
ly
e
n
g
a
g
e
d
in
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
th
e
la
n
d
b
y
p
la
n
ti
n
g
b
u
lb
s,
b
u
sh
e
s

a
n
d
tr
e
e
s.

3
1

It
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
ca
la
m
it
y
if
lo
ca
l
y
o
u
n
g
st
e
rs
w
e
re

d
e
n
ie
d
th
e
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
to

e
m
u
la
te

th
e
su
cc
e
ss
o
f
B
ri
ti
sh

te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
th
ro
u
g
h

th
e
cl
o
su
re

o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
co
u
rt
s.

3
2

I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
v
is
it
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
w
a
tc
h
in
g
th
e
va
ri
o
u
s
sp
o
rt
s
e
v
e
n
ts
b
e
in
g
h
e
ld
th
e
re
.
T
h
e
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
e
n
jo
y
e
n
te
rt
a
in
in
g
th
e
ir

ch
il
d
re
n
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
p
la
y
cr
ic
k
e
t
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
w
it
h
th
e
ir
sp
o
rt
s
cl
u
b
s.

T
h
e
sc
h
o
o
l
a
n
d
y
o
u
th

g
ro
u
p
s

o
rg
a
n
is
e
sp
o
rt
s
d
a
y
s
a
n
d
fu
n
ru
n
s
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
w
it
h
in
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
th
e
re

is
a
n
a
ct
iv
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

3
3

I
u
se

th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
o
n
a
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s.
N
o
n
e
o
f
th
is
p
le
a
sa
n
t
a
n
d
w
e
ll
u
se
d
o
a
si
s
is
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.

3
4

A
m

a
se
m
i-
p
ro
fe
ss
io
n
a
l
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
r
w
h
o
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
st
u
d
ie
s
a
n
d
tr
a
in
s
fu
ll
ti
m
e
in
Lo
u
g
h
b
o
ro
u
g
h
U
n
iv
e
rs
it
y
.
W
h
e
n
I'
m

b
a
ck

h
o
m
e
in
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
I
p
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
y
u
se

th
e
m

to
tr
a
in
o
n
a
n
d
e
v
e
n
b
ri
n
g
o
th
e
r
p
la
y
e
rs
o
f
m
y
st
a
n
d
a
rd

to
th
e
p
a
rk
.
I
p
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
y
li
k
e

to
th
in
k
o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

a
s
m
y
b
a
ck

g
a
rd
e
n
a
s
I
d
o
n
't
h
a
v
e
o
n
e
.
M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
ls
o
v
e
ry

fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
to

p
la
y
.

3
5

I
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
n
e
xt
to

o
r
cl
o
se

to
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
a
rk

fo
r
5
5
y
e
a
rs
.
M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
li
v
e
in
th
e
a
re
a
a
n
d
co
n
ti
n
u
e
to

u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

o
n
a
re
g
u
la
r
b
a
si
s,
b
o
th

te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
th
e
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
s.
I
a
m

a
n
in
d
o
o
rs
b
o
w
ls
m
e
m
b
e
r
lo
ca
ll
y
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
p
a
rt

o
f
th
e
ca
m
p
a
ig
n
to

re
in
st
a
te

th
e
b
o
w
ls
p
it
ch
.
I
a
m

a
n
a
ct
iv
e
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
,
u
se

it
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
th
e

p
h
y
si
ca
l
a
ct
iv
it
y
a
n
d
h
e
a
lt
h
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
ce

it
g
iv
e
s
m
e
.

3
6

W
h
e
n
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
w
e
re

y
o
u
n
g
e
r
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se
d
to

ta
k
e
th
e
m

to
th
e
re
c.

O
v
e
r
th
e
y
e
a
rs
w
e
,
a
s
a
fa
m
il
y
,
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
re
c,

so
m
e
ti
m
e
s
m
e
e
ti
n
g
w
it
h
o
th
e
r
fa
m
il
ie
s.

T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
il
l
b
e
so
re
ly
m
is
se
d
b
y
th
e
m
a
n
y
se
n
io
r
ci
ti
ze
n
s
w
h
o
d
o
n
't
h
a
ve

a

si
m
il
a
r
a
m
e
n
it
y
n
e
a
rb
y
.

3
7

I
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

re
g
u
la
rl
y
a
n
d
m
y
te
e
n
a
g
e
ch
il
d
re
n
fr
e
q
u
e
n
t
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
it
h
th
e
ir
fr
ie
n
d
s.

A
s
I
g
e
t
o
ld
e
r
a
n
d
le
ss
a
b
le
to

ta
k
e

p
a
rt
in
a
e
ro
b
ic
e
xe
rc
is
e
I
w
o
u
ld
li
k
e
to

th
in
k
th
a
t
th
e
b
o
w
ls
g
ro
u
n
d
w
il
l
b
e
a
ro
u
n
d
.

3
8

A
ll
th
e
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
m
y
fa
m
il
y
(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
3
ch
il
d
re
n
)
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
re
g
u
la
r
u
se
rs
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
fo
r
so
m
e
ti
m
e
.

Page 39



3
9

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
re
g
u
la
rl
y
b
o
th

d
u
ri
n
g
w
e
e
k
d
a
y
s
a
n
d
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s.

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

I
a
m

a
k
e
e
n
ru
n
n
e
r
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r

tr
a
in
in
g
ru
n
s
o
n
a
v
e
ra
g
e
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
,
a
s
I
fi
n
d
th
e
o
u
te
r
p
a
th

to
b
e
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
fe
w
fl
a
t,
tr
a
ff
ic
fr
e
e
p
la
ce
s
to

ru
n
sa
fe
ly
n
e
a
r
m
y

h
o
m
e
.
A
s
a
v
e
ry

re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
st
a
n
d
a
rd

te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
r,
I
fi
n
d
th
e
co
u
rt
in
th
e
R
e
c
to

b
e
th
e
b
e
st
p
la
ce

lo
ca
ll
y
fo
r
a
n
in
fo
rm

a
l
g
a
m
e
.

T
h
e
b
ig
g
e
st
ch
a
ll
e
n
g
e
ca
n
b
e
fi
n
d
in
g
a
ti
m
e
w
h
e
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

n
o
t
a
lr
e
a
d
y
b
e
in
g
u
se
d
a
n
d
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
e
st
a
b
li
sh
e
d
a
g
ra
ss

ro
o
ts
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
th
e
re

la
st
y
e
a
r.

I
h
a
v
e
a
ls
o
p
la
y
e
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
t
th
e
R
e
c.

T
h
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
a
re

n
o
t
a
n
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
,
lo
n
g
te
rm

,

g
u
a
ra
n
te
e
d
re
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t
fa
ci
li
ty
.

4
0

I
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.

4
1

W
e
a
re

g
ra
n
d
p
a
re
n
ts
o
f
ch
il
d
re
n
w
h
o
li
v
e
lo
ca
ll
y
a
n
d
re
g
u
la
rl
y
ta
k
e
th
e
m

a
n
d
th
e
ir
fr
ie
n
d
s
to

th
e
R
e
c.

It
is
a
ls
o
u
se
d
b
y
th
e

w
h
o
le
fa
m
il
y
to

le
a
rn

a
n
d
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
ta
k
e
o
th
e
r
fo
rm

s
o
f
e
xe
rc
is
e
:
fr
ie
n
d
s
p
la
y
cr
ic
k
e
t
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
.
It
a
ls
o
p
ro
v
id
e
s
a
g
re
e
n

'b
u
ff
e
r'
fo
r
th
e
a
d
ja
ce
n
t
co
m
m
o
n
la
n
d
a
n
d
w
o
o
d
s
p
ro
te
ct
in
g
o
u
r
w
il
d
li
fe
.

4
2

I
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
in
M
e
rt
o
n
fo
r
e
ig
h
ty

y
e
a
rs
.
O
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
s
a
re

p
re
ci
o
u
s
a
n
d
e
ss
e
n
ti
a
l.
T
h
e
g
ro
u
n
d
w
a
s
g
iv
e
n
to

u
s
n
o
t
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l.

4
3

D
u
p
li
ca
te

o
f
4
7
a

4
4

O
b
je
ct
.

4
5

D
is
a
p
p
o
in
te
d
th
a
t
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
re

g
o
in
g
to

b
e
d
e
st
ro
y
e
d
.
T
h
e
se

a
re
a
s
g
iv
e
a
re
a
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fe
e
l
to

th
e

a
re
a
a
n
d
d
e
fi
n
it
e
ly
g
e
t
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
lo
ca
l
in
h
a
b
it
a
n
ts
.

4
6

I
a
m

a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
.
W
e
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
se
v
e
ra
l
ti
m
e
s
a
w
e
e
k
si
n
ce

sp
ri
n
g
ti
m
e
a
n
d
I
fe
e
l
th
a
t

it
b
ri
n
g
s
a
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
to
g
e
th
e
r
a
n
d
m
a
k
e
s
p
e
o
p
le
fi
tt
e
r.

T
h
e
se

te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
re

v
e
ry

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t
to

u
s

a
n
d
w
e
a
re

a
ll
g
o
in
g
to

b
e
a
ff
e
ct
e
d
b
y
lo
ss
o
f
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
e
m
.

4
7

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
is
th
e
o
n
ly
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

w
e
h
a
v
e
in
o
u
r
a
re
a
a
n
d
is
e
n
jo
y
e
d
b
y
e
v
e
ry
b
o
d
y
fr
o
m

th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
to

th
e
te
n
n
is

co
u
rt
s.

T
h
e
re

w
il
l
b
e
n
o
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t
o
n
th
e
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
w
il
l
e
n
d
u
p
w
it
h
le
ss
sp
a
ce

p
e
r
p
u
p
il
.

4
7
a

T
h
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
l
is
co
m
p
le
te
ly
u
n
a
cc
e
p
ta
b
le
to

th
e
m
a
jo
ri
ty

o
f
re
si
d
e
n
ts
w
h
o
h
a
v
e
co
n
ta
ct
e
d
th
e
ir
C
o
n
se
rv
a
ti
v
e
C
o
u
n
ci
ll
o
rs
in

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
W
a
rd
.
Lo
ca
ls
a
n
d
p
e
o
p
le
fr
o
m

fu
rt
h
e
r
a
fi
e
ld
m
a
k
e
fu
ll
u
se

o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
w
o
u
ld
u
se

th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
if
it

h
a
d
n
o
t
b
e
e
n
cl
o
se
d
.
T
h
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
p
o
p
u
la
r.

In
fa
ct
,
it
is
th
e
m
o
st
p
o
p
u
la
r
p
a
rk

in
M
e
rt
o
n
w
it
h
a
n

in
te
n
se

u
se

a
cr
o
ss
a
ll
o
f
th
e
la
n
d
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
In
co
n
cl
u
si
o
n
,
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
C
o
n
se
rv
a
ti
v
e
s
h
a
ve

co
ll
a
te
d
v
ie
w
s
fr
o
m

m
o
re

th
a
n
5
0
0
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
ca
n
co
n
fi
rm

th
a
t
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
,
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
re

e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
u
se
d
.
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
C
o
u
n
ci
ll
o
rs
sp
e
ci
fi
ca
ll
y
u
se

b
o
th

te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
h
a
ve

d
o
n
e
fo
r
m
o
re

th
a
n
1
5

y
e
a
rs
.

Page 40



4
8

H
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

o
n
a
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s
fo
r
o
v
e
r
1
0
y
e
a
rs
.
O
v
e
r
th
e
y
e
a
rs
,
m
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
a
n
d
I
o
ft
e
n
e
xe
rc
is
e
d
,
re
la
xe
d
a
n
d
h
a
d
p
ic
n
ic
s

in
th
e
p
a
rk
,
p
la
y
e
d
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
w
a
tc
h
e
d
b
o
w
ls
o
n
th
e
g
re
e
n
.
S
in
ce

h
a
v
in
g
ch
il
d
re
n
w
e
a
re

in
th
e
p
a
rk

e
v
e
n
m
o
re

o
ft
e
n
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
d
a
il
y
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
ri
d
in
g
b
ik
e
s
o
r
p
la
y
in
g
g
a
m
e
s.
B
o
th

o
f
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
a
tt
e
n
d
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
ri
m
a
ry

S
ch
o
o
l
a
n
d
w
h
e
n
it

is
n
o
t
ra
in
in
g
th
e
y
sp
e
n
d
h
o
u
rs
a
ft
e
r
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
y
in
g
w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s
in
th
e
p
la
yg
ro
u
n
d
,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
o
n
th
e
fi
e
ld
a
n
d
te
n
n
is
in
th
e
co
u
rt
s.

T
h
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
w
e
ll
u
se
d
a
n
d
b
u
sy

-
th
e
n
e
xt
cl
o
se
st
is
o
n
H
a
y
d
o
n
's
R
o
a
d
.
Lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
w
it
h
n
o
o
r
sm

a
ll
g
a
rd
e
n
s

h
a
v
e
p
ic
n
ic
s,
re
la
x,
p
la
y
b
a
ll
g
a
m
e
s
a
n
d
th
e
li
k
e
in
th
e
R
e
c.
H
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
a
s
it
p
ro
v
id
e
d
a
so
ft
p
la
y
g
ro
u
p
,
a
sp
a
ce

fo
r

lo
ca
l
g
ro
u
p
s
to

m
e
e
t
a
n
d
a
co
n
v
e
n
ie
n
t
p
la
ce

to
h
o
ld
b
ir
th
d
a
y
p
a
rt
ie
s.

It
is
co
n
v
e
n
ie
n
t
a
s
it
h
a
s
a
si
ze
a
b
le
ro
o
m

w
it
h
a
k
it
ch
e
n

p
lu
s
it
h
a
s
st
e
p
-f
re
e
a
cc
e
ss
fo
r
p
u
sh
ch
a
ir
s,
th
e
e
ld
e
rl
y
a
n
d
le
ss
a
b
le
b
o
d
ie
d
p
e
o
p
le
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

v
e
ry

p
o
p
u
la
r
a
n
d
w
e

o
ft
e
n
h
a
v
e
to

q
u
e
u
e
u
p
to

u
se

th
e
m
.
W
e
h
a
v
e
p
la
y
e
d
te
n
n
is
a
t
le
a
st
3
ti
m
e
s
a
w
e
e
k
o
v
e
r
th
e
la
st
th
re
e
a
n
d
a
h
a
lf
m
o
n
th
s.

T
h
e
re

w
a
s
a
ls
o
a
p
e
ri
o
d
w
h
e
n
th
e
re

w
e
re

n
o
n
e
ts
so

ch
il
d
re
n
u
se
d
th
e
co
u
rt
s
to

ri
d
e
th
e
ir
b
ik
e
s
a
n
d
sc
o
o
te
rs
.

4
9

M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
I
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
o
v
e
r
4
0
y
e
a
rs
w
it
h
o
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
n
o
w
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
e
n
jo
y
in
g
th
e
w
h
o
le
a
sp
e
ct
o
f
th
e

a
re
a
.
S
in
ce

re
ti
ri
n
g
m
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
w
a
s
lo
o
k
in
g
fo
rw

a
rd

to
jo
in
in
g
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
cl
u
b
b
u
t
th
is
h
a
s
a
ll
b
u
t
d
is
a
p
p
e
a
re
d
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is

co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
b
y
a
ll
a
g
e
s
a
n
d
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
p
ro
v
id
e
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
fo
r
sp
o
rt
s.

5
0

T
h
e
re
c
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
m
y
li
n
k
w
it
h
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
si
n
ce

I
m
o
v
e
d
to

W
im

b
le
d
o
n
.
W
it
h
o
u
t
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
a
n
d
a
ll
th
e
p
e
o
p
le
I

h
a
v
e
m
e
e
t
th
e
re

I
w
o
u
ld
st
il
l
fe
e
l
a
st
ra
n
g
e
r.

M
y
fr
ie
n
d
a
ls
o
h
a
d
a
si
m
il
a
r
e
xp
e
ri
e
n
ce

th
a
n
k
s
to

th
e
fo
o
tb
a
ll
cl
u
b
s
u
si
n
g
th
e
R
e
c
a
t

th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s.

5
1

M
y
p
a
rt
n
e
r
a
n
d
I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
v
ir
tu
a
ll
y
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
.
W
e
w
a
lk
a
n
d
ru
n
th
ro
u
g
h
it
a
n
d
a
ls
o
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

It
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
a
n
d

in
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
h
ig
h
d
e
m
a
n
d
.

5
2

I
u
se

th
e
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
w
o
u
ld
b
e
p
re
v
e
n
te
d
fr
o
m

e
n
jo
y
in
g
th
e
fr
e
e
d
o
m

o
f
a
cc
e
ss
I
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
e
n
jo
y
w
h
e
n
w
a
lk
in
g
a
n
d
ru
n
n
in
g
a
ro
u
n
d

th
e
p
a
rk
.
I
h
a
v
e
se
e
n
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
m
a
k
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
sp
a
ce
,
w
it
h
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
p
o
p
u
la
r
w
it
h

th
e
g
e
n
e
ra
l
p
u
b
li
c.

5
3

I
h
a
v
e
g
ro
w
n
u
p
ta
k
in
g
w
a
lk
s
in
th
is
p
a
rk
,
u
si
n
g
it
fo
r
d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
,
re
la
xa
ti
o
n
,
sp
o
rt
s
a
n
d
k
e
e
p
in
g
fi
t.
W
h
y
ca
n
't
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
st
a
y

o
p
e
n
fo
r
u
se

b
y
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
?
M
y
g
ir
lf
ri
e
n
d
's
so
n
p
la
y
s
te
n
n
is
o
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s.

5
4

It
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
a
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
e
ff
e
ct
o
n
m
e
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
o
u
r
h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
.
W
e
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
m
a
n
y
ti
m
e
s
a
w
e
e
k
.
I
p
la
y

te
n
n
is
o
n
th
e
fr
e
e
,
p
u
b
li
c
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
e
v
e
ry

S
a
tu
rd
a
y
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
d
o
n
e
fo
r
se
v
e
ra
l
y
e
a
rs
.
I
a
ls
o
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
n
a
M
o
n
d
a
y
m
o
rn
in
g

w
it
h
a
g
ro
u
p
o
f
la
d
ie
s.

I
a
ls
o
p
la
y
in
th
e
e
v
e
n
in
g
s
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
m
o
n
th
s
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
to
il
e
t
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
in
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
w
h
e
n

th
e
y
a
re

o
p
e
n
.
M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
p
la
y
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
n
a
S
a
tu
rd
a
y
a
n
d
a
t
le
a
st
o
n
e
o
th
e
r
d
a
y
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
w
e
e
k
.

U
n
ti
l
a
ll
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
re
a
ch
e
d
sc
h
o
o
l
a
g
e
,
th
is
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r,
w
e
a
ls
o
u
se
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
d
u
ri
n
g
's
ch
o
o
l
h
o
u
rs
'.
It
w
a
s
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t

th
a
t
w
e
co
u
ld
b
e
sp
o
n
ta
n
e
o
u
s
a
n
d
ju
st
't
u
rn

u
p
a
n
d
p
la
y
'
w
it
h
n
o
co
st
o
r
b
o
o
k
in
g
.
I
u
se
d
to

b
ri
n
g
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
to

T
e
d
d
ie
s
S
o
ft

p
la
y
in
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
u
n
ti
l
it
w
a
s
st
o
p
p
e
d
b
y
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l.
W
e
a
ls
o
u
se
d
to

w
a
tc
h
b
o
w
ls
u
n
ti
l
th
a
t
to
o
w
a
s
st
o
p
p
e
d
b
y
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l.

A
t
th
e
m
o
m
e
n
t,
n
e
it
h
e
r
I
o
r
m
y
fa
m
il
y
p
la
y
cr
ic
k
e
t
o
r
fo
o
tb
a
ll
b
u
t
w
e
w
a
tc
h
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
w
h
o
d
o
.

Page 41



5
5

It
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
a
n
d
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
m
y
tr
a
in
in
g
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
.
M
y
tr
a
in
e
r
p
la
y
s

fo
o
tb
a
ll
th
e
re

a
n
d
u
se
s
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
.
M
y
b
ro
th
e
r
p
la
y
s
cr
ic
k
e
t
th
e
re
.

5
6

It
is
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
m
o
st
w
id
e
ly
u
se
d
p
a
rk
s
in
M
e
rt
o
n
(a
s
se
e
n
fr
o
m

m
y
b
e
d
ro
o
m

w
in
d
o
w
a
n
d
a
s
st
a
te
d
in
th
e
M
y
M
e
rt
o
n
m
a
g
a
zi
n
e
).

T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

co
n
st
a
n
tl
y
in
u
se

b
y
lo
ca
ls
(m

y
se
lf
a
n
d
fa
m
il
y
in
cl
u
d
e
d
),
th
e
w
id
e
r
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g

g
re
e
n
w
a
s
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
b
o
w
ls
cl
u
b
,
th
e
lo
ca
ls
w
e
re

re
a
d
y
to

si
g
n
u
p
a
n
d
p
la
y
a
n
d
th
e
n
it
w
a
s
su
d
d
e
n
ly
n
o
lo
n
g
e
r
m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
.

In
th
e
m
e
a
n
ti
m
e
lo
ca
ls
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
p
la
y
in
g
ro
u
n
d
e
rs
a
n
d
fa
m
il
y
cr
ic
k
e
t
o
n
th
e
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
it
is
a
ls
o
u
se
d
fo
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
b
y
ch
il
d
re
n
.

O
ft
e
n
a
n
e
ce
ss
a
ry

a
re
a
a
s
so
m
e
ti
m
e
s
th
e
re
c
is
so

fu
ll
o
f
v
is
it
in
g
te
a
m
s
th
a
t
th
e
re

is
n
o
w
h
e
re

e
ls
e
fo
r
p
e
o
p
le
to

p
la
y
.
T
h
e

ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
a
re
a
is
v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d
.
M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
I
g
o
m
o
st
d
a
y
s
a
n
d
th
e
p
ro
p
o
se
d
a
re
a
is
n
o
t
so

g
o
o
d
.

5
7

It
is
a
v
e
ry

b
u
sy

re
c
a
n
d
a
t
ti
m
e
it
is
so

w
e
ll
u
se
d
w
e
n
e
e
d
e
v
e
n
m
o
re

sp
a
ce

n
o
t
le
ss
.
M
y
fa
m
il
y
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
m
o
re

th
a
n

2
5
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
co
n
ti
n
u
e
to

u
se

it
to
d
a
y
fo
r
w
a
lk
in
g
,
ru
n
n
in
g
,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
,
fr
ie
n
d
ly
cr
ic
k
e
t,
ro
u
n
d
e
rs
,
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
g
e
n
e
ra
l
so
ci
a
li
si
n
g
.

It
is
a
fo
ca
l
p
o
in
t
fo
r
th
e
w
h
o
le
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
h
e
re

w
e
ca
n
m
e
e
t
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
th
e
re
c
to
g
e
th
e
r.

A
ll
o
f
it
is
e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
u
se
d

a
n
d
w
e
ca
n
n
o
t
a
ff
o
rd

to
h
a
v
e
a
n
y
o
f
th
e
la
n
d
ta
ke
n
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

p
u
b
li
c
u
se
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

v
e
ry

b
u
sy

a
n
d
it
is
fa
n
ta
st
ic
th
e
y

a
re

a
v
a
il
a
b
le
to

e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
a
ll
d
a
y
lo
n
g
.
A
t
ti
m
e
s
th
e
re

a
re

q
u
e
u
e
s
a
n
d
n
o
t
ju
st
in
su
m
m
e
r.

5
8

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
a
rk

is
a
h
u
g
e
ly
p
o
p
u
la
r
lo
ca
l
p
a
rk

a
n
d
I
th
o
ro
u
g
h
ly
a
n
d
re
g
u
la
rl
y
e
n
jo
y
u
si
n
g
it
.

5
9

M
y
3
ch
il
d
re
n
h
a
v
e
g
ro
w
n
u
p
p
la
y
in
g
th
e
re

a
n
d
co
n
ti
n
u
e
to

u
se

it
a
s
a
sa
fe

re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
sp
a
ce
.
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
ru
n
in
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d

se
e
n
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
e
n
jo
y
in
g
th
e
sp
a
ce
.

6
0

It
is
w
e
ll
-u
se

b
y
a
ll
ty
p
e
s
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
d
o
in
g
m
a
n
y
d
if
fe
re
n
t
th
in
g
s.

T
h
e
o
p
e
n
n
e
ss
is
in
te
g
ra
l
to

it
s
ch
a
ra
ct
e
r.

E
v
e
ry

co
rn
e
r
o
f
th
e

p
a
rk

is
u
se
d
b
y
p
e
o
p
le
a
ll
th
e
ti
m
e
.
T
h
e
re

a
re

sp
o
rt
s
m
a
tc
h
e
s
a
ll
y
e
a
r
ro
u
n
d
.
S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
rs
h
a
v
e
p
ic
n
ic
s
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
m
a
k
in
g
it
a

re
a
l
so
ci
a
l
o
cc
a
si
o
n
.
P
e
o
p
le
jo
g
,
w
a
lk
th
e
ir
d
o
g
s,
th
e
y
ch
a
t
a
n
d
in
te
ra
ct
.
P
a
re
n
ts
te
a
ch

ch
il
d
re
n
to

ri
d
e
b
ic
y
cl
e
s
o
r
sc
o
o
t
o
n
th
e

p
a
th
w
a
y
s.
T
h
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
w
e
ll
-e
q
u
ip
p
e
d
a
n
d
a
lw
a
y
s
o
v
e
rf
lo
w
in
g
w
it
h
p
a
re
n
ts
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
cl
u
b
w
a
s
a
w
o
n
d
e
rf
u
l

sp
o
t
w
h
e
re

p
e
o
p
le
co
u
ld
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
so
ci
a
li
se
.

6
1

T
h
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
g
re
a
t
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
a
n
d
g
iv
e
n
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
in
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a

re
a
ll
y
g
re
a
t
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
to

d
o
sp
o
rt
a
t
a
v
e
ry

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
ra
te
.

6
2

M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
e
n
jo
y
e
d
th
e
w
id
e
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
w
h
ic
h
w
a
s
b
e
n
e
fi
ci
a
l
to

th
e
ir
d
e
ve
lo
p
m
e
n
t.

6
3

M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
I
a
re

u
si
n
g
th
e
R
e
c
o
n
a
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s
a
n
d
o
u
r
a
re
a
w
o
u
ld
n
't
b
e
th
e
sa
m
e
if
w
e
w
e
re

to
lo
se

a
b
ig
a
re
a
(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g

m
a
tu
re

tr
e
e
s)
o
f
o
u
r
li
tt
le
g
re
e
n
o
a
si
s.
W
e
a
lr
e
a
d
y
fi
n
d
it
d
if
fi
cu
lt
to

fi
n
d
a
su
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
b
ig
a
re
a
to

p
la
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r

w
h
e
n
tw

o
cr
ic
k
e
t
m
a
tc
h
e
s
a
re

b
e
in
g
p
la
y
e
d
a
t
th
e
sa
m
e
ti
m
e
.
U
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
o
n
a
v
e
ra
g
e
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
.

Page 42



6
4

I
u
se

th
e
la
n
d
a
lm

o
st
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
.
M
y
tw

o
ch
il
d
re
n
a
tt
e
n
d
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
S
ch
o
o
l
so

w
e
v
is
it
th
e
p
a
rk

re
g
u
la
rl
y
a
ft
e
r
sc
h
o
o
l.
M
y
w
if
e

a
n
d
I
e
n
jo
y
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
w
e
e
k
d
u
ri
n
g
sc
h
o
o
l
h
o
u
rs
w
h
e
n
w
e
b
o
th

h
a
v
e
a
fr
e
e
d
a
y
a
n
d
I
a
ls
o
p
la
y
to
u
ch

ru
g
b
y
e
ve
ry

T
h
u
rs
d
a
y
e
v
e
n
in
g
a
n
d
S
a
tu
rd
a
y
m
o
rn
in
g
.
T
h
e
p
a
rk

cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
h
a
s
a
g
re
a
t
ru
n
n
in
g
/c
y
cl
in
g
tr
a
ck

th
a
t
fl
o
w
s
in
a
g
re
a
t
ci
rc
u
it
m
a
k
in
g

it
e
a
sy

to
se
e
y
o
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
w
h
e
n
th
e
y
d
o
la
p
s.

6
5

T
h
e
e
n
ti
re

re
c
is
in
te
n
si
ve
ly
u
se
d
b
y
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d
v
a
ri
o
u
s
sp
o
rt
s
te
a
m
s.

W
h
e
n
e
v
e
r
I
v
is
it
it
is
a
lw
a
y
s
fu
ll
o
f
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d

y
o
u
n
g
p
e
o
p
le
p
la
y
in
g
g
a
m
e
s,
o
ld
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
w
a
lk
in
g
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
in
g
fr
e
sh

a
ir
a
n
d
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

N
o
w
I

a
m

o
ld
e
r
it
is
a
n
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
p
la
ce

to
w
a
lk
a
n
d
ta
k
e
e
xe
rc
is
e
.

6
6

I
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

re
g
u
la
rl
y
si
n
ce

1
9
8
8
.
I
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
v
is
it
in
th
e
m
o
rn
in
g
fo
r
a
ru
n
a
n
d
so
m
e
d
a
y
s
w
o
rk

o
u
t
w
it
h
a
tr
a
in
e
r.

T
h
e
re

a
re

a
lw
a
y
s
p
e
o
p
le
th
e
re

a
s
so
o
n
a
s
it
is
li
g
h
t.

T
h
e
re

a
re

a
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
r,
ru
n
n
e
rs
,
p
e
rs
o
n
a
l
tr
a
in
e
rs
a
n
d
th
e
ir
cl
ie
n
ts
e
a
ch

m
o
rn
in
g
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
p
e
o
p
le
w
a
lk
in
g
th
ro
u
g
h
to

g
e
t
to

th
e
st
a
ti
o
n
.
I
a
ls
o
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
fr
o
m

ti
m
e
to

ti
m
e
a
n
d
u
se
d
to

e
n
jo
y

se
e
in
g
th
e
b
o
w
ls
in
a
ct
io
n
.
A
t
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s
it
is
u
se
d
fo
r
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
cr
ic
k
e
t
a
n
d
p
e
o
p
le
re
la
xi
n
g
.

6
7

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
u
se
d
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
re
la
xa
ti
o
n
a
n
d
sh
o
u
ld
n
o
t
b
e
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l.

6
8

W
e
u
se

th
e
re
c
e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
y
e
a
r
fo
r
ru
n
n
in
g
,
cy
cl
in
g
,
p
la
y
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
a
n
d
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
W
e
a
ls
o

e
n
jo
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
ro
se

g
a
rd
e
n
.
W
e
fi
n
d
it
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
p
o
p
u
la
r
a
n
d
b
u
sy

e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
m
o
n
th
s.

6
9

A
s
m
y
fa
m
il
y
w
a
s
g
ro
w
in
g
u
p
w
e
u
se
d
it
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
;
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
p
la
y
e
d
th
e
ir
fi
rs
t
te
n
n
is
th
e
re
;
p
la
y
e
d
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
a
n
d

w
a
tc
h
e
d
a
d
u
lt
s
p
la
y
in
g
te
a
m

g
a
m
e
s.

7
0

T
h
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
u
se

it
e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
.
I
h
a
v
e
sp
e
n
t
a
lo
t
o
f
ti
m
e
in
th
e
R
e
c
-
I
w
a
lk
in
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
a
ls
o
e
n
jo
y
si
m
p
ly
si
tt
in
g
a
n
d

e
n
jo
y
in
g
th
e
a
tm

o
sp
h
e
re
,
w
a
tc
h
in
g
te
n
n
is
,
cr
ic
k
e
t
o
r
o
th
e
r
sp
o
rt
,
re
la
xi
n
g
in
th
e
ro
se

g
a
rd
e
n
.
I
lo
v
e
w
a
tc
h
in
g
a
ll
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le

fr
o
m

b
a
b
ie
s
to

th
e
e
ld
e
rl
y
u
si
n
g
th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
g
a
m
e
s,
te
n
n
is
,
b
o
w
ls
,
ru
n
n
in
g
,
w
a
lk
in
g
,
p
la
y
in
g
o
r
ju
st
su
n
n
in
g
th
e
m
se
lv
e
s.
W
a
s
a
n

e
a
rl
y
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
.
N
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
re
c,
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
is
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
T
h
e

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
w
o
u
ld
b
e
le
ft
w
it
h
n
o
co
u
rt
s
a
t
a
ll
a
n
d
w
o
u
ld
fo
re
v
e
r
ru
in
th
e
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
o
f
sp
o
rt
p
la
y
e
d
th
e
re
.

7
1

O
b
je
ct
to

th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
s
p
e
r
th
e
p
la
n
s.

7
2

M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
o
n
a
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s
in
v
a
ri
o
u
s
w
a
y
s.

W
e
a
re

a
ll
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
b
o
th

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
T
e
n
n
is
cl
u
b
a
n
d
F
ri
e
n
d
s
o
f

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c.

W
e
m
e
e
t
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
fr
ie
n
d
s
in
th
e
R
e
c,
e
xe
rc
is
e
,
cy
cl
e
,
w
a
lk
,
re
la
x
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
n
a
tu
re
.
It
is
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
co
m
m
u
n
it
y

a
ss
e
t
a
n
d
u
se
d
b
y
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
fo
r
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
te
n
n
is
,
cr
ic
k
e
t,
ru
g
b
y
,
cy
cl
in
g
,
e
xe
rc
is
e
,
o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
fi
tn
e
ss
a
n
d
m
a
rt
ia
l
a
rt
s

se
ss
io
n
s,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
,
m
e
e
ti
n
g
u
p
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
p
la
y
in
g
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
B
o
w
ls
u
se
d
to

b
e
p
la
y
e
d
u
n
ti
l
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
cl
o
se
d
th
e

b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
is
v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d
a
t
a
ll
ti
m
e
s
in
b
o
th

su
m
m
e
r
a
n
d
w
in
te
r.

It
is
v
it
a
ll
y
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
to

th
e
w
h
o
le
co
m
m
u
n
it
y

fo
r
le
is
u
re

u
se
.
If
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
a
re

b
a
rr
e
d
fr
o
m

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
it
w
il
l
a
ff
e
ct
o
u
r
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
w
h
o

re
g
u
la
rl
y
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
in
th
e
re
c.

7
3

It
is
n
o
t
a
sp
a
re

p
ie
ce

o
f
u
n
d
e
ru
ti
li
se
d
la
n
d
b
u
t
a
h
ig
h
ly
v
a
lu
e
d
lo
ca
l
re
so
u
rc
e
fo
r
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
.
I
u
se

it
to

ru
n
a
n
d
w
a
lk
in
a
n
d

w
h
e
n
m
y
m
o
th
e
r
w
a
s
a
li
v
e
to

p
u
sh

h
e
r
in
h
e
r
w
h
e
e
lc
h
a
ir
.

Page 43



7
4

I
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
m
o
st
w
e
e
k
s
w
h
e
n
th
e
w
e
a
th
e
r
a
ll
o
w
s.

T
h
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
w
a
s
co
n
st
a
n
tl
y
b
u
zz
in
g
a
n
d
b
u
sy

th
is
su
m
m
e
r.

B
o
th

th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
e
n
co
u
ra
g
e
sa
fe

p
la
y
fo
r
ch
il
d
re
n
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

ca
rs
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
d
a
n
g
e
rs
.

7
5

I
a
m

1
6
a
n
d
h
a
n
g
o
u
t
in
th
e
R
e
c
w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s
fr
o
m
sc
h
o
o
l
a
n
d
d
ra
m
a
cl
a
ss
e
s
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
y
e
a
r
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
lu
n
ch

o
n
th
e
fi
e
ld

w
h
e
re

th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
is
e
xp
e
ct
e
d
to

e
xp
a
n
d
.
I
a
m

v
e
ry

p
o
si
ti
v
e
th
a
t
th
e
cu
rr
e
n
t
la
n
d
u
se

is
v
e
ry

h
ig
h
.
I
a
m

a
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
r
a
n
d
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n
fo
r
th
e
p
a
st
1
0
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
b
o
th

I
a
n
d
m
a
n
y
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
w
o
u
ld
b
e
g
re
a
tl
y
d
is
a
p
p
o
in
te
d
a
n
d
fr
u
st
ra
te
d
if
th
e
te
n
n
is

co
u
rt
s
w
e
re

g
iv
e
n
to

th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
a
s
th
e
y
a
re

u
se
d
b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
to

th
e
ir
m
a
xi
m
u
m

ca
p
a
b
il
it
y
.
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
I
d
o
n
o
t
p
la
y
b
o
w
ls
,
I
kn
o
w

q
u
it
e
a
fe
w
lo
ca
ls
w
h
o
w
o
u
ld
lo
v
e
to

h
a
v
e
th
e
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
to

tr
y
it
o
u
t.

7
6

I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
te
n
n
is
(I
a
m

a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
),
fo
r
cy
cl
in
g
a
n
d
fo
r
jo
g
g
in
g
.
I
a
ls
o
w
a
tc
h

fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t
m
a
tc
h
e
s
a
n
d
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
m
e
e
t
u
p
w
it
h
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
fr
ie
n
d
s.
I
fi
n
d
it
m
o
re

re
la
xi
n
g
to

si
t
in
th
e
R
e
c
th
a
n
m
y

o
w
n
g
a
rd
e
n
re
a
d
in
g
n
o
te
s
re
q
u
ir
e
d
fo
r
m
y
jo
b
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

a
lw
a
y
s
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
a
n
d
v
e
ry

u
n
h
a
p
p
y
th
a
t
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
h
a
s
cl
o
se
d
.

7
7

S
p
a
ce

is
u
se
d
b
y
g
re
a
t
n
u
m
b
e
rs
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d
ca
n
n
o
t
b
e
re
g
a
rd
e
d
a
s
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.

7
8

I
k
n
o
w
a
n
d
lo
v
e
th
e
re
c
a
n
d
w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
a
n
d
m
e
e
t
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
th
e
re

e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
a
n
d
co
n
si
d
e
r
it
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
in
te
g
ra
l
p
a
rt
o
f
m
y

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
W
it
h
a
g
ro
w
in
g
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
o
f
e
ld
e
rl
y
a
n
d
o
b
e
se

p
e
o
p
le
,
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
re

a
fa
ci
li
ty
th
a
t

sh
o
u
ld
b
e
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
to

th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
it
h
in
th
e
o
p
e
n
in
g
h
o
u
rs
o
f
th
e
R
e
c.

7
9

O
b
je
ct
.

8
0

I
k
n
o
w
a
n
d
lo
v
e
th
e
re
c,
v
is
it
it
n
e
a
rl
y
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
,
ru
n
in
it
e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
a
n
d
co
n
si
d
e
r
it
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
in
te
g
ra
l
p
a
rt
o
f
m
y
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

W
a
s
lo
o
k
in
g
fo
rw

a
rd

to
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
h
e
n
I
re
ti
re
.
W
it
h
a
g
ro
w
in
g
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
o
f
e
ld
e
rl
y
a
n
d
o
b
e
se

p
e
o
p
le
,
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
re

a
fa
ci
li
ty
th
a
t
sh
o
u
ld
b
e
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
to

th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
it
h
in
th
e
o
p
e
n
in
g
h
o
u
rs
o
f

th
e
R
e
c.

8
1

I
h
a
v
e
fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
u
se
d
th
e
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s,
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
si
n
ce

th
e
su
m
m
e
r
a
n
d
fo
u
n
d
th
e
m

to
b
e
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
p
o
p
u
la
r
w
it
h

th
e
p
u
b
li
c
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s.
T
h
e
p
la
n
s
w
il
l
b
e
a
d
is
se
rv
ic
e
to

th
e
p
u
b
li
c,
cu
tt
in
g
o
ff
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
's
a
cc
e
ss
to

o
u
td
o
o
rs
a
n
d
sp
o
rt
s

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

8
2

D
u
p
li
ca
ti
o
n
o
f
n
o
.
6
6

8
3

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
re
g
u
la
rl
y
b
o
th

d
u
ri
n
g
w
e
e
k
d
a
y
s
a
n
d
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s.

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

I
a
m

a
k
e
e
n
ru
n
n
e
r
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r

tr
a
in
in
g
ru
n
s
o
n
a
v
e
ra
g
e
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
,
a
s
I
fi
n
d
th
e
o
u
te
r
p
a
th

to
b
e
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
fe
w
fl
a
t,
tr
a
ff
ic
fr
e
e
p
la
ce
s
to

ru
n
sa
fe
ly
n
e
a
r
m
y

h
o
m
e
.
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
w
a
lk
a
fr
ie
n
d
's
d
o
g
a
t
th
e
R
e
c.

A
s
a
v
e
ry

re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
st
a
n
d
a
rd

te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
r,
I
fi
n
d
th
e
co
u
rt
in
th
e
R
e
c
to

b
e

th
e
b
e
st
p
la
ce

lo
ca
ll
y
fo
r
a
n
in
fo
rm

a
l
g
a
m
e
.
T
h
e
b
ig
g
e
st
ch
a
ll
e
n
g
e
ca
n
b
e
fi
n
d
in
g
a
ti
m
e
w
h
e
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

n
o
t
a
lr
e
a
d
y
b
e
in
g

u
se
d
a
n
d
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
e
st
a
b
li
sh
e
d
a
g
ra
ss
ro
o
ts
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
th
e
re

la
st
y
e
a
r.

8
4

I
ra
n
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
C
h
a
se

F
C
fo
r
1
7
y
e
a
rs
.
A
s
a
k
id
I
p
la
y
e
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
te
n
n
is
w
it
h
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
st
il
l
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
th
e
ir
n
o
w
.

Page 44



8
5

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
a
m
u
ch

u
se
d
a
n
d
v
it
a
l
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
a
re
a
,
e
v
e
ry

b
it
e
n
jo
y
e
d
in
a
m
u
lt
it
u
d
e
o
f
w
a
y
s
b
y
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
e
v
e
ry

a
g
e
,
cl
a
ss
,
ra
ce

a
n
d
in
te
re
st
fr
o
m

b
o
th

th
e
im

m
e
d
ia
te

v
ic
in
it
y
a
n
d
fu
rt
h
e
r
a
fi
e
ld
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
is
im

m
e
n
se
ly
p
o
p
u
la
r
a
n
d
th
e
co
u
rt
s
in

co
n
st
a
n
t
u
se
;
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t
m
a
tc
h
e
s
ta
k
e
p
la
ce

v
ir
tu
a
ll
y
e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
;
p
a
re
n
ts
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
fl
o
ck

to
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
;
d
o
g
s

ca
n
b
e
w
a
lk
e
d
a
n
d
le
t
o
ff
th
e
ir
le
a
d
s
sa
fe
ly
;
th
e
ca
lm

o
f
th
e
ro
se

g
a
rd
e
n
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
re

th
e
p
e
rf
e
ct
co
n
tr
a
st
to

th
e
li
v
e
li
e
r

a
re
a
s;
th
e
fi
e
ld
a
n
d
p
e
ri
m
e
te
r
p
a
th

a
re

p
o
p
u
la
r
w
it
h
jo
g
g
e
rs
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
s;
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
is
a
n
e
ss
e
n
ti
a
l
fo
cu
s
fo
r
a
ll
R
e
c

u
se
rs
.
C
o
u
ld
e
v
e
n
d
o
w
it
h
m
o
re

sp
a
ce

a
s
it
is
fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
im

p
o
ss
ib
le
to

g
e
t
a
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
o
r
th
e
p
la
yg
ro
u
n
d
is
ch
o
c-
a
-b
lo
c.

M
y

fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
I
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
e
v
e
ry

p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
in
th
e
w
a
y
s
m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
p
re
v
io
u
sl
y
.

8
6

U
se

th
e
p
a
rk

o
n
a
w
e
e
k
ly
b
a
si
s
-
w
a
lk
a
ro
u
n
d
it
re
g
u
la
rl
y
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
e
a
th
e
r
p
e
rm

it
ti
n
g
.
O
ft
e
n
w
a
tc
h
e
d
b
o
w
li
n
g

o
n
th
e
g
re
e
n
.
It
is
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
sp
a
ce

u
se
d
b
y
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

8
7

O
b
je
ct
.

8
8

A
m

1
3
y
e
a
rs
o
ld
a
n
d
h
a
ve

sp
e
n
t
m
a
n
y
o
f
m
y
d
a
y
s
in
th
e
R
e
c.

I
le
a
rn
t
to

ri
d
e
m
y
b
ik
e
h
e
re
,
o
ft
e
n
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
a
m

a
le
a
d
in
g

m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
T
e
n
n
is
cl
u
b
.
Y
o
u
a
re

p
u
tt
in
g
th
e
h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
o
f
th
o
se

in
th
e
su
rr
o
u
n
d
in
g
a
re
a
a
t
ri
sk

b
y

re
m
o
v
in
g
a
n
y
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
R
e
c.

8
9

It
is
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
m
o
st
w
id
e
ly
u
se
d
p
a
rk
s
in
th
e
b
o
ro
u
g
h
(o
v
e
r
2
5
0
,0
0
0
v
is
it
o
rs
a
n
n
u
a
ll
y
).
M
y
w
h
o
le
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
I
a
re

m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f

th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
h
ir
e
d
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
in
th
e
p
a
st
fo
r
ch
il
d
re
n
's
a
rt
e
ve
n
ts
.
N
o
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
is
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
It

is
u
se
d
b
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t
te
a
m
s,
ru
n
n
e
rs
a
n
d
fi
tn
e
ss
g
ro
u
p
s,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
a
n
d
e
ld
e
rl
y
p
e
o
p
le
.
A
tr
a
d
it
io
n
a
l
M
a
o
ri
st
ic
k
d
a
n
ce

g
ro
u
p
p
ra
ct
ic
e
e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
e
n
d
,
a
lo
n
g
w
it
h
h
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
ch
il
d
re
n
p
la
y
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
u
si
n
g
th
e
p
la
y
e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t.

9
0

I
b
e
lo
n
g
to

a
th
ri
v
in
g
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
w
h
ic
h
u
se
s
th
e
co
u
rt
s
o
n
a
re
g
u
la
r
b
a
si
s
a
n
d
th
e
re

a
re

n
o
o
th
e
r
lo
ca
l
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
s.

9
1

W
e
w
a
lk
re
g
u
la
rl
y
ro
u
n
d
th
e
p
a
rk

a
lo
n
g
w
it
h
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
rs
,
so
m
e
o
f
w
h
o
m
jo
g
o
r
ru
n
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
in
b
o
th

su
m
m
e
r
a
n
d
w
in
te
r

b
y
b
o
th

fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t
te
a
m
s
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
h
a
v
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
o
r
cr
ic
k
e
t
co
a
ch
in
g
.
W
e
d
o
n
o
t
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
u
rs
e
lv
e
s
b
u
t
k
n
o
w

th
a
t
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
is
a
g
re
a
t
su
cc
e
ss
.
O
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
sp
e
n
t
m
a
n
y
h
a
p
p
y
y
e
a
rs
in
th
e
R
e
c
w
h
il
st
g
ro
w
in
g
u
p
a
n
d
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
lo
v
e
d

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

O
n
fi
n
e
su
m
m
e
r
d
a
y
s
m
a
n
y
fa
m
il
ie
s
h
a
v
e
p
ic
n
ic
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
C
o
n
ce
rn
e
d
a
b
o
u
t
lo
ss
o
f
p
a
v
il
io
n

u
se
,
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
to
il
e
ts
a
n
d
in
cr
e
a
se
d
n
o
is
e
in
th
e
ir
o
w
n
g
a
rd
e
n
.

9
2

O
b
je
ct
a
s
n
e
e
d
to

p
ro
te
ct
o
u
r
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
s.

9
3

O
b
je
ct
.

9
4

O
b
je
ct

9
5

It
is
a
sm

a
ll
p
a
rk

w
it
h
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
(p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t)
u
se
d
b
y
p
e
o
p
le
fr
o
m

a
w
id
e
a
re
a
.
T
h
e
g
e
n
e
ra
l
p
u
b
li
c
a
re

a
b
le
to

u
se

th
e
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
h
il
e
th
e
se

a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
a
re

g
o
in
g
o
n
b
u
t
th
e
re

is
v
e
ry

li
tt
le
to
ta
l
sp
a
ce

w
h
e
n
th
e
cr
ic
k
e
t
o
r
fo
o
tb
a
ll
fi
e
ld
s

a
re

in
u
se
.
R
e
d
u
ci
n
g
th
e
si
ze

o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

w
il
l
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
re
d
u
ce

th
e
a
m
e
n
it
y
.
S
p
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
su
ch

a
s
te
n
n
is
sh
o
u
ld
a
ls
o
b
e

su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
a
n
d
e
n
co
u
ra
g
e
d
.
I
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

o
v
e
r
m
a
n
y
y
e
a
rs
w
h
e
n
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
w
e
re

sm
a
ll
a
n
d
st
il
l
u
se

it
fo
r
ru
n
n
in
g
a
n
d

w
a
lk
in
g
.

Page 45



9
6

I
a
m

a
k
e
e
n
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
r
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
sp
e
n
t
m
a
n
y
h
o
u
rs
(a
t
ti
m
e
s
a
lm

o
st
d
a
il
y
)
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
w
it
h
m
y
so
n
in
th
e
co
u
rt
s.

Lo
ss
o
f
th
e

co
u
rt
s
w
o
u
ld
h
a
v
e
a
g
re
a
t
im

p
a
ct
o
n
o
u
r
li
fe
.
C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
ru
n
se
ss
io
n
s
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
d
a
y
fo
r
a
ll
a
g
e
s,
so
m
e
a
re

fr
e
e
,
o
th
e
rs
v
e
ry

a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
.
T
h
e
y
a
re

e
xt
re
m
e
ly
p
o
p
u
la
r
a
n
d
a
g
re
a
t
w
a
y
to

k
e
e
p
fi
t
a
n
d
m
e
e
t
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
.

9
7

O
b
je
ct

9
8

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
-
I
ru
n
th
e
re

a
n
d
m
y
p
a
rt
n
e
r
co
m
e
s
to

ru
g
b
y
tr
a
in
in
g
.
W
e
b
o
th

u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
t
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
a
ft
e
r

th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
cl
a
ss
e
s
h
a
v
e
fi
n
is
h
e
d
.
W
h
e
n
I
a
m
lo
o
k
in
g
a
ft
e
r
m
y
co
u
si
n
s
w
e
w
a
lk
a
n
d
cy
cl
e
th
e
re

a
n
d
ra
ce

e
a
ch

o
th
e
r
a
cr
o
ss

th
e
g
ra
ss
.
It
is
a
lw
a
y
s
b
u
sy

a
n
d
fu
ll
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
e
n
jo
y
in
g
u
si
n
g
th
e
sp
a
ce
.

9
9

H
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
y
e
a
r
fo
r
3
0
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
w
a
lk
th
e
ir
v
ir
tu
a
ll
y
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
a
n
d
u
n
ti
l
re
ce
n
tl
y
p
la
y
e
d
b
o
w
ls
w
it
h
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
cl
u
b
.
I
h
a
v
e

b
e
e
n
a
su
p
p
o
rt
e
r
a
n
d
co
m
m
it
te
e
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
F
ri
e
n
d
s
o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
fo
r
se
v
e
ra
l
y
e
a
rs
th
ro
u
g
h
w
h
ic
h
I
h
a
v
e
d
o
n
a
te
d
a
n
d

h
e
lp
e
d
p
la
n
t,
w
a
te
r
a
n
d
m
a
in
ta
in
n
e
w
tr
e
e
s,
p
la
n
ts
a
n
d
b
u
lb
s
e
tc
.
T
h
e
n
e
w
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
s
w
il
l
se
ri
o
u
sl
y
h
a
rm

e
n
jo
y
m
e
n
t
o
f
th
e

p
e
a
ce
fu
l
ro
se

g
a
rd
e
n
.
I
a
m

a
ls
o
a
su
p
p
o
rt
e
r
o
f
th
e
n
e
w
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
.
In
m
y
e
xp
e
ri
e
n
ce

th
e
R
e
c
h
a
s
n
e
v
e
r
b
e
e
n
u
se
d
so

in
te
n
si
v
e
ly

b
e
fo
re

a
n
d
b
y
so

m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
w
it
h
d
if
fe
re
n
t
sp
o
rt
in
g
a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
in
te
re
st
s.

1
0
0

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
b
y
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
fr
o
m

a
ll
w
a
lk
s
o
f
li
fe

ta
k
in
g
g
e
n
tl
e
e
xe
rc
is
e
,
so
ci
a
li
si
n
g
,
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
sp
o
rt
,
a
n
d

ch
il
d
re
n
p
la
y
in
g
fe
e
ly
a
n
d
sa
fe
ly
.

1
0
1

E
v
e
ry

d
a
y
th
e
p
a
rk

is
b
u
sy

w
it
h
a
d
u
lt
s
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
a
t
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s
e
ve
ry

b
it
o
f
la
n
d
is
in
u
se
,
p
e
o
p
le
e
v
e
n
u
si
n
g
th
e
tr
e
e
s.

1
0
2

A
s
a
fa
m
il
y
w
e
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
o
n
a
n
e
a
r
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s.

T
h
e
re

a
re

m
a
n
y
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
w
h
o
u
se

th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
if
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's

p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
w
a
s
re
d
u
ce
d
in
si
ze

it
w
o
u
ld
b
e
se
ri
o
u
sl
y
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
fo
r
fu
tu
re

fa
m
il
ie
s
w
it
h
y
o
u
n
g
ch
il
d
re
n
.

1
0
3

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
jo
g
g
in
g
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
it
h
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
.

1
0
4

H
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
n
e
a
rb
y
fo
r
2
9
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
h
a
ve

re
g
u
la
rl
y
w
a
lk
e
d
a
cr
o
ss
th
e
sp
a
ce

co
n
ce
rn
e
d
,
o
ft
e
n
tw

ic
e
d
a
il
y
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
y
e
a
rs
w
h
e
n
a
ll

m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
ri
m
a
ry

S
ch
o
o
l.
T
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
a
t
ti
m
e
it
h
a
s
a
lw
a
y
s
b
e
e
n
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
p
e
o
p
le
w
a
lk
in
g
,

su
p
e
rv
is
in
g
ch
il
d
re
n
,
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
o
r
b
o
w
ls
.
It
is
cl
e
a
rl
y
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.

1
0
5

A
s
a
fa
m
il
y
w
e
u
se

th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
fi
e
ld
s
a
n
d
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

se
v
e
ra
l
ti
m
e
s
a
w
e
e
k
.
It
is
a
h
a
p
p
y
sp
a
ce

fo
r
th
e
lo
ca
l

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
to

sp
e
n
d
th
e
ir
ti
m
e
o
u
td
o
o
rs
.
T
a
k
in
g
it
a
w
a
y
w
il
l
su
re
ly
b
e
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
a
n
d
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
d
v
e
rs
e
ly
a
ff
e
ct
e
d
.

1
0
6

It
is
u
se
d
fo
r
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
n
d
a
lw
a
y
s
v
e
ry

p
o
p
u
la
r
a
n
d
h
e
a
v
il
y
u
se
d
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
p
e
o
p
le
fu
rt
h
e
r

a
fi
e
ld
.
O
v
e
r
th
e
y
e
a
rs
m
y
fa
m
il
y
h
a
v
e
fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
u
se
d
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
n
o
w
th
e
y
a
re

o
ld
e
r
m
y

ch
il
d
re
n
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
jo
g
g
in
g
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
.

1
0
7

I
ru
n
in
th
e
R
e
c
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
a
n
d
p
a
ss
m
a
n
y
re
g
u
la
rs
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
u
si
n
g
th
e
re
c
fo
r
ru
n
n
in
g
,
ta
i
ch
i,
sp
ri
n
ti
n
g
w
it
h
p
e
rs
o
n
a
l
tr
a
in
e
rs
,

d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
,
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
g
ro
u
p
s
o
f
y
o
u
n
g
p
e
o
p
le
w
h
o
h
a
v
e
b
ro
u
g
h
t
a
b
a
ll
o
r
F
ri
sb
e
e
.
I
o
ft
e
n
p
o
p
o
v
e
r
to

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
o
n
a

S
u
n
d
a
y
.
W
h
e
re

w
il
l
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
th
a
t
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
n
in
sp
ir
a
ti
o
n
g
o
?
M
y
g
ro
w
n
u
p
d
a
u
g
h
te
r
h
a
s
m
o
v
e
d
b
a
ck

h
o
m
e
a
n
d
u
se
s
th
e

R
e
c
re
g
u
la
rl
y
.

Page 46



1
0
8

I
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
h
e
re

fo
r
o
v
e
r
2
5
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
re
g
u
la
rl
y
fo
r
jo
g
g
in
g
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
p
la
y
e
d
te
n
n
is
w
it
h
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
.

1
0
9

La
n
d
is
u
se
d
n
o
t
o
n
ly
b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
b
u
t
is
h
e
a
v
il
y
u
se
d
a
n
d
re
li
e
d
u
p
o
n
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
le
is
u
re

b
y
a
b
ro
a
d
se
le
ct
io
n
o
f
th
e
lo
ca
l

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
A
s
a
fa
m
il
y
w
e
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
,
ri
d
e
b
ik
e
s,
p
la
y
in
th
e
sw

in
g
p
a
rk
,
e
tc
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
d
o
n
e
fo
r
o
v
e
r
a
d
e
ca
d
e
.
M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d

th
e
ir
fr
ie
n
d
s
sp
e
n
d
a
lo
t
o
f
ti
m
e
in
th
e
p
a
rk

p
la
y
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
ri
d
in
g
b
ik
e
s
,
cl
im

b
in
g
tr
e
e
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
.
M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
d
o
n
o
t

g
o
to

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
a
n
d
h
a
ve

a
n
e
xt
ra

6
-8

w
e
e
k
s
h
o
li
d
a
y
a
y
e
a
r
-
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
se

w
e
e
k
s
th
e
y
w
o
u
ld
n
o
t
b
e
a
b
le
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
r
u
se

th
e
sp
a
ce

th
a
t
w
il
l
b
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
d
.

1
1
0

C
o
n
ce
rn
e
d
th
a
t
th
e
re
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
th
is
la
n
d
w
o
u
ld
d
e
p
ri
v
e
re
si
d
e
n
ts
o
f
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
th
a
t
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
e
n
jo
y
e
d
fo
r
m
a
n
y
y
e
a
rs
,
in

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r
te
n
n
is
.

1
1
1

O
b
je
ct

1
1
2

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
h
ig
h
ly
v
a
lu
e
d
b
y
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d
u
se
d
b
y
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
fo
r
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
cr
ic
k
e
t,
te
n
n
is
,
e
xe
rc
is
in
g
,
d
o
g
-w

a
lk
in
g
,
ch
il
d
re
n
's

p
la
y
,
p
ic
n
ic
s
a
n
d
g
e
n
e
ra
l
le
is
u
re

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.
C
o
n
ce
rn
e
d
th
a
t
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
il
l
b
e
re
d
u
ce
d
.

1
1
3

T
h
e
R
e
c
h
a
s
2
5
0
,0
0
0
u
se
rs
a
y
e
a
r
w
h
o
p
u
rs
u
e
a
w
id
e
ra
n
g
e
o
f
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
ls
p
o
rt
s
a
n
d
p
a
st
im

e
s,
n
o
t
le
a
s
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s

a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
h
ic
h
w
o
u
ld
b
e
b
a
d
ly
a
ff
e
ct
e
d
b
y
th
is
sc
h
e
m
e
.

1
1
4

T
h
e
R
e
c
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
co
n
st
a
n
t
fe
a
tu
re

in
m
y
fa
m
il
y
's
li
fe

fo
r
2
5
y
e
a
rs
,
fi
rs
t
a
s
a
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
fo
r
it
s
sw

in
g
s
a
n
d
ro
u
n
d
a
b
o
u
ts
,
th
e
n
a
s

a
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ty
.
T
h
e
lo
ss
o
f
b
a
si
c
a
m
e
n
it
ie
s:
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
,
m
e
m
o
ri
a
l
g
a
rd
e
n
e
tc
,
w
o
u
ld
a
ll
b
e
m
is
se
d
.

1
1
5

B
y
cl
o
si
n
g
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
a
re

d
e
p
ri
v
in
g
u
se

o
f
tw

o
o
f
o
u
r
m
a
jo
r
re
so
u
rc
e
s
fo
r

e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
b
y
a
ll
lo
ca
l
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
a
d
u
lt
s.

It
is
a
ls
o
a
g
re
e
n
lu
n
g
fo
r
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
,

e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
o
se

w
it
h
m
in
is
cu
le
g
a
rd
e
n
s.

P
a
re
n
ts
ta
k
e
ch
il
d
re
n
to

p
la
y
th
e
re
,
o
ld
e
r
re
si
d
e
n
ts
ca
n
e
n
g
a
g
e
w
it
h
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d

w
e
ca
n
a
ll
g
e
t
a
b
re
a
th

o
f
fr
e
sh

a
ir
o
n
h
o
t
su
m
m
e
r
d
a
y
s.

1
1
6

I
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

co
n
ti
n
u
a
ll
y
fo
r
1
8
y
e
a
rs
sp
e
n
d
in
g
m
a
n
y
h
a
p
p
y
h
o
u
rs
w
it
h
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
p
la
y
in
g
cr
ic
k
e
t,
ru
g
b
y
,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
te
n
n
is
,

b
u
il
d
in
g
sn
o
w
m
e
n
,
p
ic
n
ic
s,
ru
n
n
in
g
e
tc
.
A
s
a
fa
m
il
y
w
e
st
il
l
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

re
g
u
la
rl
y
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
in
cl
u
d
in
g
ru
n
n
in
g
a
n
d
te
n
n
is
.
M
y

w
if
e
a
n
d
I
w
a
lk
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
p
a
rk

e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
w
a
tc
h
in
g
g
a
m
e
s
o
f
cr
ic
k
e
t
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
.
In
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
it
ca
n
se
e
m

th
a
t

e
v
e
ry

sq
u
a
re

m
e
tr
e
is
u
se
d
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

m
u
ch

lo
v
e
d
b
y
lo
ca
ls
a
n
d
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
n
e
ss
e
n
ti
a
l
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e

re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
fo
r
th
e
se
n
io
r
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
o
u
r
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

1
1
7

I
a
m

a
re
g
u
la
r
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
ta
k
e
g
o
o
d
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
o
f
th
e
co
a
ch
in
g
a
n
d
p
ra
ct
ic
e
se
ss
io
n
s
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
a
n
d
th
e

re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
g
ro
u
n
d
.
In
th
is
h
e
a
v
il
y
b
u
il
t-
u
p
a
re
a
it
is
v
it
a
l
th
a
t
th
e
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
h
a
v
e
a
d
e
q
u
a
te

g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
.
T
h
e
g
ro
u
n
d
s
a
re

w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
a
ll
se
ct
io
n
s
o
f
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
it
s
lo
ss
w
il
l
a
ff
e
ct
th
e
li
ve
s
o
f
a
ll
in
th
e
lo
ca
li
ty
.

1
1
8

A
t
p
re
se
n
t
th
e
la
n
d
is
v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
v
is
it
o
rs
to

th
e
a
re
a
a
n
d
is
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

fo
r
p
e
o
p
le
to

e
n
jo
y
le
is
u
re

a
n
d
a
v
a
ri
e
ty

o
f
sp
o
rt
s
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s.

A
n
y
re
d
u
ct
io
n
w
o
u
ld
se
v
e
re
ly
a
ff
e
ct
th
e
w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
o
f
th
e
a
re
a
a
n
d
b
e
y
o
n
d
.

Page 47



1
1
9

S
u
p
p
o
rt
th
e
id
e
a
o
f
e
xp
a
n
d
in
g
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
b
u
t
n
o
t
a
t
th
e
co
st
o
f
lo
si
n
g
a
g
re
a
t
p
u
b
li
c
R
e
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
G
ro
u
n
d
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

a
lw
a
y
s
fu
ll
(w
h
e
n
it
d
o
e
sn
't
ra
in
),
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
in
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s.

R
e
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
y
o
u
n
g
fa
m
il
ie
s
e
n
jo
y
th
is
re
c
1
0
0
%
so

re
m
o
v
in
g
p
u
b
li
c

a
cc
e
ss
w
o
u
ld
h
u
rt
th
e
w
a
y
p
e
o
p
le
se
e
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
a
re
a
.
I
m
y
se
lf
p
ra
ct
ic
e
th
a
t
sp
o
rt
e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
w
it
h
m
y
w
if
e
a
n
d
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d

h
o
p
e
m
y
2
y
e
a
r
w
il
l
b
e
a
b
le
to

jo
in
so
o
n
.

1
2
0

W
e
w
a
lk
re
g
u
la
rl
y
ro
u
n
d
th
e
p
a
rk

a
lo
n
g
w
it
h
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
rs
,
so
m
e
o
f
w
h
o
m
jo
g
o
r
ru
n
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
in
b
o
th

su
m
m
e
r
a
n
d
w
in
te
r

b
y
b
o
th

fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t
te
a
m
s
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
h
a
v
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
o
r
cr
ic
k
e
t
co
a
ch
in
g
.
W
e
d
o
n
o
t
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
u
rs
e
lv
e
s
b
u
t
k
n
o
w

th
a
t
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
is
a
g
re
a
t
su
cc
e
ss
.
O
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
sp
e
n
t
m
a
n
y
h
a
p
p
y
y
e
a
rs
in
th
e
R
e
c
w
h
il
st
g
ro
w
in
g
u
p
a
n
d
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
lo
v
e
d

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

O
n
fi
n
e
su
m
m
e
r
d
a
y
s
m
a
n
y
fa
m
il
ie
s
h
a
v
e
p
ic
n
ic
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
C
o
n
ce
rn
e
d
a
b
o
u
t
lo
ss
o
f
p
a
v
il
io
n

u
se
,
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
to
il
e
ts
a
n
d
in
cr
e
a
se
d
n
o
is
e
in
th
e
ir
o
w
n
g
a
rd
e
n
.

1
2
1

O
b
je
ct

1
2
2

In
re
sp
o
n
d
in
g
to

a
re
si
d
e
n
t,
st
a
te
d
o
w
n
co
n
ce
rn
s
th
a
t
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
w
il
l
b
e
cr
a
m
p
e
d
a
n
d
th
a
t
th
e
p
ro
je
ct
is
h
a
v
in
g
a
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
im

p
a
ct

o
n
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

1
2
3

O
b
je
ct

1
2
4

I
a
m

a
re
g
u
la
r
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
w
e
w
o
u
ld
b
e
lo
st
if
th
e
y
w
e
re

n
o
m
o
re
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

a
lw
a
y
s
b
u
sy
,

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
a
t
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
a
n
d
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
m
o
n
th
s
la
te

in
to

th
e
e
v
e
n
in
g
s
a
n
d
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
a
lw
a
y
s
b
u
sy
.

T
h
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g
fi
e
ld
s
a
re

u
se
d
re
g
u
la
rl
y
b
y
th
e
cr
ic
k
e
t
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
te
a
m
s.

1
2
5

I
e
n
jo
y
w
a
lk
in
g
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
w
o
u
ld
n
o
t
li
k
e
co
n
st
ru
ct
io
n
w
o
rk
s
in
th
e
a
re
a
o
r
th
e
si
ze

o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

re
d
u
ce
d
.
It
is
cl
e
a
r
th
e

sc
h
o
o
lc
h
il
d
re
n
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
p
la
y
a
re
a
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
h
o
le
h
e
a
rt
e
d
ly
w
it
h
o
u
t
a
n
y
o
b
je
ct
io
n
fr
o
m

th
e
su
rr
o
u
n
d
in
g
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d

th
is
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
-s
ty
le
u
sa
g
e
sh
o
u
ld
co
n
ti
n
u
e
.

1
2
6

W
e
a
re

lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
w
h
o
o
ft
e
n
u
se

th
e
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
o
b
je
ct
to

th
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
.

1
2
7

I
a
m

a
re
g
u
la
r
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
o
b
je
ct
to

th
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
.

1
2
8

W
e
a
re

th
e
F
ri
e
n
d
s
o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
a
rk

w
h
o
a
re

a
g
ro
u
p
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
w
h
o
m
a
in
ly
li
v
e
lo
ca
ll
y
a
n
d
u
se

a
n
d
v
a
lu
e
th
e
R
e
c.

It
is
o
n
e
o
f

th
e
m
o
st
in
te
n
si
v
e
ly
u
se
d
p
a
rk
s
in
th
e
b
o
ro
u
g
h
p
ro
v
id
in
g
a
ra
n
g
e
o
f
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
fo
r
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s.

W
e
h
a
v
e
w
o
rk
e
d
a
lo
n
g
si
d
e

th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
to

im
p
ro
v
e
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
m
a
in
ta
in
it
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

T
h
e
p
u
b
li
c
u
se

o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
h
a
s
re
ce
n
tl
y
b
e
e
n
fa
r
h
e
a
v
ie
r
th
a
n

th
e
sp
o
ra
d
ic
sc
h
o
o
l
u
se

a
n
d
w
o
u
ld
b
e
lo
st
if
p
u
p
il
n
u
m
b
e
rs
d
o
u
b
le
.
B
y
n
o
st
re
tc
h
o
f
th
e
im

a
g
in
a
ti
o
n
ca
n
th
e
R
e
c
b
e
co
n
si
d
e
re
d

su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
T
h
e
F
ri
e
n
d
s
in
cl
u
d
e
p
e
o
p
le
w
h
o
p
la
y
a
w
id
e
v
a
ri
e
ty

o
f
te
a
m

a
n
d
co
m
p
e
ti
ti
v
e
sp
o
rt
s
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
w
a
lk
in
g

d
o
g
s,
jo
g
g
in
g
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
h
e
a
lt
h
y
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s.
S
o
m
e
w
il
l
b
e
v
e
ry

h
a
rd
-h
it
b
y
th
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
,
fo
r
e
xa
m
p
le
th
e
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
.
T
h
e

b
o
w
li
n
g
cl
u
b
tr
ie
d
to

p
la
y
o
n
a
ft
e
r
th
e
g
re
e
n
w
a
s
lo
ck
e
d
u
n
ti
l
la
ck

o
f
m
o
w
in
g
b
e
ca
m
e
to
o
g
re
a
t
a
p
ro
b
le
m
.
O
th
e
rs
e
n
jo
y
th
e

p
e
a
ce

o
f
th
e
ro
se

g
a
rd
e
n
w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
b
e
sh
a
tt
e
re
d
if
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
a
re
a
is
m
o
v
e
d
to

th
e
re
a
r
o
f
th
e
F
a
ir
la
w
n
a
n
d
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld

R
o
a
d
h
o
u
se
s
a
n
d
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
s
a
re

e
xt
e
n
d
e
d
.
S
p
o
rt
s
a
n
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
il
l
b
e
fu
rt
h
e
r
h
it
b
y
th
e
lo
ss
o
f
th
e

p
a
v
il
io
n
a
n
d
it
s
re
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t
w
it
h
a
m
u
ch

sm
a
ll
e
r
fa
ci
li
ty

w
it
h
in
fe
ri
o
r
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
sp
a
ce

o
n
a
n
u
p
p
e
r
fl
o
o
r
re
q
u
ir
in
g

li
ft
s
a
n
d
d
iv
o
rc
e
d
fr
o
m

th
e
p
la
y
in
g
a
re
a
s.

Page 48



1
2
9

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
.
I
w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
3
ti
m
e
s
a
d
a
y
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
tw

ic
e
w
e
e
k
ly
.
I
p
la
y
w
it
h
m
y
9
m
o
n
th

o
ld
in
th
e

p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
w
h
e
n
fr
ie
n
d
s
v
is
it
w
e
o
ft
e
n
g
o
a
n
d
si
t
in
th
e
P
a
rk

to
w
a
tc
h
th
e
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t,
a
n
d
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
w
e
e
n
jo
y

re
st
in
g
o
n
th
e
g
ra
ss
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
u
n
d
e
ru
se
d
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
h
a
v
e
a
cl
u
b
th
a
t
p
ro
v
id
e
s
fr
e
e
(o
r
a
lm

o
st
)
le
ss
o
n
s/
co
a
ch
in
g

w
h
ic
h
h
a
s
in
v
ig
o
ra
te
d
th
e
m
.
M
a
n
y
o
f
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
tr
a
v
e
l
fr
o
m

a
fa
r
to

m
a
k
e
u
se

o
f
th
is
fa
ci
li
ty
a
n
d
it
p
ro
v
id
e
s
w
e
e
k
ly
e
xe
rc
is
e
fo
r

in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
in
cl
u
d
in
g
m
y
se
lf
.
T
h
e
il
le
g
a
ll
y
cl
o
se
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
b
ro
u
g
h
t
a
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fe
e
li
n
g
to

th
e
P
a
rk
.

1
3
0

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

I
a
m

a
k
e
e
n
ru
n
n
e
r
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
tr
a
in
in
g
ru
n
s
o
n
a
v
e
ra
g
e
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
.
T
h
e
p
a
th

is
o
n
e
o
f
th
e

fe
w
fl
a
t,
tr
a
ff
ic
fr
e
e
p
la
ce
s
to

ru
n
sa
fe
ly
n
e
a
r
m
y
h
o
m
e
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

th
e
b
e
st
p
la
ce

lo
ca
ll
y
fo
r
a
n
in
fo
rm

a
l
g
a
m
e
.
T
h
e

b
ig
g
e
st
ch
a
ll
e
n
g
e
ca
n
b
e
fi
n
d
in
g
a
ti
m
e
w
h
e
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

n
o
t
a
lr
e
a
d
y
b
e
in
g
u
se
d
.

1
3
1

It
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
a
n
d
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

M
y
se
lf
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
u
se

it
fo
r
it
s
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
it
s
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
s.

1
3
2

It
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
a
n
d
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

W
e
a
re

a
fo
o
tb
a
ll
te
a
m

a
n
d
u
se

it
fo
r
it
s
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
it
is
co
n
st
a
n
tl
y
v
is
it
e
d
b
y

la
rg
e
n
u
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
w
id
e
r
p
u
b
li
c
fo
r
it
s
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
.

1
3
3

It
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
a
n
d
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

M
y
so
n
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
m
y
fa
m
il
y
u
se

it
fo
r
b
o
th

it
s
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s

it
s
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
.

1
3
4

It
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
a
n
d
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

M
y
se
lf
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
u
se

it
fo
r
it
s
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
it
s
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
s.

1
3
5

M
y
h
o
u
se

b
a
ck
s
o
n
to

th
e
re
c
so

I
h
a
v
e
se
e
n
fo
r
m
y
se
lf
h
o
w
p
o
p
u
la
r
th
is
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

is
.
W
e
e
k
e
n
d
s
a
re

v
e
ry

b
u
sy

w
it
h
a
w
id
e

ra
n
g
e
o
f
lo
ca
l
a
ct
iv
it
y
ta
ki
n
g
p
la
ce

a
n
d
th
e
n
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
w
e
e
k
,
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
q
u
ie
te
r,
th
e
re

is
a
co
n
st
a
n
t
fo
o
tf
a
ll
o
f
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
u
si
n
g

th
e
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

fo
r
sp
o
rt
a
n
d
re
la
xa
ti
o
n
.
Lo
ss
o
f
th
e
la
n
d
w
o
u
ld
d
e
p
ri
v
e
cu
rr
e
n
t
a
n
d
fu
tu
re

re
si
d
e
n
ts
o
f
a
p
e
a
ce
fu
l
o
p
e
n
a
re
a

th
a
t
sh
o
u
ld
b
e
p
re
se
rv
e
d
fo
r
a
ll
to

u
se
.

1
3
6

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
e
xt
e
n
si
ve
ly
b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
a
t
a
ll
ti
m
e
s
o
f
th
e
d
a
y
a
n
d
is
n
o
sp
a
ce

is
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.

1
3
7

I
a
m

a
lo
n
g
-t
e
rm

u
se
r
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
a
n
d
th
e
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
o
f
th
e
se

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
is
th
a
t
th
e
y
a
re

a
v
a
il
a
b
le
w
h
e
n
e
v
e
r

p
e
o
p
le
w
a
n
t
to

u
se

th
e
m

a
s
o
p
p
o
se
d
to

o
n
ly
o
u
ts
id
e
o
f
sc
h
o
o
l
h
o
u
rs
.
O
v
e
r
th
e
y
e
a
rs
I
h
a
v
e
o
ft
e
n
se
e
n
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
o
n
th
e

co
u
rt
s
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
w
e
e
k
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
a
n
d
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
o
u
ld
b
e
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
ly
im

p
a
ct
e
d
w
it
h
re
d
u
ce
d
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
.

1
3
8

T
h
is
la
n
d
is
u
se
d
b
y
m
e
a
n
d
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
,
a
s
o
u
r
fo
o
tb
a
ll
te
a
m

a
n
d
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
rs
a
cr
o
ss
th
e
lo
ca
l
a
re
a
re
q
u
ir
e
th
e
u
se

o
f

th
is
la
n
d
a
t
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
fo
r
sp
o
rt
a
n
d
le
is
u
re
.

1
3
9

O
b
je
ct

1
4
0

O
b
je
ct

1
4
1

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
re
q
u
ir
e
d
fo
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
u
se

b
y
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
in
cl
u
d
in
g
m
y
se
lf
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
w
h
o
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r

sp
o
rt
s
a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
.

1
4
2

O
b
je
ct

Page 49



1
4
3

O
b
je
ct

1
4
4

I
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
n
e
a
r
th
e
p
a
rk

a
ll
m
y
li
fe

a
n
d
n
o
w

I
o
ft
e
n
g
o
jo
g
g
in
g
,
p
la
y
w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
g
e
t
fu
ll
u
se

o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
th
ro
u
g
h

th
e
cl
u
b
a
n
d
in
m
y
o
w
n
fr
e
e
ti
m
e
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
d
a
y
w
h
e
n
I
a
m

n
o
t
a
t
u
n
iv
e
rs
it
y
.
In
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
m
o
n
th
s
th
e
p
a
rk

is
o
ft
e
n

co
m
p
le
te
ly
fu
ll
a
n
d
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
te
n
n
is
se
a
so
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

a
lw
a
y
s
b
e
in
g
u
se
d
.

1
4
5

W
e
se
e
th
e
R
e
c
b
e
in
g
u
se
d
so

fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
b
y
v
a
ri
o
u
s
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
e
v
e
ry

si
n
g
le
d
a
y
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
m
y
se
lf
a
n
d
m
y
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rs
,

a
lo
n
g
w
it
h
th
e
la
rg
e
ca
tc
h
m
e
n
t
a
re
a
fo
r
o
th
e
r
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
th
e
re
fo
re
,
a
n
y
ch
a
n
g
e
s
w
o
u
ld
a
ff
e
ct
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
in
o
u
r
a
re
a
,
n
o
t

fo
r
th
e
b
e
tt
e
r.

W
e
ca
n
se
e
th
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
th
e
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
s.

R
e
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
p
u
b
li
c
w
a
lk
,
ru
n
,
e
xe
rc
is
e
,
a
n
d

m
u
m
s
m
e
e
t
u
p
w
it
h
o
th
e
r
m
u
m
s.

1
4
6

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
u
se
d
e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
.
I
w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
sh
o
rt
ly
a
ft
e
r
9
a
m

a
n
d
in
th
e
e
a
rl
y
e
v
e
n
in
g
a
n
d
I
ca
n

te
st
if
y
b
e
si
d
e
s
m
y
se
lf
th
e
re

a
re

m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
u
si
n
g
th
e
a
re
a
.
M
o
st
m
o
rn
in
g
s
a
n
d
e
v
e
n
in
g
s
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y

se
e
p
e
o
p
le
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
e
it
h
e
r
fo
r
p
ra
ct
is
e
o
r
to
u
rn
a
m
e
n
ts
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
a
s
a
ls
o
u
se
d
fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
b
e
fo
re

it
s

cl
o
su
re
.

1
4
7

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
u
se
d
e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
.
I
w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
sh
o
rt
ly
a
ft
e
r
9
a
m

a
n
d
in
th
e
e
a
rl
y
e
v
e
n
in
g
a
n
d
I
ca
n

te
st
if
y
b
e
si
d
e
s
m
y
se
lf
th
e
re

a
re

m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
u
si
n
g
th
e
a
re
a
.
M
o
st
m
o
rn
in
g
s
a
n
d
e
v
e
n
in
g
s
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y

se
e
p
e
o
p
le
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
e
it
h
e
r
fo
r
p
ra
ct
is
e
o
r
to
u
rn
a
m
e
n
ts
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
a
s
a
ls
o
u
se
d
fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
b
e
fo
re

it
s

fo
rc
ib
le
cl
o
su
re
.

1
4
8

I
a
m

a
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
t
w
h
o
h
a
s
sp
e
n
t
m
a
n
y
a
h
a
p
p
y
h
o
u
r
p
la
y
in
g
w
it
h
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
in
,
o
r
jo
g
g
in
g
ro
u
n
d
,
th
e
p
a
rk
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d

e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
b
y
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
w
e
e
k
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
w
e
e
ke
n
d
s.

E
v
e
n
ta
k
in
g
a
sm

a
ll
se
ct
io
n
o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

w
il
l

sq
u
e
e
ze

th
e
o
th
e
r
u
se
rs
in
to

a
sp
a
ce

th
a
t
w
il
l
li
m
it
th
e
ir
a
b
il
it
y
to

u
se

a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
th
e
p
a
rk
.
T
h
e
re

is
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
ro
o
m

fo
r
a
cr
ic
k
e
t

m
a
tc
h
,
ta
g
ru
g
b
y
g
a
m
e
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
p
la
y
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
ll
a
t
th
e
sa
m
e
ti
m
e
.
B
u
il
d
in
g
o
n
th
is
la
n
d
w
il
l
b
e
d
a
m
a
g
in
g
to

th
e
w
h
o
le

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
It
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
lo
v
e
ly
to

se
e
so

m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
si
n
ce

th
e
n
e
ts
w
e
n
t
u
p
.
I
w
a
s
a
ls
o
p
la
n
n
in
g
to

jo
in
th
e
b
o
w
ls

cl
u
b
o
n
m
y
re
ti
re
m
e
n
t.

1
4
9

T
h
e
p
a
rk

is
h
ig
h
ly
p
o
p
u
la
te
d
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
y
e
a
r.

M
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
a
n
d
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
w
a
lk
in
g
,

jo
g
g
in
g
,
e
xe
rc
is
e
se
ss
io
n
s
a
n
d
g
e
n
e
ra
l
e
n
jo
y
m
e
n
t
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
ta
k
in
g
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
fa
m
il
y
to

th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y

a
re
a
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
(T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
p
ri
v
a
te

u
se
rs
).
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
a
ll
su
m
m
e
r
w
it
h

cr
ic
k
e
t
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
m
a
tc
h
e
s,
p
e
o
p
le
w
a
lk
in
g
d
o
g
s,
p
ic
n
ic
k
in
g
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g
w
it
h
th
e
ir
ch
il
d
re
n
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
ls
cl
u
b
w
a
s
b
o
th

w
e
ll

p
o
p
u
la
te
d
a
n
d
w
e
ll
lo
v
e
d
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

1
5
0

H
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
fo
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
u
se

fo
r
th
e
p
a
st
2
0
y
e
a
rs
.
T
h
e
y
a
re

a
g
re
a
t
w
a
y
to

m
e
e
t
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d

b
u
il
d
a
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

1
5
1

It
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
a
g
re
a
t
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
im

p
a
ct
o
n
re
si
d
e
n
ts
in
th
e
a
re
a
.
O
v
e
r
th
e
la
st
1
0
y
e
a
rs
I'
v
e
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se
d
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
e
d
th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r

p
la
y
in
g
sp
o
rt
,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
,
m
e
e
ti
n
g
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
jo
g
g
in
g
.

Page 50



1
5
2

W
e
a
re

fr
e
q
u
e
n
t
v
is
it
o
rs
to

th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
v
e
ry

h
e
a
v
il
y
u
se
d
.
T
h
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
sw

a
rm

in
g
in
th
e

su
m
m
e
r
m
o
n
th
s,
w
it
h
ch
il
d
re
n
o
ft
e
n
h
a
v
in
g
to

w
a
it
in
tu
rn

o
n
th
e
p
la
y
e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t;
th
e
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t
p
it
ch
e
s
a
re

o
ft
e
n

u
se
d
fo
r
a
d
u
lt
m
a
tc
h
e
s
a
t
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s,
so

w
e
te
n
d
to

u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
s
a
n
e
n
cl
o
se
d
p
la
y
a
re
a
a
n
d
fo
r
te
n
n
is
;
ch
il
d
re
n
ca
n

cy
cl
e
a
n
d
sc
o
o
t
in
sa
fe
ty
;
a
n
d
it
is
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
sp
a
ce

fo
r
fa
m
il
ie
s
w
it
h
o
u
t
g
a
rd
e
n
s.

1
5
3

W
e
a
re

a
lo
ca
l
fo
o
tb
a
ll
te
a
m

w
h
o
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
p
la
y
in
g
a
t
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
fo
r
y
e
a
rs
.
If
th
e
p
la
n
s
g
o
-a
h
e
a
d
w
e
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
to

re
-l
o
ca
te

m
id
w
a
y
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
se
a
so
n
w
h
ic
h
co
u
ld
m
e
a
n
w
e
h
a
v
e
to

fo
rf
e
it
th
e
se
a
so
n
o
r
e
v
e
n
fo
ld
a
s
a
te
a
m
.

1
5
4

O
v
e
r
th
e
y
e
a
rs
I
h
a
v
e
p
la
y
e
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
th
e
re
,
e
n
jo
ye
d
ru
n
n
in
g
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
so
ci
a
l
o
cc
a
si
o
n
s.

1
5
5

A
s
a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
re
c
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
I
u
se

th
e
a
re
a
o
n
a
re
g
u
la
r
b
a
si
s,
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
m
y
se
lf
a
n
d
w
it
h
m
y
y
o
u
n
g

d
a
u
g
h
te
r.

Lo
ss
o
f
fu
ll
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
a
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
a
ff
e
ct
o
n
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
a
re
a
.

1
5
6

I
a
m

a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
w
h
o
se

m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
h
a
s
in
cr
e
a
se
d
su
b
st
a
n
ti
a
ll
y
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
n
o
t
o
n
ly
b
y
te
n
n
is

p
la
y
e
rs
,
b
u
t
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
ru
g
b
y
,
cr
ic
k
e
t
te
a
m
s
a
n
d
m
a
n
y
,
m
a
n
y
m
o
re

m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
li
k
e
m
y
se
lf
.
O
v
e
r
th
e
y
e
a
rs
a
s
a
fa
m
il
y

w
e
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
a
re
a
,
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
to

w
a
lk
,
ru
n
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
,
a
n
d
re
ce
n
tl
y
to

re
cu
p
e
ra
te

fr
o
m

o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
s

a
n
d
il
ln
e
ss
e
s.

1
5
7

T
h
is
is
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
u
se
d
w
id
e
ly
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
a
s
u
se
d
b
e
fo
re

th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
re
m
o
v
e
d
th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
sm

a
n
,
a
n
d

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

m
o
re

w
id
e
ly
u
se
d
th
a
n
e
v
e
r.
F
o
o
tb
a
ll
e
rs
,
cr
ic
k
e
te
rs
,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
r,
ru
n
n
e
rs
a
n
d
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
u
se

th
e
a
re
a

d
a
il
y
.
I
p
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
y
u
se

it
fo
r
ru
n
n
in
g
,
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
w
it
h
m
y
G
o
d
so
n
.

1
5
8

T
h
e
R
e
c
p
ro
v
id
e
s
v
a
lu
a
b
le
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
o
u
td
o
o
r
b
o
w
li
n
g
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
fo
r
th
o
se

li
v
in
g
in
th
e
a
re
a
;
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
ch
il
d
re
n
st
a
rt
in
g
to

p
la
y

te
n
n
is
a
n
d
th
e
e
ld
e
rl
y
w
h
o
e
n
jo
y
b
o
w
ls
;
a
n
d
is
a
w
e
lc
o
m
e
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

in
th
e
a
re
a
.

1
5
9

U
p
se
t
a
b
o
u
t
lo
ss
o
f
th
is
vi
ta
l
le
is
u
re

sp
a
ce
.
M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
I
h
a
ve

u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

re
g
u
la
rl
y
.
M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
,
a
n
d
n
o
w
m
y
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n

u
se
d
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
lm

o
st
d
a
il
y
,
le
a
rn
e
d
to

ri
d
e
th
e
ir
b
ik
e
s,
jo
g
g
e
d
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
p
e
ri
m
e
te
r
p
a
th

a
n
d
a
ls
o
u
se
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

N
ic
e
to

se
e
a
th
ri
v
in
g
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
w
it
h
su
ch

a
w
id
e
ra
n
g
e
o
f
a
g
e
a
n
d
a
b
il
it
ie
s.
M
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
u
se
d
to

p
la
y
th
e
re

w
h
e
n
h
e
w
a
s

y
o
u
n
g
e
r.
In
th
e
w
in
te
r,
w
h
e
n
th
e
fi
e
ld
w
a
s
to
o
w
e
t
to

p
la
y
o
n
,
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
u
se
d
to

p
la
y
o
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s
u
p
to

a
b
o
u
t
2
0
0
9
w
h
e
n
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
st
a
rt
e
d
u
si
n
g
it
fo
r
b
a
ll
g
a
m
e
s
a
n
d
a
sk
e
d
u
s
to

le
a
v
e
.
I
th
in
k
fo
r
m
e
n
ta
l
h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
w
e
a
ll

n
e
e
d
g
re
e
n
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
s.

1
6
0

I
w
a
lk
p
a
st
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
a
n
d
I
k
n
o
w
w
h
o
w
e
ll
u
se
d
th
e
se

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
re
.
It
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
g
re
a
t
lo
ss

to
cu
rr
e
n
t
a
n
d
fu
tu
re

re
si
d
e
n
ts
.

Page 51



1
6
1

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
a
n
d
it
s
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
w
il
l
re
su
lt
in
th
e
lo
ss
o
f
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fa
ci
li
ty
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is

co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
m
o
re

b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
th
a
n
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
-
b
o
th

y
o
u
n
g
a
n
d
o
ld
d
u
ri
n
g
cl
u
b
co
a
ch
in
g
se
ss
io
n
s
a
n
d
o
u
ts
id
e
th
e
se

h
o
u
rs
.

T
h
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
,
o
f
w
h
ic
h
I
a
m

a
m
e
m
b
e
r,
p
ro
v
id
e
s
a
n
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
w
a
y
fo
r
p
e
o
p
le
to

p
la
y
th
e
sp
o
rt
.
T
h
e
p
a
rk

is

re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se
d
b
y
ru
n
n
e
rs
(i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
m
y
se
lf
a
n
d
m
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
r)
a
n
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
fo
r
o
th
e
r
sp
o
rt
s
to
o
a
s
th
e
h
a
rd

su
rf
a
ce

ca
n

b
e
u
se
d
w
h
e
n
th
e
fi
e
ld
is
w
a
te
rl
o
g
g
e
d
.
M
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
rs
h
a
v
e
a
ls
o
p
ra
ct
is
e
d
n
e
tb
a
ll
sk
il
ls
(d
e
sp
it
e
n
o
n
e
tb
a
ll
n
e
t)
a
n
d
m
y
so
n
le
a
rn
t

to
sk
a
te
b
o
a
rd

h
e
re
.
It
a
ls
o
p
ro
v
id
e
s
m
y
n
e
e
d
e
d
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

fo
r
p
e
o
p
le
w
it
h
sm

a
ll
g
a
rd
e
n
s
a
n
d
I
h
a
v
e
re
g
u
la
rl
y
m
e
t
u
p
w
it
h

fr
ie
n
d
s
fo
r
p
ic
n
ic
s
h
e
re
.
M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
re
g
u
la
rl
y
m
e
e
t
o
ld
fr
ie
n
d
s
h
e
re

a
s
it
is
a
sa
fe

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t.

1
6
2

I
a
m

a
d
a
il
y
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
R
e
c.

It
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
n
e
a
r
a
n
d
fa
r
a
n
d
th
e
re
fo
re

n
o
su
rp
lu
s.

1
6
3

T
h
is
la
n
d
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
v
is
it
o
rs
a
li
k
e
a
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

It
is
a
p
o
p
u
la
r
a
re
a
w
it
h
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
r,
fa
m
il
ie
s,
e
ld
e
rl
y

p
e
o
p
le
a
n
d
se
v
e
ra
l
sp
o
rt
s
te
a
m
s
a
n
d
cl
u
b
s.

It
s
lo
ss
w
il
l
b
e
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
to

th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

1
6
4

D
u
p
li
ca
te

o
f
n
o
.
8
5

1
6
5

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
b
y
m
a
n
y
a
n
d
is
a
n
ic
e
sp
a
ce
.

1
6
6

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
fr
o
m

fi
rs
t
th
in
g
in
th
e
m
o
rn
in
g
u
n
ti
l
d
a
rk

a
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
la
n
d
.
It
is
g
re
a
t
o
n
m
a
n
y
le
v
e
ls

fo
r
o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
sp
o
rt
,
re
la
xa
ti
o
n
,
p
la
y
,
w
a
lk
in
g
d
o
g
s,
so
ci
a
li
si
n
g
,
a
n
d
m
a
n
y
fi
tn
e
ss
tr
a
in
e
rs
a
ls
o
u
se

it
.
T
h
e
re

is
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
th
e
re

w
a
s
b
o
w
ls
u
n
ti
l
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
cl
o
se
d
it
.
T
h
e
re

is
a
ls
o
th
e
p
e
a
ce
fu
l
ro
se

g
a
rd
e
n
fo
r
th
o
se

w
h
o
w
a
n
t
to

si
t
q
u
ie
tl
y
.
I
m
y
se
lf
a
lo
n
g
w
it
h

m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
u
se

th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
to

ru
n
a
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
p
la
y
g
ro
u
p
.
T
h
e
M
e
rt
o
n
b
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
to

p
ra
ct
ic
e
a
n
d
b
o
th

w
o
u
ld
fi
n
d
it
d
if
fi
cu
lt
to

fi
n
d
a
n
o
th
e
r
v
e
n
u
e
.
T
h
e
re

w
o
u
ld
a
ls
o
b
e
a
lo
ss
o
f
m
a
n
y
b
e
a
u
ti
fu
l
m
a
tu
re

tr
e
e
s.

1
6
7

M
y
fa
m
il
y
re
g
u
la
rl
y
v
is
it
th
e
p
a
rk

to
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
o
n
a
w
e
e
k
ly
b
a
si
s.

W
e
fe
e
l
th
a
t
th
e
se

a
re
a
s

a
re

e
xt
re
m
e
ly
w
e
ll
u
se
d
.

1
6
8

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
It
is
u
se
d
co
n
st
a
n
tl
y
b
y
h
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
fo
r
le
is
u
re
,
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
n
d
sp
o
rt
.
T
h
e

b
o
w
li
n
g
cl
u
b
h
a
s
a
lr
e
a
d
y
b
e
e
n
re
lo
ca
te
d
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

a
lw
a
y
s
in
u
se

a
n
d
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
ca
n
h
a
v
e
o
v
e
r
0
0

p
e
o
p
le
in
it
o
n
a
n
y
o
n
e
ti
m
e
o
n
su
n
n
y
d
a
y
s.

A
s
a
fa
m
il
y
w
e
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
p
la
y
in
g
,
re
la
xi
n
g
a
n
d
cy
cl
in
g
.

1
6
9

I
h
a
v
e
e
n
jo
y
e
d
w
a
lk
in
g
in
th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
2
5
y
e
a
rs
.
In
m
y
e
xp
e
ri
e
n
ce

it
h
a
s
n
e
v
e
r
b
e
e
n
u
se
d
so

in
te
n
si
ve
ly
b
e
fo
re

a
n
d
b
y
so

m
a
n
y

p
e
o
p
le
w
it
h
d
if
fe
re
n
t
sp
o
rt
in
g
a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
in
te
re
st
s.

T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
re
g
u
la
rl
y
b
y
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
a
s
w
a
s

th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
u
n
ti
l
it
b
e
ca
m
e
im

p
o
ss
ib
le
d
u
e
to

la
ck

o
f
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
ce
.
T
h
e
re

is
n
o
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
th
a
t
is
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.

1
7
0

I
m
o
v
e
d
to

th
e
a
re
a
in
Ja
n
u
a
ry

a
n
d
w
a
lk
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
p
a
rk

re
g
u
la
rl
y
.
I
a
m

a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
a
n
d
h
a
ve

le
ss
o
n
s.

R
e
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
th
e
co
u
rt
s
w
o
u
ld
b
e
b
a
d
fo
r
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

Page 52



1
7
1

M
y
fa
m
il
y
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

m
o
st
d
a
y
s
-
th
e
p
la
y
a
re
a
,
th
e
b
ig
g
ra
ss
sp
a
ce

fo
r
ru
n
n
in
g
w
il
d
a
n
d
k
ic
k
in
g
a
b
a
ll
,
cy
cl
e
&
sc
o
o
t
sa
fe
ly
a
n
d

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
.
It
is
a
g
re
a
t
m
e
e
ti
n
g
p
o
in
t
a
ft
e
r
sc
h
o
o
l.
T
h
e
fo
o
tb
a
ll
co
a
ch
in
g
o
n
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
is
g
re
a
t
a
n
d
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
-
th
e
R
e
c
is

a
lw
a
y
s
b
u
sy

a
n
d
b
u
zz
in
g
w
it
h
lo
ca
l
fa
m
il
ie
s
o
n
S
a
tu
rd
a
y
m
o
rn
in
g
.
M
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
p
la
y
s
u
lt
im

a
te

F
ri
sb
e
e
w
it
h
h
is
m
a
te

a
t
le
a
st
o
n
ce

a
w
e
e
k
a
n
d
w
e
lo
v
e
th
e
fa
ct
w
e
ca
n
h
o
st
o
u
r
ch
u
rc
h
a
n
n
u
a
l
p
ic
n
ic
o
n
th
e
R
e
c
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
th
e
a
n
n
u
a
l
p
o
t
in
th
e
p
a
rk

co
m
p
e
ti
ti
o
n
.

W
e
h
a
v
e
a
ls
o
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
a
fe
w
p
a
rt
ie
s
in
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
.
I
a
ls
o
lo
ve

se
e
in
g
lo
ca
l
d
o
g
s
b
e
in
g
e
xe
rc
is
e
d
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
si
tt
in
g
o
n
th
e
g
ra
ss

w
a
tc
h
in
g
th
e
b
ir
d
s
w
it
h
m
y
y
o
u
n
g
so
n
.

1
7
2

I
a
m

a
fr
e
q
u
e
n
t
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d
b
e
li
e
v
e
st
ro
n
g
ly
th
a
t
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
d
v
e
rs
e
ly
a
ff
e
ct
e
d
b
y
th
is
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
.

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
w
e
ll
u
se

a
n
d
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

1
7
3

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
ce
n
tr
a
l
to

th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
.
M
y
so
n
u
se
s
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
w
it
h
h
is
n
a
n
n
y
,
a
n
d
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r

n
a
n
n
ie
s
w
h
o
co
m
e
fr
o
m
a
ll
o
v
e
r
M
e
rt
o
n
to

u
se

th
e
p
a
rk
.
W
e
h
a
v
e
fr
ie
n
d
s
w
h
o
li
v
e
a
ll
o
v
e
r
Lo
n
d
o
n
w
h
o
h
a
v
e
e
n
jo
y
e
d
th
is
sp
a
ce
.

T
h
e
re

w
a
s
a
lo
v
e
ly
se
n
se

o
f
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
h
e
n
w
e
h
a
d
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
.
I
h
a
v
e
m
e
t
m
a
n
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
in
th
e
p
a
rk

th
ro
u
g
h
w
a
lk
in
g

m
y
d
o
g
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
si
n
ce

b
e
e
n
in
v
o
lv
e
d
in
h
e
lp
in
g
to

p
la
n
t
tr
e
e
a
n
d
p
la
n
ts
e
tc
.
T
h
e
p
a
rk

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
in
cl
u
d
in
g
th
e

fo
o
tb
a
ll
e
rs
,
cr
ic
k
e
te
rs
,
ch
il
d
re
n
,
a
n
d
p
e
rs
o
n
a
l
tr
a
in
e
rs
.

1
7
4

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
It
is
m
u
ch

ch
e
ri
sh
e
d
a
n
d
in
te
n
si
v
e
ly
u
se
d
.

1
7
5

It
h
a
s
v
a
ri
e
d
a
n
d
co
n
si
st
e
n
t
u
se

b
y
a
ll
se
ct
io
n
s
o
f
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
:
fo
o
tb
a
ll
te
a
m
s,
ch
il
d
re
n
ri
d
in
g
b
ik
e
s,
p
e
o
p
le
e
xe
rc
is
in
g
a
n
d

ru
n
n
in
g
,
w
a
lk
in
g
d
o
g
s,
b
a
ll
g
a
m
e
s
e
tc
.
It
is
a
lw
a
ys

p
a
ck
e
d
a
t
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s.
N
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
sp
a
ce

in
th
e
p
la
n
is
su
rp
lu
s.

M
y
fa
m
il
y
,

in
cl
u
d
in
g
o
u
r
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
d
is
a
b
le
d
so
n
,
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

a
t
le
a
st
o
n
ce

a
w
e
e
k
.
M
y
so
n
is
le
a
rn
in
g
to

w
a
lk
a
g
a
in
a
n
d
th
e
p
a
rk

p
ro
v
id
e
s
a
co
m
p
a
ra
ti
v
e
ly
sa
fe

su
rf
a
ce

fo
r
h
im

.
M
o
st
o
f
u
s
h
a
ve

v
e
ry

sm
a
ll
g
a
rd
e
n
s
so

w
e
n
e
e
d
th
e
p
a
rk

a
s
it
is
so

th
a
t
ch
il
d
re
n

a
n
d
a
d
u
lt
s
ca
n
p
la
y
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
.

1
7
6

I
h
a
v
e
sp
e
n
t
a
lo
t
o
f
m
y
ti
m
e
g
ro
w
in
g
u
p
cy
cl
in
g
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
p
a
rk
,
p
la
y
in
g
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
in
g
g
e
n
e
ra
l

u
se

o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

a
s
a
w
h
o
le
.
It
o
ff
e
rs
re
si
d
e
n
ts
o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
a
n
d
th
e
su
rr
o
u
n
d
in
g
a
re

a
g
re
a
t
a
d
d
it
io
n
to

th
e
q
u
a
li
ty
o
f
li
fe
.

1
7
7

O
n
e
o
f
th
e
fe
w
p
le
a
su
re
s
o
f
li
v
in
g
w
h
e
re

w
e
d
o
is
o
u
r
cl
o
se

p
ro
xi
m
it
y
to

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c,
to

b
e
a
b
le
to

sh
a
re

th
e
co
m
m
u
n
a
l

p
le
a
su
re

th
a
t
th
e
la
n
d
g
iv
e
s
to

th
e
d
is
p
a
ra
te

p
e
o
p
le
w
h
o
u
se

it
.
E
v
e
ry

d
a
y
w
e
se
e
p
e
o
p
le
u
si
n
g
th
e
e
n
ti
re

a
re
a
-
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
,

te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
p
it
ch
e
s
a
n
d
p
a
th
w
a
y
s;
it
is
n
o
w
th
e
so
le
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
a
l
o
u
td
o
o
r
a
re
a
th
a
t
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
ca
n
sh
a
re

a
s
w
e

e
n
jo
y
th
e
p
e
a
ce
,
fr
e
sh

a
ir
a
n
d
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
it
o
ff
e
rs
.
T
h
e
sp
a
ce

is
ce
rt
a
in
ly
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s.

1
7
8

O
b
je
ct

1
7
9

T
h
e
‘P
ro
te
ct
th
e
R
e
c’
g
ro
u
p
st
a
te
d
th
a
t
th
e
re

is
n
o
e
v
id
e
n
ce

th
a
t
th
e
la
n
d
is
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
a
s
a
ll
th
e
e
v
id
e
n
ce

su
g
g
e
st
s

th
a
t
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
u
se
s
th
e
la
n
d
e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
fo
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
.
T
h
e
ir
re
sp
o
n
se

li
st
e
d
e
v
id
e
n
ce

fr
o
m

LB
M
e
rt
o
n
’s
d
o
cu
m
e
n
ts

in
cl
u
d
in
g
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l’
s
p
la
n
n
in
g
co
m
m
it
te
e
re
p
o
rt
,
it
s
O
p
e
n
S
p
a
ce
s
S
tr
a
te
g
y
a
n
d
it
s
S
p
o
rt
s
P
it
ch

st
ra
te
g
y
,
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
so
u
rc
e
s.

T
h
e
y
st
a
te
d
th
a
t
M
e
rt
o
n
ca
n
h
a
v
e
n
o
a
w
a
re
n
e
ss
o
f
th
e
le
v
e
l
o
f
u
se

o
f
th
e
g
e
n
e
ra
l
u
se

o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

o
r
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
s
th
e
re

is
n
o

m
e
ch
a
n
is
m

fo
r
b
o
o
k
in
g
th
e
co
u
rt
s,
a
n
d
su
g
g
e
st
e
d
th
e
y
h
a
d
so
m
e
e
v
id
e
n
ce

th
a
t
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
e
re

u
se
d
e
xt
e
n
si
v
e
ly
.
T
h
e
y

p
ro
v
id
e
d
so
m
e
le
g
a
l
a
d
v
ic
e
th
a
t
th
e
re

is
n
o
p
ro
v
is
io
n
in
th
e
Lo
ca
l
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t
A
ct
fo
r
a
co
u
n
te
rv
a
il
in
g
fa
ct
o
r
to

a
ll
o
w
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l

Page 53



to
co
n
si
d
e
r
w
h
e
th
e
r
th
e
la
n
d
is
re
q
u
ir
e
d
m
o
re

fo
r
so
m
e
th
in
g
e
ls
e
.
If
it
is
re
q
u
ir
e
d
fo
r
it
s
cu
rr
e
n
t
u
se

th
e
n
it
w
o
u
ld
b
e

u
n
re
a
so
n
a
b
le
to

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

a
n
d
su
ch

a
d
e
ci
si
o
n
w
o
u
ld
b
e
ch
a
ll
e
n
g
e
d
in
co
u
rt
o
r
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
LG

O
.
T
h
e
y
cl
a
im

th
a
t
th
e
le
g
a
l
te
st

fo
r
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
is
w
h
e
th
e
r
th
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
n
e
e
d
e
d
,
in
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
in
te
re
st
o
f
th
e
lo
ca
li
ty
,
a
s
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
.
In
o
th
e
r
w
o
rd
s,
it

h
a
s
to

b
e
in
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
in
te
re
st
fo
r
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

to
b
e
lo
st
:
th
e
re

is
n
o
p
ro
v
is
io
n
fo
r
th
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
n
g
a
u
th
o
ri
ty

to

co
n
si
d
e
r
w
h
e
th
e
r
a
n
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
u
se

is
m
o
re

in
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
in
te
re
st
th
a
n
th
e
p
ro
ve
n
e
xi
st
in
g
u
se
.
S
u
ch

a
co
n
si
d
e
ra
ti
o
n
w
o
u
ld

th
e
re
fo
re

b
e
ir
re
le
v
a
n
t
to

th
e
d
e
ci
si
o
n
.
T
h
e
y
su
g
g
e
st
e
d
th
a
t
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
ca
n
n
o
t
b
e
u
se
d
to

o
v
e
r-
ri
d
e
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
ri
g
h
ts
w
h
e
re

th
e
p
u
b
li
c
o
b
je
ct
s
a
n
d
th
a
t
C
a
b
in
e
t
sh
o
u
ld
th
e
re
fo
re

b
e
a
d
v
is
e
d
th
a
t
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
is
n
o
t
le
g
a
ll
y
p
e
rm

is
si
b
le
.

1
8
0

It
is
a
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
a
n
d
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
n
e
e
d
it
fo
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
p
u
rp
o
se
s.

I
u
se

th
e
a
re
a
re
g
u
la
rl
y
m
y
se
lf

w
h
e
n
ru
n
n
in
g
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
R
e
c
to

k
e
e
p
fi
t.

W
h
e
n
o
u
t
a
n
d
a
b
o
u
t
I
n
o
ti
ce

fa
m
il
ie
s
a
n
d
re
si
d
e
n
ts
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
v
e
ry

o
ft
e
n
.

T
h
e
te
n
n
is
le
ss
o
n
s
a
re

a
ls
o
v
e
ry

p
o
p
u
la
r
w
it
h
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
a
d
u
lt
s.

T
h
e
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
th
e
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
re

d
e
si
g
n
e
d
fo
r
a
ll

g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
a
n
d
su
p
p
o
rt
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
co
h
e
si
o
n
.

1
8
1

It
is
a
v
it
a
l
lo
ca
l
a
m
e
n
it
y
a
n
d
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
,
v
a
lu
e
d
b
y
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
.
M
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
u
se

th
is
a
m
e
n
it
y
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
,
a
n
d
sh
o
u
ld
b
e
a
b
le

to
d
o
so

in
th
e
fu
tu
re
.

1
8
2

T
e
m
p
la
te

W
e
cy
cl
e
,
w
a
lk
a
n
d
ru
n
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
p
a
rt
.
W
e
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
w
h
e
n
th
e
y
a
re

a
v
a
il
a
b
le
.
S
e
e
m
s

a
b
so
lu
te
ly
st
u
p
id
th
a
t
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
il
l
lo
se

a
cc
e
ss
to

th
is
la
n
d
o
v
e
r
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
/e
v
e
n
in
g
s
in
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r.

1
8
3

O
b
je
ct
.
G
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

is
p
re
ci
o
u
s.

1
8
4

O
v
e
rw

h
e
lm

in
g
e
v
id
e
n
ce

th
a
t
th
is
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
is
e
xc
e
e
d
in
g
ly
w
e
ll
u
se
d
fo
r
it
s
p
re
se
n
t
p
u
rp
o
se
,
v
iz
a
p
u
b
li
c
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
g
ro
u
n
d
.

T
h
e
co
u
n
ci
l
h
a
v
e
e
st
im

a
te
d
a
b
o
u
t
2
5
0
,0
0
0
p
e
o
p
le
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
e
v
e
ry

y
e
a
r
a
n
d
th
a
t
le
tt
in
g
s
o
f
th
e
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
b
ri
n
g
in
so
m
e

£
3
0
K
p
.a
.
T
h
e
re

a
re

a
ls
o
o
v
e
r
2
0
0
p
it
ch

h
ir
in
g
's
p
.a
.
b
y
te
a
m
s
w
h
ic
h
u
se

th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
.
T
h
e
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
o
f
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l'
s
e
xi
st
in
g

u
sa
g
e
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
is
b
la
ta
n
tl
y
fa
ls
e
-
m
y
h
o
m
e
o
ff
ic
e
h
a
s
a
n
e
xc
e
ll
e
n
t
v
ie
w
o
f
th
e
'a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
sp
a
ce
',
a
n
d
I
ca
n

ca
te
g
o
ri
ca
ll
y
st
a
te

th
a
t
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

n
o
t
u
se
d
fo
r
m
o
re

th
a
n
a
b
o
u
t
1
to

2
h
o
u
rs
p
e
r
d
a
y
b
y
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l,
a
n
d
th
e
n
o
n
ly
in

g
o
o
d
w
e
a
th
e
r,
m
a
in
ly
fo
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
n
d
so
ft
b
a
ll
,
b
e
ca
u
se

th
e
n
e
ts
a
re

o
f
co
u
rs
e
to
o
h
ig
h
fo
r
y
o
u
n
g
ch
il
d
re
n
.
I
h
a
v
e
n
e
v
e
r
se
e
n

p
ri
m
a
ry

sc
h
o
o
l
ch
il
d
re
n
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
fo
r
te
n
n
is
.
I
a
m

a
ls
o
a
b
le
to

o
b
se
rv
e
th
a
t
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

in
fr
e
q
u
e
n
t
u
se

d
u
ri
n
g
sc
h
o
o
l
h
o
u
rs
b
y
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c,
e
v
e
n
in
in
cl
e
m
e
n
t
w
e
a
th
e
r.

A
b
o
u
t
5
0
%
o
f
th
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
a
re
a
in
cl
u
d
e
s

fo
o
tp
a
th
s,
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
p
a
rt
s
n
o
w
se
t
o
u
t
fo
r
sp
e
ci
fi
c
sp
o
rt
s
u
se
.
T
h
e
se

a
re
a
s
a
re

in
a
lm

o
st
co
n
st
a
n
t
u
se

b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c

d
u
ri
n
g
d
a
y
li
g
h
t
h
o
u
rs
,
fr
o
m

d
a
w
n
(j
o
g
g
e
rs
)
u
n
ti
ld
u
sk
,
in
a
ll
w
e
a
th
e
rs
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
a
s
in
u
se

u
n
ti
l
Ju
n
e
w
h
e
n
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l

st
o
p
p
e
d
cu
tt
in
g
th
e
g
ra
ss
.

1
8
5

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
n
e
e
d
.
It
is
a
b
u
n
d
a
n
tl
y
cl
e
a
r
th
a
t
it
is
h
e
a
v
il
y
u
se
d
b
y
a
ll
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
im

m
e
d
ia
te

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
b
e
y
o
n
d
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

e
xt
re
m
e
ly
w
e
ll
u
se
d
g
e
n
e
ra
ll
y
b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c,
a
s
w
a
s
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
u
n
ti
l
th
e

C
o
u
n
ci
l
to
o
k
it
o
u
t
o
f
co
m
m
is
si
o
n
.

1
8
6

M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
re

re
g
u
la
r
u
se
rs
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
T
h
e
p
la
yg
ro
u
n
d
is
a
p
o
p
u
la
r
sa
fe

sp
a
ce

w
h
e
re

k
id
s
ca
n
e
xp
lo
re
,

cl
im

b
a
n
d
p
la
y
a
n
d
fa
m
il
ie
s
ca
n
so
ci
a
li
se
.

Page 54



1
8
7

I
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
re
g
u
la
rl
y
si
n
ce

m
o
v
in
g
in
to

th
e
W
a
rd

7
y
e
a
rs
a
g
o
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s

th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
th
e
sp
o
rt
s
p
a
v
il
io
n
a
re

a
g
re
a
t
a
ss
e
t
to

th
e
a
re
a
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
in
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r
a
re

v
e
ry

b
u
sy

a
t
ti
m
e
s.

T
h
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
b
y
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
.
T
h
e
y
a
re

ce
rt
a
in
ly
n
o
t
's
u
rp
lu
s'
.

1
8
8

It
is
a
m
u
ch

lo
v
e
d
a
n
d
m
u
ch

u
se
d
fa
ci
li
ty
fo
r
a
ll
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
m
y
fa
m
il
y
.
W
e
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se

th
e
p
la
y
p
a
rk
,
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g

fi
e
ld
s
a
n
d
se
e
th
e
m

fu
ll
y
o
cc
u
p
ie
d
b
y
o
th
e
r
re
si
d
e
n
ts
.

1
8
9

T
h
e
re

is
a
cl
e
a
r
lo
ca
l
d
e
m
a
n
d
fo
r
th
is
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
n
o
b
a
si
s
fo
r
su
g
g
e
st
in
g
it
is
su
rp
lu
s.
T
h
e
re

h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
m
a
ss
iv
e
g
ro
w
th

in

re
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
in
th
e
a
re
a
si
n
ce

th
e
co
v
e
n
a
n
t
in
1
8
9
3
,
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
in
re
ce
n
t
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
m
o
st
p
e
o
p
le
h
a
v
e
sm

a
ll
o
r
n
o
g
a
rd
e
n
s.

It
is
o
b
v
io
u
s
th
a
t
th
e
se

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
in
cr
e
a
se

th
e
n
e
e
d
fo
r
lo
ca
l
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
sp
a
ce
.
I
a
m

a
re
g
u
la
r
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d
it
is
o
n
e

o
f
th
e
re
a
so
n
s
I
h
a
v
e
st
a
y
e
d
in
th
is
a
re
a
.
It
is
a
w
e
ll
-l
o
v
e
d
,
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
a
m
e
n
it
y
fo
r
a
ll
a
g
e
g
ro
u
p
s,
a
n
d
is
a
t
th
e
h
e
a
rt
o
f

th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
I
h
a
v
e
m
e
t
a
h
u
g
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
re
si
d
e
n
ts
th
ro
u
g
h
w
a
lk
in
g
m
y
d
o
g
.
I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
m
o
st
d
a
y
s,
3
ti
m
e
s
a
d
a
y

w
h
e
n
I
w
o
rk

fr
o
m

h
o
m
e
,
w
a
lk
in
g
m
y
d
o
g
a
n
d
n
o
ti
ce

h
o
w
m
u
ch

th
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
b
y
d
if
fe
re
n
t
a
g
e
g
ro
u
p
s
a
t
a
ll
ti
m
e
s
o
f
d
a
y
.

A
m
e
n
it
ie
s
su
ch

a
s
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
re

cr
u
ci
a
l.
A
n
y
o
n
e
w
h
o
w
a
lk
s
p
a
st
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
o
n
a
n
y
d
a
y
o
f
th
e
w
e
e
k
ca
n
se
e
th
e
re

is
cl
e
a
rl
y
a
h
u
g
e
lo
ca
l
d
e
m
a
n
d
fo
r
th
e
se

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

It
is
cr
u
ci
a
l
th
a
t
th
e
ro
se

g
a
rd
e
n
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
a
re
a
s
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
re
m
a
in
in
te
g
ra
te
d

a
n
d
e
a
si
ly
a
cc
e
ss
ib
le
.

1
9
0

I
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y
(w
it
h
so
n
s
a
g
e
d
5
a
n
d
3
)
re
g
u
la
rl
y
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
n
M
o
n
d
a
y
,
T
u
e
sd
a
y
,
T
h
u
rs
d
a
y
e
v
e
n
in
g
,
F
ri
d
a
y
e
v
e
n
in
g
,
S
a
tu
rd
a
y

m
o
rn
in
g
a
n
d
S
u
n
d
a
y
m
o
rn
in
g
.
W
e
a
ls
o
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
m
o
re

d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
h
o
li
d
a
y
s.
W
e
w
o
u
ld
b
e
v
e
ry

sa
d
it
th
e
y

w
e
re

ta
k
e
n
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

p
u
b
li
c
u
se
.

1
9
1

It
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
a
b
ro
a
d
cr
o
ss
-s
e
ct
io
n
o
f
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fr
o
m

a
ll
a
g
e
g
ro
u
p
s
a
n
d
fo
rm

s
a
b
re
a
th
in
g
sp
a
ce

in
a
b
u
il
t-
u
p
a
re
a
.
T
h
e

fr
e
q
u
e
n
t
lo
ss
o
f
u
se

o
f
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
w
il
l
a
ls
o
m
e
a
n
th
e
lo
ss
o
f
to
il
e
t
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

1
9
2

T
h
e
le
v
e
l
o
f
co
u
rt
u
se

is
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
h
ig
h
-
m
y
fa
m
il
y
h
a
v
e
p
la
y
e
d
te
n
n
is
th
e
re

co
n
st
a
n
tl
y
si
n
ce

m
o
v
in
g
h
e
re

2
y
e
a
rs
a
g
o
.
W
e
a
re

m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
a
n
d
th
is
is
o
f
m
a
ss
iv
e
b
e
n
e
fi
t.

O
u
r
3
ch
il
d
re
n
p
la
y
m
o
re

th
a
n
o
n
ce

a
w
e
e
k
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
re
ce
iv
e
d
fr
e
e

co
a
ch
in
g
.

1
9
3

I
a
m

a
ct
iv
e
ly
in
v
o
lv
e
d
in
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
a
n
d
o
b
je
ct
to

o
u
r
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
b
e
in
g
ta
k
e
n
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

th
e
h
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
m
e
m
b
e
rs
w
h
o

u
se

th
e
m

e
v
e
ry

si
n
g
le
d
a
y
.
T
h
e
y
a
re

n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.
M
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
a
re

se
v
e
re
ly
a
n
d
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
ll
y
a
ff
e
ct
e
d
b
y
th
e

cl
o
su
re

o
f
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
b
y
th
o
u
sa
n
d
s
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
e
v
e
ry

m
o
n
th
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
m
y
se
lf
,
m
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s,

b
o
th

w
it
h
in
th
e
U
K
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
o
u
ts
id
e
th
e
U
K
.
T
h
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
n
e
e
d
s
th
is
sp
a
ce
.

1
9
4

T
h
e
p
ro
p
o
se
d
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
w
o
u
ld
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
ly
im

p
a
ct
o
n
th
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
o
u
r
fa
m
il
ie
s.

1
9
5

O
b
je
ct
.

1
9
6

M
y
fa
m
il
y
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
in
th
e
W
a
rd

fo
r
3
0
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

se
v
e
ra
l
ti
m
e
s
a
w
e
e
k
.
W
e
h
a
v
e
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s

a
n
d
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
e
v
e
n
ts
in
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
.
S
o
m
e
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

b
u
sy

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
w
e
e
k
.
It
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a

p
le
a
su
re

o
v
e
r
th
e
y
e
a
rs
w
a
tc
h
in
g
th
e
b
o
w
ls
b
e
fo
re

th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
cl
o
se
d
it
d
o
w
n
.
W
it
h
o
u
t
th
e
a
ct
iv
it
y
o
f
lo
ca
l
v
o
lu
n
te
e
rs
,
th
e
p
a
rk

w
o
u
ld
g
o
to

ru
in
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
is
p
re
ci
o
u
s
a
n
d
sh
o
u
ld
n
o
t
b
e
ta
k
e
n
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

th
e
h
a
rd

w
o
rk
in
g
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

Page 55



1
9
7

It
is
th
e
b
e
st
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
g
ro
u
n
d
I
h
a
v
e
e
v
e
ry

b
e
e
n
in
a
n
d
I
h
a
v
e
v
e
ry

fo
n
d
m
e
m
o
ri
e
s
th
e
re
.
It
is
v
it
a
l
th
a
t
su
ch

sp
a
ce
s
a
re

p
re
se
rv
e
d
a
n
d
n
o
t
ta
k
e
n
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

1
9
8

I
a
m

a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
a
n
d
a
tt
e
n
d
co
a
ch
in
g
se
ss
io
n
s
a
t
le
a
st
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
.
I
a
ls
o
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se

th
e
co
u
rt
s
to

p
la
y

te
n
n
is
a
ft
e
r
w
o
rk

a
n
d
a
t
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
m
e
t
n
e
w
fr
ie
n
d
s.

It
is
a
n
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
ss
e
t
w
h
ic
h
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y

m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
p
a
v
il
io
n
a
re

w
e
ll
u
se
d

e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
a
t
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s
a
n
d
d
u
ri
n
g
sc
h
o
o
l
h
o
li
d
a
y
s
a
n
d
a
k
e
y
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fo
ca
l
p
o
in
t.
H
o
w
e
v
e
r
I
d
o
fe
e
l
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is

cl
u
b
sh
o
u
ld
g
e
t
p
ri
o
ri
ty

o
v
e
r
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
h
e
n
co
a
ch
in
g
se
ss
io
n
s
a
re

ta
k
in
g
p
la
ce
.
If
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
e
re

re
m
o
v
e
d
I

w
o
u
ld
h
a
v
e
to

tr
a
v
e
l
fu
rt
h
e
r
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
n
o
r
w
o
u
ld
I
b
e
a
b
le
to

a
tt
e
n
d
w
e
e
k
ly
co
a
ch
in
g
se
ss
io
n
s
o
r
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
so
ci
a
ll
y
w
it
h
m
y

fr
ie
n
d
s
in
th
e
e
v
e
n
in
g
s
o
r
a
t
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s.

I
w
o
u
ld
n
o
t
b
e
a
b
le
to

a
ff
o
rd

to
p
la
y
sp
o
rt
a
s
o
ft
e
n
.

1
9
9

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
p
ro
v
id
e
d
a
d
e
ta
il
e
d
re
sp
o
n
se

w
h
ic
h
in
cl
u
d
e
d
a
re
p
o
rt
d
a
te
d
7
Ja
n
u
a
ry

2
0
1
3
“D

u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
cr
e
a
ti
o
n

G
ro
u
n
d
T
e
n
n
is
C
o
u
rt
s:
H
o
w
th
e
re
d
u
ct
io
n
in
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
w
il
l
a
ff
e
ct
lo
ca
ld
e
m
a
n
d
fo
r
te
n
n
is
”.
T
h
e
ir
re
sp
o
n
se

st
a
te
d
th
a
t
2
4
7

m
e
m
b
e
rs
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
d
u
ri
n
g
w
e
e
k
d
a
y
s
a
n
d
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s
a
ll
y
e
a
r
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
th
a
t
m
o
re

th
a
n
1
0
0
0
ch
il
d
re
n
a
re

b
e
n
e
fi
ti
n
g

fr
o
m

th
e
ir
‘O
ly
m
p
ic
Le
g
a
cy
’
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
a
n
d
w
it
h
o
u
t
fu
ll
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
e
co
u
rt
s
th
e
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
to

st
o
p
.
T
h
e
ir
re
sp
o
n
se

st
a
te
d
th
a
t
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
b
y
th
e
cl
u
b
fo
r
5
3
h
o
u
rs
p
e
r
w
e
e
k
,
w
it
h
a
b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
a
s
fo
ll
o
w
s:
M
o
n
d
a
y
to

F
ri
d
a
y
(8
a
m

to
6
p
m
),

co
a
ch
e
d
se
ss
io
n
s
(1
8
h
o
u
rs
p
e
r
w
e
e
k
),
co
m
p
e
ti
ti
v
e
m
a
tc
h
e
s
(4

h
o
u
rs
p
e
r
w
e
e
k
),
in
fo
rm

a
l
g
a
m
e
s
1
0
h
o
u
rs
(a
v
e
ra
g
e
).
O
n

S
a
tu
rd
a
y
s
a
n
d
S
u
n
d
a
y
s
th
e
y
st
a
te
d
it
w
a
s
co
a
ch
e
d
se
ss
io
n
s
(7

h
o
u
rs
p
e
r
w
e
e
k
),
co
m
p
e
ti
ti
v
e
m
a
tc
h
e
s
(6

h
o
u
rs
p
e
r
w
e
e
k
),

in
fo
rm

a
l
g
a
m
e
s
8
h
o
u
rs
(a
v
e
ra
g
e
).
T
h
e
y
re
p
o
rt
e
d
a
su
rv
e
y
o
f
th
e
ir
m
e
m
b
e
rs
st
a
ti
n
g
th
a
t
4
2
%
p
la
y
d
u
ri
n
g
w
e
e
k
d
a
y
m
o
rn
in
g
s
a
n
d

2
5
%
p
la
y
w
e
e
k
d
a
y
a
ft
e
rn
o
o
n
s

2
0
0

O
b
je
ct

2
0
1

It
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
-
it
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
I
a
m

a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
.

2
0
2

T
e
m
p
la
te

M
y
fa
m
il
y
w
o
u
ld
o
ft
e
n
g
o
to

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
to

p
la
y
a
g
a
m
e
w
it
h
e
a
ch

o
th
e
r
o
r
w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s.

T
h
is
is
a
g
o
o
d
p
la
ce

to
m
a
k
e
n
e
w

fr
ie
n
d
s
in
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y.

R
e
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
w
o
u
ld
ta
k
e
a
w
a
y
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
o
f
a
fr
ie
n
d
ly
,
u
n
it
e
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

2
0
3

I
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
w
a
lk
in
g
m
y
d
o
g
th
e
re

fo
r
m
a
n
y
y
e
a
rs
,
m
e
e
ti
n
g
u
p
w
it
h
m
a
n
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
li
v
in
g
in
th
e
a
re
a
fo
r
a
ch
a
t.
It
is
a
n
in
cr
e
d
ib
le

sp
a
ce

to
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
g
o
o
d
d
is
ta
n
ce

a
ro
u
n
d
w
it
h
o
u
t
fe
a
r
o
f
tr
a
ff
ic
,
a
cc
id
e
n
ts
a
n
d
cr
o
w
d
s.

I
h
a
v
e
re
ce
n
tl
y
b
e
e
n
a
d
v
is
e
d
to

ta
k
e
u
p
a

h
ig
h
im

p
a
ct
sp
o
rt
(e
.g
.
te
n
n
is
),
so

th
e
re
d
u
ct
io
n
in
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
il
l
b
e
a
b
lo
w
to

m
y
fu
tu
re

h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
a
s
cl
u
b
s
co
st

to
o
m
u
ch
.

2
0
4

M
y
6
y
e
a
r
o
ld
so
n
h
a
s
e
n
jo
y
e
d
u
si
n
g
th
e
co
u
rt
s
o
v
e
r
th
e
p
a
st
y
e
a
rs
.
H
e
e
n
jo
y
s
it
b
e
ca
u
se

h
e
g
o
e
s
to

S
t
M
a
ry
's
w
h
e
re

o
u
td
o
o
r

sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
re

e
xt
re
m
e
ly
li
m
it
e
d
,
if
n
o
t
n
o
n
-e
xi
st
e
n
t.

2
0
5

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
in
a
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
w
a
y
s
-
fo
r
w
a
lk
s
w
it
h
m
y
n
e
w
b
o
rn

d
a
u
g
h
te
r,
to

p
la
y
sp
o
rt
s
w
it
h
m
y
n
e
p
h
e
w
a
n
d
fo
r
jo
g
g
in
g
.
T
h
e

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
w
o
u
ld
re
d
u
ce

th
e
sp
a
ce

fo
r
w
a
lk
in
g
a
n
d
jo
g
g
in
g
.
I
a
ls
o
in
te
n
d
m
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
r
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
a
t
th
e
lo
ca
l
cl
u
b
in
a

co
u
p
le
o
f
y
e
a
rs
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

co
n
st
a
n
tl
y
in
u
se
.

Page 56



2
0
6

I
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
fo
r
th
e
cl
u
b
.
I
u
se

th
e
co
u
rt
s
tw

o
n
ig
h
ts
a
w
e
e
k
a
n
d
o
n
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
.

2
0
7

O
b
je
ct
to

th
e
lo
ss
o
f
a
m
e
n
it
ie
s
to

lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
.

2
0
8

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
o
n
a
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s
a
n
d
I
co
n
si
d
e
r
it
a
k
e
y
p
a
rt
o
f
m
y
d
a
il
y
li
fe

a
n
d
w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
g
o
a
g
re
a
t
w
a
y
to

co
n
ti
n
u
e
th
e
Lo
n
d
o
n
O
ly
m
p
ic
le
g
a
cy

a
n
d
th
is
is
cr
it
ic
a
l
to

m
a
in
ta
in
a
h
e
a
lt
h
y
a
n
d
h
a
p
p
y
so
ci
e
ty

in
th
is
a
re
a
.

2
0
9

O
b
je
ct
a
s
p
e
r
o
b
je
ct
io
n
to

La
n
d
s
tr
ib
u
n
a
l.
T
h
e
re

is
su
b
st
a
n
ti
a
l
b
e
n
e
fi
t
a
n
d
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
in
th
e
p
a
rk
.
M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
co
u
n
tl
e
ss

o
th
e
rs
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
.

2
1
0

F
o
r
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
th
is
g
ro
u
n
d
is
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
v
e
ry

fe
w
w
h
e
re

so
m
a
n
y
d
if
fe
re
n
t
sp
o
rt
s
a
re

su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
.

2
1
1

O
b
je
ct
-
a
m

a
fr
e
q
u
e
n
t
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
r
th
e
re
.

2
1
2

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
u
se
d
o
n
a
re
g
u
la
r
b
a
si
s
b
y
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
so

ca
n
n
o
t
p
ro
p
e
rl
y
b
e
d
e
sc
ri
b
e
d
a
s
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
.

2
1
3

O
v
e
r
th
e
la
st
y
e
a
r
I
h
a
v
e
b
e
g
u
n
to

u
se

th
e
a
re
a
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
t
le
a
st
tw

ic
e
p
e
r
w
e
e
k
w
h
ic
h
h
a
s
h
a
d
a
b
ig
im

p
a
ct
o
n

m
y
fi
tn
e
ss
,
h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
g
e
n
e
ra
l
w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
e
xp
a
n
d
in
g
m
y
so
ci
a
l
n
e
tw

o
rk
.
T
h
e
re
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
th
e
a
b
il
it
y
to

u
se

th
e
a
re
a

d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
d
a
y
w
o
u
ld
h
a
v
e
a
se
v
e
re

im
p
a
ct
o
n
th
is
fo
r
b
o
th

m
y
se
lf
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
a
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
o
th
e
rs
in
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
h
o
a
re

u
n
a
b
le
to

u
se

th
e
co
u
rt
s
in
th
e
e
v
e
n
in
g
s
d
u
e
to

ca
re
r
re
sp
o
n
si
b
il
it
ie
s.

2
1
4

T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
in
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r
a
re

u
se
d
b
y
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
o
n
a
re
g
u
la
r
b
a
si
s.

M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
w
h
o
w
e
n
t
to

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
S
ch
o
o
l,
u
se
d

th
e
m

d
u
ri
n
g
sc
h
o
o
l
h
o
u
rs
b
u
t
a
ls
o
a
ft
e
r
sc
h
o
o
l.

2
1
5

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
u
se
d
b
y
a
ll
a
n
d
su
n
d
ry

fo
r
a
ll
ty
p
e
s
o
f
p
h
y
si
ca
l
e
xe
rc
is
e
,
o
r
w
a
lk
in
g
d
o
g
s,
o
r
ju
st
a
d
m
ir
in
g
th
e
v
ie
w
,
e
n
jo
y
in
g
th
e
p
e
a
ce

a
n
d
ta
k
in
g
in
fr
e
sh

a
ir
.
T
h
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
se
e
m
s
h
e
ll
-b
e
n
t
o
n
d
e
n
y
in
g
p
e
o
p
le
li
ke

m
e
th
e
ch
a
n
ce

to
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
r
b
o
w
ls
w
it
h
o
u
t
g
o
in
g

m
u
ch

fu
rt
h
e
r
a
fi
e
ld
to

m
o
re

cr
o
w
d
e
d
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

2
1
6

I
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
a
t
th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
a
fe
w
y
e
a
rs
n
o
w
.
I
a
m

in
m
y
6
0
's
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
g
iv
e
s
m
e
a
h
e
a
lt
h
y
li
fe
st
y
le
a
n
d

m
e
e
ti
n
g
p
e
o
p
le
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
m
y
li
fe
li
n
e
.
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
I
li
v
e
in
W
a
n
d
sw

o
rt
h
m
a
y
o
f
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
in
M
e
rt
o
n
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
th
e
re
.

2
1
7

P
a
rt
o
f
th
e
re
a
so
n
m
y
p
a
rt
n
e
r
a
n
d
I
m
o
v
e
d
h
e
re

w
a
s
d
u
e
to

th
e
m
a
n
y
lo
ca
l
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
a
n
d
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
to

th
e
re
si
d
e
n
ts

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
in
th
is
lo
ca
li
ty
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
h
a
ve

p
ro
v
id
e
d
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
a
n
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
a
b
le
m
e
a
n
s
o
f

so
ci
a
l
e
xe
rc
is
e
w
h
ic
h
ca
n
o
n
ly
b
e
o
f
b
e
n
e
fi
t
to

th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
M
a
n
y
o
f
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
p
e
o
p
le
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
se
e
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is

w
o
u
ld
h
a
v
e
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
ir
li
fe

ta
k
e
n
fr
o
m

th
e
m
.

2
1
8

I
w
a
n
t
to

co
n
ti
n
u
e
p
la
y
in
g
o
n
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
it
h
o
u
t
p
ro
b
le
m
s.
I
p
la
y
w
it
h
a
lo
t
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
.
It
is
g
o
o
d
to

b
e
co
n
n
e
ct
e
d
to

th
e

lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

2
1
9

T
h
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
w
o
u
ld
a
ff
e
ct
a
la
rg
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
.
T
h
e
p
a
rk

m
u
st
b
e
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
m
o
st
p
o
p
u
la
r
p
a
rk
s
in
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
.
It

se
rv
e
s
a
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
t
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
a
n
d
is
u
se
d
b
y
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
fo
r
a
w
id
e
v
a
ri
e
ty

o
f
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
d
u
ri
n
g
a
ll
th
e
d
a
y
li
g
h
t

h
o
u
rs
.
I
w
a
lk
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
p
a
rk

a
t
le
a
st
o
n
ce

a
d
a
y
a
n
d
th
e
u
se

is
in
cr
e
a
si
n
g
a
ll
th
e
ti
m
e
.

2
2
0

T
h
e
la
n
d
is
w
e
ll
-l
o
v
e
d
a
n
d
w
e
ll
u
se
d
.
I
w
a
lk
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
R
e
c
m
o
st
d
a
y
s
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
m
y
d
o
g
th
e
re
.
It
a
lw
a
y
s
se
e
m
s
fu
ll
.
I
w
o
u
ld

li
k
e
to

b
e
a
b
le
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
b
o
w
ls
in
th
e
fu
tu
re
.

2
2
1

D
u
p
li
ca
te

o
f
n
o
.
2
0
4

Page 57



2
2
2

It
is
a
w
e
ll
-l
o
v
e
d
a
n
d
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
a
rk

a
n
d
o
f
im

m
e
a
su
ra
b
le
v
a
lu
e
to

th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
E
a
ch

d
a
y
o
f
th
e
w
e
e
k
th
e
re

a
re

cl
u
b
s,

te
a
m
s,
sc
h
o
o
l
g
ro
u
p
s
a
n
d
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
u
si
n
g
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
in
g
th
is
w
o
n
d
e
rf
u
l
fa
ci
li
ty
.
It
is
a
h
u
b
o
f
a
ct
iv
it
y
a
n
d
re
la
xa
ti
o
n
,
a
n
d

co
n
tr
ib
u
te
s
e
n
o
rm

o
u
sl
y
to

th
e
o
v
e
ra
ll
a
p
p
e
a
l
a
n
d
ch
a
ra
ct
e
r
o
f
th
e
lo
ca
l
a
re
a
.
T
h
e
a
re
a
fo
r
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
is
th
e
m
o
st
in
te
n
si
v
e
ly

u
se
d
a
re
a
.
H
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
fa
m
il
ie
s
w
il
l
m
is
s
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

2
2
3

W
e
o
ft
e
n
u
se

th
e
co
u
rt
s
fo
r
ca
su
a
l
te
n
n
is
o
n
a
n
a
d
h
o
c
b
a
si
s.

It
w
o
u
ld
b
e
d
e
v
a
st
a
ti
n
g
to

lo
se

th
is
a
s
th
e
y
p
ro
v
id
e
a
w
e
lc
o
m
e

so
ci
a
l
a
n
d
sp
o
rt
in
g
h
u
b
fo
r
m
a
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
t
la
rg
e
.

2
2
4

T
h
e
p
a
rk

is
u
se
d
b
y
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
e
ve
ry

d
a
y
a
n
d
is
th
e
m
o
st
b
e
a
u
ti
fu
l
g
re
e
n
sp
o
t
fo
r
w
h
e
re

p
e
o
p
le
ca
n
e
xe
rc
is
e
,
w
a
lk
th
e
ir
d
o
g
s,

p
la
y
cr
ic
k
e
t,
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
ta
k
e
ch
il
d
re
n
to

th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
It
a
d
d
s
to

p
e
o
p
le
's
q
u
a
li
ty

o
f
li
fe

in
th
e
m
o
st
p
ro
fo
u
n
d
w
a
y
.

2
2
5

I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
in
g
m
y
g
ra
n
d
a
u
g
h
te
r
w
h
o
a
ls
o
lo
v
e
s
th
e
p
la
y
a
re
a
,
re
g
u
la
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d

h
a
v
in
g
fa
m
il
y
's
p
o
rt
s
d
a
ys
',
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
w
it
h
m
y
so
n
s
in
su
it
a
b
le
w
e
a
th
e
r
-
a
n
y
b
a
r
w
o
u
ld
b
e
m
o
st
u
n
w
e
lc
o
m
e
.
O
th
e
rs
u
se

th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
in
g
th
e
ir
d
o
g
s
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
th
e
p
la
y
a
re
a
is
a
lw
a
y
s
w
e
ll
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
.
It
is
a
ls
o
a
p
o
p
u
la
r
sp
o
rt
in
g
v
e
n
u
e

w
it
h
o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t
m
a
tc
h
e
s
w
h
ic
h
a
re

w
e
ll
su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
fr
o
m

lo
ca
l
a
re
a
s.

It
is
a
p
ri
ce
le
ss
a
ss
e
t
fo
r
th
e
im

m
e
d
ia
te

re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
th
e
w
id
e
r
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

2
2
6

O
b
je
ct

2
2
7

It
is
a
sp
e
ci
a
l,
lo
v
e
ly
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
fa
m
il
ie
s
w
it
h
ch
il
d
re
n
,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
r
a
n
d
p
e
o
p
le
w
h
o
g
o
th
e
re

to
re
la
x
p
e
rh
a
p
s
w
it
h
a

n
e
w
sp
a
p
e
r
o
r
b
o
o
k
.
It
s
so

lo
v
e
ly
to

g
o
th
e
re

to
h
a
v
e
p
e
a
ce

a
n
d
q
u
ie
t,
th
o
u
g
h
it
ca
n
a
ls
o
b
e
n
o
is
y
fr
o
m

th
e
fo
o
tb
a
ll
e
tc
!
It
s

sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
o
u
ld
b
e
d
e
a
rl
y
m
is
se
d
.
M
o
st
o
f
u
s
h
a
v
e
ti
n
y
g
a
rd
e
n
s
so

w
e
ca
n
e
n
jo
y
th
e
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

h
e
re
.

2
2
8

W
e
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

re
g
u
la
rl
y
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
.
W
h
e
n
o
u
r
so
n
s
w
e
re

y
o
u
n
g
e
r
th
e
y
u
se
d
th
e
p
la
y
a
re
a
d
a
il
y
,
th
e
n
le
a
rn
t
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
w
h
e
n
th
e
y
w
e
re

o
ld
e
r.

T
h
e
y
n
o
w
p
la
y
in
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
le
a
g
u
e
s
w
h
ic
h
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
e
n
d
fo
r
fo
o
tb
a
ll
.
W
e
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
o
th
e
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
co
n
si
d
e
r
th
e
la
n
d
to

b
e
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
a
ll
k
in
d
s
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
o
n
a
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s
fo
r
le
is
u
re

a
ct
iv
it
ie
s.

W
e

u
se
d
to

e
n
jo
y
w
a
tc
h
in
g
th
e
b
o
w
ls
-
th
e
a
b
se
n
ce

o
f
th
is
fa
ci
li
ty

w
il
l
a
ff
e
ct
a
lo
t
o
f
o
ld
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

st
il
l
w
e
ll

u
se
d
a
n
d
n
e
e
d
e
d
b
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
.

O
b
je
ct
io
n
s
re
ce
iv
e
d
b
y
p
o
st

T
e
m
p
la
te

1
O
p
p
o
se

a
s
ri
sk

o
f
o
v
e
rp
ro
v
is
io
n
o
f
p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
.
A
ls
o
n
o
is
e
n
u
is
a
n
ce
;
in
a
d
e
q
u
a
cy

o
f
th
e
p
ro
p
o
se
d
p
a
v
il
io
n

a
n
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s;
lo
ss
o
f
m
a
tu
re

tr
e
e
s
a
n
d
im

p
a
ct
o
n
co
n
se
rv
a
ti
o
n
a
re
a
s;
li
k
e
li
h
o
o
d
o
f
in
cr
e
a
se
d
p
a
rk
in
g
a
n
d
tr
a
ff
ic

co
n
g
e
st
io
n
;
a
n
d
im

p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
is
su
e
s.

Page 58



2
A
s
a
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
t
I
o
ft
e
n
w
a
lk
in
th
e
re

a
n
d
se
e
h
o
w
m
u
ch

it
is
u
se
d
b
y
o
th
e
r
p
e
o
p
le
.
It
is
a
ra
re

a
n
d
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
o
p
e
n
p
u
b
li
c

sp
a
ce

in
th
is
p
a
rt
o
f
M
e
rt
o
n
a
n
d
it
s
sp
o
rt
in
g
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
re

o
f
b
e
n
e
fi
t
to

m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
.
V
e
ry

co
n
ce
rn
e
d
th
a
t
th
is
in
it
ia
l
la
n
d

g
ra
b
w
il
l
b
e
fo
ll
o
w
e
d
b
y
fu
rt
h
e
r
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
s.

3
O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
R
e
c
is
a
p
u
b
li
c
a
m
e
n
it
y
th
a
t
g
iv
e
s
p
le
a
su
re

to
th
o
u
sa
n
d
s
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
.

4
O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

th
e
o
v
e
rw

h
e
lm

in
g
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
p
o
si
ti
o
n
to

a
n
y
b
u
il
d
in
g
o
th
e
r
th
a
n
fo
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
p
u
rp
o
se
s;
th
e
R
e
c
is
th
e

d
e
fi
n
in
g
fe
a
tu
re

o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
W
a
rd
;
a
n
d
it
is
u
se
d
b
y
co
n
si
d
e
ra
b
ly
m
o
re

p
e
o
p
le
in
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
th
a
n
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r

w
h
o
m
a
y
b
e
n
e
fi
t
fr
o
m

a
n
y
p
ro
p
o
se
d
sc
h
o
o
l
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
.

5
O
b
je
ct
a
s
b
y
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l'
s
o
w
n
a
d
m
is
si
o
n
in
it
s
re
p
o
rt
to

th
e
P
la
n
n
in
g
A
p
p
li
ca
ti
o
n
s
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
,
th
e
p
ro
p
o
se
d
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
o
f

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
ri
m
a
ry

S
ch
o
o
l
w
o
u
ld
in
v
o
lv
e
"s
o
m
e
lo
ss
o
f
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

w
it
h
in
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
G
ro
u
n
d
w
h
ic
h
is

n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
";
th
e
p
ro
p
o
se
d
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
o
f
la
n
d
w
o
u
ld
th
e
re
fo
re

b
e
in
b
re
a
ch

o
f
th
e
le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
;
th
e

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
e
n
jo
y
e
d
b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
"b
y
ri
g
h
t"
fo
r
o
v
e
r
1
0
0
y
e
a
rs
;
a
n
d
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
o
n
a
ca
su
a
l
b
a
si
s
e
a
ch

w
e
e
k
b
y
m
a
n
y
h
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
,
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
th
e
2
2
7
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
.

6
O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
p
a
rk
's
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
a
g
re
a
t
jo
y
to

m
e
a
n
d
to

m
a
n
y
o
th
e
r
e
ld
e
rl
y
o
r
lo
n
e
ly
p
e
o
p
le
w
h
o
sp
e
n
d
ti
m
e
th
e
re
.

O
ft
e
n
th
e
re

a
re

th
re
e
fo
o
tb
a
ll
o
r
cr
ic
k
e
t
m
a
tc
h
e
s
g
o
in
g
o
n
a
t
th
e
sa
m
e
ti
m
e
.
C
ri
ck
e
t,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
b
o
w
ls
(u
n
ti
l
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l

b
a
n
n
e
d
th
is
),
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s,
te
n
n
is
,
cy
cl
in
g
,
k
e
e
p
fi
t,
p
ic
n
ic
s,
b
ir
th
d
a
y
p
a
rt
ie
s,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
,
to
d
d
le
rs
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d

o
th
e
r
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
fi
ll
u
p
th
is
p
a
rk

w
it
h
g
o
o
d
,
h
e
a
lt
h
y
,
so
ci
a
b
le
(n
o
n
-d
e
li
n
q
u
e
n
t)
li
fe
.

7
O
b
je
ct
a
s
it
is
a
p
u
b
li
c
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
it
is
n
o
t
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

fo
r
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
to

ta
k
e
th
is
la
n
d
.

8
O
b
je
ct
a
s
I
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
s
a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
a
n
d
th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
w
a
lk
in
g
.
U
se
d
to

u
se

th
e

b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
u
n
ti
l
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
cl
o
se
d
it
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
fo
r
cr
ic
k
e
t,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
ru
g
b
y
,
v
o
ll
e
y
b
a
ll
,
u
lt
im

a
te

F
ri
sb
e
e
,
sc
h
o
o
l

sp
o
rt
s,
te
n
n
is
,
la
w
n
b
o
w
ls
,
p
e
rs
o
n
a
l
tr
a
in
in
g
se
ss
io
n
s,
jo
g
g
e
rs
,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
,
ch
il
d
re
n
le
a
rn
in
g
to

cy
cl
e
,
w
a
lk
e
rs
,
fa
m
il
ie
s

e
n
jo
y
in
g
th
e
o
u
td
o
o
rs
.

9
O
b
je
ct
a
s
it
w
o
u
ld
in
cr
e
a
se

th
e
b
u
il
t
u
p
fe
e
l
o
f
th
e
R
e
c.
I
a
ls
o
e
n
jo
y
sp
o
rt
o
f
a
ll
so
rt
s
b
e
in
g
p
la
y
e
d
.
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
se
e
tr
a
in
e
rs

lu
g
g
in
g
g
re
a
t
co
n
ta
in
e
rs
o
f
te
n
n
is
b
a
ll
s
fo
r
te
n
n
is
le
ss
o
n
s
o
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s.
T
h
e
p
la
n
n
e
d
re
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t
co
u
rt
s
w
o
u
ld
b
e
o
u
t
o
f

b
o
u
n
d
s
fo
r
m
o
st
o
f
th
e
d
a
y
li
g
h
t
h
o
u
rs
d
u
ri
n
g
te
rm

ti
m
e
so

st
o
p
p
in
g
th
is
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
a
ct
iv
it
y
.
A
re
ce
n
t
M
e
rt
o
n
O
p
e
n
S
p
a
ce
s

A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t
fo
u
n
d
th
a
t
th
e
la
n
d
'i
s
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s'
to

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
in
th
e
b
o
ro
u
g
h
.

1
0

O
b
je
ct
a
s
w
e
p
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
y
h
a
v
e
h
a
d
a
ct
iv
e
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t
w
it
h
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
.
A
ls
o
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
is
a
fa
ci
li
ty

w
h
ic
h
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
fo
r
o
v
e
r
1
0
0
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
w
il
l
b
e
a
b
ig
lo
ss
to

th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

1
1

O
b
je
ct
a
s
I
w
a
lk
th
ro
u
g
h
th
e
R
e
c
m
o
st
d
a
y
s.

It
sa
d
d
e
n
s
m
e
to

th
in
k
y
o
u
ca
n
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

la
n
d
th
a
t
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
in
th
e
fo
rm

o
f

te
n
n
is
a
n
d
la
w
n
b
o
w
ls
.

1
2

O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
re

is
n
o
t
a
b
la
d
e
o
f
g
ra
ss
th
a
t
is
u
n
u
se
d
,
so

I
ca
n
n
o
t
se
e
h
o
w
a
n
y
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

ca
n
b
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
d
.

1
3

O
b
je
ct
b
e
ca
u
se

it
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
;
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
n
e
e
d
s
th
is
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
to

co
n
ti
n
u
e
to

b
e

a
v
a
il
a
b
le
;
it
is
u
n
iq
u
e
in
w
h
a
t
it
o
ff
e
rs
(t
e
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
&
cr
ic
k
e
t
p
it
ch
e
s)
w
h
ic
h
a
re

a
ll
m
u
ch

u
se
d

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
y
e
a
r.

Page 59



1
4

O
b
je
ct
a
s
it
is
p
re
m
a
tu
re

to
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

a
n
y
o
f
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
fo
r
th
e
d
e
ve
lo
p
m
e
n
t
a
t
th
is
ti
m
e
u
n
ti
l
th
e
p
la
n
n
in
g

a
p
p
li
ca
ti
o
n
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
a
n
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
lo
ca
l
re
so
u
rc
e
a
n
d
th
e
se
ct
io
n
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
p
ro
p
o
se
s
to

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

is
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
lo
ca
l
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
a
d
u
lt
sp
o
rt
sp
e
o
p
le
.
It
is
q
u
it
e
u
n
ju
st
if
ia
b
le
a
n
d
ir
re
sp
o
n
si
b
le
to

g
ra
b
th
e
la
n
d

u
n
le
ss
a
n
d
u
n
ti
l
it
is
fi
n
a
ll
y
a
u
th
o
ri
se
d
fo
r
u
se

in
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.

1
5

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

th
e
n
e
t
lo
ss
o
f
la
n
d
fo
r
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
A
ls
o
co
n
ce
rn
e
d
a
b
o
u
t
in
cr
e
a
se

in
sc
h
o
o
l
v
e
h
ic
le
tr
a
ff
ic
a
n
d
in
cr
e
a
se
d

n
o
is
e
a
n
d
d
is
ru
p
ti
o
n
w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
a
ff
e
ct
m
a
n
y
lo
ca
ls
.
T
h
e
p
u
b
li
c
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
n
e
w
ly
re
n
o
v
a
te
d
a
n
d
u
se
d
b
y
a
n
in
cr
e
d
ib
ly

la
rg
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
fa
m
il
ie
s
a
s
it
is
th
e
o
n
ly
p
u
b
li
c
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
in
th
e
im

m
e
d
ia
te

a
re
a
.
A
n
y
ch
a
n
g
e
s
to

th
is
a
re
a
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
a
n

e
n
o
rm

o
u
s
im

p
a
ct
o
n
th
e
h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
o
f
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
,
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
fa
m
il
ie
s
w
it
h
y
o
u
n
g
ch
il
d
re
n
.

1
6

O
b
je
ct
a
s
it
is
P
u
b
li
c
O
p
e
n
S
p
a
ce

a
n
d
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
b
o
th

m
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
rs
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
h
ic
h
is
a
n

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t
fa
ci
li
ty

fo
r
o
ld
e
r
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
il
l
b
e
re
m
o
v
e
d
,
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
w
o
n
't
b
e
a
ll
o
w
e
d
to

u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is

co
u
rt
s
u
n
ti
l
d
a
rk
n
e
ss
in
th
e
a
u
tu
m
n
a
n
d
w
in
te
r
m
o
n
th
s,
a
n
d
th
e
tr
a
ff
ic
w
il
l
in
cr
e
a
se
.

1
7

T
e
m
p
la
te

F
a
m
il
y
e
n
jo
y
s
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
is
in
st
a
ll
a
ti
o
n
s
o
n
a
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s.

1
8

S
tr
o
n
g
ly
o
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

th
e
lo
ss
o
f
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
it
is
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
to

th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
T
h
e
n
e
w
sc
h
o
o
l
b
u
il
d
in
g

w
il
l
b
e
co
n
st
ru
ct
e
d
o
n
la
n
d
w
h
ic
h
is
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
P
u
b
li
c
O
p
e
n
S
p
a
ce
.
A
ls
o
,
th
e
d
e
m
a
n
d
fo
r
e
xt
ra

p
la
ce
s
is
e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
.

1
9

O
b
je
ct
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

p
a
ck
e
d
a
n
d
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
h
a
s
n
o
ti
ce
d
th
e
in
cr
e
d
ib
le
su
cc
e
ss
o
f
th
e
n
e
w
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
.

T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
w
o
u
ld
b
e
u
se
d
to
o
-
e
xc
e
p
t
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
h
a
s
d
e
li
b
e
ra
te
ly
st
o
p
p
e
d
m
a
in
ta
in
in
g
it
.
W
h
a
t
h
a
p
p
e
n
s
w
h
e
n
th
e

sc
h
o
o
l
sa
y
s
w
e
n
e
e
d
to

ta
k
e
a
li
tt
le
b
it
m
o
re

la
n
d
fo
r
x?

W
h
a
t
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
si
te
s
a
re

in
m
in
d
fo
r
w
h
e
n
th
e
sc
h
e
m
e
is
ru
le
d

o
u
t?

2
0

S
tr
o
n
g
ly
o
p
p
o
se
d
a
s
o
u
r
w
h
o
le
fa
m
il
y
h
a
s
e
n
jo
y
e
d
u
si
n
g
th
e
re
c
sp
a
ce
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d

o
th
e
r
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s,
o
n
a
re
g
u
la
r
b
a
si
s.

S
u
re
ly
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
o
f
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
w
h
a
t
th
e
le
g
a
cy

o
f
th
e
Lo
n
d
o
n
O
ly
m
p
ic
s
2
0
1
2
s

w
a
s
a
ll
a
b
o
u
t?

A
sk
s
w
h
y
n
o
t
in
cr
e
m
e
n
ta
ll
y
e
xp
a
n
d
o
n
a
sm

a
ll
e
r
sc
a
le
a
ll
th
e
o
th
e
r
1
5
sc
h
o
o
ls
w
it
h
in
a
2
m
il
e
ra
d
iu
s
o
f

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
?

2
1

T
e
m
p
la
te

W
e
e
n
jo
y
a
fr
ie
n
d
ly
g
a
m
e
o
f
fo
o
tb
a
ll
e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
w
h
ic
h
is
a
v
e
ry

so
ci
a
b
le
e
v
e
n
t.

2
2

O
b
je
ct
a
s
re
m
o
v
in
g
p
u
b
li
c
u
se

o
f
th
e
se

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
is
u
n
a
cc
e
p
ta
b
le
.

2
3

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
a
n
d
p
la
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
o
n
S
u
n
d
a
y
s.

2
4

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
it
is
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
fo
r
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
to

h
a
v
e
a
s
m
u
ch

o
p
e
n
/g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
s
a
s
p
o
ss
ib
le
.

2
5

T
e
m
p
la
te

C
o
n
st
a
n
tl
y
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
in
g
fi
e
ld
s.
T
a
k
in
g
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

a
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
is
a
lw
a
y
s
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l.

2
6

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
jo
g
g
in
g
,
te
n
n
is
,
w
a
lk
in
g
th
e
b
a
b
y
,
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
w
a
tc
h
in
g
cr
ic
k
e
t,
p
ic
n
ic
s
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
.
It
w
il
l
b
e
a
te
rr
ib
le
lo
ss

to
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
.

2
7

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
w
a
lk
in
g
,
k
e
e
p
fi
t,
n
a
tu
re

w
a
lk
s
w
it
h
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
T
h
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
o
u
ld
lo
se

a
w
o
n
d
e
rf
u
l

a
ss
e
t
o
f
h
u
g
e
v
a
lu
e
to

so
m
e
m
a
n
y
p
e
o
p
le
.

2
8

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
a
n
d
w
a
tc
h
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t.

R
e
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
th
e
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
il
l
b
e
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
to

th
e
h
e
a
lt
h
o
f

re
si
d
e
n
ts
in
M
e
rt
o
n
.

Page 60



2
9

D
is
m
a
y
e
d
a
t
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
a
s
a
cu
rr
e
n
t
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
r
a
s
I
g
e
t
g
re
a
t
p
le
a
su
re

fr
o
m

st
ro
ll
in
g
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d
m
e
e
ti
n
g
n
u
m
e
ro
u
s

o
th
e
r
k
in
d
re
d
sp
ir
it
e
d
so
u
ls
w
h
o
a
p
p
re
ci
a
te

th
e
v
is
ta

a
n
d
tr
a
n
q
u
il
li
ty
th
e
p
a
rk

o
ff
e
rs
.
W
h
y
m
u
st
th
is
o
a
si
s
b
e
d
e
st
ro
y
e
d
fo
r

g
o
o
d
?

3
0

O
b
je
ct
st
ro
n
g
ly
.
U
se

th
e
p
a
rk

re
g
u
la
rl
y
to

w
a
lk
g
ra
n
d
so
n
a
n
d
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
-
th
e
w
h
o
le
sp
a
ce

is
in
v
a
lu
a
b
le
.
M
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
r
u
se
s

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
h
ic
h
a
re

n
o
w
u
se
d
e
v
e
ry

d
a
y
b
y
v
a
ri
o
u
s
g
ro
u
p
s
ta
k
in
g
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
!
T
h
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
so

sp
e
ci
a
l
a
n
d
b
u
sy

a
ll
th
e
ti
m
e
.
A
ls
o
,
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
it
s
su
rr
o
u
n
d
s
is
a
ls
o
a
v
e
ry

sp
e
ci
a
l
sp
a
ce

-
it
is
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
m
o
st

tr
a
n
q
u
il
sp
e
ci
a
l
p
la
ce
s
in
th
e
p
a
rk
.

3
1

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
th
e
g
ra
ss
co
n
ti
n
u
o
u
sl
y
.
S
in
ce

I
w
a
s
y
o
u
n
g
th
e
P
a
rk

h
a
s
b
e
e
n
a
p
la
ce

fo
r
sp
o
rt
(m

a
in
ly
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d

te
n
n
is
)
a
n
d
a
ls
o
a
s
a
p
la
ce

fo
r
le
is
u
re

in
th
e
w
a
rm

e
r
m
o
n
th
s.

3
2

O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
p
a
rk

is
v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
.
It
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
la
n
d
!
I
p
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
y
u
se

it
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
to

w
a
lk
,
ru
n
a
n
d
w
a
lk
m
y

b
a
b
y
in
h
is
p
ra
m
.
W
e
a
ls
o
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
w
h
ic
h
a
re

n
o
w
u
se
d
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
b
y
v
a
ri
o
u
s
g
ro
u
p
s
ta
k
in
g
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
o
f
th
e

te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
!
T
h
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
so

sp
e
ci
a
l
a
n
d
b
u
sy

a
ll
th
e
ti
m
e
.
It
is
a
h
u
b
fo
r
m
e
e
ti
n
g
o
th
e
r
m
u
m
s
a
n
d
fo
r
ch
il
d
re
n
to

p
la
y
.

T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
it
s
su
rr
o
u
n
d
s
a
re

a
ls
o
sp
e
ci
a
l.

3
3

O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
p
a
rk

is
v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
.
It
is
n
o
t
su
rp
lu
s
la
n
d
!
I
p
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
y
it
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
to

w
a
lk
m
y
so
n
in
h
is
p
ra
m
.

T
h
e
w
h
o
le
sp
a
ce

is
in
v
a
lu
a
b
le
.
It
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
so

n
ic
e
to

se
e
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
b
e
in
g
u
se
d
e
ve
ry

d
a
y
a
s
v
a
ri
o
u
s
g
ro
u
p
s
ta
k
in
g

a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
s
re
ce
n
tl
y
,
th
is
is
so

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t
fo
r
o
u
r
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
.
T
h
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
a
fa
n
ta
st
ic

p
la
ce

fo
r
m
e
e
ti
n
g
o
th
e
r
p
a
re
n
ts
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
.
T
h
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
it
s
su
rr
o
u
n
d
s
a
re

a
ls
o
sp
e
ci
a
l.

3
4

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
p
a
rk

e
v
e
ry

S
u
n
d
a
y
to

p
la
y
g
a
m
e
s
su
ch

a
s
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
so
ci
a
li
si
n
g
w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s.

3
5

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
.

3
6

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

se
ri
o
u
s
p
ro
ce
d
u
ra
l
is
su
e
s
ra
is
e
d
b
y
th
e
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
.
T
h
e
cu
rr
e
n
t
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
st
a
rt
e
d
o
n
3
O
ct
o
b
e
r,
th
e
la
st

d
a
y
fo
r
re
sp
o
n
se
s
to

th
e
p
re
v
io
u
s
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
o
n
th
e
p
ri
n
ci
p
le
o
f
e
xp
a
n
d
in
g
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
S
ch
o
o
l.
T
h
is
m
e
a
n
s
th
a
t
th
e

C
o
u
n
ci
l
h
a
d
n
o
in
te
n
ti
o
n
o
f
a
ss
e
ss
in
g
o
r
p
u
b
li
sh
in
g
th
e
re
sp
o
n
se
s
to

th
e
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r
co
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
b
e
fo
re

p
ro
ce
e
d
in
g
w
it
h

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
a
n
d
h
a
d
cl
e
a
rl
y
m
a
d
e
u
p
it
s
m
in
d
to

g
o
a
h
e
a
d
w
h
a
te
v
e
r
th
e
o
p
ti
o
n
s.
T
h
e
re

is
n
o
n
e
e
d
fo
r
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l

e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
.
S
o
m
e
u
se
rs
w
il
l
b
e
v
e
ry

h
a
rd
-h
it
b
y
th
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
,
e
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
w
h
o
h
a
v
e
a
m
a
ss
iv
e
ly
re
ju
v
e
n
a
te
d

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
,
th
e
b
o
w
ls
p
la
y
e
rs
n
o
w
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
h
a
s
cl
o
se
d
;
a
n
d
o
th
e
r
u
se
rs
w
h
o
's
e
n
jo
y
m
e
n
t
o
f
th
e
p
e
a
ce

o
f
th
e

ro
se

g
a
rd
e
n
w
il
l
b
e
sh
a
tt
e
re
d
if
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
is
m
o
v
e
d
.
O
th
e
r
sp
o
rt
s
a
n
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
il
l
b
e
fu
rt
h
e
r
h
it
b
y
th
e

lo
ss
o
f
th
e
p
a
v
il
io
n
a
n
d
re
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t
w
it
h
a
m
u
ch

sm
a
ll
e
r
fa
ci
li
ty

w
it
h
in
fe
ri
o
r
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
sp
a
ce

o
n
a
n
u
p
p
e
r

fl
o
o
r
re
q
u
ir
in
g
li
ft
s
a
n
d
d
iv
o
rc
e
d
fr
o
m

th
e
p
la
y
in
g
a
re
a
s.
M
O
S
S
2
0
1
0
/1
1
h
ig
h
li
g
h
ts
th
e
im

p
o
rt
a
n
ce

o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
w
h
ic
h

is
a
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
b
o
ro
u
g
h
w
h
ic
h
is
p
o
o
rl
y
p
ro
v
id
e
d
w
it
h
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
a
ro
u
n
d
it
s
im

m
e
d
ia
te

ca
tc
h
m
e
n
t
is
a
n
a
re
a

d
e
fi
ci
e
n
t
in
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
,
so
m
e
p
a
rt
s
b
e
in
g
m
o
re

th
a
n
8
0
0
m

fr
o
m

a
p
u
b
li
c
p
a
rk

o
r
g
a
rd
e
n
.
M
a
n
y
lo
ca
l
d
w
e
ll
in
g
s
a
re

fl
a
ts
o
r
h
o
u
se
s
w
it
h
sm

a
ll
g
a
rd
e
n
s.
C
o
n
se
q
u
e
n
tl
y
it
sh
o
u
ld
b
e
th
e
la
st
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

to
b
e
re
d
u
ce
d
in
si
ze
.

3
7

T
e
m
p
la
te

C
h
il
d
re
n
u
se

th
e
sw

in
g
s.
P
la
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
in
th
e
p
a
rk
.
W
a
lk
in
th
e
p
a
rk

to
re
la
x.

Page 61



3
8

O
b
je
ct
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

v
e
ry

w
e
ll
u
se
d
a
n
d
w
h
a
t
a
jo
y
it
is
to

se
e
th
e
y
o
u
n
g
p
e
o
p
le
b
e
in
g
co
a
ch
e
d
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
.
T
h
e

p
a
v
il
io
n
is
u
se
d
fo
r
m
u
m
a
n
d
to
d
d
le
r
se
ss
io
n
s
a
n
d
o
n
W
e
d
n
e
sd
a
y
e
v
e
n
in
g
s
b
y
a
n
o
rc
h
e
st
ra
.

3
9

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
R
e
c
to

p
la
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
o
n
S
u
n
d
a
y
s.

If
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
w
e
re

re
m
o
v
e
d
w
e
w
o
u
ld
h
a
v
e
to

fo
ld
th
e
te
a
m

a
n
d
st
o
p
p
la
y
in
g
.

4
0

T
e
m
p
la
te

C
h
il
d
re
n
u
se

th
e
sw

in
g
s.
P
la
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t.
C
h
a
n
g
in
g
ro
o
m
s
a
n
d
to
il
e
ts
a
re

n
e
e
d
e
d
fo
r
p
la
y
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n

p
la
y
in
g
in
th
e
p
a
rk
.

4
1

O
b
je
ct
a
s
I
w
a
n
t
m
y
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
to

e
n
jo
y
th
e
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
o
f
th
e
R
e
c,
a
s
I
m
ys
e
lf
d
id
.
I
se
e
n
o
re
a
so
n
a
s
to

w
h
y
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y

sh
o
u
ld
si
t
b
a
ck

a
n
d
a
ll
o
w
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
to

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

la
n
d
th
a
t
h
a
s
b
e
lo
n
g
e
d
to

th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fo
r
th
e
la
st
1
0
0
y
e
a
rs
.

4
2

S
tr
o
n
g
ly
o
b
je
ct
a
n
d
h
o
p
e
th
a
t
m
y
v
o
ic
e
,
a
s
n
o
d
o
u
b
t
m
a
n
y
o
th
e
rs
,
w
il
l
b
e
co
n
si
d
e
re
d
a
n
d
li
st
e
n
e
d
to
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
b
e
lo
n
g
s
to

th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
n
o
t
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
so

k
e
e
p
y
o
u
r
h
a
n
d
s
o
ff
it
!!
!

4
3

I
w
is
h
to

o
b
je
ct
m
o
st
st
ro
n
g
ly
to

th
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
o
f
a
n
y
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

b
u
t
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
a
t
o
n
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c.
P
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
y
,
I

n
o
w
u
se

th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
s
fo
r
re
la
xa
ti
o
n
a
n
d
in
te
re
st
in
th
e
g
re
a
t
v
a
ri
e
ty
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
I
m
e
e
t.

In
th
e
p
a
st
I
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
a
ct
iv
e
a
n
d

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
d
in
b
o
th

te
n
n
is
a
n
d
b
o
w
ls
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
a
ct
u
a
ll
y
p
la
y
e
d
a
s
a
m
e
m
b
e
r
o
f
a
co
m
p
e
ti
ti
v
e
cr
ic
k
e
t
te
a
m
.
W
h
e
n
m
y
fa
m
il
y

w
a
s
y
o
u
n
g
th
e
y
w
e
re

co
n
st
a
n
tl
y
in
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
to
d
a
y
it
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
fa
m
il
y
g
ro
u
p
s
-
a
n
d
p
ro
v
e
s
to

b
e
a
sa
fe

a
re
a
.
T
h
e

p
a
v
il
io
n
is
a
n
e
ss
e
n
ti
a
l
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
.
T
h
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
w
h
o
le
o
f
th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
p
it
ch
e
s,
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
,

ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
g
a
rd
e
n
,
si
tt
in
g
o
u
t
a
n
d
p
ic
n
ic
k
in
g
a
re
a
s,
w
a
lk
in
g
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s,
cu
rr
e
n
t
e
xe
rc
is
in
g
e
tc
e
tc
sh
o
u
ld
b
e

tr
e
a
su
re
d
a
n
d
p
re
se
rv
e
d
fo
r
p
re
se
n
t
a
n
d
fu
tu
re

re
si
d
e
n
ts
,
a
s
it
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
in
th
e
p
a
st
.

4
4

T
e
m
p
la
te

W
h
il
st
v
is
it
in
g
th
e
R
e
c
I
fo
u
n
d
o
u
t
th
a
t
it
o
ff
e
rs
fr
e
e
te
n
n
is
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

I
h
a
ve

b
e
e
n
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e

w
e
e
k
d
a
y
s
a
n
d
th
e
w
e
e
ke
n
d
s.

4
5

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
e
v
e
ry

S
u
n
d
a
y
a
s
o
u
r
fo
o
tb
a
ll
h
o
m
e
g
ro
u
n
d
.
O
u
r
te
a
m

a
n
d
o
th
e
rs
w
o
n
't
b
e
a
b
le
to

g
e
t
p
it
ch
e
s
a
n
d
w
il
l
to

st
o
p
fo
o
tb
a
ll
.

4
6

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
it
s
sp
o
rt
in
g
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
fa
m
il
y
.
I
g
re
w
u
p
in
th
e
a
re
a
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
u
se
d
th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
o
v
e
r

2
0
y
e
a
rs
.
I
le
a
rn
t
to

ri
d
e
a
b
ik
e
in
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
y
e
a
rs
la
te
r
ta
u
g
h
t
m
y
n
e
p
h
e
w
th
e
sa
m
e
h
e
re
.
T
h
e
p
a
rk

is
u
se
d
b
y
m
a
n
y

p
e
o
p
le
in
th
e
lo
ca
l
a
re
a
fo
r
m
a
n
y
d
if
fe
re
n
t
p
u
rp
o
se
s.

It
is
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
fo
r
lo
ca
l
p
e
o
p
le
to

h
a
v
e
a
n
a
re
a
w
h
ic
h
is
sh
a
re
d
a
n
d

u
se
d
a
s
a
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

4
7

T
e
m
p
la
te

N
o
co
m
m
e
n
ts

4
8

T
e
m
p
la
te

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
m
u
ch

n
e
e
d
e
d
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
,
fr
e
sh

a
ir
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
.
It
w
a
s
a
li
fe
sa
v
e
r
w
h
e
n
m
y
ch
il
d
re
n
w
e
re

y
o
u
n
g
.
W
e
n
e
e
d

p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

n
o
w
a
s
m
u
ch

a
s
w
e
d
id
w
h
e
n
th
e
co
v
e
n
a
n
t
w
a
s
m
a
d
e
fo
r
th
e
h
e
a
lt
h
o
f
a
ll
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

4
9

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
jo
in
in
g
m
y
p
a
rt
n
e
r
to

co
m
e
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
a
t
th
e
R
e
c
w
h
ic
h
h
a
s
b
e
co
m
e
p
a
rt
o
f
m
y
fi
tn
e
ss
re
g
im

e
.
I
a
ls
o
u
se

th
e

ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
to

p
la
y
w
it
h
m
y
n
ie
ce

a
n
d
h
a
v
e
a
g
o
o
d
ti
m
e
in
a
n
ic
e
g
re
e
n
p
a
rk
.
I
w
o
u
ld
n
o
lo
n
g
e
r
h
a
v
e
a
cc
e
ss
to

fr
e
e
e
xe
rc
is
e
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
I
b
e
li
e
v
e
th
a
t
is
v
e
ry

im
p
o
rt
a
n
t
fo
r
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
to

st
a
y
h
e
a
lt
h
y
a
n
d
fi
t.

5
0

S
tr
o
n
g
ly
o
b
je
ct
.
A
s
a
fr
e
e
la
n
ce
r
I'
m

a
b
le
to

u
se

th
e
co
u
rt
s
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
d
a
y
,
w
h
ic
h
I
d
o
o
n
ce

a
w
e
e
k
a
t
le
a
st
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
co
u
ld
n
't

b
e
le
ss
's
u
rp
lu
s'
,
a
p
a
rt
fr
o
m

th
e
d
a
rk
e
st
o
f
w
in
te
r
d
a
y
s,
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

in
a
lm

o
st
co
n
st
a
n
t
u
se
.

Page 62



5
1

O
b
je
ct
.
I
ru
n
in
th
e
R
e
c
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
.
I'
m

in
m
y
m
id
5
0
s
a
n
d
ca
n
n
o
t
a
ff
o
rd

g
ym

m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
.
I
p
a
ss
m
a
n
y
re
g
u
la
rs
,
m
y
o
w
n
a
g
e
,

o
ld
e
r
a
n
d
y
o
u
n
g
e
r,
u
si
n
g
th
e
R
e
c
fo
r
ru
n
n
in
g
,
ta
i
ch
i,
sp
ri
n
ti
n
g
a
n
d
w
it
h
p
e
rs
o
n
a
l
tr
a
in
e
rs
.
I
o
ft
e
n
p
o
p
o
v
e
r
to

th
e
te
n
n
is

co
u
rt
s
o
n
a
S
u
n
d
a
y
.
W
h
e
re

e
ls
e
co
u
ld
I
ta
k
e
a
li
tt
le
e
xe
rc
is
e
fr
e
e
,
in
th
e
o
p
e
n
a
ir
,
a
n
d
m
e
e
t
n
e
w
p
e
o
p
le
.
W
h
e
re

w
il
l
th
e

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
g
o
?

5
2

O
b
je
ct
.
B
y
cl
o
si
n
g
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
so
le
ly
fo
r
th
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
a
re

d
e
p
ri
v
in
g
u
s
o
f
tw

o
o
f
o
u
r
m
a
jo
r
re
so
u
rc
e
s
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
b
y
a
ll
lo
ca
l
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d

a
d
u
lt
s,
w
h
il
st
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
o
ld
e
r
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
.

5
3

T
e
m
p
la
te

M
y
fa
m
il
y
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
se
s
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
w
e
p
ra
ct
is
e
in
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
o
n
S
a
tu
rd
a
y
a
n
d
S
u
n
d
a
y
m
o
rn
in
g
s.

If
y
o
u

re
m
o
v
e
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
,
ch
il
d
re
n
w
o
n
't
h
a
v
e
a
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.

5
4

O
p
p
o
se

p
la
n
s.

I
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
u
se

th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
b
o
u
t
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
M
o
n
d
a
y
to

F
ri
d
a
y
u
su
a
ll
y
m
id
-m

o
rn
in
g
a
s
a
re
su
lt
o
f
w
o
rk

co
m
m
it
m
e
n
ts
a
n
d
fi
n
d
th
is
a
ti
m
e
to

re
la
x
a
n
d
y
e
t
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
t
th
e
sa
m
e
ti
m
e
w
it
h
o
u
t
th
e
e
xp
e
n
se

o
f
u
si
n
g
p
ri
v
a
te
ly
o
w
n
e
d

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
h
ic
h
I
w
o
u
ld
n
o
t
b
e
a
b
le
to

a
ff
o
rd
.

5
5

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
v
is
it
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
in
C
o
ch
ra
n
R
o
a
d
a
n
d
w
e
w
a
lk
th
e
d
o
g
s
in
th
is
sp
a
ce

o
v
e
r
th
e
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
.
W
e
a
ls
o
p
ic
n
ic
a
n
d
b
ri
n
g
th
e

ch
il
d
re
n
th
e
re

o
v
e
r
su
m
m
e
r.

It
w
il
l
b
e
a
re
a
l
sh
a
m
e
to

lo
se

th
is
b
e
a
u
ti
fu
l
sp
a
ce
.
I
re
a
ll
y
d
o
n
't
w
a
n
t
to

se
e
it
tu
rn
e
d
in
to

a

b
lo
ck

o
f
fl
a
ts
.

5
6

O
p
p
o
se

p
ro
p
o
sa
l.
It
is
n
o
t
cr
e
d
ib
le
to

su
g
g
e
st
th
a
t
th
is
la
n
d
is
n
o
t
re
q
u
ir
e
d
a
s
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
sp
a
ce
.
A
ll
th
e
sp
a
ce

o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

is

p
u
b
li
c
sp
a
ce

o
p
e
n
fo
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
,
n
o
n
e
o
f
it
is
su
rp
lu
s
to

th
e
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
o
f
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
W
h
e
n
e
v
e
r
I
p
a
ss
th
e

ch
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
a
re
a
I
th
in
k
it
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
fa
ir
d
e
sc
ri
p
ti
o
n
to

sa
y
th
a
t
it
's
h
e
a
v
in
g
w
it
h
a
ct
iv
it
y
,
p
a
re
n
ts
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
.
I
e
n
jo
y
e
d

b
o
w
li
n
g
th
is
su
m
m
e
r
u
n
ti
l
n
o
ti
ce
s
p
ro
h
ib
it
in
g
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss

w
e
re

e
re
ct
e
d
.
W
h
e
n
I
w
a
lk
p
a
st
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
I
se
e
p
e
o
p
le

p
la
y
in
g
a
n
d
th
e
y
'v
e
n
o
t
b
e
e
n
sc
h
o
o
l
cl
a
ss
e
s.
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
a
rk

is
n
o
t
su
it
a
b
le
o
r
la
rg
e
e
n
o
u
g
h
to

a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
te

th
e

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
ri
m
a
ry

S
ch
o
o
l.
Lo
ca
l
d
e
m
a
n
d
fo
r
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
ce
s
in
th
is
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
b
o
ro
u
g
h
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
m
e
t.

5
7

O
b
je
ct
st
ro
n
g
ly
.
M
y
o
w
n
ch
il
d
re
n
v
is
it
th
e
p
a
rk

d
a
il
y
w
it
h
m
y
se
lf
a
n
d
th
e
ir
g
ra
n
d
p
a
re
n
ts
so
ci
a
ll
y
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
fo
r
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
n
g

in
th
e
S
a
tu
rd
a
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
cl
u
b
a
n
d
te
n
n
is
le
ss
o
n
s.

D
u
ri
n
g
h
o
li
d
a
y
s
w
e
m
e
e
t
fr
ie
n
d
s,
ri
d
e
b
ik
e
s
a
n
d
p
la
y
cr
ic
k
e
t
w
it
h
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d

fr
ie
n
d
s.

I
ca
n
n
o
t
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
w
h
y
th
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s,
p
a
v
il
io
n
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
re

b
e
in
g
b
a
rr
e
d
.

5
8

O
b
je
ct
.
T
h
e
la
n
d
is
u
se
d
d
a
il
y
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
sp
o
rt
,
b
y
la
rg
e
n
u
m
b
e
rs
o
f
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
,

in
cl
u
d
in
g
m
e
a
n
d
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
m
y
fa
m
il
y
.
T
h
e
lo
ss
o
f
th
e
h
is
to
ri
c
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
is

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
in
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
.
T
h
e
re

is
a
ri
sk
,
sh
o
u
ld
lo
ca
l
d
e
m
a
n
d
fo
r
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
ce
s
d
ro
p
s
a
s
it
is
li
k
e
ly
to

d
o
in
fu
tu
re
,
th
a
t
th
e

C
o
u
n
ci
l
w
il
l
b
e
a
b
le
to

u
se

th
e
la
n
d
a
s
it
w
is
h
e
s,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
to

d
is
p
o
se

o
f
it
fo
r
h
o
u
si
n
g
o
r
o
th
e
r
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.

5
9

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
o
ft
e
n
v
is
it
th
e
R
e
c
to

m
e
e
t
u
p
w
it
h
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
d
o
n
e
fo
r
y
e
a
rs
.
It
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
tr
u
e
tr
a
v
e
st
y
to

re
m
o
v
e
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
is
a
re
a
b
e
ca
u
se

n
o
t
o
n
ly
is
it
a
fa
b
u
lo
u
s
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

it
se
rv
e
s
a
m
u
ch

n
e
e
d
e
d
a
n
d
lo
ve
d
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ty
.

6
0

T
e
m
p
la
te

N
o
co
m
m
e
n
ts

Page 63



6
1

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
u
se

th
is
sp
a
ce

to
sp
e
n
d
ti
m
e
w
it
h
m
y
fa
m
il
y
.
R
e
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
is
sp
a
ce

w
il
l
in
fr
in
g
e
o
n
m
y
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t
in
th
e

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
se
n
se

o
f
b
e
lo
n
g
in
g
to

th
e
a
re
a
a
s
th
is
is
w
h
e
re

I
m
e
e
t
m
y
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rs
a
n
d
fr
ie
n
d
s.

6
2

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
u
se

th
is
la
n
d
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
to

w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
,
a
n
d
o
n
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s
I
m
e
e
t
fr
ie
n
d
s
w
it
h
th
e
ir
ch
il
d
re
n
in
th
e
p
la
y
a
re
a
.
P
ri
v
a
ti
si
n
g
th
is

a
re
a
w
o
u
ld
h
a
v
e
a
n
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
a
d
v
e
rs
e
a
ff
e
ct
o
n
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
h
o
u
se

th
is
a
re
a
d
a
il
y
a
n
d
in
tu
rn

th
is
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
a
n
e
g
a
ti
ve

a
ff
e
ct
o
n
o
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
w
h
o
u
se

th
is
a
s
a
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
a
re
a
.

6
3

T
e
m
p
la
te
.

I
v
is
it
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
a
n
d
w
a
lk
o
u
r
d
o
g
s.

6
4

T
e
m
p
la
te
.

N
o
co
m
m
e
n
ts

6
5

S
tr
o
n
g
ly
o
b
je
ct
.
T
h
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
h
a
v
e
a
lr
e
a
d
y
cl
o
se
d
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
-
a
d
is
a
st
ro
u
sl
y
sh
o
rt
si
g
h
te
d
a
ct
io
n
,
in
v
ie
w
o
f
th
e

im
p
o
rt
a
n
ce

o
f
e
xe
rc
is
e
fo
r
o
u
r
a
g
e
in
g
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

u
se
d
a
t
a
ll
ti
m
e
s
o
f
th
e
d
a
y
b
y
a
n
e
v
e
r
g
ro
w
in
g
cr
o
ss

se
ct
io
n
o
f
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
it
h
a
ll
a
g
e
ra
n
g
e
s
w
e
ll
re
p
re
se
n
te
d
.
T
h
e
R
e
c
is
b
u
sy

a
t
a
ll
ti
m
e
s
w
it
h
p
e
o
p
le
jo
g
g
in
g
,

p
la
y
in
g
cr
ic
k
e
t,
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
te
n
n
is
,
d
o
g
w
a
lk
in
g
,
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
T
h
e
se

p
h
y
si
ca
l
e
xe
rc
is
e
s
a
re

v
it
a
l
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y

fo
r
th
o
se

li
v
in
g
in
fl
a
ts
w
it
h
sm

a
ll
o
r
n
o
g
a
rd
e
n
s.

W
e
ta
k
e
re
g
u
la
r
w
a
lk
s
th
e
re
,
o
ft
e
n
w
it
h
o
u
r
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
.
It
is
a
n

e
xt
re
m
e
ly
w
e
ll
u
se
d
lo
ca
l
a
m
e
n
it
y
a
n
d
ca
n
n
o
t
b
e
co
n
si
d
e
re
d
su
rp
lu
s.

T
h
e
p
ro
p
o
se
d
lo
ss
o
f
p
a
v
il
io
n
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
is
a
ls
o

u
n
a
cc
e
p
ta
b
le
a
s
a
re
d
u
ct
io
n
in
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
in
a
d
e
q
u
a
te

n
u
m
b
e
rs
o
f
to
il
e
ts
w
il
l
re
su
lt
.
T
h
e
p
ro
p
o
se
d
la
rg
e
,
m
o
d
e
rn

tw
o
st
o
ry

b
u
il
d
in
g
w
il
l
b
e
h
o
rr
ib
ly
v
is
u
a
ll
y
in
tr
u
si
ve
.
F
u
tu
re

p
u
p
il
s
fo
r
th
e
e
xp
a
n
d
e
d
sc
h
o
o
l
w
il
l
n
o
t
co
m
e
fr
o
m

th
e
lo
ca
l

a
re
a
.
T
h
e
co
n
st
ru
ct
io
n
p
e
ri
o
d
w
il
l
b
e
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
d
is
ru
p
ti
v
e
.
O
n
e
e
ld
e
rl
y
la
d
y
to
ld
m
e
sh
e
ju
st
e
n
jo
ys

si
tt
in
g
o
n
a
b
e
n
ch

a
n
d

co
n
te
m
p
la
ti
n
g
n
a
tu
re
.

6
6

T
e
m
p
la
te

O
ft
e
n
co
m
e
to

w
a
lk
th
e
d
o
g
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
th
e
su
rr
o
u
n
d
in
g
s.

In
su
m
m
e
rt
im

e
w
e
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

It
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
g
re
a
t
lo
ss

to
b
o
th

th
e
im

m
e
d
ia
te

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
th
o
se

w
h
o
co
m
e
to

v
is
it
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
fr
ie
n
d
s.

Lo
ss
o
f
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
is
sp
a
ce

w
o
u
ld
h
a
v
e

a
g
re
a
t
im

p
a
ct
o
n
th
e
fa
m
il
ie
s,
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
y
o
u
n
g
ch
il
d
re
n
w
h
o
e
n
jo
y
th
e
p
a
rk

so
m
u
ch
.

6
7

T
e
m
p
la
te

M
e
a
n
d
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
p
la
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
h
e
re

e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
ke
n
d
.
B
y
re
m
o
v
in
g
th
is
fr
o
m

th
e
p
u
b
li
c
it
w
il
l
m
a
ke

it
m
o
re

d
if
fi
cu
lt
fo
r

p
e
o
p
le
to

fi
n
d
so
m
e
w
h
e
re

to
g
o
a
n
d
re
la
x,
so
ci
a
li
se

w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
w
a
lk
th
e
ir
d
o
g
s.

A
ls
o
,
b
y
re
m
o
v
in
g
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
it

w
il
l
ro
b
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
o
f
so
m
e
w
h
e
re

to
g
o
a
n
d
h
a
ve

fu
n
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
.

6
8

T
e
m
p
la
te

N
o
co
m
m
e
n
ts

6
9

T
e
m
p
la
te

M
y
fa
m
il
y
u
se

th
is
sp
a
ce

o
n
a
m
o
re

o
r
le
ss
d
a
il
y
b
a
si
s.

It
is
su
ch

a
b
le
ss
in
g
to

h
a
v
e
sp
a
ce

su
ch

a
s
th
is
o
n
o
u
r
d
o
o
rs
te
p
.
W
e

u
se

th
e
sp
a
ce

to
w
a
lk
,
m
e
e
t
fr
ie
n
d
s,
a
n
d
p
ri
m
a
ri
ly
to

g
iv
e
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
a
d
e
ce
n
t
ru
n
-o
u
t
g
iv
e
n
th
e
si
ze

o
f
o
u
r
g
a
rd
e
n
!
T
h
e

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
o
u
ld
lo
se

a
co
m
m
o
n
sp
a
ce

to
g
a
th
e
r
a
n
d
in
te
ra
ct
.
It
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
h
u
g
e
lo
ss
fo
r
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
,
te
n
n
is
p
la
y
e
rs
a
n
d

m
o
st
im

p
o
rt
a
n
tl
y
th
e
g
ro
w
in
g
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
y
o
u
n
g
fa
m
il
ie
s.

7
0

T
e
m
p
la
te

W
e
a
lw
a
y
s
v
is
it
th
e
p
a
rk

w
h
e
n
v
is
it
in
g
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
fa
m
il
y
.
M
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
r
lo
ve
s
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
w
e
d
o
g
w
a
lk
,
jo
g
a
n
d
p
ic
n
ic
in

th
e
p
a
rk
.
I'
v
e
p
la
y
e
d
te
n
n
is
w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s
m
a
n
y
ti
m
e
s
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
th
e
su
m
m
e
r.

T
o
lo
se

th
e
la
n
d
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
b
ig
lo
ss
to

th
e

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
It
is
a
w
a
y
o
f
so
ci
a
li
si
n
g
a
n
d
g
e
tt
in
g
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rs
to
g
e
th
e
r.
T
o
ta
k
e
a
w
a
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
o
n
th
e
b
a
ck

o
f
th
e

O
ly
m
p
ic
s
is
ri
d
ic
u
lo
u
s,
a
s
a
ll
co
u
n
ci
ls
a
re

p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
e
n
co
u
ra
g
in
g
ch
il
d
re
n
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
,
a
n
d
a
s
it
s
fr
e
e
it
h
e
lp
s

a
ll
fa
m
il
y
b
u
d
g
e
ts
.

Page 64



7
1

T
e
m
p
la
te

W
o
rk
in
g
li
fe

in
Lo
n
d
o
n
is
su
ch

a
w
e
ll
-d
o
cu
m
e
n
te
d
st
re
ss
fu
l
w
e
e
k
ly
ch
o
re

a
n
d
th
e
re

is
n
o
b
e
tt
e
r
w
a
y
to

re
m
e
d
y
th
is
th
a
n
a

re
la
xi
n
g
st
ro
ll
in
th
e
b
e
a
u
ti
fu
l
su
rr
o
u
n
d
in
g
s
o
f
th
e
p
a
rk
.
T
h
is
a
re
a
is
w
e
ll
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
v
a
ri
o
u
s
g
ro
u
p
s
o
f
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
/r
e
si
d
e
n
ts

in
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
a
n
d
it
w
il
l
b
e
a
g
re
a
t
lo
ss
if
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
is
a
re
a
is
d
e
n
ie
d
.

7
2

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
u
se

th
e
la
n
d
to

k
e
e
p
fi
t.

I
m
e
e
t
m
y
p
e
rs
o
n
a
l
tr
a
in
e
r
h
e
re

tw
ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
a
n
d
it
is
th
e
p
e
rf
e
ct
(n
o
t
to

m
e
n
ti
o
n
a
e
st
h
e
ti
ca
ll
y
)

a
re
a
fo
r
o
u
r
re
g
im

e
s.

I
th
in
k
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
ff
e
ct
e
d
g
re
a
tl
y
b
y
th
e
re
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
th
e
la
n
d
ju
d
g
in
g
b
y
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
rs
o
f

d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
,
p
ic
n
ic
s,
fa
m
il
ie
s
o
n
w
a
lk
s
se
e
n
h
e
re

d
a
il
y
.

7
3

T
e
m
p
la
te

T
h
is
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

is
so

h
e
a
v
il
y
u
ti
li
se
d
b
y
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
th
a
t
it
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
d
is
a
st
e
r
fo
r
it
to

b
e
ta
k
e
n
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

u
s.

I

ta
k
e
m
y
y
o
u
n
g
ch
il
d
h
e
re

a
lm

o
st
d
a
il
y
a
n
d
m
e
e
t
o
th
e
r
m
u
m
s.

W
h
e
re

d
o
yo
u
e
xp
e
ct
y
o
u
n
g
ch
il
d
re
n
to

p
la
y
?

7
4

T
e
m
p
la
te

W
e
ta
k
e
o
u
r
so
n
to

p
la
y
o
u
td
o
o
r
g
a
m
e
s
a
n
d
to

th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
M
a
n
y
o
th
e
rs
u
se

th
is
sp
a
ce

fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
d
o
g

w
a
lk
in
g
/c
h
il
d
re
n
's
p
la
y
.
R
e
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
w
o
u
ld
re
su
lt
in
m
o
re

u
se

o
f
p
u
b
li
c
tr
a
n
sp
o
rt
to

fi
n
d
so
m
e
w
h
e
re
.

P
re
ci
o
u
s
ti
m
e
ta
k
e
n
u
p
w
it
h
tr
a
v
e
l.

7
5

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
m
e
e
t
fr
ie
n
d
s
h
e
re

to
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
re
g
u
la
rl
y
w
it
h
th
e
ir
ch
il
d
re
n
.
Lo
ss
o
f
co
m
m
u
n
a
l
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
re
a
l

sh
a
m
e
a
n
d
a
le
ss
a
p
p
e
a
li
n
g
p
la
ce

to
li
v
e
a
n
d
v
is
it
.

7
6

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

it
fo
r
w
a
lk
s,
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
n
d
e
xe
rc
is
e
.
W
o
u
ld
b
e
a
sh
a
m
e
to

lo
se

a
n
o
th
e
r
b
it
o
f
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

to
m
o
re

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.

T
h
e

lo
ss
o
f
o
u
td
o
o
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
sp
a
ce

w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
d
is
a
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
se
tb
a
ck

fo
r
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.

7
7

T
e
m
p
la
te

M
y
se
lf
a
n
d
m
y
k
id
s
v
is
it
fa
m
il
y
in
th
e
a
re
a
,
a
n
d
u
se

th
e
g
ro
u
n
d
s
fo
r
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
to

g
e
t
to
g
e
th
e
r
a
n
d
p
la
y
.
W
h
e
re

w
il
l
y
o
u
n
g

ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
te
e
n
a
g
e
rs
p
la
y
w
it
h
o
u
t
th
is
sp
a
ce
?
It
is
a
ch
il
le
d
o
u
t
sp
a
ce

w
it
h
m
u
lt
i-
p
u
rp
o
se
s.

W
e
re
ly
o
n
th
e
sp
a
ce

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t
sp
ri
n
g
a
n
d
su
m
m
e
r
to

p
la
y
,
p
ic
n
ic
,
re
la
x
a
n
d
m
e
e
t
u
p
w
it
h
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
fr
ie
n
d
s.

W
e
ca
n
't
g
o
w
it
h
o
u
t
it
.

7
8

T
e
m
p
la
te

N
o
co
m
m
e
n
ts

7
9

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
co
n
st
a
n
tl
y
.
I
w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
s,
h
a
v
e
e
n
jo
y
e
d
p
la
y
in
g
b
o
w
ls
w
h
ic
h
w
o
u
ld
n
o
lo
n
g
e
r
b
e
p
o
ss
ib
le
if
th
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
l
g
o
e
s

a
h
e
a
d
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

co
n
ti
n
u
a
ll
y
in
u
se

b
y
th
e
g
e
n
e
ra
l
p
u
b
li
c.

8
0

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
h
a
v
e
fr
ie
n
d
s
w
h
o
ta
k
e
th
e
ir
ch
il
d
re
n
a
n
d
d
o
g
s
th
e
re
.
I
p
e
rs
o
n
a
ll
y
ru
n
a
co
u
p
le
o
f
ti
m
e
s
a
w
e
e
k
in
th
e
a
re
a
a
s
it
fe
e
ls
sa
fe
r

th
a
n
ru
n
n
in
g
o
n
th
e
st
re
e
ts
.
It
is
a
lw
a
y
s
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
to

h
a
v
e
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

fo
r
fa
m
il
ie
s.

8
1

W
e
b
e
n
e
fi
t
w
it
h
th
e
v
ie
w
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
fr
o
m

o
u
r
b
a
ck

g
a
rd
e
n
a
n
d
o
u
r
a
b
o
v
e
b
a
ck

ro
o
m
s
a
n
d
st
ro
n
g
ly
fe
e
l
th
a
t
a
la
rg
e
b
u
il
d
in
g

a
n
d
a
n
y
ch
a
n
g
e
s
d
o
n
e
to

th
e
R
e
c
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
a
n
u
n
d
e
si
ra
b
le
s
a
n
d
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
im

p
a
ct
o
n
o
u
r
v
ie
w
.
I
re
g
u
la
rl
y
jo
g
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
m
y
w
if
e
u
se
s
it
fo
r
h
e
r
re
g
u
la
r
w
a
lk
s.

M
y
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

q
u
it
e
o
ft
e
n
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
.
F
e
e
l

d
is
tu
rb
e
d
b
y
th
e
n
o
is
e
o
f
p
u
p
il
s
d
u
ri
n
g
p
la
y
ti
m
e
w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
in
cr
e
a
se
.

8
2

F
o
r
o
v
e
r
1
6
y
e
a
rs
h
a
v
e
v
is
it
e
d
m
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
r
in
th
e
a
re
a
a
n
d
a
s
a
fa
m
il
y
h
a
ve

u
se
d
e
v
e
ry

a
sp
e
ct
o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

fr
o
m

p
ra
m

p
u
sh
in
g
,
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
p
ic
n
ic
s,
k
it
e
fl
y
in
g
,
b
ik
e
ri
d
in
g
,
si
tt
in
g
q
u
ie
tl
y
in
th
e
R
o
se

G
a
rd
e
n
,
w
a
tc
h
in
g
th
e
g
ra
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n

p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
,
ju
st
si
tt
in
g
w
it
h
a
n
ic
e
-c
re
a
m

o
r
re
a
d
in
g
th
e
p
a
p
e
rs
.

8
3

W
a
n
t
th
e
p
a
rk

to
st
a
y
a
s
it
is
fo
r
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
to

p
la
y
fo
o
tb
a
ll
,
te
n
n
is
a
n
d
b
o
w
ls
a
n
d
to

w
a
lk
d
o
g
s.

Page 65



8
4

T
e
m
p
la
te

P
la
y
e
d
sp
o
rt
th
e
re

w
h
e
n
y
o
u
n
g
.
H
a
d
to

st
o
p
re
ce
n
tl
y
d
u
e
to

il
ln
e
ss
b
u
t
a
m

a
b
o
u
t
to

re
su
m
e
.
A
s
so
m
e
fr
ie
n
d
s
n
o
w
h
a
v
e

so
m
e
v
e
ry

y
o
u
n
g
ch
il
d
re
n
it
re
a
ll
y
h
a
s
h
it
h
o
m
e
to

m
e
h
o
w
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
th
is
sp
a
ce

is
fo
r
fu
tu
re

g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
s.
A
n
y
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

w
il
l
n
e
v
e
r
b
e
re
p
la
ce
d
.
W
h
y
ta
k
e
a
w
a
y
a
v
a
lu
a
b
le
a
ss
e
t
fo
r
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
h
e
n
th
e
re

a
re

a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
s
th
a
t
w
o
u
ld
a
ct
u
a
ll
y

im
p
ro
v
e
th
e
a
re
a
.

8
5

E
n
jo
y
th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
sp
o
rt
,
w
a
lk
in
g
,
re
la
xi
n
g
,
p
la
y
in
g
a
n
d
p
ic
n
ic
k
in
g
.
It
is
ce
n
tr
a
l
to

th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
,
a
lm

o
st
li
k
e
a
v
il
la
g
e
g
re
e
n
.

I
h
a
v
e
n
o
co
n
fi
d
e
n
ce

in
th
e
st
a
te
m
e
n
t
th
a
t
so
m
e
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
b
e
in
cl
u
d
e
d
in
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
n
s
w
il
l
st
il
l
b
e
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
fo
r

th
e
g
e
n
e
ra
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
o
u
ts
id
e
sc
h
o
o
l
h
o
u
rs
.
T
h
is
is
a
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
t
re
st
ri
ct
io
n
o
n
w
h
a
t
is
n
o
w
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
in
th
e
a
re
a
o
f
th
e

co
u
rt
s,
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
.

8
6

T
e
m
p
la
te

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
a
n
im

p
o
rt
a
n
t
p
a
rt
o
f
o
u
r
li
v
e
s.

It
is
n
ic
e
to

si
t
in
th
e
R
o
se

G
a
rd
e
n
,
w
a
lk
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e
R
e
c.

It
is
g
o
o
d
fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
.

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rs
ch
il
d
re
n
a
re

a
lw
a
y
s
ri
d
in
g
b
ik
e
s,
p
la
y
in
g
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t,
ru
n
n
in
g
a
n
d
ta
k
in
g
in
te
re
st
in
th
e
tr
e
e
s
a
n
d
p
la
n
ts
.

T
h
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
w
il
l
b
e
th
e
d
o
w
n
fa
ll
o
n
ce

th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
g
e
t
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l,
in
y
e
a
rs
to

co
m
e
th
e
w
h
o
le
R
e
c
w
il
l
b
e
b
u
il
t
u
p
o
n
.

8
7

S
tr
o
n
g
ly
o
b
je
ct
a
s
it
is
w
e
ll
-u
se
d
p
u
b
li
c
la
n
d
w
it
h
h
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
u
si
n
g
th
e
sp
a
ce

e
v
e
ry

w
e
e
k
;
th
e
g
re
e
n

sp
a
ce

a
n
d
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
n
e
e
d
to

co
n
ti
n
u
e
to

b
e
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
to

m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
w
h
o
le
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
,
n
o
w
a
n
d
fo
r
fu
tu
re

g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
s.

I
p
la
y
te
n
n
is
o
n
th
e
co
u
rt
s
w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
w
it
h
o
th
e
r
m
e
m
b
e
rs
o
f
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
s
m
u
ch

a
s
I
ca
n
.

8
8

I
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
in
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
fo
r
a
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
y
o
u
n
g
ch
il
d
re
n
.
W
e
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

a
lo
t
a
n
d
n
o
w
th
a
t
m
y
b
o
y
s
a
re

o
ld
e
n
o
u
g
h
to

p
la
y
te
n
n
is
it
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
g
re
a
t
to

h
a
ve

th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
a
t
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
.

8
9

T
e
m
p
la
te

N
o
co
m
m
e
n
ts

9
0

W
e
a
re

a
w
a
re

th
a
t
w
e
d
o
n
o
t
n
e
e
d
to

n
o
ti
fy
y
o
u
o
f
o
u
r
h
o
u
se

e
a
se
m
e
n
t,
a
s
it
d
e
-f
a
ct
o
e
xi
st
s.
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
w
e
fe
e
l
o
u
r
ri
g
h
t

sh
o
u
ld
b
e
p
la
ce
d
b
e
fo
re

M
e
rt
o
n
C
o
u
n
ci
l.
T
h
e
w
a
ll
b
e
lo
n
g
s
to

th
e
p
ro
p
e
rt
y.

9
1

I
w
ri
te

a
s
so
m
e
o
n
e
w
h
o
m
a
k
e
s
re
g
u
la
r
u
se

o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
in
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
a
n
d
e
v
e
n
th
o
u
g
h
I
m
o
v
e
d
to

C
o
p
se

H
il
l
th
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
re

m
y
co
u
rt
s
o
f
ch
o
ic
e
in
th
e
a
re
a
.
I
w
o
rk

sh
if
ts
so

p
la
y
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
d
a
y
in
th
e
w
o
rk
in
g

w
e
e
k
.
A
p
a
rt
fr
o
m

m
id
-w
in
te
r
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

in
a
lm

o
st
co
n
st
a
n
t
u
se
.
In
fa
ct
,
m
o
re

p
e
o
p
le
th
a
n
e
v
e
r
m
a
k
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
m

a
t
a
ll

ti
m
e
s
o
f
th
e
d
a
y
.

Page 66



9
2

O
p
p
o
se
d
.
I
a
m

a
co
m
m
it
te
e
ch
a
ir
fo
r
F
ri
e
n
d
s
o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
P
a
rk

a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
b
e
in
g
in
vo
lv
e
d
in
th
e
o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
p
la
n
ti
n
g
o
f

tr
e
e
s/
sh
ru
b
s
a
n
d
fl
o
w
e
rs
fo
r
a
ll
th
e
v
is
it
o
rs
to

e
n
jo
y
.
W
e
h
e
lp
m
a
in
ta
in
th
e
p
a
rk

th
ro
u
g
h
w
a
te
ri
n
g
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
a
n
d

cl
e
a
n
in
g
li
tt
e
r
w
h
e
re

w
e
ca
n
.
A
s
a
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
re
si
d
e
n
t
I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
.
I
w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
3
ti
m
e
s
a
d
a
y
,
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
a
n
d
p
la
y
w
it
h
m
y
9
m
o
n
th

so
n
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
I
in
v
it
e
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
to

v
is
it
a
n
d
w
e
o
ft
e
n
si
t

in
th
e
P
a
rk

to
w
a
tc
h
th
e
fo
o
tb
a
ll
a
n
d
cr
ic
k
e
t,
o
r
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
re
st
in
g
o
n
th
e
g
ra
ss
.
T
h
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
h
a
ve

a
cl
u
b
th
a
t

p
ro
v
id
e
s
fr
e
e
(o
r
a
lm

o
st
)
fr
e
e
le
ss
o
n
s/
co
a
ch
in
g
w
h
ic
h
h
a
s
in
v
ig
o
ra
te
d
th
e
m
.
M
a
n
y
o
f
m
y
fr
ie
n
d
s
tr
a
v
e
l
fr
o
m

a
fa
r
to

m
a
k
e

u
se

o
f
th
is
fa
ci
li
ty
,
a
n
d
it
p
ro
v
id
e
s
w
e
e
k
ly
e
xe
rc
is
e
fo
r
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
,
in
cl
u
d
in
g
m
y
se
lf
w
h
o
m
ig
h
t
n
o
t
o
th
e
rw

is
e
h
a
ve

th
e

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
.
M
o
re
o
v
e
r,
th
e
B
o
w
in
g
G
re
e
n
w
h
ic
h
w
a
s
(i
ll
e
g
a
ll
y
)
cl
o
se
d
b
y
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
w
a
s
u
p
to

th
a
t
p
o
in
t
u
se
d
b
y
th
e
lo
ca
l

b
o
w
le
rs
fo
r
th
e
ir
le
is
u
re

a
n
d
b
ro
u
g
h
t
a
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
fe
e
li
n
g
to

th
e
P
a
rk
.
Y
o
u
a
s
a
co
u
n
ci
l
k
n
o
w
th
a
t
yo
u
r
cl
a
im

th
a
t
th
e
La
n
d
is

u
n
d
e
ru
se
d
is
co
m
p
le
te

ru
b
b
is
h
.

9
3

T
e
m
p
la
te

A
s
a
lo
ca
l
n
a
n
n
y
I
u
se

th
e
p
a
rk

e
v
e
ry
d
a
y
to

w
a
lk
th
e
b
a
b
y
a
n
d
to

p
la
y
in
th
e
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.
I
h
a
v
e
re
ce
n
tl
y
e
n
ro
ll
e
d
w
it
h

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b
.
T
h
e
P
a
rk

is
u
se
d
b
y
lo
ts
o
f
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
to

ta
k
e
a
w
a
y
th
e
d
e
si
g
n
a
te
d
a
re
a
w
o
u
ld
re
d
u
ce

th
e

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
ce
.

9
4

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
o
ft
e
n
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
h
a
v
e
h
a
d
m
a
n
y
p
ic
n
ic
s
th
e
re

w
it
h
m
y
si
st
e
r
a
n
d
n
ie
ce
.
T
h
e
re

w
il
l
b
e
le
ss
o
u
td
o
o
r
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
p
la
ce
s
to

e
xe
rc
is
e
a
n
d
le
ss
sp
a
ce

to
sp
e
n
d
ti
m
e
w
it
h
p
e
o
p
le
w
it
h
o
u
t
h
a
v
in
g
to

p
a
y
g
o
g
e
t
in
.

9
5

T
e
m
p
la
te

I
u
se

th
e
R
e
c
to

w
a
lk
m
y
d
o
g
s
a
s
w
e
ll
a
s
re
g
u
la
rl
y
u
si
n
g
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s.

T
h
e
se

so
rt
s
o
f
sp
a
ce
s
a
re

v
it
a
l
fo
r
th
e
h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d

w
e
ll
b
e
in
g
o
f
p
e
o
p
le
in
b
u
il
t
u
p
a
re
a
s.

9
6

T
e
m
p
la
te

U
se

th
e
p
a
rk

fo
r
e
xe
rc
is
e
/r
u
n
n
in
g
,
w
a
lk
in
g
d
o
g
,
p
ic
n
ic
k
in
g
a
n
d
te
n
n
is
.
T
h
e
P
a
rk

is
w
e
ll
u
ti
li
se
d
a
n
d
b
u
sy

e
v
e
ry

ti
m
e
I
g
o
.

9
7

T
e
m
p
la
te

R
e
g
u
la
rl
y
w
a
lk
d
o
g
a
n
d
so
ci
a
li
se

w
it
h
o
th
e
r
d
o
g
w
a
lk
e
rs
.
It
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
b
ig
lo
ss
a
s
it
w
o
u
ld
m
e
a
n
th
a
t
w
e
co
u
ld
n
't
g
e
t

to
g
e
th
e
r
a
n
d
e
n
jo
y
th
e
w
a
lk
s
a
s
w
e
d
o
n
o
w
.

9
8

T
e
m
p
la
te

M
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
a
n
d
I
w
a
n
t
to

o
b
je
ct
in
fu
ll
to

th
e
re
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
la
n
d
fr
o
m

p
u
b
li
c
u
se

fo
r
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
.
B
o
th

so
n
s
u
se
d
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d

n
o
w
b
ri
n
g
th
e
ir
o
w
n
ch
il
d
re
n
to

p
la
y
.

9
9

O
p
p
o
se

p
ro
p
o
sa
l.
O
v
e
r
th
e
la
st
y
e
a
r
I
h
a
v
e
b
e
g
u
n
to

u
se

th
e
a
re
a
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
t
le
a
st
tw

ic
e
a
w
e
e
k
,
g
e
tt
in
g

in
v
o
lv
e
d
in
th
e
O
ly
m
p
ic
Le
g
a
cy

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s,
w
h
ic
h
h
a
v
e
h
a
d
a
b
ig
im

p
a
ct
o
n
m
y
fi
tn
e
ss
,
h
e
a
lt
h
a
n
d
g
e
n
e
ra
l
w
e
ll
-b
e
in
g
a
s

w
e
ll
a
s
e
xp
a
n
d
in
g
m
y
so
ci
a
l
n
e
tw

o
rk
.
A
n
y
ch
a
n
g
e
s,
e
sp
e
ci
a
ll
y
th
e
re
m
o
v
a
l
o
f
th
e
a
b
il
it
y
to

u
se

th
e
a
re
a
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
d
a
y

w
o
u
ld
se
v
e
re
ly
im

p
a
ct
o
n
th
is
.

1
0
0

In
m
y
o
p
in
io
n
th
e
co
u
n
ci
l
h
a
s
a
lr
e
a
d
y
b
ro
k
e
n
th
e
la
w
b
e
p
re
v
e
n
ti
n
g
p
u
b
li
c
a
cc
e
ss
to

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
,

b
o
th

o
f
w
h
ic
h
h
a
v
e
b
e
e
n
in
co
n
st
a
n
t
a
n
d
fr
e
q
u
e
n
t
u
se

b
y
th
e
p
u
b
li
c
in
th
e
p
a
st
.

1
0
1

I
h
a
v
e
li
v
e
d
n
e
xt
to

th
is
p
a
rk

fo
r
3
7
y
e
a
rs
a
n
d
p
la
ye
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
fo
r
v
a
ri
o
u
s
fo
o
tb
a
ll
te
a
m
s
in
th
e
p
a
rk

o
n
g
o
o
d
fo
o
tb
a
ll
p
it
ch
e
s

a
n
d
w
a
lk
e
d
m
y
d
o
g
s.

I
h
a
v
e
a
ls
o
p
a
ss
e
d
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
se
e
n
th
e
sm

il
e
o
n
th
e
p
la
y
e
rs
o
n
su
n
n
y
d
a
y
s,
k
e
e
p
in
g
th
e
m

fi
t
in
th
e
ir
la
tt
e
r
y
e
a
rs
.
N
o
w
y
o
u
se
e
p
e
o
p
le
p
la
y
in
g
te
n
n
is
in
th
e
e
a
rl
y
m
o
rn
in
g
s
in
th
e
su
m
m
e
r
b
e
fo
re

sc
h
o
o
l
st
a
rt
s.

Page 67



S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
r
o
f
th
e
sc
h
e
m
e
e
-m

a
il
s

1
It
w
il
l
b
e
b
e
n
e
fi
ci
a
l
to

th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
p
ro
v
id
e
m
u
ch

n
e
e
d
e
d
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
ce
s.

2
S
y
m
p
a
th
is
e
w
it
h
th
e
im

p
o
rt
a
n
ce

o
f
p
ro
te
ct
in
g
o
u
r
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
g
ro
u
n
d
s
I
fe
e
l
p
ri
o
ri
ty
m
u
st
b
e
g
iv
e
n
to

w
o
rk
in
g
p
a
re
n
ts
w
h
o

ca
n
n
o
t
lo
g
is
ti
ca
ll
y
d
ro
p
o
ff
/p
ic
k
u
p
th
e
ir
ch
il
d
re
n
fr
o
m

sc
h
o
o
ls
to
o
fa
r
a
w
a
y
fr
o
m

h
o
m
e
.
W
o
rk
in
g
p
a
re
n
ts
d
o
n
't
h
a
v
e
a
ch
o
ic
e
-

u
se
rs
o
f
th
e
re
c
d
o
h
a
v
e
a
ch
o
ic
e
w
h
e
re

to
sp
e
n
d
th
e
ir
le
is
u
re

ti
m
e
e
.g
.
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
C
o
m
m
o
n
,
M
o
rd
e
n
H
a
ll
P
a
rk
,
S
o
u
th

P
a
rk

G
a
rd
e
n
s
a
n
d
in
d
e
e
d
th
e
n
e
w
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
t
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c.

3
I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.

4
I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
l.
W
e
li
v
e
in
th
e
im

m
e
d
ia
te

a
re
a
b
u
t
w
il
l
co
n
ti
n
u
e
to

st
ru
g
g
le
fo
r
a
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
ce

w
it
h
o
u
t
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
.
W
e

lo
v
e
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d
d
o
n
o
t
fe
e
l
th
e
e
xt
e
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s
ca
u
se

u
s
a
n
y
co
n
ce
rn
s
-
o
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
a
tt
e
n
d
in
g
a
lo
ca
l
sc
h
o
o
l
a
n
d
b
e
in
g
p
a
rt
o
f

th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
o
u
ld
m
a
k
e
a
h
u
g
e
d
if
fe
re
n
ce
.

5
M
y
fa
m
il
y
a
n
d
I
u
se

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
p
a
rk

a
lm

o
st
d
a
il
y
.
M
y
ch
il
d
re
n
a
tt
e
n
d
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
w
h
ic
h
is
in
n
e
e
d
o
f
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t
b
o
th

b
u
il
d
in
g

w
is
e
a
n
d
in
im

p
ro
v
e
d
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
fo
r
te
a
ch
e
rs
.
W
e
a
ls
o
lo
o
k
fo
rw

a
rd

to
a
n
im

p
ro
v
e
d
p
a
v
il
io
n
.
T
h
e
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b

o
cc
u
p
ie
s
th
e
co
u
rt
s
a
lm

o
st
1
0
0
%
o
f
th
e
ti
m
e
a
s
if
th
e
y
o
w
n
th
e
m

a
n
d
m
y
h
u
sb
a
n
d
a
n
d
ch
il
d
re
n
ca
n
n
e
v
e
r
g
e
t
sp
a
ce

o
n
th
e
co
u
rt

a
ft
e
r
sc
h
o
o
l
o
r
a
t
w
e
e
k
e
n
d
s.

W
e
w
o
u
ld
li
k
e
to

h
a
v
e
a
co
u
rt
fr
e
e
fr
o
m

a
n
y
cl
u
b
a
cc
e
ss
to

a
ll
o
w
ch
il
d
re
n
in
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
to

p
la
y

w
it
h
fr
ie
n
d
s
a
n
d
fa
m
il
ie
s.

6
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
is
a
v
ib
ra
n
t,
w
e
lc
o
m
in
g
,
in
cl
u
si
v
e
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
,
in
m
y
o
p
in
io
n
la
rg
e
ly
a
s
a
re
su
lt
o
f
th
e
st
ro
n
g
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
sp
ir
it

fa
ci
li
ta
te
d
b
y
th
e
tw

o
lo
ca
l
st
a
te

sc
h
o
o
ls
.
E
xp
a
n
d
in
g
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
ca
n
o
n
ly
e
n
h
a
n
ce

th
is
sp
ir
it
.
I
a
ls
o
fe
e
l
th
e
im

p
a
ct
o
n
th
e
p
a
rk

w
il
l
b
e
p
o
si
ti
v
e
.

7
F
ru
st
ra
te
d
b
y
p
ro
te
ct
th
e
re
c
ca
m
p
a
ig
n
.
Li
v
e
n
e
a
rb
y
b
u
t
ch
il
d
w
il
l
n
o
t
g
e
t
in
to

e
it
h
e
r
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
o
r
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
C
h
a
se
.
I
b
e
li
e
v
e

th
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
m
a
d
e
a
re

ta
k
in
g
in
to

co
n
si
d
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
ll
fa
ct
o
rs
to

e
n
su
re

th
a
t
th
e
w
h
o
le
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
in
th
e
lo
n
g
te
rm

.
T
h
e

te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
h
a
s
o
n
ly
b
e
e
n
in
e
xi
st
e
n
ce

fo
r
th
e
d
u
ra
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
ca
m
p
a
ig
n
-
it
is
a
g
re
a
t
id
e
a
a
n
d
I
h
o
p
e
th
a
t
it
w
il
l
co
n
ti
n
u
e
b
u
t
a
ls
o

re
co
g
n
is
e
th
e
n
e
e
d
s
o
f
th
e
fu
ll
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
in
cl
u
d
in
g
ch
il
d
re
n
o
f
sc
h
o
o
l
a
g
e
.
M
y
o
w
n
sc
h
o
o
l
h
a
d
th
e
sa
m
e
sc
h
o
o
l/
p
a
v
il
io
n

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
s
p
ro
p
o
se
d
h
e
re

a
n
d
it
w
a
s
a
n
e
xc
e
ll
e
n
t
w
a
y
o
f
a
ch
ie
v
in
g
a
b
a
la
n
ce

fo
r
th
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
.
I
fu
ll
y
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
.
I

d
o
n
o
t
co
n
d
o
n
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
m
o
re

w
id
e
ly
in
to

th
e
p
a
rk

th
a
n
th
e
cu
rr
e
n
t
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
.

8
I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.

9
I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.

1
0

W
e
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.

1
1

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s
a
n
d
b
e
li
e
v
e
it
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
a
p
o
si
ti
v
e
im

p
a
ct
o
n
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
th
e
si
te

le
n
d
s
it
se
lf
to

e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
.

1
2

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.
T
h
e
n
e
a
rb
y
C
o
m
m
o
n
m
o
re

th
a
n
co
m
p
e
n
sa
te
s
fo
r
th
e
re
d
u
ct
io
n
in
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
.

1
3

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.

1
4

A
s
a
re
g
u
la
r
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
P
a
rk

I
a
cc
e
p
t
th
a
t
th
e
re

is
so
m
e
sa
cr
if
ic
e
in
th
e
u
se

o
f
th
e
la
n
d
h
o
w
e
v
e
r
it
is
v
e
ry

la
rg
e
a
n
d
in
th
e
g
ra
n
d

sc
h
e
m
e
o
f
th
in
g
s
I
d
o
n
't
th
in
k
th
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
l
w
o
u
ld
se
ri
o
u
sl
y
cu
rt
a
il
a
n
y
o
f
th
e
re
g
u
la
r
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
o
f
th
e
p
a
rk

g
iv
e
n
th
e
re

w
o
u
ld
st
il
l

b
e
ro
o
m

fo
r
m
o
re

th
a
n
3
so
cc
e
r
p
it
ch
e
s.

I
th
in
k
th
e
n
e
e
d
s
o
f
y
o
u
n
g
p
e
o
p
le
's
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
h
a
s
to

ra
n
k
a
b
o
v
e
th
o
se

re
g
re
tt
in
g
th
e

Page 68



lo
ss
o
f
a
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
a
n
d
a
co
u
p
le
o
f
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
(i
t'
s
n
o
t
li
k
e
th
e
re

is
a
se
v
e
re

sh
o
rt
a
g
e
o
f
te
n
n
is
o
p
ti
o
n
s
in
th
e
v
ic
in
it
y
).

1
5

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
.

1
6

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
.
I
le
a
rn
e
d
to

ri
d
e
a
b
ik
e
in
th
e
p
a
rk

a
n
d
th
e
sp
a
ce

w
a
s
in
d
e
e
d
v
e
ry

u
se
fu
l.
H
o
w
e
v
e
r
I
w
o
u
ld
h
a
v
e
st
il
l

le
a
rn
t
to

ri
d
e
a
b
ik
e
e
v
e
n
if
th
e
p
a
rk

w
a
s
a
b
it
sm

a
ll
e
r
o
r
a
d
if
fe
re
n
t
co
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
,
w
h
e
re
a
s
th
e
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
to

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n

e
xc
e
ll
e
n
t
sc
h
o
o
l
is
n
o
t
so

e
a
si
ly
re
p
la
ce
d
.
I
a
m

m
o
re

th
a
n
w
il
li
n
g
to

a
cc
e
p
t
w
h
a
te
v
e
r
ch
a
n
g
e
s
a
re

re
q
u
ir
e
d
to

th
e
re
c
to

g
iv
e

m
o
re

ch
il
d
re
n
th
e
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
to

a
tt
e
n
d
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l.

1
7

W
e
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.

1
8

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
q
u
it
e
la
rg
e
a
n
d
w
il
l
re
m
a
in
so

e
ve
n
w
it
h
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
-
ch
il
d
re
n
m
u
st
ta
k
e
th
e
p
ri
o
ri
ty

in
th
is
in
st
a
n
ce
.

1
9

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
p
la
n
s.

2
0

It
is
cl
e
a
rl
y
in
th
e
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
's
in
te
re
st
to

e
xp
a
n
d
if
p
o
ss
ib
le
.

2
1

If
o
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
d
o
n
't
g
e
t
in
to

th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
o
n
e
o
f
u
s
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
to

re
d
u
ce

th
e
h
o
u
rs
w
o
rk
e
d
a
n
d
se
v
e
re
ly
im

p
a
ct
o
u
r
in
co
m
e
s
a
n
d

a
b
il
it
y
to

st
a
y
in
th
e
a
re
a
.
I
th
in
k
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
o
f
th
e
le
is
u
re

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
il
l
b
e
a
g
re
a
t
a
d
d
it
io
n
.

2
2

S
u
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
n
d
co
n
ce
rn
e
d
b
y
in
ti
m
id
a
ti
n
g
ta
ct
ic
s
o
f
th
e
a
n
ti
-e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
is
ts
a
n
d
th
e
ir
p
o
st
e
r
ca
m
p
a
ig
n
o
n
tr
e
e
s
in
th
e

p
a
rk
.

2
3

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
.

2
4

W
e
a
re

in
fa
v
o
u
r
o
f
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
n
d
co
n
ce
rn
e
d
a
b
o
u
t
th
e
a
g
g
re
ss
iv
e
a
n
ti
-s
ch
o
o
l
ca
m
p
a
ig
n
.
I
th
in
k
if
th
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
a
re

w
e
ll

p
la
n
n
e
d
a
n
d
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
th
e
o
v
e
ra
ll
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
il
lb
e
n
e
fi
t
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
tl
y
a
s
a
re
su
lt
.

2
5

T
h
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
w
il
l
g
iv
e
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
b
e
tt
e
r
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
n
d
,
m
o
re

im
p
o
rt
a
n
tl
y
,
sc
o
p
e
fo
r
su
cc
e
ss
io
n
p
la
n
n
in
g
to

h
e
lp
to

re
ta
in
th
e

b
e
st
te
a
ch
e
rs
.
G
iv
e
n
th
a
t
th
e
b
o
w
li
n
g
cl
u
b
is
n
o
lo
n
g
e
r
in
u
se

a
n
d
th
e
p
a
vi
li
o
n
is
cl
e
a
rl
y
in
n
e
e
d
o
f
a
re
fr
e
sh
,
I
b
e
li
e
v
e
th
e

p
ro
p
o
se
d
p
la
n
s
a
re

sy
m
p
a
th
e
ti
c
to

th
e
m
u
ch

lo
v
e
d
R
e
c.

T
h
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
w
il
l
b
e
n
e
fi
t
fr
o
m

a
n
e
w
p
a
v
il
io
n
,
n
e
w
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
,
a

n
a
tu
re

re
se
rv
e
a
n
d
m
u
ch

n
e
e
d
e
d
n
e
w
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
.

2
6
/2
7

W
e
a
re

in
fa
v
o
u
r
o
f
th
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
l.

2
8

I
o
ff
e
r
m
y
si
n
ce
re

su
p
p
o
rt
o
f
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
s
m
o
re

ch
il
d
re
n
w
o
u
ld
b
e
a
b
le
to

e
n
jo
y
b
e
tt
e
r
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
n
e
a
r
th
e
ir
h
o
m
e
s
a
n
d
a
m

h
a
p
p
y
to

a
cc
e
p
t
th
a
t
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
w
il
l
b
e
o
n
th
e
R
e
c.

2
9

I
a
m

in
fa
v
o
u
r
o
f
th
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
l.
Q
u
a
li
ty
o
f
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
a
n
d
fa
m
il
y
li
fe

a
re

th
e
to
p
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
o
f
a
n
y
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
w
e
ca
n
n
o
t
h
a
v
e
a

st
a
tu
s
q
u
o
w
h
e
re

u
n
le
ss
y
o
u
li
v
e
o
n
th
e
ri
g
h
t
si
d
e
o
f
a
p
a
rk

a
n
d
li
te
ra
ll
y
n
e
xt
d
o
o
r
to

th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
y
o
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
w
il
l
n
o
t
g
a
in
a

p
la
ce
.
T
h
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
w
il
l
h
e
lp
b
u
il
d
a
st
ro
n
g
e
r,
m
o
re

in
cl
u
si
v
e
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
in
th
e
fu
tu
re

a
n
d
in
th
e
p
ro
ce
ss
w
il
l
h
a
v
e
n
o
e
ff
e
ct
o
n

th
e
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
w
il
l
im

p
ro
v
e
th
e
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
o
n
o
ff
e
r.

3
0

I
a
m

in
fa
v
o
u
r
a
s
I
co
n
si
d
e
r
th
e
e
n
la
rg
e
d
sc
h
o
o
l
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
to

b
e
v
e
ry

m
u
ch

n
e
e
d
e
d
in
th
is
a
re
a
a
n
d
d
o
n
o
t
co
n
si
d
e
r
th
is
to

h
a
v
e
a

d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
e
ff
e
ct
o
n
th
e
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
a
t
th
e
R
e
c.

Page 69



3
1

I
th
in
k
it
is
a
fa
n
ta
st
ic
id
e
a
.
M
a
n
y
sm

a
ll
ch
il
d
re
n
in
th
e
a
re
a
m
a
y
n
o
t
g
e
t
a
lo
ca
l
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
ce

w
it
h
o
u
t
it
.

3
2

A
n
e
xp
a
n
d
e
d
sc
h
o
o
l
w
il
lb
e
n
e
fi
t
th
e
w
h
o
le
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
a
n
d
si
m
u
lt
a
n
e
o
u
s
in
v
e
st
m
e
n
t
in
re
cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s
w
il
l
e
n
h
a
n
ce

th
e

p
a
rk
,
w
h
o
se

b
u
il
d
in
g
s
a
re

a
t
p
re
se
n
t
sc
a
tt
e
re
d
a
n
d
u
n
k
e
m
p
t.

I
th
in
k
it
is
e
ss
e
n
ti
a
l
th
a
t
la
n
d
sc
a
p
in
g
fo
rm

s
a
n
in
te
g
ra
l
p
a
rt
o
f
th
e

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.

3
3

W
e
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
w
h
ic
h
w
il
l
h
e
lp
o
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
in
a
d
m
is
si
o
n
s
a
n
d
a
ls
o
g
iv
e
m
o
re

fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

3
4

W
e
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
n
d
it
w
il
l
b
e
o
f
g
re
a
t
b
e
n
e
fi
t
to

u
s.

3
5
/3
6

W
e
a
re

in
fa
v
o
u
r
o
f
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
fo
r
th
e
fo
ll
o
w
in
g
re
a
so
n
s:
in
cr
e
a
se

in
p
u
p
il
n
u
m
b
e
rs
;
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
is
ra
te
d
‘o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
’
b
y

O
fs
te
d
;
th
e
e
n
h
a
n
ce
m
e
n
t
o
f
th
e
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
b
o
th

a
t
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
a
n
d
th
e
p
a
rk
;
su
p
p
o
rt
b
y
th
e
La
b
o
u
r
a
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
.
W
e
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d

th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
m
e
a
n
s
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l
lo
ss
o
f
so
m
e
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
,
b
u
t
e
xp
a
n
d
in
g
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
is
n
o
t
ju
st
p
ro
vi
d
in
g
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
b
u
t
a
b
o
u
t

n
u
rt
u
ri
n
g
a
n
d
g
iv
in
g
a
n
o
th
e
r
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
th
e
b
e
st
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
in
li
fe
.

3
7

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
s
th
e
a
re
a
d
e
sp
e
ra
te
ly
n
e
e
d
s
g
o
o
d
sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
ce
s
a
n
d
b
o
w
li
n
g
g
re
e
n
’s
e
tc
m
u
st
su
re
ly
co
m
e
a
v
e
ry

d
is
ta
n
t
se
co
n
d
to

th
a
t.

3
8
/3
9

W
e
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
s
th
e
p
la
ce
s
a
re

n
e
e
d
e
d
a
n
d
th
e
p
a
rk

w
il
l
b
e
im

p
ro
v
e
d
b
y
th
e
n
e
w
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s.

4
0

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
p
ro
p
o
se
d
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
s
it
is
re
q
u
ir
e
d
a
n
d
w
il
l
n
o
t
o
n
ly
se
cu
re

p
ri
m
a
ry

p
la
ce
s
fo
r
o
u
r
ch
il
d
re
n
a
t
a
sc
h
o
o
l
in
o
u
r

im
m
e
d
ia
te

lo
ca
l
a
re
a
b
u
t
a
ls
o
p
ro
v
id
e
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
sp
a
ce

a
n
d
a
la
rg
e
r
o
u
td
o
o
r
p
la
y
g
ro
u
n
d
.

4
1
/4
2

R
a
is
e
d
co
n
ce
rn
s
re
g
a
rd
in
g
th
e
‘g
ro
ss
m
is
-r
e
p
re
se
n
ta
ti
o
n
’
o
f
k
e
y
fa
ct
s
fr
o
m

th
e
p
ro
te
ct
th
e
re
c
g
ro
u
p
a
ls
o
su
g
g
e
st
in
g
th
a
t

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
te
n
n
is
cl
u
b
is
‘o
n
ly
a
fr
o
n
t
to

st
o
p
th
e
m

e
xp
a
n
d
in
g
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l’
.

4
3

P
le
a
se

e
xp
a
n
d
th
e
R
e
c
–
th
e
p
ro
te
ct
th
e
re
c
g
ro
u
p
h
a
v
e
b
lo
w
n
th
e
u
ti
li
sa
ti
o
n
o
u
t
o
f
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
–
th
e
y
o
n
ly
st
a
rt
e
d
th
e
te
n
n
is

le
ss
o
n
s
a
fe
w
m
o
n
th
s
a
g
o
to

co
u
n
te
r
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
fo
r
th
e
ir
o
w
n
se
lf
is
h
re
a
so
n
s.

T
h
e
co
u
rt
s
a
re

h
a
rd
ly
u
se
d
in
w
e
e
k
d
a
y
ti
m
e
–

w
e
n
e
e
d
m
o
re

sc
h
o
o
l
p
la
ce
s.

4
4

I
su
p
p
o
rt
th
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t
p
la
n
s.

Page 70



          

Committee: Cabinet  

Date: 9 December 2013   
 

Agenda item:  

Wards: Dundonald Primary School is located in Dundonald ward 
 

Subject: Approval of statutory proposal under the Education and 

Inspection Act 2006 to permanently expand Dundonald Primary 
School  
Lead officer: Yvette Stanley 

Lead member: Cllr Martin Whelton 

Contact Officer: Tom Procter – Service Manager, Contracts and School Organisation 
 

Recommendations:  

A. To approve the proposal for a prescribed alteration to expand Dundonald 
Primary School from 210 places plus nursery to 420 places plus nursery with a 
permanent admission number of 60 per year from September 2015.  

B. That the reason for this decision is to provide basic need school places in the 
local area and the expansion of Dundonald Primary School provides extra 
places in an area of demand at a successful and popular school. The council’s 
Head of Education is satisfied that the leadership of the school has the 
management capacity to continue to raise standards while the school expands. 

C. To note that a report on appropriation of land from Dundonald Recreation 
Ground is being made to this Cabinet meeting and would need to be agreed 
before this prescribed alteration can be approved. 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1  This report concerns proposals for the expansion of Dundonald School 

under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and related statutory 
guidance. It is distinct from the report also being submitted to this Cabinet 
regarding appropriation of land needed for the expansion of the school,  

 
1.2 Since 2008/09 the council has needed to implement unprecedented 

increases in the capacity of primary schools to meet demand. Forecast from 
the GLA is that the rise in demand will continue to 2016/17 and much of it 
will then be sustained. 
 

1.3 In addition to other legal processes the council has been progressing the 
process required for the significant enlargement of Dundonald Primary 
School under the education related law. This has involved lengthy and 

Agenda Item 5

Page 71



complex work with many stakeholders. Due to the  time gap from the 
original statutory consultation undertaken in 2011 an additional consultation 
was undertaken in September 2013 in line with the statutory guidance and 
the council subsequently published a statutory notice on 31 October 2013 
giving a further four week period for comments and objections to be made 
prior to final decision. 
 

1.4 The statutory notice period expired on 28 November 2013 and it is now for 
the council to decide whether to agree to the expansion of Dundonald 
Primary School.  As statutory decision maker, the council must also state 
the reason for the decision. The decision must be made within 2 months of 
the expiry of the statutory notice period, i.e. by 28 January 2013.  
 

1.5 Capital resources are approved in the council’s Capital Programme for the 
expansion scheme, aided by a DfE grant of £2.01 million. 
 

2 DETAILS 

2.1. The London Borough of Merton has a legal obligation to secure the 
provision of sufficient school places for its area. There is a significant 
increase in demand for school places in Merton, with more children reaching  
school age, fuelled by the increase in the number of live births in the last ten 
years. Full details on the current supply and demand of school places were  
reported to Cabinet on 11 November 2013. 

2.2. The expansion of Dundonald Primary School was first proposed in 
autumn 2010 when the council undertook a consultation on its primary 
school expansion strategy with proposed schools named. 

2.3. Dundonald School was proposed as it meets all the key criteria for 
expansion agreed by the administration in autumn 2010.  It is a popular 
and successful school.  In its most recent Ofsted inspection (2009), it 
was rated outstanding and performance data since then shows it has 
maintained this level.  The school has been heavily over-subscribed for 
its 30 places such that the maximum distance for a non-sibling place has 
decreased to barely 200 metres in recent years. Even with other recent 
school expansions in the local area such as Wimbledon Chase and 
Pelham Primary School, there are issues relating to the availability of a 
local school place for residents in the area around Dundonald Primary 
School. 

Statutory consultation 

2.4. Following agreement to the overall strategy including Dundonald Primary 
School the council commenced a specific consultation on 18 May 2011. 
The council consulted on two related matters: 

• The principle of expanding Dundonald School to be 2-forms of entry 
i.e. expand from its current capacity of 210 permanent places (plus 
nursery) to 420 places 

• Early design options for expanding the school and the potential 
impact on the recreation ground 

Page 72



2.5. The consultation was a statutory consultation under Education Acts and 
the related government guidance, to decide whether the council should 
go to the next stage of publishing a statutory proposal for expanding the 
school.  However, it was also intended to be a wider consultation with the 
public given the impact on the recreation ground should the school 
expand. Specifically, the proposal required building school facilities and a 
replacement recreation ground pavilion on the equivalent footprint to the 
existing pavilion, with other changes in use of external recreation ground 
space. Therefore, the consultation was wider than all previous school 
expansion consultations, with over 4,500 leaflets distributed to local 
residents in addition to parents of children currently attending the school. 

2.6. The consultation showed a balance in the views of current parents at 
Dundonald School, a significant majority of parents with pre-school 
children supporting the council’s proposal, but a significant majority of 
local residents against the proposal. 

2.7. Having carefully considered all the factors Cabinet decided to progress 
the expansion which as well as planning permission, required two 
additional processes due to the impact on the recreation ground. 

• apply to the Upper Tribunal (Lands Chamber) for a modification to the 
existing restrictive covenant on Dundonald Recreation Ground  

• to proceed with the appropriation of the area of land required for the 
school expansion from Leisure Services to Education for the use of 
Dundonald School. 

2.8. The modification of the restrictive covenant was agreed in June 2013 and 
as a result the council commenced the legal process on the appropriation 
of the land, which is also being considered by Cabinet at this meeting. 
Planning permission has now also been formally agreed with the decision 
notice issued on 28 November 2013. 

2.9. While Cabinet in September 2011 provided authority to publish a 
statutory proposal subject to the covenant modification being agreed, the 
statutory guidance for the expansion of schools states “Proposals should 
be published within a reasonable timeframe following consultation so that 
the proposals are informed by up-to-date feedback. Proposals should 
therefore be published within 12 months of consultation being concluded”  

2.10. In view of the lapse of time since the previous consultation in 2011, the 
council decided to hold an additional consultation by contacting 
interested parties as required under the statutory guidance since there 
may have been additional people who could be affected by the proposal. 
The consultation commenced on 4 September 2013 with a closing date 
of 3 October 2013. To comply with the requirements of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 and associated regulations and guidance, the 
following were directly contacted: 

• Governing body – Dundonald Primary School 

• All families, teachers and other staff – Dundonald Primary School 

• Governing body, teachers and other staff – all LB Merton primary 
schools 

• Diocese of Southwark 

Page 73



• Archdiocese of Southwark 

• Trade Union Representatives 

• Stephen Hammond MP 

• All early years providers and childminders in local area 

• All LB Merton councillors  

• Friends of Dundonald Park 

• Protect Dundonald Rec 
 

2.11. Unlike the original consultation, which served a wider purpose, a leaflet 
was not put out to the general public although the ‘Friends of Dundonald 
Park’ and the ‘Protect the Rec’ campaign group were contacted, and the 
consultation was placed on the council’s website. Therefore some 
residents who were not parents of primary school pupils or pre-school 
children did reply. Nevertheless some of the responses from residents, 
including that from the Friends of Dundonald Rec and ‘Save the rec’, 
questioned why the consultation was not wider. 

2.12. The repeated consultation concentrated on the issue of school expansion 
because this was its purpose, and residents’ views in relation to impact 
on the recreation ground were specifically given due attention in two 
further legal processes associated with the proposals. Firstly, the 
planning application process in 2012 and secondly the statutory process 
in relation to the land appropriation. The land appropriation is being 
considered at this Cabinet meeting. 

2.13. Following the statutory notice a key decision report was presented to the 
Director of Children’s, School and Families who agreed that the council 
should publish a statutory notice. 

Statutory notice 

2.14. A statutory notice regarding LB Merton’s intention to make a prescribed 
alteration to Dundonald Primary School was published on 31 October 
2013 in the local Guardian newspaper, posted in the local library, posted 
on the school gates, on the recreation ground gate adjacent to the 
school, and placed on the council’s website. As required in the 
regulations, four weeks were provided for any person to object to or 
make comments on the proposal, which expired on 28 November 2013. 
Appendix 2 provides a copy of the statutory notice together with the full 
prescribed information posted on the council’s website. 

2.15. The consultation section of this report outlines the results of the consultation 
and statutory notice period and officers’ response.  

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

3.1. There is a statutory requirement to provide sufficient school places and the 
area has been identified as having a shortfall in the provision of places. The 
alternative is then to expand alternative schools or provide a new school 
site. Dundonald School was chosen as part of the council’s school 
expansion strategy on the basis of the following criteria:  Educational 
standards, parental preference, smaller schools expand where feasible, 
location, physical constraints of existing school sites, value for money and 
affordability and diversity including balance of faith and non-faith provision 

Page 74



3.2. All alternative schools that could be expanded in the local area have already 
been expanded yet there are still significant issues for residents around 
Dundonald Primary School to obtain a local school place. Attempts to find a 
viable site for a new primary school in the local area have not proved 
possible by either the council or a Free School provider. 

 

4 SUMMARY OF THE CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

Statutory Consultation  

4.1. The Cabinet paper in September 2011 provides a detailed analysis of the 
consultation undertaken in summer 2011. 

4.2. Appendix 2 provides a summary of all the responses to the September 2013 
consultation. The full responses to the consultation and to the statutory 
notice have been made available to members. 

4.3. For the September 2013 consultation a total of 16 responses were received, 
6 from parents of children at Dundonald Primary School or with pre-school 
children, 7 residents who did not indicate any affiliation to the school or a 
pre-school child, and 3 from representative groups 

4.4. All 6 parents of school children/pre-school children supported the expansion 
of the school for the following reasons. 

• Obvious need for additional places and current school intake is 
inadequate and inappropriate for local needs. 

• Too few schools for the density of the population.  Local schools build 

local communities 

• The proposed new building will be an asset to both the school and the 
whole neighbourhood 

4.5. 6 of the 7 residents objected to the expansion for the following reasons. 

• Questions whether there is a demographic need for the expansion 

• Concerns about the design of the building including small playground 

• Should build new schools instead 

• Covenant should not be broken.   

• Playground will still be too small.   

• Extra traffic and impact on parking.  

• Increased noise 

• Residents will be unable to use certain parts during school hours and 
community groups will not be able to use the pavilion. 

• Suitability of school building  

• The new development plus the re-modelled ‘old’ school building will be 
inadequate, overcrowded and too small.  Question whether the detailed 
plans will comply with building regs, especially Approved Document B 
plus the Government Fire Risk Assessment Guides for Education. If not, 
the school will be both unusable and unsuitable. 

• Demand for places -  questions the birth data and projections used to 
calculate the number of primary school places needed in certain planning 
areas in Merton. Concerned about overprovision in some planning areas 

Page 75



whereas other areas with increased birth rates have had no expansions. 
Suggests Beecholme as an alternative option.  The proposal for a ‘free 
school’ serving the Raynes Park area should also be considered.  
Concludes that there may be demand for an additional form of entry but 
not in this ward or central Wimbledon.  Council should urgently reassess 
primary school provision. 

• Opposed to the expansion as do not want to lose the childminder drop-in 
at the pavilion. Bowling green has been neglected. Concerned about 
state of Rec during the building works and fear it will never be the same 
again.  Concerned about children’s safety due to increased traffic 
 

4.6. One resident supported the expansion stating the small size of intake is 
causing ridiculous efforts to obtain a place and cannot see any reasonable 
ground for objection. 

4.7. The Friends of Dundonald Park opposed the expansion for the following 
reasons: 

• The latest data shows the basis for projecting pupil numbers has resulted 
in an overestimate. 

• The council’s estimates could be met without building on highly value 
open space e.g. Beecholme instead 

• Suitable school sites were identified in the Council’s Capita Symonds 
report 

• Free Schools could provide for the increase 

• A comparison of births and recent /proposed provision shows there is no 
shortfall of primary provision in the Wimbledon area. 

• Excessive noise to local residents 

• Inadequacy of pavilion and community facilities 

• Loss of mature trees and impact on conservation areas 

• Traffic and parking 

• Implementation issues 
 

4.8. The ‘Protect Dundonald Rec’ group recognised that all previous comments 
would be taken into account so commented on two aspects 

• Suitability of school building - both the new development plus the re-
modelled ‘old’ school building will be inadequate, overcrowded and too 
small.  Question whether the detailed plans will comply with building regs, 
especially Approved Document B plus the Government Fire Risk 
Assessment Guides for Education. If not, the school will be both unusable 
and unsuitable and  

• Demand for places – refers to the council’s scrutiny paper on 17 September 
2013. Queries the GLA figures on an increased demand for school places 
and whether the demand is really in Wimbledon given that Merton’s council’s 
data shows a 50% increase in provision in Wimbledon within a one mile 
radius of Dundonald and the expansion in planning areas 1, 2 and 3 (the 
west of the borough) has already exceeded the increase in births. The 
number of birth reduced in Merton in 2012. 5 tables provided to demonstrate 
the case. Concerned about overprovision in some planning areas whereas 

Page 76



other areas with increased birth rates have had no expansions. Suggests 
Beecholme as an alternative option to meet local need. Concludes as 
follows “The Council’s data may be used to a build a case for an additional 
21 FoE but it does not build a case for the expansion of Dundonald School. 
The recent and on-going increase in provision of primary school places may 
be required but there is no evidence in the Council’s data or in anything from 
the GLA to demonstrate that demand had not already been met in 
Dundonald ward and central Wimbledon. We therefore consider that the 
Council should undertake a complete reassessment of primary school 
provision as a matter of urgency, taking into consideration the above 
factors.” 

4.9. Southwark Diocese supported the strategy of expanding Dundonald School 
but raised concerns regarding the possible impact on pupil numbers at All 
Saints Primary School (South Wimbledon/Colliers Wood area 

4.10. Representations during statutory notice period. 

4.11. 28 responses were received to the statutory notice, of which 26 were 
objections and 2 of support. 

• Impact on recreation ground including sport and leisure when there is 
a lack of green space 

• Need to expand the school not demonstrated, nor alternatives 
considered properly. Considerable detail provided in paper from 
‘Protect the Rec’ group and council hasn’t considered the fall in 
numbers locally from birth to school and to the independent sector. 
The GLA schools atlas provides additional information. 

• The school building/site is too small so the expansion does not meet 
current guidelines for new buildings, with the school split between two 
buildings 

• The school is excellent as it is and the unique character of the school 
will be lost 

• Congestion of cars and people at school time and lack of parking for 
staff 

• Expansion could impact on attainment, standards, and pupil 
behaviour at the school 

• Can’t understand the combined access of the new pavilion 

• The expansion will widen the gap between the east and west of the 
borough by pumping resources into the west and children will have to 
travel further from the east of the borough to the east to obtain a 
school place. 

• It is expensive. 

• Expansion jeopardizes the school’s relationship with the local 
community 

4.12. In support: 

• We need additional places at a good school 

Page 77



• Expansion essential - I am 200 metres from the school but my 
child won’t get a place unless the school is expanded 

 

4.13. The ‘Protect Dundonald Rec’ campaign group provided a detailed response 
stating that local residents and users of Dundonald rec are strongly opposed 
the school expansion onto the public open space, and the views of the 
current users of the land have to be taken into account and given at least 
equal weight to those of parents around the borough who may want their 
children to have places at the school.  

4.14. The response stated that there is no evidence that Dundonald School needs 
to expand to meet local need, with the following statement in bold “All of the 

state‐educated primary school aged children who live within 400m of 

Dundonald School attend either Dundonald or other nearby schools: 
Wimbledon Chase, Pelham, Holy Trinity or St Marys. All of these schools 
have expanded, and now offer 80% more places: local demand is met by 
local provision”. 

4.15. The response provided some data from the Office for national statistics and 
the GLA stating that there are relatively few four year olds in Dundonald 
ward and the recent increase had only been small so Dundonald had a 
surplus, yet the deficit was areas to the east of the borough e.g. Graveney 
ward. They state that “distance offered” is a poor measure of local need as it 
varies massively from year to year for every school depending on the 
number of sibling places offered, and the fall at Dundonald is directly related 
to the rise in sibling places offered. It also offered the former ‘Manuplastics 
site’, (Kingston Road SW20) as an alternative. It claimed that the expansion, 
“far from increasing parental choice, promotes and reinforces inequality 
between the wealthy and the deprived areas of the borough as parents in 
wealthy parts of the borough have greater choice; it states educational 
standards won’t be improved as a result of the expansion as all schools 
within 1 mile of Dundonald are ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. Lastly it was 
questioned whether the land, premises and capital to implement the 
proposals is available when the planning permission had not been resolved 
and the land was not available (i.e. the appropriation viability was 
questioned) 

4.16. Dundonald Tennis Club stated that it represents many hundreds of Merton 
residents who use Dundonald Rec tennis courts including school children 
that do not attend Dundonald Primary School, and raised concerns 
regarding the loss of sports facilities and “the dubious claim that more school 
places are needed in Dundonald ward.” It references a petition that had 
received more than 340 responses against the appropriation of the public 
land for education purposes. 

 

OFFICERS’ COMMENTS ON THE CONSULTATION AND STATUTORY 

PROPOSAL RESPONSES 

Page 78



4.17. The statutory consultation responses were consistent with those in the 
consultation in summer 2011, showing strong support from parents with pre-
school children and other parents to expand the school to provide local 
school places, but a significant number of objections from local residents 
without a direct interest in obtaining a school place. These are mostly for 
reasons relating to the impact on the recreation ground. These have been 
considered through the analysis in the September 2011 cabinet paper and 
the planning application process. They are now being considered as part of 
the Land Appropriation paper which is also being considered at this Cabinet 
meeting. They not factors that are considerations in the statutory guidance 
related to the Education and Inspection Act 2006. 

4.18. Most of the responses to the statutory notice were against the proposal. 
There were no responses from parents of pre-school children to the notice 
but some parents had already made representations as part of the land 
appropriation procedure. The education statutory consultation, education 
statutory notice, and land appropriation notice all being consulted upon 
within a three month period. 

4.19. From the statutory consultation and statutory notice period the following 
issues require further analysis: 

Whether the land is available for the decision maker to make a decision: 

4.20. A planning approval decision notice was issued on 28 November 2013 so 
the decision does not need to be conditional on the granting of such 
permission. However, the expansion cannot be implemented unless the land 
appropriation is agreed so Cabinet is advised to make a final decision on the 
expansion once they have decided on the land appropriation.  

4.21. Accommodation: The construction scheme has been developed with highly 
experienced professionals in school design and will meet all statutory 
requirements including the school premises regulations.  There is no longer 
specific guidance on school accommodation but the most appropriate 
sources for determining a suitable primary school building is ‘Building 
Bulletin 99’ published by the previous government in 2006  and design 
guidance relating to the ‘Priority School Building Programme’ which is less 
generous in accommodation quantity. Both provide guidance on entirely new 
schools rather than extensions, but the principles of this guidance were used 
in developing the project. The scheme was developed in close consultation 
with the senior leadership of this Ofsted rated ‘Outstanding’ school and will 
meet all the requirements expected of a 2 form of entry school – 14 
classrooms of a suitable size (the new classrooms to the ideal size, the 
existing classrooms are not changing, a main hall and supplementary hall 
and other supplementary spaces required to meet the curriculum and all 
safety requirements). The school site is exceptionally small, but with the 
proposed formalising of the arrangement for the enlarged tennis courts/multi 
use sports area for use by the school during specific hours during the school 
day, there is sufficient outdoor space for the school pupils 

4.22. Size of school: The Head of Education considers that while some parents 
support the principle of a small school there is no empirical evidence that 
small schools provide improved standards. A two-form entry school is 
generally considered to be more financially stable than a one-form entry 

Page 79



school and can offer improved opportunities from there being more than one 
class in a year group. The leadership of Dundonald Primary School is strong 
and is highly capable of effectively managing the transition from a one to two 
forms of entry school. 

Demographic need to expand the school:  

4.23. The Cabinet on 11 November 2013 provided the latest overview of demand 
for school places in the borough. It recognised the definite need for 21 forms 
of entry expansion (compared to 2007) and that while the GLA (Greater 
London Authority) pupil forecasts suggest more growth equivalent of 
needing 28 to 29 forms of entry (and more if their ‘alternate model’ is used) 
with the greatest pressure in the Wimbledon and central Mitcham/Colliers 
Wood area, the council was not at this stage planning expansion beyond 
that already planned including Dundonald. 

4.24. The distance that Dundonald has offered for distance-based places in the 
past 4 years is as follows: 

Year Siblings and special 
cases criteria 

Distance 

2013 21 105 metres 

2012 10 217 metres 

2011 13 303 metres* 

         
2010 

13 212 metres 

* First 30 places only – temporary 30 places also provided 

4.25. It is accepted that the distance offered was particularly low in 2013 due to 
the larger number of siblings but the above data supports the extremely 
small distance that places can be offered for Dundonald Primary School, 
despite the substantial increase in provision at other local schools to keep up 
with demand. 

4.26. Appendix 4 shows the maximum distance offered on offer day 2013 for 
the local schools mentioned in the representation from the Protect the 
Rec group.  This shows areas where, except for residents with a church 
affiliation  due to the distances offered a place at their most local schools 
cannot be provided.    

4.27. In the consultation Southwark Diocese raised some concern regarding 
impact on All Saints CE school. However, there are 12 schools closer to 
Dundonald than these schools (1. Wimbledon Chase Primary School, 2 St 
Mary's Catholic Primary School, 3 Pelham Primary School, 4 Merton Park 
Primary School, 5 Holy Trinity CofE Primary School, 6 Bishop Gilpin CofE 
Primary School, 7 Joseph Hood Primary School, 8 Merton Abbey Primary 
School, 9 The Priory CofE School, 10 Poplar Primary School, 11 Hollymount 
School, and 12 Garfield Primary School). Although All Saints CE is only 1.1 
miles from Dundonald ‘as the crow flies’, with transport links and actual road 
travel, it is a considerable distance and therefore serves a very different 
area. 

Page 80



4.28. Dundonald Primary School had more preference applications (435 on-time 
for reception year) than any other Merton primary school last year. 

4.29. While, as acknowledged in the council’s November 2013 Cabinet report, 
there is some evidence that the GLA’s forecast additional 28-29FE could be 
an over forecast, the trend still appears upwards, and there is undoubted 
current pressure on Dundonald School as a highly popular successful 
school, as well as the surrounding area. 

4.30. Some representations pointed out that the live birth figure in Merton had 
gone down in the 2012 calendar year. While there was a very modest fall,  
cohorts with higher birth figures are still to reach school age (see table 
below) and the case for expanding Dundonald Primary School to meet the 
need for local school places is still clear: 

 

Academic year 
born  2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Academic year 
for reception year 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Live births for 
cohort 

 

3387 3485 3536 3496 * 

  * 2011/12 is ⅓ ONS published 2011 calendar year, and ⅔ ONS published 2012 calendar year 

 

4.31. Previous expansions have been more weighted towards Wimbledon as the 
starting off point in 2007 prior to the increase in demand across the borough 
was that the east had surplus places and the Wimbledon area had little 
surplus, hence the increase in demand required immediate expansions in 
Wimbledon while in the east of the borough schools were able to be full for 
the first time in many years before expansion was necessary. As shown in 
table 2 of the 11 November 2013 Cabinet report the latest GLA population 
forecasts for children age four shows that the largest increases in population 
over the next four years will be in the Wimbledon (planning area 3) and 
Mitcham/Colliers Wood (planning area 5) areas 

4.32. The ‘Protect the Rec’ group suggested the council should be expanding a 
school in Mitcham instead of Dundonald. The council has already expanded 
several schools in this area to the east of the borough to meet local demand 
and may implement further expansion if and when required. Singlegate 
Primary School in Colliers Wood will be providing a further 30 reception 
places from September 2014, therefore admitting 90 places per year. There 
is no substance that there is any inequality in provision as Mitcham residents 
can currently obtain places at local schools and the council will expand 
further if and when it is needed. 

4.33. In conclusion, the fresh consultation and statutory notice provided some 
limited additional evidence but does not weaken the case that Dundonald is 
the most oversubscribed school in the borough, provides an ‘Outstanding’ 
education, and is in an area of high demand that appears to still be growing. 
The Department for Education recognised the benefit of expanding 
Dundonald School in providing a specific grant to the school’s expansion in 

Page 81



July 2013, prioritising it from bids across the country to provide additional 
high quality school places where they are needed. 

Alternative sites 

4.34.  The Capita report on site searches did not show a viable alternative option 
in the local area, and this includes the one option suggested by the ‘Protect 
the Rec’ group in their response . Specifically, the council has been in 
contact with the landowner of the former Manuplastics site, Kingston Road 
SW20 who has made it clear he has an existing planning permission for 
development, which does not involve a school, that he intends to implement 
shortly. 

 

5 TIMETABLE 

5.1. The proposal is for Dundonald School to provide 60 reception year places 
from September 2015.  

 

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

 

6.1. The capital cost of the schemes and funding was agreed by council as part 
of the capital programme in March 2013 and has been facilitated by a DfE 
grant of £2.01 million under the Targeted Basic Need Fund. 

6.2. The revenue impact to operate the larger schools will be funded through the 
Dedicated Schools Grant, which increases on the basis of additional pupils, 
although there is a delay in receiving the funding for the additional pupils 
and it is not retrospective.  This is the position whichever school is 
expanded 

6.3. There are implications from the expansion in relation to the adjacent 
Dundonald Recreation Ground, which is the subject of an appropriation 
notice and will be considered prior to any final decision on the school’s 
expansion.  

 

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. The council has a duty under section 14 of the Education Act 1996 to 
secure that sufficient schools are available for its area The council must 
exercise its education functions with a view to securing diversity of 
provision and increasing opportunities for parental choice and with a view 
to   promoting high educational standards, ensuring fair access to 
educational opportunity and promoting the fulfilment of every child’s 
learning potential. . 

7.2. Proposals for prescribed alterations to schools must be made in accordance 
with statutory procedures set out in the Education and Inspections Act 2006, 
and associated regulations and having regard to statutory guidance 
published by the Secretary of State. Prescribed alterations include the 
enlargement of the premises of a school which would increase the physical 

Page 82



capacity of the school by more than 30 pupils and by 25% or 200 pupils 
(whichever is the lesser). 

7.3. Under current regulations, the authority is the decision-maker for these 
proposals. In making its decision, it must have regard to the statutory 
guidance for decision makers contained in ‘Expanding a Maintained 
Mainstream School or Adding a Sixth Form’. The relevant sections are 
contained in appendix 1 to this report. 

7.4. There are four key issues to be considered before considering the merits of 
the proposals: 

(1)  Is all relevant information provided? The full proposals follow the template 
provided by the DfE and therefore give all the information required by the 
regulations. 

(2)  Does the published notice comply with statutory requirements? The notices 
were drafted by the council’s legal section to meet all statutory 
requirements. They have been published in the local paper, at the school 
site and distributed to public libraries in Merton to meet publication 
requirements, as well as on the council’s website. 

(3)  Have the statutory consultations been carried out prior to the publication of 
the notice? Details of the consultations, which met the statutory 
requirements, are included in the full proposals. 

(4)  Are the proposals linked or related to other proposals? The proposals for 
Dundonald are not linked to any other Education Act proposals.  

7.5  In deciding whether or not statutory proposals should be approved, all 
proposals must be considered on their individual merits. The Guidance 
requires consideration of the effect on standards and school improvement, 
school characteristics, the need for places, funding and land, and any other 
relevant issues, including the views of all those affected by the proposals or 
who have an interest in them.  

7.6 The decision maker should be satisfied that any land, premises or capital 
required to implement the proposals will be available. The proposed 
expansion requires use of land currently within Dundonald Recreation 
Ground.  Cabinet will need to agree the appropriation of the land required 
for school use if the proposals are to be approved, including the transfer of 
an area of land to become permanently part of Dundonald School and 
agreement to the appropriation of land for (a) a replacement two-storey 
pavilion for the primary purpose of changing facilities and a social space for 
the recreation grounds but which may at certain times have a more flexible 
use and (b) tennis courts/multi use sports area of which the school will have 
exclusive use at set times as set out in a Community Use Agreement.  

7.7 Paragraph 6 above confirms that sufficient funding has been agreed by the 
council to fund the scheme. 

7.8  The Decision Maker also needs to be satisfied that the admissions 
arrangements meet the provisions of the School Admissions Code. This is the 
view of officers. Dundonald Primary School is a community school included in 
the admission arrangements applying generally to Merton community schools. 
The admissions policy for the school  will remain unchanged following 
expansion.  

Page 83



7.9 There is a presumption that proposals for the expansion of popular and 
successful schools will be approved. There is no definition of a successful and 
popular school in the legislation or guidance; this is for the decision maker to 
decide having regard to the school’s performance and the number of 
applications for places and any other relevant evidence. 

The Local Authority feels that Dundonald Primary School would be considered 
under the presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools. 
The school was rated in their last Ofsted as ‘outstanding’ and is one of the most 
oversubscribed schools in the borough on its current admission numbers 

7.10  The regulations require that a decision on the proposals be made within two 
months of the end of the representations period, or the proposals must be 
referred to the Schools Adjudicator.. The governors of the school that is subject 
to the proposal, the local Church of England Diocese, and the bishop of the 
local Roman Catholic diocese each have the right to appeal against the 
authority’s decision to the Schools Adjudicator. Any such appeal must be made 
within four weeks of the local authority’s decision.          

7.11 If proposals are approved, the council will be under a statutory duty to 
implement them.  

 

8. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS  

8.1  All recent LB Merton school expansions are implemented to meet the basic 
need of children to receive an education, and this can be in conflict with other 
residents’ desire not to have the impact of development in their 
neighbourhood. The expansion of Dundonald School does mean the loss of 
a bowling green, a sport for which older people are more likely to play, but  
there is an opportunity for the council, in its role as leisure provider, to 
consider the best use of space in the recreation ground for the future. The 
council ceased to maintain the bowling green in September 2012 due to its 
cost in relation to the low number of members using it 

8.2 Paragraph 4.32 and admissions information generally does not support any 
view that there is a lack equality of sufficient school provision to the less 
wealthy east of the borough compared to the west and there is no case that 
Dundonald Primary School is being expanded instead of a school to the east 
of the borough. 

8.2  The  Equality Act 2010 introduced a new Public Sector Equality Duty ,which 
came into effect in April 2011.This covers eight ‘protected 
characteristics’(age, disability ,gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief and sexual orientation). It establishes a 
general duty on public bodies to have ‘due regard’ in carrying out its 
functions to the need to: 

a. eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation: 

b. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it ;and 

c. foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

Page 84



 In making any decision the decision maker should have due regard to the 
above duty. 

 

9.0                 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS  

9.1                 There are no specific crime and disorder implications 
 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 Some of the legal issues in relation to this scheme are highlighted in the 
main body of the report. 

10.2 Health and safety would be considered carefully in the development of the 
project to ensure there will be a clear separation between pupils, teachers,  
parents, recreational ground users and construction work, while ensuring 
the school and recreation ground can continue to function appropriately 
during the works. 

11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 

PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

Appendix 1 - Statutory Guidance: Factors to be considered by Decision 
  Makers  

Appendix 2 - Copy of the statutory notice incorporating the full prescribed 
information with summary of the consultation responses for the 
September 2013 statutory consultation  

                 Appendix 3 – Summary of all representations to the statutory notice (original 
copies of responses available to the decision maker). 

 Appendix 4 – Map showing maximum distance offered for Dundonald 
and other local school for distance-based admissions 

12  BACKGROUND PAPERS 

12.1  Cabinet paper September 2011 on Dundonald School expansion 

12.2 Key decision report to publish a statutory proposal to expand Dundonald 
Primary School - October 2013 

12.3 The full ‘prescribed information’ detail for the statutory notice can be viewed 
on-line on  http://www.merton.gov.uk/schoolsconsultations.htm  or by 
request to Contracts and Schools Organisation at the council civic offices.  

  

 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Statutory Guidance – Factors to be Considered by Decision Makers (Paragraphs
4.15-4.16)

4.15 Regulation 8 of The Regulations provides that both the LA and schools
adjudicator must have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State when they
take a decision on proposals. Paragraphs 4.17 to 4.73 below contain the statutory
guidance.

4.16 The following factors should not be taken to be exhaustive. Their importance
will vary, depending on the type and circumstances of the proposals. All proposals
should be considered on their individual merits.

EFFECT ON STANDARDS AND SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT

A System Shaped by Parents (Paragraphs 4.17-4.18)

4.17 The Government's aim, as set out in the Five Year Strategy for Education and
Learners and the Schools White Paper Higher Standards, Better Schools For All, is to
create a schools system shaped by parents which delivers excellence and equity. In
particular, the Government wishes to see a dynamic system in which:

weak schools that need to be closed are closed quickly and replaced by
new ones where necessary; and

the best schools are able to expand and spread their ethos and success.

4.18 The EIA 2006 amends the Education Act 1996 to place duties on LAs to secure
diversity in the provision of schools and to increase opportunities for parental choice
when planning the provision of schools in their areas. In addition, LAs are under a
specific duty to respond to representations from parents about the provision of schools,
including requests to establish new schools or make changes to existing schools. The
Government's aim is to secure a more diverse and dynamic schools system which is
shaped by parents. The Decision Maker should take into account the extent to which
the proposals are consistent with the new duties on LAs.

Standards (Paragraphs 4.19-4.20)

4.19 The Government wishes to encourage changes to local school provision which
will boost standards and opportunities for young people, whilst matching school place
supply as closely as possible to pupils’ and parents’ needs and wishes.

4.20 Decision Makers should be satisfied that proposals for a school expansion will
contribute to raising local standards of provision, and will lead to improved attainment
for children and young people. They should pay particular attention to the effects on
groups that tend to under-perform including children from certain ethnic groups,
children from deprived backgrounds and children in care, with the aim of narrowing
attainment gaps.

Diversity (Paragraphs 4.21-4.23)

Page 87



4.21 Decision Makers should be satisfied that when proposals lead to children (who
attend provision recognised by the LA as being reserved for pupils with special
educational needs) being displaced, any alternative provision will meet the statutory
SEN improvement test (see paragraphs 4.69-4.72).

4.22 The Government’s aim is to transform our school system so that every child
receives an excellent education – whatever their background and wherever they live. A
vital part of the Government’s vision is to create a more diverse school system offering
excellence and choice, where each school has a strong ethos and sense of mission
and acts as a centre of excellence or specialist provision.

4.23 Decision Makers should consider how proposals will contribute to local
diversity. They should consider the range of schools in the relevant area of the LA and
whether the expansion of the school will meet the aspirations of parents, help raise
local standards and narrow attainment gaps.

Every Child Matters (Paragraph 4.24)

4.24 The Decision Maker should consider how proposals will help every child and
young person achieve their potential in accordance with “Every Child Matters”
principles which are: to be healthy; stay safe; enjoy and achieve; make a positive
contribution to the community and society; and achieve economic well-being. This
should include considering how the school will provide a wide range of extended
services, opportunities for personal development, access to academic and applied
learning training, measures to address barriers to participation and support for children
and young people with particular needs, e.g. looked after children or children with
special educational needs (SEN) and disabilities.

SCHOOL CHARACTERISTICS

Equal Opportunity Issues (Paragraphs 4.27)

4.27 The Decision Maker should consider whether there are any sex, race or
disability discrimination issues that arise from the changes being proposed, for
example, that where there is a proposed change to single sex provision in an area,
there is equal access to single sex provision for the other sex to meet parental
demand. Similarly there needs to be a commitment to provide access to a range of
opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of the area, while ensuring that
such opportunities are open to all.

NEED FOR PLACES

Creating Additional Places (Paragraphs 4.28-4.30)

4.28 The Decision Maker should consider whether there is a need for the expansion
and should consider the evidence presented for the expansion such as planned
housing development or demand for provision. The Decision Maker should take into
account not only the existence of spare capacity in neighbouring schools, but also the
quality and popularity with parents of the schools in which spare capacity exists and
evidence of parents’ aspirations for places in the school proposed for expansion. The
existence of surplus capacity in neighbouring less popular or successful schools
should not in itself prevent the addition of new places.

Page 88



4.29 Where the school has a religious character, or follows a particular philosophy,
the Decision Maker should be satisfied that there is satisfactory evidence of sufficient
demand for places for the expanded school to be sustainable.

4.30 Where proposals will add to surplus capacity but there is a strong case for
approval on parental preference and standards grounds, the presumption should be
for approval. The LA in these cases will need to consider parallel action to remove the
surplus capacity thereby created.

Expansion of Successful and Popular Schools (Paragraph 4.31-4.34)

4.31 The Government is committed to ensuring that every parent can choose an
excellent school for their child. We have made clear that the wishes of parents should
be taken into account in planning and managing school estates. Places should be
allocated where parents want them, and as such, it should be easier for successful
and popular primary and secondary schools to grow to meet parental demand. For the
purposes of this guidance, the Secretary of State is not proposing any single definition
of a successful and popular school. It is for the Decision Maker to decide whether a
school is successful and popular, however, the following indicators should all be taken
into account:

a. the school’s performance;

i. in terms of absolute results in key stage assessments and public
examinations;

ii. by comparison with other schools in similar circumstances (both in the
same LA and other LAs);

iii. in terms of value added;

iv. in terms of improvement over time in key stage results and public
examinations.

b. the numbers of applications for places;

i. the Decision Maker should also take account of any other relevant
evidence put forward by schools.

4.32 The strong presumption is that proposals to expand successful and popular
schools should be approved. In line with the Government’s long standing policy that
there should be no increase in selection by academic ability, this presumption does
not apply to grammar schools or to proposals for the expansion of selective places at
partially selective schools.

4.33 The existence of surplus capacity in neighbouring less popular schools should
not in itself be sufficient to prevent this expansion, but if appropriate, in the light of
local concerns, the Decision Maker should ask the LA how they plan to tackle any
consequences for other schools. The Decision Maker should only turn down
proposals for successful and popular schools to expand if there is compelling objective
evidence that expansion would have a damaging effect on standards overall in an
area, which cannot be avoided by LA action.

Page 89



4.34 Before approving proposals the Decision Maker should confirm that the
admission arrangements of schools proposed for expansion fully meet the provisions
of the School Admissions Code. Although the Decision Maker may not modify
proposed admission arrangements, the proposer should be informed that proposals
with unsatisfactory admission arrangements are unlikely to be approved, and given the
opportunity to revise them in line with the Code of Practice. Where the LA, rather than
the governing body, is the admissions authority, we will expect the authority to take
action to bring the admission arrangements in to line with the School Admissions
Code.

Travel and Accessibility for All (Paragraphs 4.35-4.36)

4.35 In considering proposals for the reorganisation of schools, Decision Makers
should satisfy themselves that accessibility planning has been properly taken into
account. Facilities are to be accessible by those concerned, by being located close to
those who will use them, and the proposed changes should not adversely impact on
disadvantaged groups.

4.36 In deciding statutory proposals, the Decision Maker should bear in mind that
proposals should not have the effect of unreasonably extending journey times or
increasing transport costs, or result in too many children being prevented from
travelling sustainably due to unsuitable routes e.g. for walking, cycling etc. The EIA
2006 provides extended free transport rights for low income groups – see Home to
School Travel and Transport Guidance ref 00373 – 2007BKT-EN at
www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications. Proposals should also be considered on the
basis of how they will support and contribute to the LA’s duty to promote the use of
sustainable travel and transport to school.

FUNDING AND LAND

Capital (Paragraphs 4.57-4.59)

4.57 The Decision Maker should be satisfied that any land, premises or capital
required to implement the proposals will be available. Normally, this will be some form
of written confirmation from the source of funding on which the promoters rely (e.g. the
LA, DCSF, or LSC). In the case of an LA, this should be from an authorised person
within the LA, and provide detailed information on the funding, provision of land and
premises etc.

4.58 Where proposers are relying on DCSF as a source of capital funding, there can
be no assumption that the approval of proposals will trigger the release of capital funds
from the Department, unless the Department has previously confirmed in writing that
such resources will be available; nor can any allocation ‘in principle’ be increased. In
such circumstances the proposals should be rejected, or consideration of them
deferred until it is clear that the capital necessary to implement the proposals will be
provided.

4.59 Proposals should not be approved conditionally upon funding being made
available, subject to the following specific exceptions: For proposals being funded
under the Private Finance Initiative (PFI) or through the BSF programme, the Decision
Maker should be satisfied that funding has been agreed ‘in principle’, but the
proposals should be approved conditionally on the entering into of the necessary
agreements and the release of funding. A conditional approval will protect proposers

Page 90



so that they are not under a statutory duty to implement the proposals until the relevant
contracts have been signed and/or funding is finally released.

OTHER ISSUES

Views of Interested Parties (Paragraphs 4.73)

4.73 The Decision Maker should consider the views of all those affected by the
proposals or who have an interest in them including: pupils; families of pupils; staff;
other schools and colleges; local residents; diocesan bodies and other providers; LAs;
the LSC (where proposals affect 14-19 provision) and the Early Years Development
and Childcare Partnership if one exists, or any local partnership or group that exists in
place of an EYDCP (where proposals affect early years and/or childcare provision).
This includes statutory objections and comments submitted during the representation
period. The Decision Maker should not simply take account of the numbers of people
expressing a particular view when considering representations made on proposals.
Instead the Decision Maker should give the greatest weight to representations from
those stakeholders likely to be most directly affected by the proposals.

Page 91



Expansion of Dundonald Primary School

Published notice and prescribed information

Published notice

EXPANSION OF DUNDONALD PRIMARY SCHOOL

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections
Act 2006 that London Borough of Merton intends to make a prescribed alteration to
Dundonald Primary School (community primary school) Dundonald Road, London, SW19
3QH from 1 September 2015 .

The London Borough of Merton intends to increase the capacity of the school to
permanently expand the school from one form of entry to two forms of entry.

Excluding the nursery class the current permanent capacity of the school is 210
and the proposed capacity will be 420. The current number of pupils registered at
the school is 238. The current published admission number for the school is 30 and the
proposed admission number will be 60.

This Notice is an extract from the complete proposals. Copies of the complete
proposals can be obtained from: Contracts and School Organisation, London
Borough of Merton, Civic Centre Morden SM4 5DX or accessed at
http://www.merton.gov.uk/schoolsconsultations.htm

Within four weeks from the date of publication of these proposals, any person
may object to or make comments on the proposals by sending them to:

Director of Children Schools and Families
London Borough of Merton
Civic Centre,
Morden,
SM4 5DX.

Signed: Yvette Stanley, Director of Children, Schools and Families
Publication Date: 31 October 2013

Explanatory Notes

The expansion of Dundonald Primary School would be implemented gradually by an
increase in the size of the reception year. As an exception the school made 60 pupil
places available in reception year in September 2011. The Council is proposing to
increase the admission number permanently to 60 from September 2015.

Page 92



2

PROPOSALS FOR PRESCRIBED ALTERATIONS OTHER THAN
FOUNDATION PROPOSALS: Information to be included in or provided
in relation to proposals

Insert the information asked for in the expandable box below each section.

In respect of an LEA Proposal: School and local education authority details

1. The name, address and category of the school and a contact address for the local education
authority that is publishing the proposals.

School: Dundonald Primary School (community), Dundonald Road, London, SW19 3QH

Local Authority: Contracts and School Organisation, Children Schools and Families
Department, London Borough of Merton, Civic Centre, Morden, SM4 5DX

Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation

2. The date on which the proposals are planned to be implemented, and if they are to be implemented
in stages, a description of what is planned for each stage, and the number of stages intended and the
dates of each stage.

1 September 2015

Objections and comments

3. A statement explaining the procedure for making representations, including—

(a) the date by which objections or comments should be sent to the local education authority; and

(b) the address of the authority to which objections or comments should be sent.

Objections or comments should be sent on or before 28 November 2013 to Director of
Children Schools and Families, London Borough of Merton, Civic Centre, Morden, SM4
5DX or by e-mail to schconsult@merton.gov.uk

Alteration description

4. A description of the proposed alteration and in the case of special school proposals, a description
of the current special needs provision.

The London Borough of Merton intends to expand Dundonald Primary School from one form of
entry to two forms of entry.

Excluding the nursery class the current capacity of the school is 210 and the proposed capacity will
be 420. The current admission number for the school is 30 and the proposed admission number will
be 60.

The expansion of Dundonald Primary School would be implemented gradually by an increase in the
size of the reception year.

School capacity

5.—(1) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 8, 9 and 12-14 of
Schedule 2 or paragraphs 1-4, 7, 8, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule 4 to The School Organisation

Page 93



3

(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007, the proposals must also
include—

(a) details of the current capacity of the school and where the proposals will alter the capacity of
the school, the proposed capacity of the school after the alteration;

Excluding the nursery class the current permanent capacity of the school is 210 and the
proposed capacity after the alteration will be 420

(b) details of the current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant age group, and
where this number is to change, the proposed number of pupils to be admitted in each relevant
age group in the first school year in which the proposals will have been implemented;

The school admits 30 pupils per year group. As an exception the school made 60 pupil
places available in reception year in September 2011 but further increases cannot be
made until additional accommodation is made available through a permanent expansion.
The Council is proposing to increase the admission number permanently to 60 as part of
this proposal from September 2015.

(c) where it is intended that proposals should be implemented in stages, the number of pupils to be
admitted to the school in the first school year in which each stage will have been implemented;

Not applicable

(d) where the number of pupils in any relevant age group is lower than the indicated admission
number for that relevant age group a statement to this effect and details of the indicated
admission number in question.

Not applicable

(2) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1, 2, 9, 12 and 13 to 4, and 7
and 8 of Schedule 2 or paragraphs 1, 2, 8, 18 ands 19 of Schedule 4 to The School Organisation
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 a statement of the number
of pupils at the school at the time of the publication of the proposals.

The expansion falls within paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule 4. (increase in capacity and
increase in numbers).

The current number of pupils registered at the school is 238 according to the latest official
school census information in May 2013. This excludes the nursery class.

Additional Site

6.—(1) A statement as to whether any new or additional site will be required if proposals are
implemented and if so the location of the site if the school is to occupy a split site.

The boundary of the school site will be increased into the adjacent Dundonald Recreation
Ground to allow the new school building, access to the new building, and an Early Years
play area. In addition the recreation ground tennis courts/multi use sports area, an area
currently enjoyed by the school for play and PE by many years, will be enlarged and
made more formally available for the school to use at set times to enable play and PE.

Page 94



4

Objectives

7. The objectives of the proposals.

The objective of the proposal is to provide additional ‘basic need’ primary school places in the local
area to meet rising demand, expanding an Ofsted rated “Outstanding” school which is the most over-
subscribed primary school in Merton (on the basis of applications to number of places currently
available in 2013), to facilitate the overall strategy of continuing to raise education standards.

The proposed expansion of Dundonald Primary School is part of an overall programme of school
expansion in Merton, with twenty one schools, including Dundonald, having permanently expanded or
in the process of doing so since 2008 to ensure sufficient places are provided. According to GLA
(Greater London Authority) population projections for the London Borough of Merton further expansion
will be required to meet further need up to 2017.

Consultation

8. Evidence of the consultation before the proposals were published including—

The council consulted on the proposal in summer 2011. However, the
implementation of the scheme required other legal processes, most notably the
modification of a restrictive covenant on the adjacent recreation ground (see
section 6 above on “additional site”). Therefore there was a significant time delay
before the council felt able to publish a statutory proposal and due to this an
additional consultation was held in September/October 2013.

(a) a list of persons who were consulted;

The following were consulted in September 2013:

The Governing body – Dundonald Primary School

All families, teachers and other staff – Dundonald Primary School

Governing body, teachers and other staff – all LB Merton primary schools

Diocese of Southwark

Archdiocese of Southwark

Trade Union Representatives

Stephen Hammond MP

All early years providers and childminders in local area

All LB Merton councillors

Friends of Dundonald Park

For the 2011 consultation, the consultation leaflet was also distributed to
approximately 4,500 dwellings surrounding Dundonald School, as it was also a
consultation on the impact on the recreation ground.

(b) minutes of all public consultation meetings; Appendix 2 provides minutes of
consultation meetings in 2011. A consultation meeting was not held for the
additional consultation in 2013

(c) the views of the persons consulted; Appendix 1 provides this for both
consultations.

(d) a statement to the effect that all applicable statutory requirements in relation to
the proposals to consult were complied with;

The council’s legal services team has been consulted and confirm that all applicable
statutory requirements in relation to the proposals to consult were complied with.

(e) copies of all consultation documents and a statement on how these documents
were made available

Appendix 3 provides the document for both consultations

For the 2011 consultation a hard copy of the document was sent to all the parties
listed above, as well as making the document available on the Council’s website. The

Page 95



5

document was sent to Dundonald School parents via the parents’ email distribution
system. Other parties were posted the document. For the 2013 consultation all
parties listed in 8a above were either emailed the document or it was posted to them.

Project costs

9. A statement of the estimated total capital cost of the proposals and the breakdown of the costs that
are to be met by the governing body, the local education authority, and any other party.

The finance will be provided by the local authority, as part of the Children, Schools and
Families capital programme, aided in part by Department for Education capital grant. The
project has funding from the DfE’s targeted basic need programme, which funds priority
projects that provide additional basic need places at good and outstanding schools.

The cost of the project from 2013/14 financial year are contained in Appendix 4.

10. A copy of confirmation from the Secretary of State, local education authority and the Learning and
Skills Council for England (as the case may be) that funds will be made available (including costs to
cover any necessary site purchase).

Appendix 4 – contains the relevant extract from the council’s capital programme,
confirming agreement to funding by the council on 6 March 2013.

Need or demand for additional places

11. If the proposals involve adding places—

(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the need or demand for the particular places in the
area;

There is a significant increase in demand for school places in Merton, with more children
reaching school age, fuelled by an unprecedented increase in the number of live births since
2002 and exacerbated by other factors. The most recent GLA population projections based
on the 2011 census shows the rise in children aged 4 (school reception year) over the past
five years and how, after a plateau/modest drop in 2013, it will rise again until 2017

“2012 ROUND” GLA POPULATION PROJECTIONS
FOR LB MERTON (2011 CENSUS BASED)

Year

"SHLAA"
model

persons 4
years

"Trend-
based" model

persons 4
years

2007 2,276 2,276

2008 2,420 2,420

2009 2,499 2,499

2010 2,543 2,543

2011 2,790 2,790

2012 2,786 2,806

2013 2,746 2,788

2014 2,922 2,995

2015 2,926 3,027

2016 3,062 3,188

2017 3,061 3,229

‘SHLAA’ is the GLA population projection model which is linked to development trajectories from the Strategic

Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA).

Page 96



6

The “Trend-based” projection doesn’t take dwellings into account but considers births, population (by single year of

age), migration (outflows and inflows), total fertility rates, and life expectancy at birth.

The GLA previously only provided the ‘SHLAA” model, but found in recent years that it severely under estimated the

growth in child population as it did not take account of the rising child per dwelling ratio. The “trend based” is an

alternative model produced by the GLA for the first time; the GLA feel it may be more accurate for councils without

significant new build.

While the council has some evidence that the growth may not be quite as high as forecast by
the GLA, including a modest fall in the number of live births in 2012 calendar year compared
to 2011, cohorts with higher birth figures are still to reach school age (see table below) and
the case for expanding Dundonald Primary School to meet the need for local school places is
still clear.

Academic year born 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12

Academic year for
reception year 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Live births for cohort 3387 3485 3536 3496 *
* 2011/12 is

The distance that Dundonald has offered for distance-based places in the past 4 years is
as follows:

Year Siblings and special
cases criteria

Distance

2013 21 105 metres

2012 10 217 metres

2011 13 303 metres*

2010 13 212 metres

* First 30 places only – temporary 30 places also provided

Therefore, despite the substantial increase in provision at other local schools, the distance
offered for Dundonald has reduced over the past 3 years (although there was a greater
number of siblings in 2013 due to the 2011 bulge, explaining the substantial decrease to 105
metres in 2013).

The six schools nearest Dundonald are as follows:
1. Wimbledon Chase Primary School Approximate distance: 0.3 miles (“as the crow flies”)
2. St Mary's Catholic Primary School Approximate distance: 0.3 miles
3.Pelham Primary School Approximate distance: 0.5 miles
4. Merton Park Primary School Approximate distance: 0.6 miles
5. Holy Trinity CofE Primary School Approximate distance: 0.7 miles
6. Bishop Gilpin CofE Primary School Approximate distance: 0.7 miles

However, except for pupils with the appropriate church affiliation, none of these schools are
available to residents immediately to the east of Dundonald School, with Wimbledon Chase
offering to 477 metres and Pelham 423 metres, even with their extra places offered within the
last five and two years respectively.

There are some schools further than the above 6 that have some spare places, but
collectively the spare capacity is well below the advised level to support minimum parental
choice.

Dundonald Primary School had more preference applications (435 on-time for reception year)
than any other Merton primary school last year.

The proposed expansion of Dundonald Primary School is part of an overall programme of
school expansion in Merton to provide an additional 21 forms of entry in permanent
accommodation.

LB Merton sets criteria for selecting schools to expand. This is outlined below stating how

Page 97



7

Dundonald Primary School meets this criteria:

Educational standards:- The school was given an ‘Outstanding’ rating by Ofsted at its
last inspection in 2009. The 2012 ‘Raise on Line’ demonstrated pupil achievement
was significantly above the national average.

Parental preference The school is the most oversubscribed school in the borough
with places only able to be offered to a very small area - in the last two years this has
been between only 106 and 218 metres

Smaller schools expand where feasible: The school is only 1FE so the smallest size
of LB Merton Primary schools

Location: Admissions data outlined above shows it will meet demand within a very
local area.

Physical constraints of existing school sites: Planning expansion of this school has
been extremely complicated. However, it meets the key criteria above and there are
no other local alternatives

Sustainable and will ensure a school continues to be popular and successful: By a
careful design in partnership with the council's greenspaces team the scheme
proposed will ensure the school continues to provide high standards

Value for money and affordability: As outlined above the scheme is expensive but
within the context of limited alternative options it is value for money and also provides
more modern sustainable recreation ground facilities.

Diversity including balance of faith and non-faith provision: Meets the need for non-
faith places

(b) where the school adheres to a particular philosophy, evidence of the demand for education in
accordance with the philosophy in question and any associated change to the admission
arrangements for the school.

NA – the school is a community school

Expansion of successful and popular schools

25A. (1) Proposals must include a statement of whether the proposer considers that the presumption
for the expansion of successful and popular schools should apply, and where the governing body
consider the presumption applies, evidence to support this.

The Local Authority feels that Dundonald Primary School would be considered under
the presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools. As stated in the
section above, the school was given an ‘Outstanding’ rating by Ofsted at its last
inspection in 2009. The 2012 ‘Raise on Line’ demonstrated pupil achievement was
significantly above the national average. The school is the most oversubscribed school
in the borough with places only able to be offered to a very small area - in the last two
years this has been between only 106 and 218 metres.

List of Appendices

Appendix 1 - Summary of the views of the persons consulted from 2011 and 2013;

Appendix 2 - Minutes of the two public consultation meetings in 2011

Appendix 3 - Copies of consultation documents from May 2011 and September 2013

Appendix 4 – Council report 6 March 2013 – inclusion of school expansion capital finance

Page 98



APPENDIX 1a

Dundonald Primary School Proposed Expansion

Consultation Responses September and October 2013

Responses: 3 x Pre-school parent

2 x Parent

1 x Parent & pre-school parent (=6 total)

6 x Resident/others

3 x Representative bodies

Pre-school parent

1. Support the expansion. Obvious need for additional places and current

school intake is inadequate and inappropriate for local needs. Concerns

about increased traffic are overstated.

2. Strongly in favour of expansion. Will also reduce the pressure on other

primary schools in Wimbledon.

3. Feel strongly that the expansion should go ahead. Shame about building on

the Rec but it is absolutely necessary. No vested interest as own child will get

into Wimbledon Chase under the sibling policy. Most vocal opponents are

those with children already in the school.

Parent

1. Delighted school will be expanded. There is a clear need in the area – too

few schools for the density of the population. Local schools build local

communities

2. Support the expansion. The proposed new building will be an asset to both

the school and the whole neighbourhood.

Parent & Pre-School Parent

1. Strongly in favour for a number of reasons: additional places are necessary;

school will get better facilities (bigger playground & hall); better facilities for

local children (playground); and the financial benefits of a two form entry

school including the attraction and retention of better teachers.

Resident

1. Vehemently against the plan to extend into the Rec. Wonder at council

projections that you will need more places than this? Please consider a new

build and design it with overriding curriculum imperatives in mind.

Page 99



2. Against the expansion. The answer to the chronic shortage is to build new

schools. Wrong for the council to try and get round the covenant on a legal

technicality. Sport England has withdrawn its support. Local residents should

not suffer as a result of inadequate school provision.

3. Opposed to the scheme. Comments include: exclusion of residents and lack

of publicity of current consultation; demographic case for Dundonald’s

expansion has not been made (there was even a surplus of primary school

places in Merton last year); Sport England’s objections have not been

mentioned; Council need to find a legal solution to planning approval issues;

investigation of Merton by Local Government Ombudsman; and would like to

know how much money has been spent on the scheme so far?

4. Covenant should not be broken. Playground will still be too small. No

parking. Residents will be unable to use certain parts during school hours and

community groups will not be able to use the pavilion.

5. (Also a childminder). Against the expansion. Concerned about danger of

extra traffic; loss of the Rec (building site for a couple of years); increased

noise; loss of pavilion use. A new school is a better option – could have built

one by now?

6. Strongly support the expansion. Only live 2 mins walk away and child did not

get in so have resorted to a private school. Intake size is so small that

parents are going to ridiculous efforts to gain a place, e.g. renting very close

to the school just until their child gets a place then moving away. Opposing

the plans are shortsighted. Can see no reasonable grounds for objectors

regarding the tennis courts – infact they should be welcoming the additional

facilities. Opposers campaign is cynical and selfish.

7. Opposed to the expansion as do not want to lose the childminder drop-in at

the pavilion. Bowling green has been neglected. Concerned about state of

Rec during the building works and fear it will never be the same again.

Concerned about children’s safety due to increased traffic (Local resident and

childminder ).

Representative bodies

1. Protect Dundonald Rec - Disappointed that residents and park users have

not been consulted. Also issues preventing the school expansion have not

been mentioned e.g. Sport England’s objection. Understand all previous

comments will be taken into account so only commenting on educational

issues. 2 main aspects – suitability of school building and demand for places.

Firstly, both the new development plus the re-modelled ‘old’ school building

Page 100



will be inadequate, overcrowded and too small. Question whether the

detailed plans will comply with building regs, especially Approved Document B

plus the Government Fire Risk Assessment Guides for Education. If not, the

school will be both unusable and unsuitable. Secondly, questions the birth

data and projections used to calculate the number of primary school places

needed in certain planning areas in Merton. Concerned about overprovision in

some planning areas whereas other areas with increased birth rates have had

no expansions. Suggests Beecholme as an alternative option. The proposal

for a ‘free school’ serving the Raynes Park area should also be considered.

Concludes that there may be demand for an additional form of entry but not in

this ward or central Wimbledon. Council should urgently reassess primary

school provision.

2. Southwark Diocese – Supports the long term strategy of expansion however

concerned about impact on pupil numbers at All Saints Primary School.

Support a delay in expanding at this stage.

3. Friends of Dundonald Park – Puzzled that residents and users of the Rec

have not be included in this consultation. Concerned that ‘Green Flag’ status

of Rec plus recent improvements have and will be jeopardized. Puzzled

Opposed to the expansion due to: overestimate of future pupil numbers;

suggest other sites which are more suitable such as those identified in Capita

report, Beecholme Primary or free schools; data shows no shortfall of primary

provision in the Wimbledon area unlike other areas; excessive noise from

relocated and enlarged playground and MUGA; inadequacy of proposed

pavilion; loss of trees and impact on conservation area; increased traffic and

parking; and lack of logistics plan.

Page 101



APPENDIX 1 b

DUNDONALD PRIMARY SCHOOL CONSULTATION 2011

CONSULTATION PROCESS AND MEETINGS

The consultation started on 18 May 2011. The original closing date was 28 June but this
was extended to 11 July 2011.

The consultation was advertised with a leaflet distributed to 4,500 residents, all parents of
children attending Dundonald School, neighbouring schools and Local Authorities,
diocesan authorities, all local councillors and MPs.

A public meeting was held on 8 June at Dundonald School. Unfortunately demand
exceeded capacity of the hall so a further public meeting was held on 22 June at St.
Andrews Church Hall. The first meeting was attended by approximately 130 and the
second meeting by approximately 200 people.

Notes of all the points raised at the two meetings are included as appendix 2. Responses
to all of these points are contained in a questionnaire and answer sheet which was
updated during the consultation. This is available on the council’s website
http://www.merton.gov.uk/schoolsconsultations.htm

Two “drop in” sessions were organised to discuss the design – on 23 May and 8 June
2011.

SUMMARY OF WRITTEN RESPONSES

Overall summary

The consultation document requested responses in two parts:

1. On the principle of expanding Dundonald School. Respondents were asked to
“provide comments on the principle of expanding Dundonald Primary School to 2
forms of entry (60 pupils per year), including any specific concerns you may have
that the Local Authority and school could address”. No specific yes/no question was
asked as the council wished to encourage detail on concerns and suggestions
rather than implying we were holding a referendum.

2. The preferred design out of the three options put to consultation and “any
comments and whether there are there any high or low priorities for the scheme or
facilities you would like to see in the park as part of the scheme”.

Lastly respondents were asked whether they were a parent with a pupil
currently at Dundonald Primary School, a parent with pre-school children, a
member of staff, a local resident without a direct interest in the school’s
education, or other e.g. representing an institution.

There were 386 written responses to the questionnaire or letters received
during the consultation that did not appear to be a duplicate of the consultation
questionnaire so were also included as a response to the consultation.

Page 102



Respondents were asked to categorise themselves and the breakdown is
listed below.

Parents of current pupils at Dundonald 55
Parents with pre-school children 64
Local residents including interested groups/not stated 267

--------
Total 386

--------

A summary of all 386 responses is posted on the council’s website
http://www.merton.gov.uk/schoolsconsultations.htm

To obtain a direct view of the competing views from four respondents that
have appeared to have taken time to consider the consultation carefully, it is
recommended that the following are viewed in full:
Positive: responses 329 and 335
Negative: responses 31 and 356

Part 1 - Principle of expanding Dundonald School

The consultation form did not specifically ask a closed questionnaire on
whether people supported the principle of expanding Dundoanld School or
not. However, in analysing the responses the administrator was asked to view
whether the response was generally positive, negative, or neutral/unclear.
While there can be no exact interpretation – and there is no need as it is not a
referendum and the detail of responses are most important – it does give a
general view of the response. The breakdown of positive and negative by
category is below.

Parents of current pupils at Dundonald 55 24 Positive, 24 negative, 7 other
Parents with pre-school children 64 42 Positive, 12 negative, 10 other
Local residents including interested
groups/not stated 267 55 Positive, 186 negative, 26 other

------
Total 386 121 Positive, 222 negative, 43 other

------

In summary, there was an exact balance of view of current parents at Dundonald School, a
significant majority of local residents were negative towards the proposal, but a significant
majority of parents with pre-school children were positive.

Some respondents queried the validity of the consultation process. However, council
officers do not accept that this had any material impact on the consultation responses, and
the council has provided detailed responses to residents that wrote to the council in regard
to this.

A summary of the main issues and objections that came from part one of the consultation
is below:

Page 103



Main issues & objections

1. Negative Impact on the recreation ground

General comments:

a) Encroachment/detrimental impact on the rec/ reduction of local amenities
b) Council must not breach the covenant
c) Breaching the covenant would set a dangerous precedent
d) Character of rec will change
e) Should only be rec buildings in the rec
f) worried dogs will be banned from the rec.
g) If expanding the school/impacting on the park the council is ignoring the wishes of the

local community

Specific negative impacts
h) Impact on footpaths/reduced accessibility to Rose Garden and Holocaust memorial;
i) Loss of open space;
j) Loss of mature trees
k) Loss of bowling green (unfair on elderly people)
l) The building will harm the appearance and diminish the value of the rec
m) MUGA (hard court “Multi use games area”) will destroy the peaceful ambience of the

Rose Garden and lead to more tarmac on the rec
n) Space for leisure is smaller in the proposed new building/ don't want to lose use of

pavilion.
o) Dual use access seems unfeasible so diminishment of the tennis courts
p) Particular disruption to facilities during the construction period

2. There is no need to expand Dundonald School to provide local places:
a) Demand is not in this area
b) Uncertainty over future demand
c) Lots of children currently at the school are not local and this will increase
d) How can there be a need when there are vacancies elsewhere e.g. at Joseph Hood,

Hatfeild & Hillcross
e) There is no demographic need – LB Merton is just 'cherry picking' of outstanding schools

which will take away places from other school
f) Previous expansions should have covered increase in the birth rate
g) Demand is in the Gap Road area
h) The council has failed to demonstrate that there are no other options

3. Negative impact on Dundonald School including standards and ethos
a) Could change school's character & atmosphere/ethos;
b) Expansion will adversely affect the school's achievements/quality
c) Cherish small schools. No guarantee standards will remain once expanded/ could affect

the school's 'outstanding' rating.
d) Increased catchments will result in children being driven to school and damage the ‘local’

aspect of school life
e) Insufficient play space/ sub optimal school facilities
f) Dundonald will become more cramped as no additional facilities (e.g. larger hall, music

room or library) are planned
g) Concerned over disruption to pupils from construction works

4. Increase traffic & congestion
a) Increase congestion and noise from traffic
b) Increased parking problems,
c) Increased pollution
d) Detrimental to the ambiance of the neighbourhood
e) Illegal fly-parking by parents.

Page 104



f) Increased noise of children

5. Suggestions on mitigation:
a) Agree new Covenant/ legal agreement to prevent further building work
b) Building sympathetic design to the green space
c) Any hard surface 'dual use' areas are suitably screened and landscaped

d) No mature trees lost

e) Support facilities for players to be the same or better than now.
f) Ensure an appropriate traffic assessment is carried out and the school agrees a Travel

Plan to mitigate any congestion
g) Why not build within the existing boundaries and have the public space accessible after

school hours?
h) Build into the Rose Garden instead/ building along Dundonald Road
i) Ensure building is same architecture of school & houses
j) Consider additional entrance to school from the Rec. Retain two paths from Rose Garden
k) Involve local residents throughout the consultation process

6. Suggested alternatives to expanding Dundonald School
a) Expand elsewhere (location not suggested)
b) Build a new school (e.g. empty buildings, brown field sites - location not suggested)

c) Use old Wimbledon House School, Dorset Road e.g. as a satellite site
d) Expand Wimbledon Chase further
e) New school on Wimbledon Common
f) Expand Bishop Gilpin/ former Park House Middle site
g) Look at the sibling rule which will prevent the need for expansion to provide local places
h) Build a new school to the north/east where it is needed e.g. Gap Road

7. Positive comments
a) Accept the demand for and duty to provide additional places
b) Places are clearly needed “Vitally necessary”. All options are sympathetic to the rec
c) Desperate shortage of places in the area - current catchment is too tight
d) In total agreement for local school places
e) Surely John Innes would have welcome proposal as he was heavily involved in education

e.g. leading figure in the 1895 erection of Rutlish School
f) the current ‘eyesore’ , shabby and dilapidated pavilion will benefit from being replaced
g) 2FE schools offer more opportunities. Expansions spread across existing good schools

is ideal solution
h) Support proposal in the absence of any alternatives
i) Expanding outstanding schools makes sense economically

8. Comments on an Admissions Priority Area (“APA”) (Note – consultation document
confirmed that we were not consulting on an APA but may do so in the future

a) Not in favour of catchment area beyond the closest school criteria
b) Would like an APA favouring roads to the east/north east e.g. to include Raymond &

Malcolm Roads to the north and Graham Road to the east

9. Criticism of consultation process
a) failure to mention Covenant;
b) failure to include feasibility drawings with the document;
c) inadequacy of drawings e.g. no elevations so can’t see the impact
d) lack of clarity regarding impact on the rec & capacity of the school/Merton Council's long

term agenda
e) vague and misleading statements

f) failure to provide any explanation for the 'profile' questions at the end of the document

10. Criticisms of past decisions made by the council/on-going related decisions
a) The council should restrict number of homes being converted to multi-occupancy.
b) This is the fault of the council for selling off of school sites in the past

Page 105



c) The council shouldn’t give planning permission for housing when there are no school
places

d) The council could have uses the old B&Q site in Alexandra Road

Part 2 – Design options

A number of people, especially those against the Council’s general proposal, did not wish
to support any of the options and a preference was not given for one of the council’s 3
options.

The results by category was as follows:

Parents of current pupils at Dundonald 55 18 for option C, 3 for A
Parents with pre-school children 64 32 for Option C, 4 for A
Local residents including interested
groups/not stated 267 28 for option C , 4 for A

------
Total 386 78 for option C, 11 for A

------

Therefore of the 386 responses, only 89 gave a preference for an option. Of those, the
vast majority preferred option C.

A summary of all the comments is below:

1. Comments on priorities for the design:
a) As few trees as possible removed.
b) Enhance the pavilion
c) Maintain present sports facilities
d) Changing rooms essential
e) Hall available to public during school hours
f) Decent rooms for local residents to use including a kitchen (Friends could sell

refreshments)
g) Coffee bar/cafeteria provided
h) Keep the bowling green
i) No need for bowling green
j) Larger children's playground,
k) Better apparatus for younger children to use
l) More climbing equipment for older children and/or adults
m) Improved facilities for older children, e.g. Skateboard area, zip wire, 5-a-side

football facilities
n) Playground provision maintained during the construction period.
o) Picnic benches near playground
p) Tennis courts with nets provided again
q) Tennis courts available during school hours
r) Pleasant garden for sitting in (replace Rose Garden away from the road).
s) New pavilion with access from Dundonald Road would be a major asset for the

community.
t) Access to school halls 'out of hours'
u) Improved public buildings to support local community activities (e.g. music

Page 106



rehearsal); Maintain a perimeter path
v) Keeping both playground areas together
w) Community hall large enough for function hire
x) Do not increase tarmac in park
y) Look at alternative option e.g. building on Rose Garden and within existing

footprint
z) Do not build on the Rose Garden

Page 107



APPENDIX 2

NOTES OF PUBLIC MEETINGS HELD ON 8 JUNE AND 22 JUNE 2011

Notes of Consultation on Proposed Expansion of Dundonald Primary School
Wednesday 8 June 2011, 7.30pm

Introduction to the meeting

Sandy Adamson introduced himself as an independent chair and was not an employee
of the council but has worked in the Department for Education and in Local
Government. He is currently the chair of governors of St. Teresa’s School, which is a
Voluntary Aided School in Merton.

The meeting was attended by approximately 130 parents, staff, governors, local
councilors, and residents. The school hall was not large enough to accommodate the
large number of interested parties that wanted to attend the meeting so only residents
that arrived by 7.15pm were in attendance. After deliberation, following the chair’s
decision that no filming should be allowed, the meeting started.

The following speeches/presentations were given:-

Lorraine Maries – (Chair of “Protect Dundonald Rec”) presented to the meeting
explaining that they are not a political group who have come together because of our
concerns for the Rec.

The full transcript is appendix 1 to these notes

Councillor Peter Walker (LB Merton Cabinet Lead member for Education)
explained the reasons behind the proposal including the increase in the number of
children, the Council’s legal duty to educate children of 4 years old in classes of 30
pupils, and stating that the proposal will not ruin the rec.

Tom Procter (Manager of School Organisation, LB Merton) provided detail on the
legal issues, the design, and the catchment of the school.

The powerpoint presentations from Peter Walker and Tom Procter are posted on the
council’s website http://www.merton.gov.uk/schoolsconsultations.htm

Fiona Duffy (Headteachar, Dundonald Primary School) explained her commitment
to a local school for local children. The recreation ground enhances the education
value to children.

Questions & Comments

Overall, a majority of those present had concerns about, and some strongly opposed -
mainly over the encroachment on the present boundaries of Dundonald Park, both
regarding its legality and the practical consequences for existing facilities, but also in
relation to Dundonald School doubling in size.

Page 108



The following were the particular questions recorded. Initial responses were provided
on the evening, and all additional questions with answers have been added to the
council’s Q&A on the website to ensure there is an official council position
provided on each question asked at the meeting:

The council’s Q&A on the website
http://www.merton.gov.uk/schoolsconsultations.htm

Initial questions and comments

1. It is disappointing that there are people outside that cannot attend the
consultation meeting.

2. The chair cannot be independent if he has been appointed by the Council.

The Covenant

3. It is not clear whether you are going to deal with the covenant? Will the council
go to an independent body?

4. Is there any protection for the park?

5. Who are the beneficiaries?

6. Has anyone asked who has a legal benefit of the covenant?

7. An application for a variation will be required. What legal documents can
be put in place to prevent further expansion on the park?

10. Have the LB Merton planners commented on the development thus far?

11 Is there any covenant on the school area?

Recreation Facilities

12. What will happen to the bowling green? It takes years to build a bowling green.
We will be lucky if we get the bowling green. How many members belong to the
bowling club? A local facility like that is required so that we are not a drag on
the NHS

13 In the Q&A document you state under moral trust issue that there is expected
to be a cut on the revenue budget and that this is the case whether the bowling
green is kept or not?

14 The tennis courts will not be available during the daytime and Wimbledon is
known for its tennis.

Why Dundonald Primary School Expansion and other issues

15 Why Dundonald? Are Wimbledon Chase, Joseph Hood and all other schools in
the area full?

Page 109



16 Joseph Hood Primary School and Wimbledon Chase Primary School take children
from further afield such as Morden and Mitcham. Will Dundonad take children from
further afield?

17 People would be upset if local people are ignored and people from outside get
places. What procedures are in place to check eligibility? I am concerned that
people are abusing the system. I am of the opinion that there are sufficient places
at Wimbledon Chase and other schools.

18 How many applied for admission to this school for the next academic year? How far
do they live from the school? We do not want children that do not live local to the
school.

19 Why does the council not build a new school? Why did the Council not develop the
Gap Road site. The Council could have made a compulsory purchase order for the
Gap Road property? Money was set aside. Luckily the new government has a
policy of free schools which could provide new schools

20 What would be the period of expansion for the Dundonald expansion?

21 The problem is that the Council sold off many school sites in the past.

22 No one is speaking in support of the expansion. At the Wimbledon Chase
consultation for expansion 100 parents spoke out against the Wimbledon Chase
Primary School expansion. This was not recorded. The notes said that there was
no objection against the expansion. This is a steamroller exercise by the Council
and one sided.

23 What happens after 2013? How does expansion here help provide places for
children that live in Wimbledon Village where the need is?

24 Schools cannot continue to expand indefinitely. At some point it is not going to be
possible to continue to expand.

25 Surely there are other places where people need places.

26 Why has Wimbledon House School site (in Dorset Road) not been considered or
the Emma Hamilton pub site (Kingston Road)?

27 Why were so many usable sites sold off by the council and what happened to the
money from the sales of these properties?

28 Isn’t your policy to expand outstanding schools wrong as it will just undermine any
school elsewhere?

29 Dundonald school is doing well because it is a 1 FE school.

30 Isn’t it the council’s fault that we have an increase in children? Ordinary homes
have been split into flats. Major developments have been approved. Children need
green space now even more.

Page 110



31 You will cut down on space available during construction. What would be the
impact on the park? How would the construction vehicles get onto the site?

32 In the Q&A document you state under moral trust issue that there is expected to be
a cut on the revenue budget and that this is the case whether the bowling green is
kept or not?

33 It is not a park but a recreation ground. Do not take this away from people.

34 People would be upset if local people are ignored and people from outside get
places. What procedures are in place to check eligibility? I am concerned that
people are abusing the system. I am of the opinion that there are sufficient places
at Wimbledon Chase and other schools.

35 The consultation document is misleading – It has ignored a tree that is on the
existing site. Option B & C do involve loss of trees.

36 We need to understand that the council needs pupil places, but what is your
understanding of the views of local residents?

37 No one is speaking in support of the expansion.

38 When is the next consultation meeting?

39 Some people have said to me that they were unaware of what they were signing for
on the petition and that they believed that flats were being built on the park.

40 What is Miss Duffy’s view on the expansion of the school? Everyone keeps
interrupting. We are failing in this meeting.

41 I am the promoter of the proposed free school in Dorset Road but also I am a
governor at Dundonald School. I came along to this meeting because I was unsure
of my views. Clr P Walker has told me why I should be in favour of the expansion
and the Save the Rec have told me why I should be against it. I am shocked at the
behaviour of the people here. People are shouting. I have not had the opportunity
to hear what the effect would be on the park. I want to know whether this will be an
opportunity to improve the park. The pavilion is dreadful. People are closing their
eyes against this. There is a big demand for expansion. A Free school is not a
substitute. It is a necessary addition.

Appendix 1 (to 8 June meeting)

Presentation by Lorraine Maries speaking on behalf of the Protect Dundonald
Rec. Campaign group, Wednesday 8th June 2011 at Dundonald School

The following facts and figures are taken from the Councils own documents, sources
and plans.

1. Why listen to ‘Protect Dundonald Rec.’?
We are a non-political group of local residents who have come together because of our
concerns for the Rec. Non-political – that is important. Too many people have sought to
ambush this consultation and treat it as an opportunity for political posturing. We’re

Page 111



trying to consider what is right for the local community and that means everyone, not
just one group.

In Dundonald ward just 19% of households have dependent children (aged under 19).
There are more households with single people (26%) and couples without children
(23%). Then there are elderly people, students and mixed households. Everyone,
including the children, benefits from the Rec. We want to see it preserved for future
generations to enjoy.

2. Why are we concerned?
Dundonald Rec is central to this community. It was set out before many of the houses
to the south had been built. The land was sold to what is now Merton Council by John
and James Innes in 1893. A legally binding covenant was entered into then to ensure
that the land would be forever used as a Public Pleasure Ground. This is fact.

Building on the Rec would break the covenant which also states that “no building or
other erection not reasonably required for use in connection with a pleasure ground
shall at any time be erected or made on the said ... land". A school is not a building
which is "reasonably required for use in connection with a pleasure ground" therefore a
school building cannot legally be built on the Rec. The Rec has survived two world
wars and a periods of economic hardship yet the covenant has been respected for 118
years.

The Council have finally publicly acknowledged the existence of this covenant, but
have said they will ignore it. Will the Council also ignore the will of 1,475 residents and
park users (who have signed our petition in the past month) who feel that this promise
should be respected? Merton Council needs to respect our heritage, and our green
environment. The Council’s own objectives, published in their Core planning strategy
this summer, include “Improving access to leisure facilities including opportunities for
sport, play and relaxation” and “Conserving and enhancing Merton’s green character
and historic environment”.

The health and wellbeing benefits of green spaces is well recognized in local and
national policy. A recent Government White paper has moved environmental
considerations in planning to the top of the agenda. But more than ever in the current
economic climate we need to be vigilant to protect our green spaces. The covenant
protects the Rec. To breach it sets a dangerous precedent.

3. What about education?

Many of us are parents, and understand how difficult it is to ensure that our children
have the best education available. Getting into the right school is a major worry. But
here are the facts:

There are ten primary schools within a one mile radius of Dundonald. Six of these have
expanded between 2008 and 2011. This is a 43% increase in the number of places for
five year olds. Compare this with an increase in the birth rate of 30% (from 2003 to
2007).

There is already plenty of provision for local children in schools near to their homes. If
places are not available at Dundonald for local children it is not due to lack of places,

Page 112



but to the admissions policy. This places the sibling rule and parental choice higher
than proximity to the school. Many parents want this, but in reality this means that some
lose out in the resulting lottery.

An expanded school would bring children in from as far away as 1,000 metres. Are
these really ‘local’ children’ or are they children who actually live nearer to other local
schools?

Nearly every household in the borough lives within 500m of a primary school.
Other options include the possibility of expanding other schools which Merton Council
has identified as having suitable sites, or building new schools in areas of high
demand. Merton Council wants to follow a policy of expanding excellent schools.
Shouldn’t its policy be to ensure that all schools are excellent – and offer parents a real
choice?

4. What we could lose

Dundonald School is by far the smallest site in the borough - 2,094 sq m. To double the
number of pupils the Council’s own plans show that they will have to annex an
additional 2,000 sq m of the rec. The Council claims that this is alright because they will
use the old pavilion. But the pavilion does not belong to the school. It is a public facility,
and it is being taken away.

The new building has a footprint which is half the size of the current school. How can it
accommodate an additional 210 children, plus community facilities. Is it a Tardis?

The Council say they will provide improved community facilities. The plans show:
Fewer changing rooms
A smaller kitchen
The loss of the bowling green
The Rose Garden – the only Holocaust memorial garden in the borough - will be
isolated from the rest of the Rec. by double height fences around the school
playground.

The school is regularly occupied by children from around 8 am to 6 pm. The indoor
“shared use” facilities will therefore not be available to the public during these hours
(which means not at all for about 6 months of the year).

5. What we will get:

Within seven years there will be 1,050 children, plus nursery, and some 100 staff, all
coming to two schools within 350m of each other. That’s a 66% increase in the number
of children.

There’ll be increased traffic (especially if children come from further away)
We’ll get a hard play area which will only be available outside of school hours
We’ll get major disruption of the playground, the pavilion and other facilities while the
building work is on-going.

We’ll get a broken promise – and a reduced recreation ground which the council will be
able to develop further at any time for educational or other use.

Page 113



If you are against building on Dundonald Rec. please say NO to Q1 of the consultation
document, and protect this valuable green space.

Page 114



Notes of Consultation on Proposed Expansion of Dundonald Primary School

Wednesday 22 June 2011, 7.00pm

at St Andrew’s Church, Herbert Road, SW19

Introduction to the meeting

Rev Canon Stephen Coulson introduced himself as an independent chair and was not
an employee of the council. He is vicar at St Mark’s Church, Mitcham, and is currently
a school governor in Merton.

The meeting was attended by approximately 200 parents, staff, governors, local
councilors, and residents. An apology was received from Stephen Hammond, MP who
was voting in the House of Commons.

The following speeches/presentations were given:-

Lorraine Maries – (Chair of “Protect Dundonald Rec”) presented to the meeting
explaining that they are not a political group who have come together because of our
concerns for the Rec.

The full transcript is appendix 1 to these notes

Councillor Peter Walker (LB Merton Cabinet Lead member for Education)
explained the reasons behind the proposal including the increase in the number of
children, the Council’s legal duty to educate children of 4 years old in classes of 30
pupils, and stating that the proposal will not ruin the rec.

Tom Procter (Manager of School Organisation, LB Merton) provided detail on the
legal issues, the design, and the catchment of the school.

The powerpoint presentations from Peter Walker and Tom Procter are posted on the
council’s website http://www.merton.gov.uk/schoolsconsultations.htm

Fiona Duffy (Headteacher, Dundonald Primary School) explained her commitment
to a local school for local children. The recreation ground enhances the education
value to children.

Questions & Comments

The following are all the particular questions and comments recorded at the meeting.
Initial responses were provided on the evening, and all additional questions with
answers have been added to the council’s Q&A on the website to ensure there is an
official council position provided on each question asked at the meeting.

1. Support very much the proposal in providing local schools in the local area.
Own road held a street party celebrating the Royal Wedding and I was amazed
at the number of children that lived in my road – there are a huge number of
children in the area. Yes, there are problems with the Rec and we are
concerned with the reduction in open spaces generally, but this proposal makes

Page 115



sense – not taking land away, respect the Rec and enhance the space.

2. Would want my fellow residents to go to a successful school. Astounded that
the pavilion has become elevated to Taj Mahal status. Only now that own
children are older that they confess what sort of things used to go on behind it.
Would like to congratulate the Council – proposing a secure and attractive use of
facilities. An excellent scheme. Saddened by the literature being sent out – it is
dishonest.
Regarding the catchment area – it doesn’t matter if it is 1km or 700m, parents
should walk and not drive. In future, I would like fairness from both sides. It is a
good scheme and I compliment the Council.

3. Does the bulge year class mean the expansion is a fait accompli? What
happens next year?

4. We have had exceptional increases – what will happen with the secondary
schools?

5. Flabbergasted at what the fuss is about. I live 150m from Merton Park Primary
School and my child might not get in. Families are moving into all the houses
sold in my road. It is a great place to live. Congratulate the Council because I
am worried about the shortage of places. Proposals are sensible for now and
the future. There is empty ground – please think about us with young children
who need good quality state funded schools.

6. Neighbours have to drive to Pelham – it is outrageous and nimbyism of the worst
kind.

7. Used to be a governor at Dundonald. Disturbed about this nonsense – where is
it coming from? It is wrong that children at the school can’t use the park. At first,
I thought half the park was being taken up by the building. Vitriolic. Shame on
colleagues who have had children at Dundonald and have signed the petition.
People are desperate to get in as it is a fine school. Minimal change is being
proposed – it is not a travesty but a minor infringement. People should think
beyond their own gardens. Facilitate it as fast as we can.

8. Extra children could be accommodated on the current site by knocking down the
dining hall and building there, and taking the roof off and adding another storey.

9. What about the empty building at the end of Dorset Road that used to be a
school? Why not knock it down and build a new school?

10. I have owned my house for 10 years and I can see the school from my house
but my child would not have got in the school last year as they live13m too far
away (still only 225m). They won’t get in next year if there is no expansion.

11. The vitriol and nimbyism is embarrassing. I live only 285m away and my son
didn’t get into the school – he was 17th on the waiting list. Any change requires
give and take. Live here and enjoy it. Proposal is a fair compromise – not to
recognise this is a shock. It is disgusting and people should be ashamed.

Page 116



12. I am a local resident, governor and chairman of free school campaign to provide
a new school in Dorset Road. We have looked at demand and it is there and in
addition to Dundonald expanding. We wouldn’t be looking if there was no
demand. The Council only let them into the site two weeks ago to see it. We
are currently looking into it and we should not take it for granted that it is not
suitable for a (one-form entry state funded) school. As a resident, I am
concerned about the covenant and would want something else in its place.

13. I understand it is a good school and it is a shame children can’t get in, but
people supporting the Rec are not attacking parents with children and many
people like it as a small school – It is not vitriol – we are passionate as well.

14. What about educational issues? Expansion is never beneficial. 1FE is ideal
size. Don’t understand the Council’s policy. Need two new small schools.
Expansion could harm educational excellence.

15. I live 300m from the school. If Dundonald doesn’t expand, where will child my
go?

16. Fully support the expansion – it is unfair for local children who should be able to
get in. Have concerns over the size of the playground as it will be less than
twice the current size which already feels small.
Do not want an APA – catchment should stay the same.

17. Respect the need for places but also want people to respect the Rec. What
about the old Emma Hamilton pub site or Dorset Road site?

18. Support scheme as the reasons are very apparent. There is minimal
infringement but do understand the attachment to the Rec.

19. It was due to the generosity of previous landowners who gave us such spaces
so there must be cast iron legal reassurances against any further building on the
rec. Can’t quite understand the hostility.

20. Looking at the information, why have the proposals for restricted hours in the
playground been removed in Options A & B?

21. Have you applied to overturn the covenant? You don’t think anyone will benefit
– what about all those people who signed the petition?

22. What about a new school on the old Park House site? It will take the pressure off
this area - if Dundonald is expanded there will be 1050 children attending two
schools in this area.

23. Currently, apart from the pavilion, the 360º view from Dundonald Rec is Victorian
or Edwardian buildings. What will the new building look like?

24. Am a supporter of ‘Save our Rec’ campaign – not sure why we have been
portrayed as vitriolic and not dog walkers. I believe every parent should have
that right – basic issue is that it is not yours to take – you can’t take it if you can
use it better than someone else. It belongs to the people as a Recreation

Page 117



ground.

25. You talked about alternatives – you don’t have to set it up as a single site.
There are operational challenges but these can be overcome.

26. I hope the Planning Dept will block any future developments of flats, as we can’t
provide enough places now.

27. No-one has mentioned why the Rose Garden remains untouched. It can be re-
located – why is it sacrosanct? Why not build on it?

28. Have taught at a dual-site and it is not beneficial for the children – cohesion, etc.

29. Key thing is getting a new covenant – don’t waste money on lawyers. Focus
energy on design and accept it will happen.

30. (Confirming from the presentation slide that the blue circle shows a 780m
catchment with the bulge) What will be the catchment for the expansion?

31. I Support the scheme. For those against it – is it because they think it is the thin
edge of wedge?

32. I have spoken to Holocaust Trust and Jewish Care and they have no objection to
relocating the Rose Garden.

33. Rev Andrew Wakefield – there is no Holocaust memorial. He was part of the
group who planted one rose bush on Holocaust Memorial Day. One was also
planted in John Innes Park.

34. The pavilion has been in decline for the last 15 years and there is always the
excuse there is no money for improvements. Concern is over the years
promises made (e.g. tennis courts) – no comeback.
Wimbledon Chase told they had to accept expansion because Dundonald
couldn’t expand due to the covenant. What will it look like? There will be no
protection once the covenant is broken. Who will have control of the budget –
parks or education? Know promises today won’t be tomorrow.

35. Concerned regarding aesthetics – will high standards be applied?

36. Quotes legal position from the powerpoint slide. No good if I play bowls. How
can I use the pavilion during school hours?

37. Will there be a bowling green?

38. I think the Council have acted but too quickly. The schools is already too
squashed. Why are we limited to three options – we need longer to do it
properly and sensibly.

39. It is a good school and any increase would benefit the community.

Page 118



40. Don’t ruin the Rose Garden – it is a beautiful part of the Rec. What about
building the other side?

41. Delighted to see the pavilion go – it is a blot on the landscape. I support Option
C. There is a lot to gain from the school increasing to 2FE. Already have good
extra-curricular activities.

42. What will be the construction time?

43. Bishop Gilpin governors vetoed their expansion. What is the Dundonald
governor’s mood? Son goes to the playgroup in the pavilion, how is this
affected?

44. Don’t object to the school expansion but oppose building on open area. With
regard to the public playground – you state it will be larger in all 3 options,
however this is not the case it is smaller in Option B. Option C it is bigger but
how will it cope with double the number of children playing in it after school – the
current one is already packed. Will we be without a playground during the
construction?

45. My children didn’t get into Dundonald but survived. The land was given to the
people. This is thin end of the wedge. In future landowners will be reluctant to
give their land to the Council. Will current users still have access during the day
to the pavilion?

Apendix 1 (to 22 June meeting)

Presentation by Lorraine Maries speaking on behalf of the Protect Dundonald
Rec. Campaign group

The Protect Dundonald Rec. Campaign Group is a non-political group of local residents
who have come together to oppose building on Dundonald Rec. We are opposed to
building on the recreation ground, NOT the expansion of Dundonald School.

There is a Restrictive Covenant on Dundonald Recreation Ground. This legally binding
agreement was made between what is now Merton Council and John & James Innes in
1893 when the land was transferred. The promise made was to preserve the Rec in
perpetuity as a ‘public pleasure ground’ and that “no building or other erection not
reasonably required for use in connection with a pleasure ground shall at any time be
erected or made on the said ... land". A school is not a building which is "reasonably
required for use in connection with a pleasure ground" therefore a school building
cannot legally be built on the Rec.

Lets look at Open Space and the planning process:
Dundonald School is by far the smallest site in the borough - 2,094 sq m. To double
the number of pupils the Council’s own plans show that they will have to annex an
additional 2,000 sq m of the rec. The Council claims the school extension will not be
built on ‘open space’ because it will be using the footprint of the existing pavilion and
only 0.21% will be lost. This is not true the actual amount will be over 4%. Open Space
is a planning designation and all of Dundonald Rec., including the pavilion, is
designated Public Open Space in the borough’s plans. Appropriating the pavilion

Page 119



footprint and additional land for educational use means it will no longer be ‘open
space’.

At the last meeting Cllr Judge assured us of the independence of the planning
department. He referred to Merton Council’s Core Planning strategy which specifically
supports the “protection and enhancement of open spaces”.
Under the Covenant Dundonald Rec. has that protection now, a protection which has
lasted for 118 years, not the 15 years offered by the planning department.

What about education – isn’t that more important?
The Council claim that Dundonald school must expand because the demand is local
and cannot be met through other means.

Is demand really local?
In Nov 2010 when trying to persuade Bishop Gilpin school to expand, the Council said
that demand was in the north of the borough and local to that school. The Governors
refused to take more than 1 bulge year. Just six months later the Council tells us that
demand is around Dundonald School.

These are the facts: there are ten primary schools within a one mile radius of
Dundonald. Six of these have expanded between 2007 and 2011. This is a 43%
increase in the number of places for five year olds. Compare this with an increase in
the birth rate of 30%. Doesn’t this demonstrate that local demand has already been
met?

The expansion of the catchment area to 780m for the bulge year is an admission of
this. (Look at the Council’s slide which shows a circle five times the size of the present
catchment area). An expanded school would bring children in from as far away as
1,000 metres. These children are not really local to Dundonald school - they actually
live nearer to other local schools - nearly every household in the borough is within
500m of a primary school.

But we also need to consider the two or three families a year who live in Herbert Road
and Graham Road and who are refused a place at Dundonald despite it being their
nearest school. Surely this is an argument for expansion – well, no. At the last
meeting the Council admitted that there are 4 children from among the first 30 places
offered who were admitted under the sibling rule but live over 1km away. The problem
is caused by placing the sibling rule and parental choice higher than proximity. Many
parents want this, but in reality this means that some lose out in the resulting lottery.

So why does the Council continue to insist there is ‘demand’? It is because they are
deliberately using ‘demand’ to mean the number of children whose parents want them
to come to the school rather than the number who need to come to the school because
it is nearest.

There are other options:
Dundonald has already agreed to take a ‘bulge year’ in 2011, a challenging situation for
staff and pupils, but which parents have been assured will not impact on the quality of
schooling. There are other options for meeting the need for additional school places.
What about a ‘rotating bulge year’ where the burden is shared across several schools?
Or finding a satellite site for Dundonald? Or building a new school on a brownfield site?
Or expanding other schools with larger sites in areas of real need?

Page 120



What about the new community amenities which the Council is promising?
The Council claims that the community will gain from the new amenities in the school
building. But do we need them? The Government’s Extended Schools initiative
already encourages schools to extend opening hours to offer community facilities on-
site in their existing buildings, for example hiring the school hall.

Particularly worrying is the Council’s suggestion that we will be accessing money from
the education budget to fund the new community facilities. Is this acceptable when we
are told that the education budget is already inadequate and savings need to be made?
Why not raise funds for Dundonald Rec. from other sources, of which there are many.
Why not fix the disabled toilets and put a coat of paint on the pavilion instead of pulling
it down?

We will be losing open space and losing community amenities – the new building does
not have enough changing rooms for football or cricket teams to have separate secure
facilities, there is no storage for regular users of the hall, the new hall is smaller. In all
options the bowling green will go – and when it goes, so too will the full-time park
keeper as he will have less to do. We will have an occasional visiting groundsman
instead. Tasks such as cleaning and maintenance of the new building will fall to the
school – their cleaners will have to clean the community toilets and changing rooms, for
example.

And can we trust the council to deliver on promises? Their assurances over the
provision of a new community hall in Wimbledon Park have still not been met after
more than seven years leading to the Council being found guilty of Maladministration
by the Local Government Ombudsman, and forced to pay a fine to Wimbledon Park
Residents Association. Is that what we want here?

The idea of expanding Dundonald School onto the Rec. is simply not practical.
The Council is unable to answer many questions put to them regarding the details of
this plan. It is apparent that this hasn’t been thought through.
The site is tiny - how can twice the number of pupils be educated in a school building
that is only 50% bigger than the present one?
During the construction, which will take at least a year, would additional children have
to be accommodated in Portacabins in the middle of a building site?
The children’s playground and a large section of the Rec will be out of commission
during the building work.

What about the increase in traffic caused by more pupils and teachers? Assurances
which the Council gave about the expansion of Wimbledon Chase have already been
shown to be false – and we will suffer more extreme problems because this site is
much smaller with no parking facilities.

This is not just about short-term problems, it’s about the long term. Another site can be
found for a school building, but building on the rec. will show that Council have no
regard for the law or the wishes of local residents. We want this valuable green space
to be preserved for the majority of local residents and children in years to come. If you
agree with us please say no to building on Dundonald Rec.

Page 121



Dundonald Primary
School

Proposed permanent expansion of
school from 1 to 2 forms of entry
(30 to 60 pupil places per year)

Additional consultation to comply with statutory procedures set
out in the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and associated
regulations and guidance

Responses to be returned by Thursday 3 October 2013

MERTON COUNCIL

APPENDIX 3

Page 122



Introduction to this consultation and the legal purpose

The significant enlargement of a Local Authority maintained school requires a set process to
comply with statutory procedures set out in the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and
associated regulations and guidance. This requires a two stage process, the first of which is
known as a statutory consultation. Following the consultation the proposer (the council in this
case) should decide whether to submit a formal statutory proposal, a further four-week period
for anyone to make further comment or raise an objection.

The council undertook a statutory consultation for the expansion of Dundonald Primary
School in summer 2011 and the results were reported to the council’s Cabinet in September
2011. The report and minutes can be viewed from this link
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/decision-
making/committee.htm?view=event&event_id=3574

Cabinet agreed the council should go to the next stage of publishing a statutory notice, as
well as the other necessary legal processes required for the expansion of the school due to
the nature of the expansion scheme:

applying to the Upper Tribunal (Lands Tribunal) for a modification of the restrictive
covenant on the recreation ground

submitting a planning application

to proceed with the appropriation of the area of land required for the school expansion
from Leisure Services to Education for the use of Dundonald School

The Upper Tribunal has agreed to the modification of the restrictive covenant and the Greater
London Authority and Secretary of State have confirmed that they will not overturn the
conditional decision of LB Merton's planning applications committee to approve the council’s
planning application.

However, due to the time required to modify the restrictive covenant the council has not
published the statutory notice. The statutory guidance says: "Proposals should be published
within a reasonable timeframe following consultation so that the proposals are informed by
up-to-date feedback. Proposals should therefore be published within 12 months of
consultation being concluded. "

In view of this time lapse the council is contacting interested parties as required under the
statutory guidance since there may now be additional people who could be affected by the
proposal.

It should be noted that the original consultation also served as a pre-planning application
consultation for residents that may have felt affected by the proposal for reasons of
residential amenity and impact on the recreation ground. These have now been tested
through the planning application process so the audience for this additional consultation is
narrower to comply with the requirements of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and
associated regulations and guidance.

Residents concerned regarding the impact on the recreation ground will still have an
opportunity to comment as part of the separate statutory land appropriation procedure
regarding a transfer of a small area of the recreation ground to the school, which will be
advertised in the local press shortly with its separate statutory process.

Page 123



Summary of the council’s proposal

Dundonald Primary School is currently a one-form entry (1FE) school, admitting up to 30
pupils in one class per year, 210 pupils across the school excluding the nursery. Following a
request from the council the school provided an extra class in reception year in September
2011 within the school’s existing accommodation but does not have the capacity for further
classes without additional buildings.

The council wishes to permanently expand the school to be a two-form entry (2FE) school,
admitting up to 60 pupils per year in two classes. This means it would eventually have up to
420 pupils on roll excluding the nursery. It is proposed that this is formally commenced from
September 2015 but expansion of the school places would be gradual until reaching all year
groups by 2021/22.

The London Borough of Merton has a legal obligation to provide school places for all the
children needing education and the latest demographic information from the Greater London
Authority, based on the 2011 census, confirms that there is a continued increase in demand
for school places in the Wimbledon area.

LB Merton’s aim in meeting the need to provide additional primary school places is to
increase the number of high quality local primary school places to meet demand, thereby
raising standards and increasing the percentage of parents receiving their first and top three
preferences.

Dundonald Primary school was given an ‘Outstanding’ rating by Ofsted at its last inspection
in 2009, and pupil achievement continues to be significantly above the national average. The
school is the most oversubscribed school in the borough with non-sibling places only able to
be offered to a very small area - in the last two years this has been between only 106 and
218 metres.

To enable the expansion of the school it is necessary to re-configure the current boundaries
of the school site and the adjacent Dundonald Recreation Ground. This was set out in full
detail in the council’s planning application.

Further details

The expansion of Dundonald Primary School has been the subject of a number of
consultations since being part of the council’s overall proposals in autumn 2010. Significant
documentation has been provided as part of these processes, which have been available on
the council’s website. These can be viewed via this link, which also provides a link to the
council’s planning application.
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/getinvolved/schoolsconsultations/dundonald-school-
consultation.htm

.

Page 124



Response Form

Please provide comments below on a separate sheet by Thursday 3 October 2013

Post to: Contracts and School Organisation, Children, Schools and Families Department,
London Borough of Merton, Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden SM4 5DX

Or: Completed responses can be given by hand to the main office at Dundonald Primary
School, Dundonald Road, Wimbledon, SW19 3QH and these will be forwarded to the
Council

Responses can also be e-mailed to: schconsult@merton.gov.uk

Comments on the proposed expansion of Dundonald Primary School to
provide 420 places

(You may continue on a separate sheet)

Are you:

A parent with a pupil currently at Dundonald Primary School __
A parent with pre-school children __
A member of Dundonald Primary staff or governor __
A local resident (not in one of the above three categories) __
Other e.g. representing an institution please state __

Signed ……..………………………… Date ……………

Responses to be returned by: Thursday 3 October 2013

.

Page 125



Dundonald Primary  
School and  
Dundonald Park

 

Consultation on proposed permanent 
expansion of school from 1FE to 2FE  
(30 to 60 pupil places per year) and 
impact on Dundonald Park  

 

 
Responses to be returned by Tue 28 June 2011 
Consultation meeting Wed 8 June 7.30pm  
‘Drop in’ design session Mon 23 May 3.30 to 7.30pm  or 
                                          Wed 8 June 5.00pm 7.30pm 

MERTON COUNCIL  

 

Page 126



 
 

 
 
Summary of the consultation 

The London Borough of Merton has a legal obligation to provide school places for all the 
children needing education. The demand for places in the borough is increasing substantially 
and wherever possible we wish to expand our best schools which parents wish to access.  
 
Dundonald Primary School is currently a one-form entry (1FE) school, admitting up to 30 
pupils in one class per year, 210 pupils across the school excluding the nursery. Following a 
request from the council the school is taking an extra class in reception year in September 
2011 within the school’s existing accommodation.  
 
The council is considering options to permanently expand the school from September 2012 
to be a two-form entry (2FE) school, admitting up to 60 pupils per year in two classes. This 
will mean it would eventually have up to 420 pupils on roll excluding the nursery, but 
expansion of the school places would be gradual until reaching all year groups in 2017/18. 
 
To enable the expansion of the school it is necessary to re-configure the current boundaries 
of the school site and the adjacent Dundonald Park. The school already uses the park’s 
games court during all play times.  
 
The council is therefore consulting on two related matters: 
 

 The principle of expanding Dundonald School to be 2-forms of entry 

 Design options for expanding the school and how this could be an opportunity to 
improve the parks facilities for the future 

 

Public consultation evening and ‘drop in’ design discussions  
 
A consultation evening will be held at Dundonald Primary School, Dundonald Road, SW19 
3QH on Wednesday 8 June 2011 at 7.30pm. Parents and other interested parties such as 
park users are invited to attend to discuss the educational merits of the school’s expansion, 
options for expanding the school, and the potential benefits for the park and its users.  
 
For parents and residents wishing to have a more informal, detailed discussion on the design 
with the architects, two ‘drop in’ session have been arranged for residents to attend to 
discuss the plans at any time between 3.30pm and 7.30pm on Monday 23 May, or before 
the public meeting between 5.00pm and 7.30pm on Wednesday 8 June 2011. 

 
Wider background to expansion of Dundonald Primary School 
 
There is a significant increase in demand for school places in Merton, with more children 
entering school age, fuelled by a birth rate that has risen by over 30% in the last six years. 
Our population forecasts indicate that much of this rise will be sustained.  
 
The proposed expansion of Dundonald School is part of an overall programme of school 
expansion in Merton. From 2008 to 2010 nine schools provided additional reception classes. 
In the autumn Merton also consulted on nine further school expansions required in reception 
year for 2011/12 and 2012/13.  The consultation and the decision document from the 
Council’s Cabinet is available on the council’s website 
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/getinvolved/consultation/schoolsconsultations.htm 

or can be requested from the address stated on the response form.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



 
 
 
Even this significant expansion has proved insufficient in the Wimbledon area for this 
September so, following a request from the council, the school governors agreed to take an 
extra class on the basis that there is no presumption that permanent expansion will follow. 
 
Dundonald is a popular and successful school.  In its most recent Ofsted inspection (2009), it 
was rated outstanding.  The school has been heavily over subscribed for its 30 places such 
that children have in recent years needed to reside within approximately 200 to 300 metres 
from the school to obtain a place. With the general increase in demand for school places 
there are no longer alternative local schools without further expansion.   
 

Design options for the school expansion and impact on the park  
 
Dundonald School is on a small site and it is not possible to double its intake without making 
more space available.  However, the council has undertaken detailed feasibility work on 
design options and by considering the school and park areas more flexibly it is possible for 
the scheme to meet the following aims: 
 

 To provide Dundonald School with sufficient indoor and outdoor space for a 420 place 
(plus 26 full time equivalent place nursery) primary school, which will ensure that more of 
the local community have access to a local school. 

 To demolish the current poor quality and ageing park pavilion building and replace with a 
high quality two storey building on a similar footprint that provides the necessary current 
pavilion facilities as well as those required for the expanded school. 

 To ensure the park facilities can be protected, while acknowledging through consultation 
that there is an opportunity to review the future facilities that may be of most benefit to the 
local community. 

  

3 options for expanding the school and for the park 
 
Following feasibility work there are 3 viable options to put to consultation, all of which wrap-
around the school’s two-storey annex building which is adjacent to the park. There will be 
separate access for school and park users. 
 
All options will ensure the children’s public playground is at least as large as at present, no 
loss of football/cricket playing pitch, and a larger dual use hard court games/tennis court 
area.  
 
Drawings of the 3 schemes are available on the council’s website  
http://www.merton.gov.uk/council/getinvolved/consultation/schoolsconsultations.htm and on 
display on the park’s noticeboards and on the pavilion.  The ‘drop in’ sessions will allow the 
architects to go through the scheme with parents and residents.  
 
It should be noted that these are early feasibility drawings, and subject to this consultation, 
one option would be developed in more detail. In summary the differences between the three 
schemes are as follows: 
 
Option A - Provides a clear open children's public playground with two dividable areas, and 
3 hall spaces in one building available to the public outside school hours, one of which is 
during school hours.  However, it would mean loss of some mature trees, and due to the 
retention of the school's early years classrooms in their current position all school children 
need to walk through a narrow ‘corridor’ to access their main play area. 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



 
 
 
 
Option B  - Provides a longer narrow building thus ensuring no loss of mature trees. 
Although it has a slightly smaller footprint than option A, due to its shape, it would provide a 
greater perception of protruding into the park . It also has 3 hall spaces in one 
building available to the public outside school hours, one of which is during school hours.  
However, the public playground has only a narrow connection ‘corridor’ between toddler’s 
and older children's play, unless a decision was made to locate it in the current pavilion area. 
 
Option C - Ensures no loss of mature trees but the building is less long and narrow than 
option B, thus ensuring a mainly clear open children's public playground with two dividable 
areas. It has the advantage of new purpose built early years classrooms for the school with 
direct access to play, which also ensures other school children have easier access to their 
play areas. One of the key differences is that the community hall for day-time use will be in 
the current school building with a separate access. This will be an advantage in making 
access easier for community activities when the park is closed but they will be split from the 
other 2 hall spaces in the new building available to the public outside school hours. 
 

School admissions  
 
Dundonald School currently admits children on LB Merton’s standard admissions policy, 
which after giving first priority to children in public care, exceptional needs cases and 
siblings, gives priority on the basis of straight line distance from the school. The expansion of 
the school is intended to enable children to gain entry from a wider area, though still local. 
Dundonald School is approximately 400 metres from Wimbledon Chase school to the south 
west giving a choice of two local schools in this area, but there are areas to the east of 
Dundonald School where it is challenging to obtain any local school place. 
 
When Wimbledon Chase School expanded, an Admissions Priority Area (APA) was 
developed which gives greater priority to residents in a defined area. An Admissions Priority 
Area may be suitable for Dundonald. However, this needs to be done in partnership with 
other schools in the area. Therefore we are not, at this stage, consulting on a specific APA, 
but may do so in the future. In any case, an APA would not extend more than 1000 metres 
from the school, ensuring the school remained a local school that children can walk to. 

  
Next steps 
 
The council is following the process defined by statute for the significant enlargement of a 
school. This is the statutory consultation, to close on 28 June 2011. Following this 
consultation the council will decide whether to submit a formal statutory proposal. This would 
be a further four-week period for anyone to comment or raise an objection. At this stage we 
will also undertake any legal processes relating to the park, the requirements for which the 
council has assessed before commencing this consultation.  
 
If the council decides to follow the next stage of the school expansion it will also develop one 
of the design options in more detail before submitting a planning application. Both approval to 
the planning application and the education statutory proposal is required before any decision 
on additional places is made for September 2012. It is aimed that this will be resolved by 
December 2011 before parents submit their school admissions application for 2012. 

Page 129



 
 
 
 
 
 

Response Form 
 
Please provide comments in the box below or a separate sheet by Tuesday 28 June 
2011 to: 
Contracts and School Organisation, Children, Schools and Families Department, 
London Borough of Merton, Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden SM4 5DX 
E-mail: schconsult@merton.gov.uk. 
 
Alternatively they can be given by hand to the office at Dundonald Primary School, 
who will forward them to the council. 
 
 
1. Please provide comments on the principle of expanding Dundonald Primary School to 

2 forms of entry (60 pupils per year), including any specific concerns you may have 
that the Local Authority and school could address. 

 

…………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………… 
…………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………....(please continue overleaf as necessary) 
 
 
2. What is your preferred design option in expanding the school (please tick) 
 
 
Option A  __    or       Option B __   or      Option C __ 
 
Please provide any comments and whether there are there any high or low priorities for 
the scheme or facilities you would like to see in the park as part of the scheme 
 

…………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………… 

…………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………....(please continue overleaf as necessary) 

 
Are you:  
A parent with a pupil currently at Dundonald Primary School  __     
A parent with pre-school children      __ 
A member of staff        __ 
A local resident without a direct interest in the school’s education __ 
Other e.g. representing an institution please state  ________________ 
 
SIGNED……………………………        DATE …………… 

Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



R
e
sp
o
n
se
s
to

st
a
tu
to
ry

n
o
ti
ce

1
S
te
p
h
e
n

R
o
th
w
e
ll

O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
w
il
l
e
n
d
a
n
g
e
r
th
e
a
ca
d
e
m
ic
st
a
n
d
in
g
o
f
a
n
e
xi
st
in
g
in
st
it
u
ti
o
n
a
n
d
je
o
p
a
rd
iz
e
s
th
e

re
la
ti
o
n
sh
ip
w
it
h
th
e
lo
ca
l
co
m
m
u
n
it
y.

2
G
e
o
ff
re
y

C
h
a
p
m
a
n

O
b
je
ct
s
d
u
e
to

th
e
fo
ll
o
w
in
g
:
it
w
il
l
ch
a
n
g
e
th
e
n
a
tu
re

o
f
th
e
R
e
c
b
y
b
e
in
g
m
o
re

b
u
ilt
u
p
vi
su
a
ll
y
a
n
d
th
e
re

w
il
l
b
e
a

si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
t
lo
ss
o
f
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
;
th
e
n
e
e
d
fo
r
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
h
a
s
n
o
t
b
e
e
n
d
e
m
o
n
st
ra
te
d
;
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
ve

si
te
s
th
a
t
d
o
n
o
t

in
vo
lv
e
d
lo
ss
o
f
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

h
a
ve

n
o
t
b
e
e
n
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
ly
e
xp
lo
re
d
;
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
d
o
e
s
n
o
t
m
e
e
t
cu
rr
e
n
t
g
u
id
e
li
n
e
s

fo
r
sc
h
o
o
lb
u
ild
in
g
s.

3
D
e
b
o
ra
h

C
h
a
p
m
a
n

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
;
lo
ca
ln
e
e
d
h
a
s
n
o
t
b
e
e
n
d
e
m
o
n
st
ra
te
d
;
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
ve

si
te
s
h
a
ve

n
o
t
b
e
e
n
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
ly

e
xp
lo
re
d
;
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
d
o
e
s
n
o
t
m
e
e
t
cu
rr
e
n
t
g
u
id
e
lin
e
s
fo
r
sc
h
o
o
lb
u
il
d
in
g
s;
a
n
d
th
e
d
e
tr
im

e
n
t
it
w
o
u
ld
h
a
ve

o
n

th
e
w
id
e
r
co
m
m
u
n
it
y.

4
R
it
a
P
a
g
n
o
n
i

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

th
e
e
xp
a
n
d
in
g
o
n
to

th
e
re
c.

W
e
n
e
e
d
to

e
n
su
re

a
ll
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

is
m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
fo
r
e
ve
ry
o
n
e
to

u
se
.

5
B
a
rb
a
ra

Ju
li
e
n

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to
:
in
a
d
e
q
u
a
te

si
ze

o
f
p
ro
p
o
se
d
cl
a
ss
ro
o
m
s;
e
ff
e
ct
o
n
lo
ca
l
a
re
a
w
o
u
ld
b
e
d
is
a
st
ro
u
s
b
o
th

d
u
ri
n
g
th
e

b
u
il
d
in
g
p
e
ri
o
d
a
n
d
w
it
h
th
e
fi
n
a
lp
ro
p
o
se
d
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
4
2
0
p
u
p
il
s
a
n
d
h
a
ve

a
n
e
g
a
ti
ve

im
p
a
ct
o
n
lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
t’
s

li
ve
s
(i
n
cr
e
a
se
d
tr
a
ff
ic
,
n
o
is
e
,
e
tc
);
a
n
d
h
a
ve

n
o
co
n
fi
d
e
n
ce

th
a
t
th
e
sp
o
rt
s
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
w
o
u
ld
b
e
sa
fe
g
u
a
rd
e
d
.

6
A
n
to
n
C
h
a
te
a
u

O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
d
e
m
o
g
ra
p
h
ic
ca
se

fo
r
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
is
w
e
a
k
a
n
d
m
o
d
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
C
o
ve
n
a
n
t
h
a
s
se
t
a
p
re
ce
d
e
n
t
fo
r

fu
rt
h
e
r
u
n
o
p
p
o
se
d
m
o
d
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
o
f
th
e
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
.

7
T
h
e
re
sa

Lo
n
g

D
o
n
o
t
fe
e
l
it
w
il
l
im

p
ro
ve
d
st
a
n
d
a
rd
s
a
t
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
a
n
d
m
a
y
e
n
a
b
le
th
e
co
u
n
ci
lt
o
ta
ke

o
ve
r
th
e
re
st
o
f
th
e
p
a
rk
.

8
Le
tt
y
La
i

T
h
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
is
a
b
ri
ll
ia
n
t
id
e
a
a
s
it
h
a
s
b
e
e
n
e
xt
re
m
e
ly
st
re
ss
fu
lf
o
r
p
a
re
n
ts
in
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
to

fi
n
d
a
g
o
o
d
sc
h
o
o
l

fo
r
th
e
ir
ch
ild
re
n
.
I
a
m

a
re
g
u
la
r
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
o
ve
r
th
e
w
e
e
ke
n
d
.
If
it
is
n
o
t
a
va
il
a
b
le
a
ft
e
r
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
M
e
rt
o
n

P
a
rk

is
o
n
ly
o
n
e
st
o
p
a
w
a
y
o
n
th
e
tr
a
m

(2
0
se
co
n
d
ri
d
e
)
a
n
d
if
yo
u
w
a
n
t
e
xe
rc
is
e
yo
u
ca
n
w
a
lk
th
e
re
.

9
P
a
u
l
Le
e

P
le
a
se

g
o
a
h
e
a
d
–
w
e
a
re

e
xp
e
ct
in
g
a
b
a
b
y
so
o
n
a
n
d
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
w
e
li
ve

o
n
ly
2
0
0
m

a
w
a
y
a
re

o
u
t
o
f
th
e
ca
tc
h
m
e
n
t

a
re
a
.
I
a
m

a
re
g
u
la
r
u
se
r
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d
co
u
rt
s
a
t
th
e
w
e
e
ke
n
d
s,
b
u
t
th
e
re

a
re

p
le
n
ty

o
f
o
th
e
rs
n
o
t
to
o
fa
r
a
w
a
y

a
n
d
th
e
R
e
c
w
il
l
st
il
l
b
e
b
ig
e
n
o
u
g
h
to

a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
te

sp
o
rt
o
f
a
ll
ki
n
d
s.

1
0

M
r
&
M
rs

O
kk
e
r

W
e
o
b
je
ct
a
s
w
e
d
o
n
o
t
th
in
k
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
ls
h
o
u
ld
b
e
e
n
ti
tl
e
d
o
r
in
d
e
e
d
a
b
le
to

re
m
o
ve

a
la
rg
e
ch
u
n
k
o
f
th
e
R
e
c.

T
h
e
R
e
c
is
a
lw
a
ys

in
u
se

b
y
p
e
o
p
le
o
f
a
ll
a
g
e
s
e
n
jo
yi
n
g
a
va
ri
e
ty
o
f
sp
o
rt
s
a
n
d
le
is
u
re

a
ct
iv
it
ie
s.
W
e
a
re

a
ls
o

co
n
ce
rn
e
d
a
b
o
u
t
o
u
r
e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t
to

th
e
q
u
ie
t
u
se

a
n
d
e
n
jo
ym

e
n
t
o
f
o
u
r
o
w
n
g
a
rd
e
n
d
u
e
to

in
cr
e
a
se
d
n
o
is
e
fr
o
m

th
e
e
xp
a
n
d
e
d
sc
h
o
o
l
(H
u
m
a
n
R
ig
h
ts
A
ct
1
9
9
8
).
W
h
y
n
o
t
b
u
ild

a
n
e
w
sc
h
o
o
l
o
n
a
m
o
re

su
it
a
b
le
si
te
?

1
1

Je
n
n
y
N
yi
ri

O
b
je
ct
to

e
xp
a
n
d
in
g
o
n
to

th
e
p
a
rk
.
S
u
g
g
e
st
s
u
si
n
g
o
n
e
o
f
th
e
o
th
e
r
su
it
a
b
le
si
te
s.
T
h
e
p
a
rk

is
o
ft
e
n
cr
o
w
d
e
d
w
it
h

d
if
fe
re
n
t
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s.

1
2

A
n
to
in
e
tt
e

W
yn
n
e

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to
:
th
e
u
n
iq
u
e
ch
a
ra
ct
e
r
o
f
th
e
sc
h
o
o
lw

il
l
b
e
lo
st
;
th
e
la
n
d
to

b
e
lo
st
is
u
se
d
e
xt
e
n
si
ve
ly
b
y
ch
il
d
re
n
’s

cl
u
b
s,
sp
o
rt
s
cl
u
b
s,
fa
m
il
ie
s
e
tc
;
ch
il
d
re
n
n
e
e
d
m
o
re

sp
a
ce

to
p
la
y
n
o
t
le
ss
;
th
e
p
a
rk

w
il
lb
e
ru
in
e
d
;
th
e
co
ve
n
a
n
t

sh
o
u
ld
n
o
t
b
e
b
ro
ke
n
.

1
3

M
rs
A
D
a
w
so
n

O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
lo
ca
ln
e
e
d
h
a
s
n
o
t
b
e
e
n
d
e
m
o
n
st
ra
te
d
;
p
la
n
n
in
g
p
e
rm

is
si
o
n
h
a
s
n
o
t
b
e
e
n
g
a
in
e
d
ye
t;
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
w
il
l

b
e
to
o
sm

a
ll
;
th
e
re
m
o
va
l
o
f
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
.

1
4

M
o
n
ic
a

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to
:
sm

a
lln
e
ss
o
f
si
te
;
lo
ss
o
f
th
e
sp
a
ce

in
th
e
p
a
rk
;
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
lt
ra
ff
ic
;
a
n
d
th
e
ch
il
d
re
n
w
il
ll
o
se

th
e
se
n
se

Page 133



Ji
m
e
n
e
z

o
f
g
ro
u
p
d
u
e
to

h
a
vi
n
g
tw

o
b
u
ild
in
g
s
a
n
d
m
y
d
a
u
g
h
te
rs
w
h
o
a
tt
e
n
d
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
w
o
n
’t
b
e
a
b
le
to

m
e
e
t
th
e
ir
si
b
lin
g
s

a
s
u
su
a
ld
u
ri
n
g
th
e
d
a
y.

1
5

R
M

&
F
M

B
o
w
e
r

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to
:
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
e
ff
e
ct
o
n
sc
h
o
o
ls
ta
n
d
a
rd
s;
la
ck

o
f
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce

in
th
e
W
a
rd
;
n
e
g
a
ti
ve

e
ff
e
ct
o
n
th
e
w
e
ll
-

b
e
in
g
o
f
re
si
d
e
n
ts
;
m
o
re

su
it
a
b
le
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
ve

si
te
s;
co
n
ce
rn
s
a
b
o
u
t
‘c
o
m
b
in
e
d
a
cc
e
ss
’
to

th
e
n
e
w
b
u
il
d
in
g
;

in
cr
e
a
se
d
tr
a
ff
ic
a
n
d
d
a
n
g
e
r;
a
n
d
si
ze

o
f
n
e
w
cl
a
ss
ro
o
m
s.

1
6

M
a
u
re
e
n
A
h
a
d

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to
:
th
e
re
d
u
ct
io
n
o
f
ch
o
ic
e
fo
r
p
a
re
n
ts
in
te
rm

s
o
f
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
a
le
n
vi
ro
n
m
e
n
t;
la
ck

o
f
sp
a
ce

th
a
t
th
e

e
xp
a
n
d
e
d
sc
h
o
o
l
w
o
u
ld
o
ff
e
r
e
a
ch

ch
ild
;
re
d
u
ct
io
n
in
p
la
yi
n
g
a
n
d
re
la
xi
n
g
sp
a
ce

a
va
il
a
b
le
to

a
ll
ch
il
d
re
n
o
u
ts
id
e

sc
h
o
o
l
h
o
u
rs
;
a
n
d
a
n
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
w
il
l
n
o
t
in
it
se
lf
a
ff
e
ct
th
e
su
cc
e
ss
o
f
th
e
sc
h
o
o
lo
r
th
e
a
tt
a
in
m
e
n
t
o
f
it
s
p
u
p
il
s.

1
7

T
e
h
ri
M
a
n
u
e
l-

G
a
rn
e
r

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to
:
la
rg
e
r
sc
h
o
o
l
is
n
o
t
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te

to
th
e
a
re
a
a
n
d
co
m
m
u
n
it
y;
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
o
f
la
n
d
fr
o
m

th
e
R
e
c;

sc
h
o
o
l
w
il
lb
e
e
ve
n
m
o
re

cr
a
m
p
e
d
;
in
cr
e
a
se
d
tr
a
ff
ic
,
p
a
rk
in
g
,
p
o
llu
ti
o
n
a
n
d
n
o
is
e
.

1
8

Lo
u
is
G
a
rn
e
r

O
b
je
ct
a
s
I
th
in
k
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
w
il
l
lo
se

so
m
e
th
in
g
sp
e
ci
a
l
if
it
e
xp
a
n
d
s;
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
lt
ra
ff
ic
;
lo
ss
o
f
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce

to
th
e

sc
h
o
o
l.

1
9

P
a
u
l
G
a
rn
e
r

O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
w
il
lb
e
to
o
sm

a
ll
a
n
d
u
n
fi
t
to

co
p
e
w
it
h
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
lc
h
ild
re
n
;
it
w
il
l
n
o
t
im

p
ro
ve

st
a
n
d
a
rd
s;
lo
ss

o
f
fa
ci
li
ti
e
s
in
th
e
p
a
rk
;
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
lt
ra
ff
ic
,
p
a
rk
in
g
a
n
d
co
n
g
e
st
io
n
.

2
0

U
ll
a
M
a
n
u
e
l

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

im
p
a
ct
o
n
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d
n
e
g
a
ti
ve

im
p
a
ct
o
n
m
in
e
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y’
s
li
fe
;
it
w
il
l
n
o
t
im

p
ro
ve

sc
h
o
o
l

st
a
n
d
a
rd
s;
in
cr
e
a
se
d
p
a
rk
in
g
a
n
d
tr
a
ff
ic
.

2
1

G
e
o
rg
e

M
a
n
u
e
l

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

im
p
a
ct
o
n
th
e
R
e
c
a
n
d
n
e
g
a
ti
ve

im
p
a
ct
o
n
m
in
e
a
n
d
m
y
fa
m
il
y’
s
li
fe
;
it
w
il
l
n
o
t
im

p
ro
ve

sc
h
o
o
l

st
a
n
d
a
rd
s;
in
cr
e
a
se
d
p
a
rk
in
g
a
n
d
tr
a
ff
ic
.

2
2

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c

T
e
n
n
is
C
lu
b

O
b
je
ct
o
n
b
e
h
a
lf
o
f
th
e
m
a
n
y
h
u
n
d
re
d
s
o
f
M
e
rt
o
n
re
si
d
e
n
ts
w
h
o
u
se

th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
d
u
e
to
:
d
e
tr
im

e
n
ta
l
e
ff
e
ct

o
n
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
p
u
p
il
s;
lo
ss
o
f
a
va
il
a
b
il
it
y
o
f
th
e
te
n
n
is
co
u
rt
s
d
u
ri
n
g
th
e
sc
h
o
o
ld
a
y;
q
u
e
st
io
n
th
e
n
e
e
d
fo
r
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l

p
la
ce
s;
n
e
g
a
ti
ve

e
ff
e
ct
o
n
lo
ca
l
ch
il
d
re
n
b
y
e
xc
lu
d
in
g
th
e
m

fr
o
m

th
e
u
se

o
f
vi
ta
l
a
re
a
s
d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
to

sp
o
rt
;
sm

a
ll
si
ze

o
f
th
e
e
xp
a
n
d
e
d
sc
h
o
o
l;
th
e
re
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t
is
to
ta
lly

in
a
d
e
q
u
a
te

a
s
d
e
sc
ri
b
e
d
b
y
Sp
o
rt
E
n
g
la
n
d
.
H
a
ve

o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
a

p
e
ti
ti
o
n
w
it
h
o
ve
r
3
4
0
lo
ca
l
si
g
n
a
tu
re
s
a
g
a
in
st
th
e
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
ti
o
n
o
f
2
,5
7
8
m
²
o
f
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
.

2
3

P
ro
te
ct

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
R
e
c

Lo
ca
l
re
si
d
e
n
ts
a
n
d
u
se
rs
o
f
th
e
R
e
c
st
ro
n
g
ly
o
b
je
ct
to

th
e
lo
ss

o
f
p
u
b
li
c
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
,
a
n
d
th
e
vi
e
w
s
o
f
th
e
cu
rr
e
n
t

u
se
rs
o
f
th
e
la
n
d
h
a
ve

to
b
e
ta
ke
n
in
to

a
cc
o
u
n
t
a
n
d
g
iv
e
n
a
t
le
a
st
e
q
u
a
l
w
e
ig
h
t
to

th
o
se

o
f
p
a
re
n
ts
a
ro
u
n
d
th
e

b
o
ro
u
g
h
w
h
o
m
a
y
w
a
n
t
th
e
ir
ch
il
d
re
n
to

h
a
ve

p
la
ce
s
a
t
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l.

T
h
e
re

is
n
o
e
vi
d
e
n
ce

th
a
t
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
S
ch
o
o
ln
e
e
d
s
to

e
xp
a
n
d
to

m
e
e
t
lo
ca
l
n
e
e
d
.
“A
ll
o
f
th
e
st
a
te
-e
d
u
ca
te
d

p
ri
m
a
ry

sc
h
o
o
l
a
g
e
d
ch
ild
re
n
w
h
o
li
ve

w
it
h
in
4
0
0
m

o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
S
ch
o
o
l
a
tt
e
n
d
e
it
h
e
r
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
o
r
o
th
e
r
n
e
a
rb
y

sc
h
o
o
ls
:
W
im

b
le
d
o
n
C
h
a
se
,
P
e
lh
a
m
,
H
o
ly
T
ri
n
it
y
o
r
S
t
M
a
ry
s.
A
ll
o
f
th
e
se

sc
h
o
o
ls
h
a
ve

e
xp
a
n
d
e
d
,
a
n
d
n
o
w
o
ff
e
r

8
0
%
m
o
re

p
la
ce
s:
lo
ca
ld
e
m
a
n
d
is
m
e
t
b
y
lo
ca
lp
ro
vi
si
o
n
”.

D
a
ta

fr
o
m

th
e
O
ff
ic
e
fo
r
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l
st
a
ti
st
ic
s
a
n
d
th
e
G
LA

st
a
te

th
a
t
th
e
re

a
re

re
la
ti
ve
ly
fe
w
fo
u
r
ye
a
r
o
ld
s
in

D
u
n
d
o
n
la
d
w
a
rd

a
n
d
th
e
re
ce
n
t
in
cr
e
a
se

h
a
d
o
n
ly
b
e
e
n
sm

a
ll
so

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
h
a
d
a
su
rp
lu
s,
ye
t
th
e
d
e
fi
ci
t
w
a
s
a
re
a
s

to
th
e
e
a
st
o
f
th
e
b
o
ro
u
g
h
e
.g
.
G
ra
ve
n
e
y
w
a
rd
.
“D

is
ta
n
ce

o
ff
e
re
d
”
is
a
p
o
o
r
m
e
a
su
re

o
f
lo
ca
l
n
e
e
d
a
s
it
va
ri
e
s

Page 134



m
a
ss
iv
e
ly
fr
o
m

ye
a
r
to

ye
a
r
fo
r
e
ve
ry

sc
h
o
o
ld
e
p
e
n
d
in
g
o
n
th
e
n
u
m
b
e
r
o
f
si
b
li
n
g
p
la
ce
s
o
ff
e
re
d
,
a
n
d
th
e
fa
ll
a
t

D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
is
d
ir
e
ct
ly
re
la
te
d
to

th
e
ri
se

in
si
b
lin
g
p
la
ce
s
o
ff
e
re
d
.
T
h
e
M
a
n
u
p
la
st
ic
s
si
te

is
a
n
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
ve
.
T
h
e

e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
,
fa
r
fr
o
m

in
cr
e
a
si
n
g
p
a
re
n
ta
l
ch
o
ic
e
,
p
ro
m
o
te
s
a
n
d
re
in
fo
rc
e
s
in
e
q
u
a
lit
y
b
e
tw

e
e
n
th
e
w
e
a
lt
h
y
a
n
d
th
e

d
e
p
ri
ve
d
a
re
a
s
o
f
th
e
b
o
ro
u
g
h
a
s
p
a
re
n
ts
in
w
e
a
lt
h
y
p
a
rt
s
o
f
th
e
b
o
ro
u
g
h
h
a
ve

g
re
a
te
r
ch
o
ic
e
;
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
a
l

st
a
n
d
a
rd
s
w
o
n
’t
b
e
im

p
ro
ve
d
a
s
a
re
su
lt
o
f
th
e
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
a
s
a
ll
sc
h
o
o
ls
w
it
h
in
1
m
ile

o
f
D
u
n
d
o
n
a
ld
a
re

‘G
o
o
d
’
o
r

‘O
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
’.
Q
u
e
st
io
n
e
d
w
h
e
th
e
r
th
e
la
n
d
,
p
re
m
is
e
s
a
n
d
ca
p
it
a
lt
o
im

p
le
m
e
n
t
th
e
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
is
a
va
il
a
b
le
w
h
e
n

th
e
p
la
n
n
in
g
p
e
rm

is
si
o
n
h
a
d
n
o
t
b
e
e
n
re
so
lv
e
d
a
n
d
th
e
la
n
d
w
a
s
n
o
t
a
va
ila
b
le
.

2
4

A
n
th
o
n
y

F
a
ir
cl
o
u
g
h

O
b
je
ct
a
s
th
e
re

w
il
lb
e
le
ss
sp
a
ce

p
e
r
ch
ild

th
a
n
a
t
p
re
se
n
t
a
n
d
w
o
rr
y
th
a
t
th
e
C
o
u
n
ci
l
w
il
l
w
a
n
t
to

e
n
cr
o
a
ch

e
ve
n

fu
rt
h
e
r
o
n
to

th
e
R
e
c.

2
5

P
a
u
l
G
ib
so
n

N
e
e
d
to

e
xp
a
n
d
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l
n
o
t
d
e
m
o
n
st
ra
te
d
,
n
o
r
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
ve
s
co
n
si
d
e
re
d
p
ro
p
e
rl
y.
C
o
n
si
d
e
ra
b
le
d
e
ta
il
p
ro
vi
d
e
d

in
p
a
p
e
r
fr
o
m

‘P
ro
te
ct
th
e
R
e
c’
g
ro
u
p
a
n
d
co
u
n
ci
lh
a
sn
’t
co
n
si
d
e
re
d
th
e
fa
ll
in
n
u
m
b
e
rs
lo
ca
ll
y
fr
o
m

b
ir
th

to
sc
h
o
o
l

a
n
d
to

th
e
in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t
se
ct
o
r.
T
h
e
G
LA

sc
h
o
o
ls
a
tl
a
s
p
ro
vi
d
e
s
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
li
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
.

D
is
ru
p
ti
o
n
to

ch
ild
re
n
a
n
d
st
a
ff
,
la
n
d
ta
ke
n
o
u
t
o
f
o
p
e
n
sp
a
ce
s
is
5
%
n
o
t
1
%
im

p
a
ct
in
g
o
n
a
p
a
rk

th
a
t
a
tt
ra
ct
s
a

q
u
a
rt
e
r
o
f
a
m
il
lio
n
vi
si
ts
p
e
r
ye
a
r.
,
b
e
a
u
ti
fu
lt
re
e
s
fe
ll
e
d
,
ch
ild
re
n
’s
p
la
yg
ro
u
n
d
d
u
g
u
p
.

2
6

T
in
a
D
u
n
ki
n

O
b
je
ct
d
u
e
to

lo
ss
o
f
g
re
e
n
sp
a
ce
;
th
e
re

is
n
o
re
a
ln
e
e
d
fo
r
e
xp
a
n
si
o
n
in
th
is
a
re
a
;
in
cr
e
a
se
d
tr
a
ff
ic
p
ro
b
le
m
s;
a
n
d

th
e
e
ff
e
ct
o
n
th
e
w
h
o
le
e
th
o
s
a
n
d
fe
e
in
g
o
f
th
e
sc
h
o
o
l.

Page 135



London Borough of Merton
100 London Road
Morden
Surrey
SM4 5DX

Date 28/11/2013 Scale 1/6500

Indicitive maximum distance offered for Reception places in April 2013 for

Dundonald, Holy Trinity, Pelham & Wimbledon Chase

Page 136



Committee: Cabinet 

Date: 09 December 2013 

Agenda item:  

Wards: Figges Marsh/ Lavender Fields / Ravensbury 

Subject:  Allocation of S.106 monies to Mitcham Town Centre  

Lead officer: James McGinlay  

Lead member: Andrew Judge  

Contact officer: Richard Lancaster (Mitcham Town Centre request) Ross Mitchell (One 
Mitcham Business Support), Tim Catley (S.106 Monitoring) 

Recommendations:  

A. That members agree that the requested S106 contributions as detailed be allocated 
to the Mitcham Town Centre project in accordance with the S.106 Spend 
Parameters set out in paragraph 1.2. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. Member Authority is sought to allocate the Section 106 contributions detailed 
in Table 1 towards business enhancement and public realm / transport 
improvement activities in Mitcham Town Centre as part of the wider 
Rediscover Mitcham and One Mitcham initiatives. 

1.2. Table 1  

Reference Development 
Address 
(Funder) 

Amount S.106 Spend Parameters 

383/9 Roan Industrial 
Estate, 
Mortimer 
Road, 
Mitcham, CR4 
3HS 

£87,751.59 
Initiatives in pursuit of the Councils 
Economic Development Strategy and/or 
to facilitate the acquisition, development, 
improvement of land or premises for 
employment or business purposes 

205/6 

Tooting & 
Mitcham 
Football 
Ground  £5,000 

the provision or procurement of 
improvements to all or any of the 
following, public transport services, 
infrastructure including street furniture, 
traffic measures, parking control, 
facilities for pedestrians and cyclists 
within the ward and Figges Marsh and 
the Mitcham Urban Village Boundary as 
defined by the LBM UDP 

514/6 Part of Former 
Segas site, 49 
Western Road, 

£65,000.00 

First instalment.  a) works to improve the 
Miles Road/Church Rd Junction; b) 
design administrative and physical 

Agenda Item 6

Page 137



Mitcham works to alter or extend parking 
management schemes in the vicinity of 
the site; c) monitoring the travel plan 
required by condition; d) sustainable 
transport measures in the vicinity of the 
site as defined in the agreement 

514/7 

Part of Former 
Segas site, 49 
Western Road, 
Mitcham £36,000 

Second installment.  a) works to improve 
the Miles Road/Church Rd Junction; b) 
design administrative and physical 
works to alter or extend parking 
management schemes in the vicinity of 
the site; c) monitoring the travel plan 
required by condition; d) sustainable 
transport measures in the vicinity of the 
site as defined in the agreement 

476/5 

Land of the 
North West 
side of 
Batsworth 
Road £7,000 

Sustainable Transport initiatives, 
meaning initiatives and measures to 
improve public and community transport 
initiatves for pedestrians and or cyclists 
(including (but not limited) to the 
provision of traffic calming and or traffic 
reduction measures and or access 
facilities for people with disabilities and 
or improved walk links 

435A/15 
Former Rowan 
School Site, 
Rowan Road £15,000 

Towards the costs of Mitcham Town 
Centre Regeneration including 
development of its role as an Energy 
Action Area 

435A/8 
Former Rowan 
School Site, 
Rowan Road £45,687.50 

Towards the provision of sustainable 
transport initiatives in the vicinity of the 
site including the monitoring of Green 
Travel Plans 

435A/9 
Former Rowan 
School Site, 
Rowan Road £45,687.50 

Towards the provision of sustainable 
transport initiatives in the vicinity of the 
site including the monitoring of Green 
Travel Plans 

 GRAND 
TOTAL £307,126.59  

 

 

2 DETAILS 

General S.106 Considerations 

2.1. S.106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) permits Local 
Planning Authorities to enter into agreements with applicants for planning 

Page 138



permission to regulate the use and development of land.  This may involve 
the payment of a financial contribution for off site works. 

2.2. The Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 require that a planning 
obligation must be 

• Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

• Directly related to the proposed development 

• Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed 
development 

2.3. It is Council practice that allocation of £50,000 or more S.106 funding to any 
specific scheme is authorised by decision of Cabinet. 

Allocation of monies towards Mitcham Town Centre 

2.4. It is proposed to allocate the funds included in Table 1 (for reference 383/9. 
205/6, 514/6, 514/7, 476/5, 435A/15, 435A/8 and 435A/9) for business and 
public realm accessibility enhancements in Mitcham Town Centre. These 
funds will be spent in the context of the wider Rediscover Mitcham public 
realm scheme and One Mitcham business enhancement scheme which 
together represent a £6m investment in regenerating Mitcham 

2.5. The key aspects of the wider scheme for which agreements 205/6, 514/6, 
514/7, 476/5, 435A/15, 435A/8 and 435A/9 will contribute are 

- The enhancement of multi modal access into the Fair Green 
including pedestrian crossing improvements at key locations, 
enhanced cycling facilities, short term parking provision, improved 
signage  

- The creation of a number of ‘public realm’ enhancements such as 
improved street furniture, public toilet, water feature, seating and 
lighting 

A new bus street through the current pedestrian area in London 
Road and the consequent increase in pedestrian footfall  

- A range of business support activities included shop front 
enhancements, improved market facilities, business mentoring 
and special events 

 For agreement 383/9 the specific S106 monies would be spent on business 
improvement activities to consolidate the benefits of the wider scheme.   

• Further roll out of fully / part funded shop front improvements  

• Upgrading the design of the Orange Café to provide windows 

• Supporting the installation of a fixed market canopy (already part 
funded through the Mayors Outer London Fund) 

• A programme of events to attract footfall into the town centre 

• Further roll out of shop front improvements  

• Upgrading the design of the Orange Café to provide windows 

Page 139



• Supporting the installation of a fixed market canopy (already part 
funded through the Mayors Outer London Fund) 

Therefore it is considered that the proposed scheme satisfies the S106 
parameters for the contribution.  

2.6. The proposed works will take place in Mitcham Town Centre which is 0.6 
miles from the site in agreement 383/9.  

2.7. Mitcham Town Centre is 0.5 miles from the site in agreement 514/6, 514/7 

2.8. Mitcham Town Centre is 1.2 miles from the site in agreement 205/6  

2.9. Mitcham Town Centre is 1.2 miles from the site in agreement in 476\5 

2.10. Mitcham Town Centre is 1.5 miles from the site in agreements 435A\15, 8 & 
9 

2.11. In each case the town centre is the nearest key shopping / leisure and 
amenity area to the development sites.  The town centre is within walking 
distance of each site. As the works will benefit the site directly through the 
creation of improved local facilities to the benefit of residents living at the 
development and should of-set the loss of employment land in Mitcham by 
increasing the attractiveness of Mitcham Town Centre to new or expanded 
businesses 

2.12. The funds noted under reference 383/9, £87,751.59 will be ring fenced to the 
provision of measures in Mitcham town centre for business development and 
improvement activities  in order to accord with the terms of the S.106 
agreement.  

2.13. The funds in agreements 205/6, 514/6, 476/5, 435A/15, 435A/8 and 435A/9 
will be ring fenced for transport and accessibility improvements within the 
boundaries of the Rediscover Mitcham public realm scheme. 

2.14. Given the range of issues associated with delivering a successful scheme in 
the area and the strong focus on quality, based on budget availability there 
is an imperative to work collectively and to pool funding. 

2.15. The following table summarises the expected outcomes of this project in 
sustainable communities terms: 

 

Table 2 

  

Outcome Relevant Proposal Impact 

Access for All Any provision of shop and 
transport improvements will 
ensure maximum accessibility 
where this is relevant 

Proposals will retain 
or increase existing 
levels of accessibility 

Community and 
Partnerships 

Working with local businesses 
and the local community  to 
identify specific improvement 
opportunities for transport and 
business improvements 

Project will engage 
with range of 
businesses and 
stakeholders and 
build partnerships 
focusing on 

Page 140



 developing and 
maintaining better 
business facilities  

Environment  Upgrade to shop fronts  and 
public realm 

The overall 
environmental quality 
of the area will be 
enhanced with visual 
benefits due to 
improved shop fronts 
and a generally 
upgraded public 
realm  

Equality Overall amenity enhancements  General benefits will 
be across all people 
accessing the area, 
however disabled 
persons and other 
people with mobility 
barriers  may 
particularly benefit 
from better local 
shopping and 
accessibility 
opportunities 

Health Lifestyle  Encouraging walking to local 
destination  

Encouraging use of 
active modes overall 
improvement in local 
facilities   

 

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

3.1. Cabinet could decide not to approve the allocation of the S.106 funds 
towards the projects, however this would result in a lost opportunity to spend 
the S.106 funds in accordance with the S.106 agreement from which it was 
secured and the council may miss out on realising the substantial community 
benefits offered by the proposal 

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

Mitcham Town Centre 

4.1. A significant amount of consultation has taken place in Mitcham to establish 
key priorities for local people and to identify specific improvements. Over the 
2 consultation held in 2012 and 2013, approximately 2500 responded. These 
consultations demonstrated strong support for the councils strategy of 
focusing on retail revival to encourage more activity in the town centre  

 

5 TIMETABLE 

Mitcham Town Centre 

Page 141



5.1. Phase 1 of the wider Rediscover Mitcham works have been approved and 
are due for implementation in January to August 2014.  

5.2. It would be intended to carry out the business improvements works in 
agreement 383/9 funded by this bid if successful during this phase of works 

5.3. Wider works within agreements 205/6, 514/6, 514/7 476/5, 435A/15, 435A/8 
and 435A/9 would be implemented between September 2014 and December 
2015 

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. The S.106 funds referred to in this report have been received by London 
Borough of Merton and are available to be spent in the manner agreed by 
Cabinet, subject to any restrictions contained in the agreements 

6.2. In terms of the wider Rediscover Mitcham project the overall funding 
requirement for the project is estimated at approx.£ 6m. The funding 
contributions are as follows 

Table 3   

Amount Funding sources Status 

£858k Transport for London LIP Agreed  

£1.5m Merton Capital Agreed 

£2.9m TfL Major Schemes  Development funding 
agreed 

£370k S106 for transport 
improvements 

Partly agreed  

£500k Mayor’s Outer London fund Agreed 

 

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. As stated in the body of the report. 

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. The planning applications were considered in the light of the Human Rights 
Act.   S.106 contributions are secured and allocated towards community 
benefits such as school improvement projects, open spaces, sustainable 
transport and community safety. As a consequence, equalities and 
community cohesion implications are taken into account 

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. This report is for information.  Specific schemes may have relevant 
implications 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. For a minority of contributions there are deadlines for which they have to be 
spent.  The risk is minimised by undertaking the monitoring of these 
contributions 

Page 142



11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

None. 

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

12.1.1          None. 

Page 143



Page 144

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Cabinet 

Date: 9 December 2013 

Agenda item:  

Wards:  

Subject:  Reference from the Overview and Scrutiny Commission – pre 

decision scrutiny of the Business Plan 2014-18 

Lead officer: Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services 

Lead member: Councillor Peter Southgate, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission 

Contact officer: Julia Regan; Julia.regan@merton.gov.uk; 020 8545 3864 

 

Recommendations:  

A. That Cabinet, in taking decisions relating to the Business Plan 2014-18, takes into 
account the comments and recommendations made by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission (including the minutes of the financial monitoring scrutiny task group) 
and the outcomes of consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Panels. 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. To inform Cabinet of the recommendations and comments resulting from pre 
decision scrutiny of the Business Plan 2014-18 by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission and Overview and Scrutiny Panels at their November 
2013 meetings.  

2 DETAILS 

2.1. Each of the Overview and Scrutiny Panels has examined the budget and 
business plan proposals relating to the service areas within their remit. The 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission has received the findings of the Panels 
as well as minutes of the financial monitoring scrutiny  task group’s meeting 
on 29 October 2013..  

2.2. The Overview and Scrutiny Commission met on 26 November 2013 and 
agreed to forward to Cabinet the comments and recommendations made by 
the Overview and Scrutiny Panels and by the financial monitoring task 
group. These are set out in Appendices 1 and 2.  

2.3. The Commission agreed to express its concern to Cabinet that the service 
plans would not be available as contextual information for the final round of 
budget scrutiny meetings in January. Members asked whether draft service 
plans could be made available to those meetings (on existing or revised 
dates to accommodate this).  

2.4. The Commission also agreed to draw Cabinet’s attention to particular 
comments and recommendations made at its meeting on 26 November: 

Agenda Item 7

Page 145



• A member raised concerns about the increase in the Housing Benefits 
budget and asked that a report be provided to give more detail on this, 
including the financial implications for the Council and information on 
tenant numbers by housing tenure.  

• A member asked that the Commission be provided with information 
about the funding arrangements relating to Free Schools. 

2.5. The Commission requested that Cabinet take account of pertinent points 
made by the financial monitoring task group: 

• the task group recommended that councillors’ needs should be taken 
into account in the provision of any document management solution 
(Document Management and Customer Contact Programme). Cabinet 
to note that the Director of Corporate Services had agreed to consult 
with councillors and Councillor Diane Neil Mills volunteered to take part 

• the task group suggested that the appointment of an asbestos 
compliance officer be brought forward (item KSR45/CG03 in the risk 
register) 

• the task group remarked that the capital programme overall is still quite 
large in comparison with actual spend in previous years 

 

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

3.1. Cabinet is required under the terms of the constitution to receive, consider 
and respond to recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny.  

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED. 

4.1. The Constitution outlines the requirements for consulting scrutiny on the 
budget. 

5 TIMETABLE 

5.1. Round one of scrutiny of the 2014-18 Business Plan was undertaken as 
follows:- 

�  Children & Young People Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 6 November 2013 

�  Healthier Communities & Older People Scrutiny Panel:13 November  

�  Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 12 November 

•  Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 26 November 2013 

5.2. Comments and recommendations from round one will be reported to Cabinet 
on 9 December 2013. 

5.3. Round two of scrutiny of the Business Plan is planned as follows:- 

•  Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 9 January 2014 

•  Children & Young People Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 14January 2014 

•  Healthier Communities & Older People Scrutiny Panel:15 January 2014 

•  Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 30 January 2014 

Page 146



5.4. The responses from round two will be presented to Cabinet on 17 February 
2014.  A meeting of full Council will then take place on 5 March 2014. 

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. These are detailed in the substantive reports elsewhere on this agenda. 

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. The process for developing the budget and business plan is set out in Part 
4C of the Council’s Constitution.  The role of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission and panels with regard to the development of the budget and 
business plan is set out in Part 4E of the Constitution.        

7.2. The legal and statutory implications relating to the budget and business plan 
are contained in the reports elsewhere on this agenda.  

8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. It is a fundamental aim of the scrutiny process to ensure that there is full and 
equal access to the democratic process through public involvement and 
engagement.          

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. These were examined by the Commission and were taken into account in 
making their recommendations to Cabinet. 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. None for the purposes of this report.  

11 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

• Appendix 1 – Comments and recommendations made by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panels at meetings in November 2013 

• Appendix 2 – minutes of financial monitoring scrutiny task group 29 
October 2013  - extract relating to the Business Plan plus responses to 
additional information requested by the task group 

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

12.1. None 

 

 

Page 147



Appendix 1 

References/Comments from Scrutiny Panels to the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission 26 November 2013 

Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2014-2018 

 

Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel: 6 November 2013  

Councillor Agatha Akyigyina asked about the controlled expenditure. Caroline Holland 
explained that this is direct expenditure, of which, the schools grant did not form a part. 
This included salaries and running expenses.  CSF has a lower income in comparison 
to other departments. There is a lower savings Weighting for CSF. 

Councillor Oonagh Moulton enquired about the savings targets. Caroline Holland 
explained that the base savings for 2014/15 and 2015/16 in the base budget had been 
rolled forward and would only come back to the Panel if changes were being proposed.  

Councillor Peter Walker asked about gearing in comparison with other departments. 
Caroline Holland explained that for CSF it stood at 0.5, C&H stood at 0.75, and CS 
stood at 1.5. This is based on expenditure as CSF needs to find fewer saving than 
other departments. The weightings are designed around the programmes we would 
like to protect first.  

Councillor Peter Walker stated that this should be clear in the report to emphasise the 
values of the administration. Councillor Maxi Martin stated her commitment to this and 
noted that this has always been communicated.  

Councillor Oonagh Moulton asked what changes there were in the capital programme 
in relation to primary school expansion and with regard to secondary schools from 
2014 onwards, how realistic are these targets. 

Caroline Holland explained that this was based on outturn from 2012/13 and regular 
monitoring was undertaken. In 2013/14 certain schemes have been re-profiled. Budget 
managers are being asked to regularly review how they are performing.  

Paul Ballatt explained that there had been some slippage in some schemes and that 
the future projected expansion is indicative at this stage. Regular monitoring is 
undertaken to challenge assumptions. 21 additional permanent forms of entry are 
being planned for. The Children and Young People Scrutiny Panel agreed the direction 
of travel for secondary school expansion when consulted. However, a programme 
based on certainty has not yet been established. The council has written to all 
secondary schools requesting them to agree to expansion and to indicate their 
preferred timing.  The figures on page 73 represent filling up surplus, expansion, 
academies and the provision of additional forms of entry in community schools. The 
council are also looking at new provision and also an element of expansion in faith 
schools, where there is demand particularly from Merton residents. The council may 
need further new secondary provision hence the uncertainty at this stage.  

Councillor Oonagh Moulton asked how the interest and intake for faith school provision 
had been established. Paul Ballatt explained that work was underway looking at the 
pattern of demand for faith schools and a matter of affordability.  

Councillor Peter Walker asked what percentage of children are at Wimbledon and 
Ursuline schools now. Paul Ballatt explained that this data could be circulated after it 
has been analysed.  

Page 148



Councillor Peter Walker asked when the contract for Dundonald was expected to go 
ahead. Paul Ballatt explained that this was a decision to be taken by Cabinet in 
December – alongside decision-making about the land appropriation recently 
consulted on. Officers are also optimistic that the very long-running issues regarding 
Sport England’s position on the Dundonald proposal may be resolved finally shortly. 
Were there to be a subsequent JR on the decision-making, the council would need to 
take a view on either pausing plans for the development or proceeding following a risk 
assessment.  

Councillor James Holmes asked if faith schools were oversubscribed. Paul Ballatt 
explained that Wimbledon and Ursuline were oversubscribed and that Merton will have 
to make a decision regarding investment in provision that may be used by children 
living in other authority boundaries.  

Councillor James Holmes enquired about further new school provision. Paul Ballatt 
explained that 2 new schools may be required with 20-30 additional forms of entry 
required in the secondary sector. Expansion therefore has to be at the core of the 
strategy.  

Councillor James Holmes asked what time scales were in place to determine what 
provision would be taken forward. Paul Ballatt explained that it was not easy to state at 
this point and that there were other factors to consider.  

Caroline Holland explained that school expansion proposals would need to be 
considered when further information was available to determine revenue impact and 
longer term planning could be undertaken. 

Councillor Peter Walker added that we should be learning from primary school 
expansion which was cheaper and consider expansion and split site provision.  

Paul Ballatt offered reassurance that the core values of the expansion strategy are to 
build upon the existing estate. There is a commitment not to expand beyond 10 forms 
of entry and all factors are being considered. 

RESOLVED:  Councillor Jeff Hanna thanked the officers and agreed with the Panel 
that these comments be forwarded to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission and 
expressed the Panels desire to see more accurate costs as soon as they can be 
achieved. 

 

 

Page 149



 

SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL: 12 
NOVEMBER 2013 
 
Councillor John Sargeant queried the context of the indicative Capital Programme, 
what was significant and what assumptions had been made in the longer term 
planning. Should the Panel take a view on these assumptions? 
 
Caroline Holland explained that there was an ongoing call on the revenue programme 
and that the Capital Programme was dominated by school expansion, primary in the 
fist instance and secondary schools later.  Highways, Footways and the Street Lighting 
Replacement Programme would remain as is. 
 
Regeneration programmes are not planned as far in advance as major schemes and 
are dependent on funding from others, for example, TfL. For example, the Mini Holland 
Bid to improve our cycling provision.  
 
Councillor Ian Munn asked for clarity on the settlement funding assessment: RSG and 
Business Rates and the latest central Government funding projections following the 
2013 spending review. Caroline Holland explained that refinements are ongoing and 
that DCLG had undertaken more work in relation to the Council Tax freeze grant and 
how this would feed into assumptions and impact on the funds available. The 
settlement is expected from DCLG early/mid December 2013. 
 
Councillor Samantha George asked about the use of reserves to eliminate the budget 
gap and what cabinet had agreed, and if there was an easier way to show capital and 
revenue changes from last years budget.  Caroline Holland explained that no new 
additional savings for 2014/15 had to be found and that there was a savings target of 
£1.7 million for 2015/16. This is a significant improvement over other boroughs. 
Revenue monitoring is undertaken on the Capital programme and schemes are being 
profiled into later years. Each monitoring report shows profiling each year. There are 
likely, however, to be some slippages into later years, particularly in CSF. The 
department are keeping this as up to date as possible.  Chris Lee added that changes 
are made clear in the monitoring reports received by Cabinet and the Scrutiny 
Financial Monitoring Task Group on a quarterly basis. 
 
Councillor John Sargeant felt that it was important for the Panel to take an annual look 
at the figures and the key changes to enable the Panels discussion to be more 
focused. Comparison year on year would be helpful. Furthermore, could the 
recommendations from last year’s budget scrutiny be built into the January report to 
determine how these have been taken forward? 
 
Councillor Samantha George enquired about the new savings identified for 2016/17 
and 2017/18 in the MTFS (page 78 of the report) and when the Panel could have 
further detail on this.  Caroline Holland explained that these new savings were built in 
to address the budget gap and that these proposals would be brought to December 
Cabinet and January Scrutiny Panel meetings. In 2014/15 there are no new savings to 
be found but £1.6 million in savings needs to be found in 2015/16. 
 

Page 150



Councillor Samantha George asked about leisure centres and savings. Chris Lee 
explained that there was a £1 million budget for 2014/15 and a substantial budget in 
2015/16 available. The department are working to this timetable for the Morden Park 
Pool scheme and developments will begin in 2015/16. 
 
Councillor Samantha George enquired about the reason for profiling the street lighting 
replacement programme and enhancement and also about town centre investment. 
Chris Lee informed the Panel that this should be treated with caution. Regeneration 
programmes are match funded and the figures outlined are markers to ensure that 
funds are available to deliver the scheme. The Mitcham Regeneration scheme is 
largely dependent upon match funding from TfL. The councils input into is outlined in 
the capital programme but this can be brought forward or slip to make the best use of 
alternative funding sources. This applies to all schemes. 
 
Cormac Stokes explained that there were pressures in terms of the standard of street 
lighting and that replacement was required. There is a fairly urgent street lighting 
replacement programme over the next year and this is why the monthly figures seem 
higher. There will be investments in terms of energy efficiency which have been front 
loaded.  
 
Councillor Miles Windsor asked if new items required for renewable energy in this area 
were being brought into this budget. Cormac Stokes confirmed this was the case. 
 
Councillor Stan Anderson enquired if there were any plans to reduce street lighting for 
certain periods. Cormac Stokes confirmed that this wasn’t the case. Councillor Russell 
Makin reminded the Panel that they were due to consider street lighting at a future 
panel meeting. 
 
Councillor Samantha George asked about equipment for parking and why there was a 
reduction in 2013/14 in DFG.  Chris Lee explained that there was a small budget for 
parking and display machines and that all other parking is captured as revenue.  The 
DFG is under scrutiny from outside of the council. Demand for this grant has 
increased. Last year there were 110 applications and this year there are a projected 
230 applications. There is therefore a pressure on this grant/budget. 
 
RESOLVED: Panel noted the report. 
 
 

 

Healthier Communities and Older People O&S Panel: 13 November 2013 

The Healthier Communities and Older People Overview and Scrutiny Panel   
commented that as there is a significant increase in the over eighty age group many of 
whom will have long term conditions, the care for this vulnerable group should be 
reflected in the budget. The Council should also be aware that domiciliary care needs 
to be well resourced to avoid the significant additional costs associated with residential 
care. 

 

 

Page 151



Appendix 2 

 

Financial monitoring task group – extract from minutes of meeting held on 29 
October, plus additional information requested by the meeting 

 

Business Plan Update 2014-18 

The Chair said that this report would be presented to the November meetings of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission and the three Panels. He advised the task group 
to focus comments on the corporate services aspects of the capital programme and as 
well as considering progress made against the 2013/14 corporate services savings 
(set out in the financial monitoring report on this agenda). The Director of Corporate 
Services added that some alternative and new savings would be taken to Cabinet in 
December and subsequently to the scrutiny meetings in January. 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Caroline Holland, Director of Corporate Services, and Paul Dale, Assistant Director of 
Resources, provided additional information in response to questions: 

• The departmental savings targets for 2015/16 onwards (paragraph 2.3) are 

based on weighted controllable expenditure. Weightings are 0.5 for Children, 

Schools and Families, 0.75 for Community and Housing, 1.5 for Environment 

and Regeneration, 1.5 for Corporate Services 

• The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) will be taken into the reserves and 

used to pay external debt when it becomes due for payment (Paragraph 2.5.1). 

ACTION: Director of Corporate Services to provide the assumed interest rates 

for asset life of 5 and 50 years 

Table 2.6.1  

• Inflation assumptions for pay are 1% in 2014/15 and 2015/16, 1.5% in 2016/17 

and 2017/18 

• Price inflation assumption is around 1.5% overall, higher for some specific areas 

such as energy process 

• Additional fees and charges assumed 1.5% growth 

• Growth item refers to the adult social care growth that has been approved 

previously 

• Other corporate items includes the pension fund additional contributions, level 

of contingency, items relating to disaster recovery, payments for precepts and 

levies and other adjustments (more detail in September report to Cabinet) 

• Collection Fund items for 2014/15 are for bad debt from 2013/14. This will be 

subsumed into base budget in future.  

Capital programme 

A task group member said that it would be helpful to have a short description of each 
of the items in the capital programme. In response to questions, Caroline Holland and 

Page 152



Paul Dale provided further detail on some of the items in the corporate services capital 
programme: 

• The Acquisitions Budget for 2013/14 has been used for the purchase of a piece 

of land by the High Path Estate 

• The Capital Bidding Fund is used to provide match funding should any suitable 

schemes funded by the Greater London Authority or English National Heritage 

become available 

• Where there are zero items at present, these may change. Also, monies that 

aren’t used may be moved to future years or removed from the capital 

programme.  

• The Document Management and Customer Contact Programme items are 

estimated figures at present. Tender documents were sent out last week setting 

out an ideal “to be” system and asked bidders to come back with proposed 

solutions. The task group RECOMMENDED that councillors’ needs are taken 

into account in any document management solution. ACTION: Director of 

Corporate Services to consult with councillors – Councillor Diane Neil Mills 

volunteered to take part. 

• Asbestos safety works item for 2016/17 relates to corporate buildings. The task 

group suggested that the appointment of an asbestos compliance officer (item 

KSR45/CG03 in the risk register – page 89 of the agenda) be brought forward 

• The IT Strategy-unallocated item relates to monies set aside for the 

implementation of the strategy that have not yet been used – may be spent, 

carried forward or removed from capital programme 

• Paul Dale undertook to find out why the Invest to save items have zero 

predicted spend in 2015/16 ACTION: Assistant Director of Resources 

Another member said that the capital programme overall was still quite large compared 
to spend in previous years. Caroline Holland and Paul Dale said that they were 
working with officers to predict likely spend more accurately and that the programme 
from 2014/15 onwards is closer to actual spend than previously. The task group 
agreed that it would be helpful to have a breakdown of 2013/14 spend to date on 
individual capital projects. 

In response to a comment about the level of capital spend on maintenance of the 
borough’s roads, Caroline Holland said that recent road condition surveys had shown 
sustained improvement in both major and minor roads. 

The Task Group AGREED that it would be useful for each of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panels to examine the capital programme within their remit. 

Financial monitoring report – quarter 2 

The task group examined progress made on the 2013/14 corporate services savings. 
Caroline Holland said that the position on the shared bailiff service was unlikely to 
change in 2013/14 but options are being explored to increase the number of cases in 
future and to make it easier to find people who haven’t paid (for example through 
automatic number plate recognition software, a joint piece of work with the Police). 

Page 153



In response to a question about the rationale behind vacant posts, Caroline Holland 
said that the reasons for this varied and that each vacant post was kept under review. 

Paul Dale undertook to provide a breakdown of the Transfer Payments (page 41)to 
explain the variation between the current budget and the full year forecast. 

Councillor Grocott had a number of questions on reserves and cash flow that she said 
she would raise separately with the Director. 

Caroline Holland noted that the 0.58% of gross Council Budget figure given in 
Recommendation A of the report is misleading as it should relate to net expenditure. 

 

Additional information requested by the financial monitoring task group 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Requested - The Minimum Revenue Provision - provide the assumed interest rates for 
asset life of 5 and 50 years 

Response:  

For 2013 to 2016 interest rates are internal assumed at 0.75% 

For 2016/17 interest rates are internal assumed at 1% 

For 2017 onwards any internal borrowing  assumed at 1.25% 

 

The MTFS does not break down interest rates over 5 or 50 years as Merton is not 
likely to borrow for either of these periods. For 2017 onwards  any external borrowing 
is assumed at an average rate of 4.9% 

Current PWLB maturity rates are 2.6% for 5 years and 4.52% for 50 years 

 

Capital programme – corporate services items 

Requested - Paul Dale undertook to find out why the Invest to save items have zero 
predicted spend in 2015/16  

 

Response – “There are several sources of funding for these energy management 
works split between capital and revenue and CS and E&R departments , at this stage it 
is assumed that the revenue budgets will be spent but that the capital ones may not 
be. A meeting is to be held to gain a more accurate picture of likely spend in the 
current year.” 

 

  

Financial monitoring report (quarter 2) 

Requested - Paul Dale undertook to provide a breakdown of the Transfer Payments 
(page 41) to explain the variation between the current budget and the full year 
forecast. 

 

Response – see spreadsheet overleaf 

Page 154



 

 

Period 6 subjective analysis       

       

  

Original 
Budget 
2013/14 

Current 
Budget 
2013/14 

Year to 
Date 

Budget 
(Sep) 

Year to 
Date Actual 

(Sep) 

Full Year 
Forecast 
(Sep) 

Forecast 
Variance at 
year end 
(Sep) 

Expenditure £ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Employees 85,766 90,894 44,714 43,786 91,767 873 

Premises Related Expenditure 8,153 9,709 5,788 3,370 9,061  (648) 

Transport Related Expenditure 10,617 13,171 6,372 5,419 12,495  (676) 

Supplies and Services 163,012 161,751 81,314 71,059 162,112 361 

Third Party Payments 83,137 87,650 41,541 33,740 87,080  (570) 

Transfer Payments 98,995 95,946 4,981 4,870 108,568 12,622 

Support Services 34,317 32,417 40 2 32,417  (0) 

Depreciation and Impairment Losses 13,990 13,783  (104) 0 13,783 0 

Corporate Provisions 13,770 11,799 3,888 673 10,985  (814) 

              

GROSS EXPENDITURE 511,757 517,119 188,535 162,918 528,267 11,148 

              

Income             

Government Grants  (237,082)  (242,551)  (4,607)  (6,535)  (255,342)  (12,791) 
Other Grants, Reimbursements and 
Contribs  (17,646)  (18,584)  (6,418)  (2,116)  (18,822)  (238) 

Customer and Client Receipts  (55,695)  (53,654)  (24,086)  (24,065)  (52,749) 905 

Interest  (44)  (44)  (22) 0  (24) 20 

Recharges  (36,047)  (34,296) 0  (578)  (34,295) 1 

Balances  (980)  (3,729)  (1,969)  (2,023)  (3,729) 0 

GROSS INCOME  (347,494)  (352,857)  (37,102)  (35,317)  (364,960)  (12,103) 

              

NET EXPENDITURE 164,262 164,262 151,435 127,601 163,307  (954) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

Page 155



Analysis of transfer payments 

Current 
Budget 
2013/14 

Full Year 
Forecast 
(Sep) 

Forecast 
Variance 
at year 
end 
(Sep) Notes 

         

         

  £000 £000 £000   

Corporate services        

Housing Benefits 85,556 98,323 12,767 

forecast based on DWP 

mid year estimate offset 

by government grant 

Local welfare support 366 100  (266) 

Welfare fund number of 

claims lower than 

anticipated 

Adult Social Care        
 Concessionary Fares   8,614 8,580  (34)   
 Taxicard Scheme                           165 194 29   
 ICES -Contribution to pooled budget             341 341 0   
 Property adapt-PD         37 44 7   

Housing        
Homelessness Prevention 430 429  (1)   

CSF        

Section 17, no recourse to public funds 195 305 110   

Adoption allowances 238 238 0   
 Other  4 15 11   

Transfer Payments 
95,946 108,568 12,622   

 

 

 

Page 156


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 2013
	4 Dundonald Recreation Ground and Primary School - appropriation of land
	Appendices

	5 Dundonald Primary School expansion - approval to expansion under Education Law
	Appendices

	6 Allocation of S.106 monies to Mitcham Town Centre
	7 Reference from the Overview and Scrutiny Commission - pre decision scrutiny of the Business Plan 2014-2018

